
Agenda Packet 
 

NORFOLK CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

Monday, April 16, 2018 
5:30 p.m. 

 
Created 4/12/2018 1:34 PM 

Page 1 of 341

https://norfolkne.gov/

https://norfolkne.gov/


 
                        right at home. 
 

 
 

309 N 5th Street
Norfolk, NE  68701 

P402-844-2012  F402-844-2028 
www.ci.norfolk.ne.us 

 
 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA 

 
 NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a meeting of the City Council of the City of Norfolk, 

Nebraska, will be held at 5:30 p.m. on Monday, April 16, 2018, in the Council Chambers, 309 N. 

5th St., Norfolk, Nebraska, which meeting will be open to the public.  

 The Mayor and City Council reserve the right to adjourn into closed session as per Section 

84-1410 of the Nebraska Revised Statutes. 

 An agenda for such meeting, kept continually current, is available at the office of the City 

Clerk, 309 N 5th St, Norfolk Nebraska, during normal business hours. 

 Individuals requiring physical or sensory accommodations, who desire to attend or 

participate, please contact the City Clerk's office at (402) 844-2000 no later than 4:30 p.m. on the 

Friday preceding the meeting. 

  

 

 Elizabeth A. Deck 
City Clerk 

Publish (April 13, 2018) 
1 P.O.P. 
 

Page 2 of 341



AGENDA 

NORFOLK CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

April 16, 2018 

In accordance with Section 84-1412 sub-section eight (8) of the Reissue Revised Statutes of the State of 
Nebraska 1943, as amended, one copy of all reproducible written material to be discussed is available to the 
public at this meeting for examination and copying.  The Mayor and City Council reserve the right to adjourn 
into closed session as per Section 84-1410 of the Nebraska Revised Statutes. 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

1. 5:30 p.m. - call meeting to order  

2. Inform the public about the location of the Open Meetings Act posted in the  
Council Chambers and accessible to members of the public 

 

3. Moment of silence/Pledge of Allegiance to the flag of the United States of  
America 

 

4. Roll call  

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS 

5. Approval of consent agenda.    
All items in the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the City 
Council and will be enacted by one motion. There will be no separate 
discussion of these items unless a Council member or a citizen so requests, in 
which event the item will be removed from the consent agenda and 
considered separately. 

Motion 

6. Approval of full agenda. Motion 

CONSENT AGENDA 

7. Consideration of approval of the minutes of the April 2, 2018, City Council 
meeting. 

Motion 

8. Food & beverage and lodging occupation tax report for 1st quarter 2018 Motion 

9. Keno report for March 2018 Motion 

10. Consideration of approval to purchase internally illuminated LED street 
name signs from MoboTrex, Inc. for $31,786.00 to upgrade selected 
intersections. 

Motion 

11. Consideration of approval to purchase a replacement water fleet vehicle from 
Cornhusker Auto Center for $22,343.00, which is lower than the state bid for 
a current year Cherokee Latitude. 
 
 

Motion 

Page 3 of 341



- 2 - 

12. Consideration of approval of a Special Designated Liquor License 
application for Norfolk Natural Market, 312 West Norfolk Avenue, for an 
event at the Magnolia's Home Decor, 432 West Norfolk Avenue, on 
Saturday, May 5, 2018, from 9:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. 

Motion 

13. Consideration of Resolution No. 2018-20 to remove the stop sign for 
southbound traffic located at W. Norfolk Avenue and 31st Street, and to 
remove the stop sign for eastbound traffic located at W. Norfolk Ave and the 
road commonly known as Hospital Road and/or Emergency Road. 

Resolution 2018-20 

14. Consideration of approval of an Interlocal Agreement with the Village of 
Beemer allowing Norfolk to provide building inspection services to Beemer 
related to property maintenance issues. 

Motion 

15. Consideration of acceptance of the low bid from Christiansen Construction 
Co. LLC for painting and rebuilding the center drives on Primary Clarifier 
#1 and Sludge Thickener #1 at the Water Pollution Control Plant for 
$184,400.00, and authorization for the Mayor to sign all contracts and 
documents related to the project. 

Motion 

16. Consideration of approval of contract with CMBA Architects for design and 
construction engineering for a restroom at Embrace Park for an amount of 
$17,000.00 plus reimbursable expenses. 

Motion 

17. Consideration of approval of an easement agreement between Wis-Pak of 
Norfolk and the City of Norfolk for the South Water Main Loop project for 
$398.75. 

Motion 

18. Consideration of approval of an engineering services agreement with JEO 
Consulting Group, Inc. for the Center Drive Concepts project in an amount 
of $10,000.00. 

Motion 

19. Consideration of approval of the purchase of three replacement police 
cruisers for $85,677, off the State of Nebraska Contract #14611OC, from 
Anderson Auto Group. 

Motion 

20. Consideration of Resolution 2018-21 approving the final plat and 
subdivision agreement of Petersen-Chace Addition. 

Resolution 2018-21 

21. Consideration of Resolution 2018-22 approving the final plat, subdivision 
agreement, and post construction storm water maintenance agreement and 
easement for Nightcap Addition. 

Resolution 2018-22 

22. Consideration of Resolution 2018-23 approving the final plat, subdivision 
agreement, and post construction storm water management plan maintenance 
agreement and easement for Legacy Bend 1st Addition. 

Resolution 2018-23 

23. Consideration of approval of an agreement with Norfolk Area Visitors 
Bureau, a Nebraska Nonprofit Corporation, allowing the use of the baseball 
field in Veterans Memorial Park to hold a professional baseball game 
Saturday, May 12, 2018. 
 

Motion 

Page 4 of 341



- 3 - 

24. Consideration of Resolution 2018-24 submitting a grant application in the 
amount of $300,000 to the Nebraska Department of Economic Development 
for a Site and Building Development Fund grant for the ContiTech USA 
expansion project at 2701 West Omaha Avenue, and authorizing the Mayor 
to sign all contracts and documents related to the grant. 

Resolution 2018-24 

25. Consideration of approval to purchase a replacement fire fleet vehicle from 
Courtesy Ford Lincoln for $32,199.00, which is lower than the state bid. 

Motion 

26. Consideration of approval of a lease agreement with Michael R. Braun and 
Kristy J. Braun, utilizing the Braun property for placement of a lighted 
"Welcome to Norfolk" billboard sign on east Highway 275. 

Motion 

27. Consideration of approval of all bills on file. Motion 

SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 

28. Proclamation for April 28, 2018 as "Buddy Poppy Day."  

29. Presentation by the Airport Authority who will provide a general update on 
the airport and talk about the progress of the current storm sewer 
rehabilitation project and the Capital Improvement Project that is coming up 
regarding the threshold displacement procedure and overlays. 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS AND RELATED ACTION 

30. Public hearing to consider an amendment to Section 6-173 of the code to 
alter the minimum seer rating for residential air conditioners and heat pumps. 

 

31. Consideration of Ordinance No. 5540 approving an amendment to 
Section 6-173 of the code to alter the minimum seer rating for residential air 
conditioners and heat pumps. 

Ordinance No. 5540 

32. Public hearing at the request of Kerry and Barbara Werner to consider a 
zoning change from C-3 (Service Commercial District) to R-2 (One and Two 
Family Residential District) on properties addressed as 307 North 31st Street 
and 306 and 310 North 32nd Street. 

 

33. Consideration of Ordinance No. 5541 approving a zoning change from C-3 
(Service Commercial District) to R-2 (One and Two Family Residential 
District) on properties addressed as 307 North 31st Street and 306 and 310 
North 32nd Street. 

Ordinance No. 5541 

34. Public hearing at the request of Ken Funk to consider a zoning change from 
R-2 (One and Two Family Residential District) to I-1 (Light Industrial 
District) on property addressed as 1406 Pierce Street. 

 

35. Consideration of Ordinance No. 5542 approving a zoning change from R-2 
(One and Two Family Residential District) to I-1 (Light Industrial District) 
on property addressed as 1406 Pierce Street. 
 
 

Ordinance No. 5542 

Page 5 of 341



- 4 - 

36. Public hearing at the request of Ewin Properties, LLC to consider a zoning 
change from R-M (Mobile Home District) to I-1 (Light Industrial District) 
on property generally located ¼ mile East of the intersection of Highway 81 
and Bonita Drive. 

 

37. Consideration of Ordinance No. 5543 approving a zoning change from R-M 
(Mobile Home District) to I-1 (Light Industrial District) on property 
generally located ¼ mile east of the intersection of Highway 81 and Bonita 
Drive. 

Ordinance No. 5543 

REGULAR AGENDA 

38. Consideration of Ordinance No. 5530 approving the Final Planned 
Development for Norfolk Junction located at 211 West Northwestern 
Avenue.  Ordinance No. 5530 was tabled at the March 19, 2018 City Council 
meeting and passed on first reading only at the April 2, 2018 City Council 
meeting. 

Ordinance No. 5530 

39. Consideration of approval to award a contract to Rutjens Construction Inc. of 
Tilden, Nebraska for the South Water Main Loop project for an amount of 
$1,703,281.15. 

Motion 

40. Consideration of approval of Ordinance No. 5544 creating Paving District 
No. 516 providing for paving of Sunrise Drive; from Victory Road west 585 
feet, David Street from Sunrise Drive north approximately 225 feet, and 
David Circle from Sunrise Drive south/southeasterly approximately 485 feet. 

Ordinance No. 5544 

41. Consideration of Ordinance No. 5545 authorizing issuance of special 
assessment bond anticipation notes in the principal amount not to exceed 
$900,000 for Paving Districts 510 and 511 and Sidewalk District 2017-1. 

Ordinance No. 5545 

42. Consideration of approval of a contract with Knife River Midwest, LLC of 
Sioux City, IA for the Street Overlay 2018-1 project for an amount of 
$1,311,352.50. 

Motion 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS 

43. Presentation of the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal 
year ended September 30, 2017 along with the related auditor's letter. 

 

 

Page 6 of 341



 
                        right at home. 
 

 

309 N 5th Street
Norfolk, NE  68701 

P402-844-2012  F402-844-2028 
www.ci.norfolk.ne.us 

STAFF MEMORANDUM 

NORFOLK CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

April 16, 2018 

CALL TO ORDER 

1. 5:30 p.m. - call meeting to order  

2. Inform the public about the location of the Open Meetings Act posted in the  
Council Chambers and accessible to members of the public 

 

3. Moment of silence/Pledge of Allegiance to the flag of the United States of  
America 

 

4. Roll call  

   

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS 

5. Approval of consent agenda.    
All items in the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the City 
Council and will be enacted by one motion. There will be no separate 
discussion of these items unless a Council member or a citizen so requests, in 
which event the item will be removed from the consent agenda and 
considered separately. 

Motion 

6. Approval of full agenda. Motion 

   

CONSENT AGENDA 

7. Consideration of approval of the minutes of the April 2, 2018, City Council 
meeting. 

Motion 

   
See Enclosure 7. 
 

8. Food & beverage and lodging occupation tax report for 1st quarter 2018 Motion 

   
Occupation tax receipts for the 1st quarter of 2018 are $372,631.15 for food and 
beverage and $56,256.88 for lodging for a total of $428,888.03.  Year to date 
occupation tax is up $20,636.81 or 2.36% from the same period in the prior 
year.  Compared to budget, actual receipts came in $14,792.32 or 1.68% more 
than budgeted.  Included in the agenda packet is an occupation tax comparison 
by month. 
 
See Enclosure 8. 
 
 

Page 7 of 341



Staff Memorandum - 2 - 
City Council Meeting 
April 16, 2018 

 

9. Keno report for March 2018 Motion 

   
See Enclosure 9. 
 

10. Consideration of approval to purchase internally illuminated LED street 
name signs from MoboTrex, Inc. for $31,786.00 to upgrade selected 
intersections. 

Motion 

   
See Enclosure 10. 
 

11. Consideration of approval to purchase a replacement water fleet vehicle from 
Cornhusker Auto Center for $22,343.00, which is lower than the state bid for 
a current year Cherokee Latitude. 

Motion 

   
See Enclosure 11. 
 

12. Consideration of approval of a Special Designated Liquor License 
application for Norfolk Natural Market, 312 West Norfolk Avenue, for an 
event at the Magnolia's Home Decor, 432 West Norfolk Avenue, on 
Saturday, May 5, 2018, from 9:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. 

Motion 

   
See Enclosure 12. 
 

13. Consideration of Resolution No. 2018-20 to remove the stop sign for 
southbound traffic located at W. Norfolk Avenue and 31st Street, and to 
remove the stop sign for eastbound traffic located at W. Norfolk Ave and the 
road commonly known as Hospital Road and/or Emergency Road. 

Resolution 2018-20 

   
Several years ago, this area was reconstructed and westbound traffic on West 
Norfolk Avenue was blocked off.  Southbound traffic on 31st Street can only 
turn east, so the stop sign at 31st & West Norfolk Avenue for southbound 
traffic was removed as part of the reconstruction and never replaced.  The sign 
is not needed, and this resolution is to remove the sign from the city inventory 
to match the current use.  
  
The stop sign for east bound traffic at West Norfolk Avenue and Emergency 
Road has been reviewed by the Norfolk Police Division and the Norfolk 
Engineering Division.  It has been determined it is no longer necessary and 
should be removed.  Message signs will be used to notify motorists of the 
change prior to being removed.  "Cross Traffic Does Not Stop" signs should be 
placed at the northbound and southbound stop signs that will remain in place.  
  
Photos of the area are included. 
 
See Enclosure 13. 
 

Page 8 of 341



Staff Memorandum - 3 - 
City Council Meeting 
April 16, 2018 

 

14. Consideration of approval of an Interlocal Agreement with the Village of 
Beemer allowing Norfolk to provide building inspection services to Beemer 
related to property maintenance issues. 

Motion 

   
See Enclosure 14. 
 

15. Consideration of acceptance of the low bid from Christiansen Construction 
Co. LLC for painting and rebuilding the center drives on Primary Clarifier 
#1 and Sludge Thickener #1 at the Water Pollution Control Plant for 
$184,400.00, and authorization for the Mayor to sign all contracts and 
documents related to the project. 

Motion 

   
This contract is for contractors to:   
1) Paint the ferrous metals inside each of the #1 Primary Clarifier & #1 
Thickener.  2) Overhaul the center drive mechanisms on the #1 Primary 
Clarifier & #1 Thickener.  The mechanisms were last painted in 1994 and 
drives are original in 1970.    
  
On October 17, 2017, Council approved an engineering services contract with 
Olsson to design and bid several projects at the Water Pollution Control Plant.  
  
The City Council authorized bids for the project on March 5, 2018.  On April 5, 
2018, three bids were received and opened.  Olsson and staff reviewed the bids 
and recommend approval of the lowest responsive bid from Christiansen 
Construction Co. LLC of $184,400.00, which is budgeted for $340,000 
including engineering services in FY2017-18.  (Christiansen’s bid and 
engineering services total $204,800).  Christiansen has done several projects at 
WPC over the last three decades and staff recommends approval. 
 
See Enclosure 15. 
 

16. Consideration of approval of contract with CMBA Architects for design and 
construction engineering for a restroom at Embrace Park for an amount of 
$17,000.00 plus reimbursable expenses. 

Motion 

   
This engineering contract includes the design and creation of all construction 
documents needed to construct a restroom at Embrace Park for an amount of 
$17,000.00 plus reimbursable expenses.  Staff recommends approval. 
 
See Enclosure 16. 
 

17. Consideration of approval of an easement agreement between Wis-Pak of 
Norfolk and the City of Norfolk for the South Water Main Loop project for 
$398.75. 

Motion 

   

Page 9 of 341



Staff Memorandum - 4 - 
City Council Meeting 
April 16, 2018 

 

This is a permanent and temporary easement allowing for the construction and 
maintenance of a water main south of Norfolk.  The City is paying $398.75 for 
the permanent easement.  Staff recommend acceptance. 
 
See Enclosure 17. 
 

18. Consideration of approval of an engineering services agreement with JEO 
Consulting Group, Inc. for the Center Drive Concepts project in an amount 
of $10,000.00. 

Motion 

   
This agreement provides for high-level conceptual roadway planning services 
for Center Drive as a precursor to a joint renewal effort between the city and 
local business owners to invest in the area and understand the potential impact 
to existing right-of-way.  The study area generally includes Highway 81 from 
Highway 275 to West Michigan Avenue, Highway 275 from South 20th Street 
to Highway 81 and Center Drive on the north and west side of the Mall between 
Highway 275 and Highway 81 in addition to surrounding streets.  Staff 
recommend approval of an engineering services agreement with JEO for the 
Center Drive Concepts project for $10,000.00. 
 
See Enclosure 18. 
 

19. Consideration of approval of the purchase of three replacement police 
cruisers for $85,677, off the State of Nebraska Contract #14611OC, from 
Anderson Auto Group. 

Motion 

   
See Enclosure 19. 
 

20. Consideration of Resolution 2018-21 approving the final plat and 
subdivision agreement of Petersen-Chace Addition. 

Resolution 2018-21 

   
See Enclosure 20. 
 

21. Consideration of Resolution 2018-22 approving the final plat, subdivision 
agreement, and post construction storm water maintenance agreement and 
easement for Nightcap Addition. 

Resolution 2018-22 

   
See Enclosure 21. 
 

22. Consideration of Resolution 2018-23 approving the final plat, subdivision 
agreement, and post construction storm water management plan maintenance 
agreement and easement for Legacy Bend 1st Addition. 

Resolution 2018-23 

   
See Enclosure 22. 
 
 

Page 10 of 341



Staff Memorandum - 5 - 
City Council Meeting 
April 16, 2018 

 

23. Consideration of approval of an agreement with Norfolk Area Visitors 
Bureau, a Nebraska Nonprofit Corporation, allowing the use of the baseball 
field in Veterans Memorial Park to hold a professional baseball game 
Saturday, May 12, 2018. 

Motion 

   
See Enclosure 23. 
 

24. Consideration of Resolution 2018-24 submitting a grant application in the 
amount of $300,000 to the Nebraska Department of Economic Development 
for a Site and Building Development Fund grant for the ContiTech USA 
expansion project at 2701 West Omaha Avenue, and authorizing the Mayor 
to sign all contracts and documents related to the grant. 

Resolution 2018-24 

   
The project involves the expansion of a local business, ContiTech USA, Inc. 
located at 2701 West Omaha Avenue, Norfolk, Nebraska.  The expansion 
includes 1) the addition of a 65 foot x 120 foot two story building (19,500 
square feet of floor space) on the south side of the existing facility; 2) the 
construction of an additional area for four (4) dock doors that are 20 feet x 60 
feet or 1,200 square feet, also on the south side of the facility; 3) the addition of 
a concrete dock area and driveway that is approximately 9,450 square feet of 
new concrete; 4) the addition of 4,950 square feet of gravel area for truck use; 
and 5) the purchase of new equipment to be installed in the new addition.  
  
The total project cost is approximately $9,314,000 of which $2,832,000 is the 
building addition and $6,482,000 is additional production equipment.  Funding 
includes Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funding of 
approximately $705,000, Nebraska Department of Economic Development Site 
and Building Funds, City of Norfolk LB840 funds, and business equity. 
 
See Enclosure 24. 
 

25. Consideration of approval to purchase a replacement fire fleet vehicle from 
Courtesy Ford Lincoln for $32,199.00, which is lower than the state bid. 

Motion 

   
See Enclosure 25. 
 

26. Consideration of approval of a lease agreement with Michael R. Braun and 
Kristy J. Braun, utilizing the Braun property for placement of a lighted 
"Welcome to Norfolk" billboard sign on east Highway 275. 

Motion 

   
The City currently has "Welcome to Norfolk" signs on south Highway 81 on 
private property and west Highway 275 on City-owned property.   
  
Staff has been working with Mr. and Mrs. Braun to allow the installation of a 
"Welcome to Norfolk" sign on private property located approximately one mile 
east of city limits on Highway 275.   

Page 11 of 341



Staff Memorandum - 6 - 
City Council Meeting 
April 16, 2018 

 

  
The City agrees that consideration for the leasing of said premises is the total 
sum of One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) for the first year of this lease with a 
three percent (3%) increase of the prior year's rent and shall be payable upon 
the annual anniversary of the execution of this lease.  The term of this lease 
shall be for fifteen (15) years from the date of execution with the option to 
extend this lease for three (3) additional five (5) year periods under the terms 
and conditions of this lease, and mutual agreement of the parties.  The City 
shall maintain and repair the premises.  At the expiration of the agreement, the 
City agrees to remove all improvements, except for access to electrical power. 
 
See Enclosure 26. 
 

27. Consideration of approval of all bills on file. Motion 

   

SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 

28. Proclamation for April 28, 2018 as "Buddy Poppy Day."  

   
See Enclosure 28. 
 

29. Presentation by the Airport Authority who will provide a general update on 
the airport and talk about the progress of the current storm sewer 
rehabilitation project and the Capital Improvement Project that is coming up 
regarding the threshold displacement procedure and overlays. 

 

   
See Enclosure 29. 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS AND RELATED ACTION 

30. Public hearing to consider an amendment to Section 6-173 of the code to 
alter the minimum seer rating for residential air conditioners and heat pumps. 

 

   
See Enclosure 30. 
 

31. Consideration of Ordinance No. 5540 approving an amendment to 
Section 6-173 of the code to alter the minimum seer rating for residential air 
conditioners and heat pumps. 

Ordinance No. 5540 

   
See Enclosure 31. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12 of 341



Staff Memorandum - 7 - 
City Council Meeting 
April 16, 2018 

 

32. Public hearing at the request of Kerry and Barbara Werner to consider a 
zoning change from C-3 (Service Commercial District) to R-2 (One and Two 
Family Residential District) on properties addressed as 307 North 31st Street 
and 306 and 310 North 32nd Street. 

 

   
See Enclosure 32. 
 

33. Consideration of Ordinance No. 5541 approving a zoning change from C-3 
(Service Commercial District) to R-2 (One and Two Family Residential 
District) on properties addressed as 307 North 31st Street and 306 and 310 
North 32nd Street. 

Ordinance No. 5541 

   
See Enclosure 33. 
 

34. Public hearing at the request of Ken Funk to consider a zoning change from 
R-2 (One and Two Family Residential District) to I-1 (Light Industrial 
District) on property addressed as 1406 Pierce Street. 

 

   
See Enclosure 34. 
 

35. Consideration of Ordinance No. 5542 approving a zoning change from R-2 
(One and Two Family Residential District) to I-1 (Light Industrial District) 
on property addressed as 1406 Pierce Street. 

Ordinance No. 5542 

   
See Enclosure 35. 
 

36. Public hearing at the request of Ewin Properties, LLC to consider a zoning 
change from R-M (Mobile Home District) to I-1 (Light Industrial District) 
on property generally located ¼ mile East of the intersection of Highway 81 
and Bonita Drive. 

 

   
See Enclosure 36. 
 

37. Consideration of Ordinance No. 5543 approving a zoning change from R-M 
(Mobile Home District) to I-1 (Light Industrial District) on property 
generally located ¼ mile east of the intersection of Highway 81 and Bonita 
Drive. 

Ordinance No. 5543 

   
See Enclosure 37. 
 

REGULAR AGENDA 

38. Consideration of Ordinance No. 5530 approving the Final Planned 
Development for Norfolk Junction located at 211 West Northwestern 
 
 

Ordinance No. 5530 

Page 13 of 341



Staff Memorandum - 8 - 
City Council Meeting 
April 16, 2018 

 

Avenue.  Ordinance No. 5530 was tabled at the March 19, 2018 City Council 
meeting and passed on first reading only at the April 2, 2018 City Council 
meeting. 

   
See Enclosure 38. 
 

39. Consideration of approval to award a contract to Rutjens Construction Inc. of 
Tilden, Nebraska for the South Water Main Loop project for an amount of 
$1,703,281.15. 

Motion 

   
Four bids were received at the April 5, 2018 bid letting.  The other bidders 
included Penro Construction for $1,838,526.50, Myers Construction for 
$2,306,952.60, and Carstensen Contracting, Inc. for $2,374,129.20.  The low 
bid was below the Engineer's Opinion of Costs for the project.  Olsson 
Associates and City staff recommend approval of a contract with Rutjens 
Construction Inc. for $1,703,281.15 for bid sections "A" through "D" for the 
South Water Main Loop project. 
 
See Enclosure 39. 
 

40. Consideration of approval of Ordinance No. 5544 creating Paving District 
No. 516 providing for paving of Sunrise Drive; from Victory Road west 585 
feet, David Street from Sunrise Drive north approximately 225 feet, and 
David Circle from Sunrise Drive south/southeasterly approximately 485 feet. 

Ordinance No. 5544 

   
The property owner/developer requests creation of a paving district in Legacy 
Bend First Addition, a tract of land located in part of the SE ¼ of the NE 1/4, 
part of Tax Lot 1 in the NE ¼ SE ¼, all in Section 23, Township 24 North, 
Range 1 West of the 6th P.M., Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska.  Staff 
recommends approval. 
 
See Enclosure 40. 
 

41. Consideration of Ordinance No. 5545 authorizing issuance of special 
assessment bond anticipation notes in the principal amount not to exceed 
$900,000 for Paving Districts 510 and 511 and Sidewalk District 2017-1. 

Ordinance No. 5545 

   
This note issue provides $128,765 to pay for paving improvements in Paving 
District 510 Walters East Knolls 12th Addition, $222,230 for paving 
improvements in Paving District 511 Wyndham Hills 2nd Addition, and 
$458,365 for sidewalk improvements in Sidewalk District 2017-1 Victory Road 
Sidewalk.  Note issue costs and interest are added to these amounts to result in 
a total note issue expected to be $855,000, but because the bid solicitation 
allows upfront fees the final size could be larger.  The note ordinance authorizes 
a maximum issue size of $900,000.  
  

Page 14 of 341



Staff Memorandum - 9 - 
City Council Meeting 
April 16, 2018 

 

This ordinance allows the notes to be issued as a private placement with a local 
bank.  Staff will solicit information from banks on interest rates, true interest 
cost, and aggregate principal amount.  If the City does not receive favorable 
bids from the banks, this ordinance allows Ameritas to underwrite the bonds.  
Staff recommends passage of the ordinance on all three readings. 
 
See Enclosure 41. 
 

42. Consideration of approval of a contract with Knife River Midwest, LLC of 
Sioux City, IA for the Street Overlay 2018-1 project for an amount of 
$1,311,352.50. 

Motion 

   
Four contractors requested plans and specifications for this project.  One bid 
was received at the April 9, 2018 bid letting.  The bid received was within the 
Engineer's estimate.  Staff recommend approval of a contract with Knife River 
Midwest, LLC for $1,311,352.50. 
 
See Enclosure 42. 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS 

43. Presentation of the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal 
year ended September 30, 2017 along with the related auditor's letter. 

 

   
See Enclosure 43. 
 
 

Page 15 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

The Mayor and City Council of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska met in regular session in the 
Council Chambers, 309 North 5th Street, Norfolk, Nebraska on the 2nd day of April, 2018, 
beginning at 5:30 p.m.

Following a moment of silence and the Pledge of Allegiance to the flag of the United States of 
America, Mayor Josh Moenning called the meeting to order. Roll call found the following 
Councilmembers present: Corey Granquist, Jim Lange, Rob Merrill, Jarad Dahlkoetter, Thad 
Murren, Gary L. Jackson, Dave Fauss, and Dick Pfeil. Absent: None.

Staff members present were: City Administrator Andy Colvin, City Attorney Clint Schukei, City 
Clerk Beth Deck, Finance Officer Randy Gates, Public Safety Director Shane Weidner, 
Administrative Secretary Bethene Hoff, Water & Sewer Director Dennis Watts, Park 
Superintendent Pat Mrsny, Public Works Director Steve Rames, Risk Manager Lyle Lutt, City 
Planner Val Grimes, Police Chief Bill Mizner, Wastewater Plant Superintendent Todd Boling, 
Assistant Fire Chief Trent Howard, Communications Director Liz Wallace and Economic 
Development Property Coordinator Candice Alder.

The Mayor presided and the City Clerk recorded the proceedings.

The Mayor informed the public about the location of the current copy of the Open Meetings Act 
posted in the City Council Chambers and accessible to members of the public.

Notice of the meeting was given in advance thereof by publication in the Norfolk Daily News, 
Norfolk, Nebraska, the designated method of giving notice, as shown by affidavit of publication.

Notice was given to the Mayor and all members of the Council and a copy of their 
acknowledgement of receipt of notice and agenda is attached to the minutes. Availability of the 
agenda was communicated in the advance notice and in the notice to the Mayor and Council of 
this meeting. All proceedings hereafter shown were taken while the convened meeting was open 
to the public.

Agenda Motions

Councilmember Merrill moved, seconded by Councilmember Jackson to approve the consent 
agenda as printed. Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, 
Murren, Jackson, Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried.

Councilmember Lange moved, seconded by Councilmember Granquist to adopt the full agenda 
as printed. Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, 
Jackson, Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried.

Consent Agenda Items Approved

Minutes of the March 19, 2018, City Council meeting 

March sales tax report (January sales)

Special Designated Liquor License for Sacred Heart Parish, 204 S 5th Street, for a Hall of Fame 
Banquet on April 21, 2018 at the Sacred Heart Activity Center

Page 1 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 16 of 341



Ratify approval of a Special Designated Liquor License application for Taylors Bar & Grill, 116 
S 2nd Street, Pierce, Nebraska, to serve beer, wine and distilled spirits for an event at the 
National Guard Armory, 817 S 1st Street, on Friday, April 13, 2018, from 4:00 p.m. to 12:00 
a.m.

Ratify approval of a Special Designated Liquor License application for Uncle Jarrol's Pub-B-
Que, 2610 W Norfolk Avenue, to serve beer for a car care seminar at Norfolk Transmission, 
1001 S 13th Street, on Friday, April 6, 2018, from 6:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m.

Special Designated Liquor License for Fine Wine, LLC, dba Jim's Fine Wine & More, 2001 
Market Lane, to serve wine at a wine tasting event at The Brand, 426 West Norfolk Avenue, on 
April 20, 2018, from 5:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m.

Mayor's appointment of Dan Spray to the Zoning Board of Adjustment, completing the term 
ending August 2018 of Brian Lundy

Plans and specifications on file at the Water Pollution Control Plant for grit removal and 
recoating of the Holding Tank interior walls at the Water Pollution Control Plant and authorize 
the City Clerk to advertise for bids 

Grant of Easement from Dennis and Bonnie Bretschneider for construction and maintenance of a 
storm sewer to the City of Norfolk over, under, across, and through the south 15 feet of said Lot 
5, Block 2, Westwood Fourth Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska

A & R Construction of Plainview, Nebraska, contract for Paving District No. 510 (Walters' East 
Knolls 12th Addition) and Paving District No. 511 (Wyndham Hills 2nd Addition) project for an 
amount of $334,281.14 to furnish all labor, materials, equipment and all else necessary to 
properly construct all the improvements. Two sealed bids were received at the March 27, 2018, 
bid letting. The other bidder was Elkhorn Paving Construction Co., Inc. of Norfolk for 
$344,568.30.

Rotary Club of Norfolk, a Nebraska Nonprofit Corporation, agreement to use Skyview Park to 
hold four musical performance events on June 21, 2018 (with rain date of June 28, 2018); July 5, 
2018 (with rain date of July 12, 2018); July 19, 2018 (with rain date of July 26, 2018); and 
August 2, 2018 (with rain date of August 9, 2018), and to allow alcohol consumption in the park 
during those events

Staff negotiate an engineering services contract with JEO Consulting Group, Inc. for design and 
reconstruction of Braasch Avenue from 1st Street to 5th Street

Staff negotiate an engineering services contract with Ochsner Hare & Hare for the RiverPoint 
Square project

Advertise for a replacement for the current IBM iSeries System used by the Police Division

Northeast Nebraska Softball Academy (a Nebraska Nonprofit Corporation) agreement to use Ta-
Ha-Zouka Park for softball practice and games for their 2018 softball season from April 3, 2018 
through August 1, 2018

Page 2 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 17 of 341



Bills in the amount of $1,566,633.19

Special Presentations

The Mayor proclaimed April 27, 2018, as “Arbor Day”; April 2018, as “Fair Housing Month”; 
and April 8 to 14, 2018, as “National Public Safety Telecommunicators Week”.

Public Hearings and Related Items

Public Hearing
($350,000 CDBG Tourism Development Grant)

(Miracle Skate Park)

A public hearing was held to consider submitting a grant application to the Nebraska Department 
of Economic Development in the amount of $350,000 in CDBG funds for a Tourism 
Development Grant to make improvements to Miracle Skate Park which will include handicap 
accessibility for both participants and spectators. Jan Merrill, Northeast Nebraska Economic 
Development District, provided information to the Mayor and City Council. The City of Norfolk 
is requesting $350,000 in CDBG funds for a Tourism Development Grant of which $327,000 
will be used for removal of architectural barriers and to make Miracle Skate Park handicap 
accessible for both participants and spectators; $8,000 will be used for construction management; 
and $15,000 will be used for general administration of the grant. The City of Norfolk will 
provide $114,450, or 35% in matching funds. The total project budget will be $464,450. No 
persons will be displaced as a result of this project.

Anthony Thompson, President of GoodLife Sports, spoke in favor of the grant application.
Thompson said $10,000 from the Carson Foundation has been raised to help with the 
improvements. The group would like the skate park to be about 14,900 square feet.

Others speaking in favor of the grant application and improvements to the skate park were: Ryan 
Rabe; Scott Hampton, KEXL/106KIX & KHAWK at Northeast Community College; Jacob 
Wagner; and Leann Baker.

No one else appeared either in favor of or in opposition to the Tourism Development Grant and 
the Mayor declared the hearing closed.

Resolution No. 2018-14
($350,000 CDBG Tourism Development Grant)

(Miracle Skate Park)

Councilmember Merrill moved, seconded by Councilmember Fauss to adopt Resolution No. 
2018-14 approving a grant application to the Nebraska Department of Economic Development in 
the amount of $350,000 in CDBG funds for a Tourism Development Grant to make 
improvements to Miracle Skate Park which will include handicap accessibility for both 
participants and spectators and authorize the Mayor to proceed with the formulation of any and 
all contracts, documents or other memoranda for the grant.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. Resolution No. 2018-14 was 
adopted.

Page 3 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 18 of 341



Ordinance No. 5522 
(Vandelay Investments)

Councilmember Pfeil moved, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, to remove from the table 
Ordinance No. 5522 approving a zoning change from I-2 (Heavy Industrial District) to R-3 
(Multiple Family Residential District) on property addressed as 211 West Northwestern Avenue. 
Ordinance No. 5522 passed on first reading at the February 20, 2018 City Council meeting, on 
second reading at the March 5, 2018 City Council meeting, and was tabled at the March 19, 2018 
City Council meeting.

Roll call to remove from the table: Ayes: Councilmembers Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, 
Murren, Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: Granquist and Jackson. Absent: None. Motion to take off the 
table carried.

Councilmember Merrill introduced, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, Ordinance No. 5522 
entitled: AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, 
NEBRASKA; AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 
NEBRASKA; PROVIDING WHEN THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BE IN FULL FORCE AND 
EFFECT; AND PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF THIS ORDINANCE IN 
PAMPHLET FORM and moved that the ordinance be passed on third reading. Said ordinance 
was then read into the record by title by the City Clerk.

Roll call on third reading of Ordinance No. 5522: Ayes: Councilmembers Dahlkoetter, Murren, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: Granquist, Lange, Merrill and Jackson. Absent: None. There being a 
tie vote, Mayor Moenning voted Aye and broke the tie; therefore, the motion carried on a 5-4 
vote. Ordinance No. 5522 passed on third reading. 

Public Hearing
(Vandelay Final Planned Development)

A public hearing was held to consider a Final Planned Development on property addressed as 
211 West Northwestern Avenue at the request of Vandelay Investments, LLC. City Planner 
Valerie Grimes provided information to the Mayor and City Council. The City Council 
approved the Preliminary Planned Development on February 20, 2018 and the Norfolk Planning 
Commission then approved the Final Planned Development and forwarded to the City Council 
for consideration. Grimes said the Final Planned Development (PD) for the former Depot 
property at 211 West Northwestern Avenue would grant relief from subdivision regulations and 
allow zero lot lines to repurpose the current building. Because this request is for residential 
zoning in an industrial area, there are 100’ buffer yards required to the east, south and west sides 
and 40’ buffer yards required to the north of the property; therefore, the buffer yards would take 
up the entire lot. To allow the use of the property for apartments with the residential zoning, a 
planned development is needed to provide relief from the following subdivision regulations: (1) 
buffer yards on all four sides would go to zero lot lines; (2) fence height restriction on the front 
yard is currently 4’ and they would be allowed to go to 6’; (3) required landscaping adjacent to 
the street property line is a minimum 12.5’ and the relief would be zero; and (4) building setback 
would be zero. However, the Norfolk Planning Division recommended that the south, east and 
west fences all be eight (8) foot high.

Councilmember Lange feels the Planned Development should state which type of fencing is 
being used.

Page 4 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 19 of 341



Grimes said the PD only talks about privacy fencing; the PD would need to specifically state 
which type of fencing if the Council wants a certain type.

Ben Conover, developer, said the fence will be an 8’ tall, non-see through/non-transparent, made 
of composite heavy-duty material and very private. The 6’ front fence will be ornamental 
wrought iron. Ornamental trees will be planted in the front and to the west of the property with 
“nice grass and a sprinkler system.” Conover said “we plan to hire Guaranteed Landscapes to 
come in and do some additional aesthetics.”

Mayor Moenning said “you talked about some potential playground area for youth?”

Conover said “we are limited in a way unless we tear out concrete because there is so much 
existing concrete already, which is good concrete, but the area between, that I talked about 
before, we talked about maybe having a playground set or something in there, especially where 
we are going to have privacy fencing on two sides where it is going to be very enclosed, very 
private, but that is yet to be determined depending on the budget.”

Glen Wapelhorst, Perry Apartments, likes the idea of the historical preservation of the building 
and the proposed usage will decrease traffic flow and be more desirable.

Councilmember Jackson said “I just hope going forward that all safety precautions are taken 
because of some of the aspects of the building with the location and that all concerns are 
addressed especially with areas of fire – there aren’t any windows on the back of the building.”

On March 6, 2018, the Norfolk Planning Commission held a public hearing regarding 
Vandelay’s Final Planned Development. The City Clerk read the Planning Commission’s 
recommendation for approval into the record.

No one else appeared either in favor of or in opposition to the Final Planned Development and 
the Mayor declared the hearing closed.

Ordinance No. 5530
(Vandelay Final Planned Development)

Councilmember Murren moved, seconded by Councilmember Granquist, to remove from the 
table Ordinance No. 5530 approving the Final Planned Development for Norfolk Junction 
located at 211 West Northwestern Avenue. Ordinance No. 5530 was tabled at the March 19, 
2018 City Council meeting.

Roll call to remove Ordinance No. 5530 from the table: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, 
Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: Lange. Absent: None. Motion 
carried.

Councilmember Merrill introduced, seconded by Councilmember Granquist, Ordinance No. 
5530 entitled: AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, 
NEBRASKA, AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 
NEBRASKA, AND PROVIDING WHEN THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BE IN FULL FORCE 
AND EFFECT; AND PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF THIS ORDINANCE IN 
PAMPHLET FORM and moved that the ordinance be passed on first reading. Said ordinance 
was then read into the record by title by the City Clerk.

Page 5 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 20 of 341



Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, Fauss and 
Pfeil. Nays: Lange. Absent: None. Motion carried. Ordinance No. 5530 passed on first 
reading only.

Public Hearing
(Norfolk Depot Apartment Renovation Project)

(211 West Northwestern Avenue)

A public hearing was held to consider submitting a grant application to the Nebraska Department 
of Economic Development in the amount of $500,000 for the Norfolk Depot Apartment 
Renovation Project to redevelop the building at 211 W Northwestern Avenue into ten apartment 
units. Northeast Nebraska Economic Development District representative Jan Merrill provided 
information to the Mayor and City Council. Merrill clarified that the public hearing notice 
published was correct but the agenda item states HOME grant application and the grant is for 
Trust Funds. The City of Norfolk is requesting $500,000, for the redevelopment of a building 
located at 211 W Northwestern Avenue, which will include $12,500 for general administration 
of the grant; and $28,500 for paint testing/risk assessment/clearance testing and housing 
management. The total budget is $1,253,000 with Conover Properties, LLC of Norfolk, NE, the 
property owner, providing $51,000 in matching funds in addition to $702,000 leveraged funds. 
The City of Norfolk will be the applicant for this project with Conover Properties, LLC, owned 
by Ben Conover, being the project developer/owner and REG Construction, owned by Rodney 
Geihsler, being the general contractor. The proposed project will include the construction of ten 
apartment units. At least 51% of the NAHP funds will benefit persons below 120% of median 
household income. No persons are anticipated to be displaced as a result of the NAHP activity, 
however, the City will follow its plans for assisting persons actually displaced. Merrill said 
Conover Properties will provide the required matching funds. Merrill said approximately five 
(5) of the apartments will be income-qualified, 120% of median household income, for ten (10) 
years to meet the grant requirements. Merrill said a family of four would qualify with an income 
of $75,120 and a 2-bedroom apartment could only rent for $784; a family of two would qualify 
with an income of $60,000 and rent could only be $658; however, HUD income and rental rates 
would change over the 10-year grant period.

Councilmember Lange said elected officials were previously told the project was for “9 to 10 
apartments; so this is for 10 apartments then?”

Jan Merrill replied “yes.”

Conover said he wanted “to clarify; we are actually going to have 12 apartments in the building. 
There are going to be nine 2-bedroom apartments of roughly 850 square feet on the bottom floor 
with an upstairs loft, which will be another 400 square feet, or about 1,200 square feet of living 
space in a two bedroom apartment, which will be very large, and there are going to be two 1-
bedroom apartments will be about 525 square feet on the bottom floor and about 300 square feet 
of loft.” Conover Properties applied for a grant last year to renovate the old bowling alley 
building in Madison into 12 apartments and NDED is “looking at the merits for that project.”
Conover said “the City of Madison has done a number of these and has been approved one or 
two of these every year for the last three or four years.” Conover said NDED “will look at the 
merit of this project; how many units they are getting for the money that they are investing and 
they will award it to the best project.”

Councilmember Granquist questioned whether the State requires reporting if grant funds are used 
because of the income qualifying for 51% of the apartments especially since “you said these are 
going to be high end apartments.”

Page 6 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 21 of 341



Conover said “there are a lot of reporting requirements; show receipts/payments. These are 
going to be very high end apartments” and “about $300 to $350 rent per month will be taken off 
for the 10 years” of the grant for the income qualified units but “it will still be beneficial for us.”

Jan Merrill said persons will need to income qualify again after the 6th year and must also take a 
renters-wise course to rent the apartments. The grant requirements are that at least 51% of the 
NAHP funds will benefit persons below 120% of median household income and that only applies 
to the $500,000 grant funds and not the total renovation costs.

City Planner Val Grimes reminded everyone that the Final Planned Development (PD) is for a 
maximum of 10 apartments and not 12 as indicated by Conover.

Mayor Moenning said the PD ordinance was approved on first reading only at this time and 
questioned whether the Final Planned Development can be amended prior to second reading.

City Attorney Clint Schukei replies “yes”.

Conover said that if “it is a situation where we would have to go back through the whole thing, I 
will take a 2-bedroom apartment and make it into a large 3-bedroom apartment and we’ll have 
ten. We would then have nine 2-bedroom and one 1-bedroom apartment. We were originally 
going to have eleven, that’s my mistake.”

No one else appeared either in favor of or in opposition to the grant application and the Mayor 
declared the hearing closed.

Resolution No. 2018-15
(Norfolk Depot Apartment Renovation Project)

Councilmember Pfeil moved, seconded by Councilmember Murren, to adopt Resolution No. 
2018-15 approving a grant application to the Nebraska Department of Economic Development 
funds distributed through the Nebraska Affordable Housing Program for $500,000 to redevelop 
the building at 211 W Northwestern Avenue into apartments.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, Fauss and 
Pfeil. Nays: Lange. Absent: None. Motion carried. Resolution No. 2018-15 was adopted.

Public Hearing
(CDBG grant)

(ContiTech USA expansion)

A public hearing was held to consider submitting a grant application in the amount of $705,000 
to the Nebraska Department of Economic Development for a CDBG grant for the ContiTech 
USA expansion project at 2701 West Omaha Avenue. Northeast Nebraska Economic 
Development District representative Jan Merrill provided information to the Mayor and City 
Council. The project involves the expansion of a local business, ContiTech USA, Inc. located at 
2701 West Omaha Avenue, Norfolk, Nebraska. The expansion includes 1) the addition of a 65 
foot x 120 foot two story building (19,500 square feet of floor space) on the south side of the 
existing facility; 2) the construction of an additional area for four (4) dock doors that are 20 feet 
x 60 feet or 1,200 square feet, this is also on the south side of the facility; 3) the addition of a 
concrete dock area and driveway that is approximately 9,450 square feet of new concrete; 4) the 

Page 7 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 22 of 341



addition of 4,950 square feet of gravel area for truck use; and 5) the purchase of new equipment 
to be installed in the new addition. The total project cost is approximately $9,314,000 of which 
$2,832,000 is the building addition and $6,482,000 is additional production equipment. Funding 
includes Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funding of approximately $705,000, 
Nebraska Department of Economic Development Site and Building Funds, City of Norfolk 
LB840 funds, and business equity. The CDBG funds of $700,000 will be used to purchase 
equipment, and $5,000 for general administration costs. The $700,000 of CDBG funds will be 
conditionally granted to Northeast Economic Development, Inc., a non-profit development 
organization (NDO) which, in turn, will make a loan to the business. The CDBG funds will be 
used for activities that will benefit low-to-moderate income persons and will create a total of 30 
new full-time jobs, in addition to maintaining its existing 365 full-time employees. The CDBG 
funded activities are not likely to result in the residential displacement of people.

No one else appeared either in favor of or in opposition to the grant application and the Mayor 
declared the hearing closed.

Resolution No. 2018-16 
(CDBG grant)

(ContiTech USA expansion)

Councilmember Lange moved, seconded by Councilmember Murren, to adopt Resolution No. 
2018-16 approving a grant application in the amount of $705,000 to the Nebraska Department of 
Economic Development for a CDBG grant for the ContiTech USA expansion project at 2701 
West Omaha Avenue.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. Resolution No. 2018-16 was 
adopted.

Public Hearings

Public hearings were held simultaneously to consider an amendment to Section 6-162 of the City 
Code to amend the provisions of the 2012 International One and Two Family Dwelling Code 
adopted by the City related to ceiling height; and an amendment to Section 6-183 of the City 
Code to amend the provisions of the 2012 International Property Maintenance Code adopted by 
the City related to ceiling height. Assistant Fire Chief Trent Howard provided information to the 
Mayor and City Council. 

On March 20, 2018, the Norfolk Planning Commission held public hearings regarding the 
amendments to the provisions of the 2012 International One and Two Family Dwelling code and 
to the 2012 International Property Maintenance Code. The City Clerk read the Planning 
Commission’s recommendations for approval into the record.

No one else appeared either in favor of or in opposition to the amendments and the Mayor 
declared the hearings closed.

Ordinance No. 5532 
(One and Two Family Dwelling Code, ceiling height)

Councilmember Granquist introduced, seconded by Councilmember Murren, Ordinance No. 
5532 entitled: AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA TO AMEND

Page 8 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 23 of 341



SECTION 6-162 OF THE OFFICIAL CITY CODE TO AMEND THE PROVISIONS OF THE
2012 INTERNATIONAL ONE- AND TWO-FAMILY DWELLING CODE ADOPTED BY
THE CITY RELATED TO CEILING HEIGHT; TO PROVIDE WHEN THIS ORDINANCE
SHALL BE IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT; AND TO PROVIDE FOR THE PUBLICATION
OF THIS ORDINANCE IN PAMPHLET FORM and moved that the ordinance be passed on 
first reading. Said ordinance was then read into the record by title by the City Clerk.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. Ordinance No. 5532 passed on 
first reading.

Councilmember Granquist moved, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, that the statutory rule 
requiring reading on three different days be suspended.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. The motion to suspend the rules 
was adopted by three-fourths of the Council and the statutory rule requiring reading on three 
different days was suspended for consideration of said ordinance.

Thereafter Councilmember Granquist moved, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, that the 
statutory rules requiring reading on three different days be suspended and for final passage of the 
ordinance. The Mayor then stated the question "Shall Ordinance No. 5532 be passed and 
adopted?"

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. The passage and adoption of 
said ordinance having been concurred in by a majority of all members of the Council, the Mayor 
signed and approved the ordinance and the City Clerk attested the passage and adoption of the 
same and affixed her signature thereto. The Mayor then instructed the City Clerk to publish said 
Ordinance No. 5532 as required by law.

Ordinance No. 5533 
(International Property Maintenance Code, ceiling height)

Councilmember Merrill introduced, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, Ordinance No. 5533 
entitled: AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA TO AMEND
SECTION 6-183 OF THE OFFICIAL CITY CODE TO AMEND THE PROVISIONS OF THE
2012 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE ADOPTED BY THE CITY
RELATED TO CEILING HEIGHT; TO PROVIDE WHEN THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BE IN
FULL FORCE AND EFFECT; AND TO PROVIDE FOR THE PUBLICATION OF THIS
ORDINANCE IN PAMPHLET FORM and moved that the ordinance be passed on first reading.
Said ordinance was then read into the record by title by the City Clerk.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. Ordinance No. 5533 passed on 
first reading.

Councilmember Fauss moved, seconded by Councilmember Pfeil, that the statutory rule 
requiring reading on three different days be suspended.

Page 9 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 24 of 341



Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. The motion to suspend the rules 
was adopted by three-fourths of the Council and the statutory rule requiring reading on three 
different days was suspended for consideration of said ordinance.

Thereafter Councilmember Fauss moved, seconded by Councilmember Pfeil, that the statutory 
rules requiring reading on three different days be suspended and for final passage of the 
ordinance. The Mayor then stated the question "Shall Ordinance No. 5533 be passed and 
adopted?"

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. The passage and adoption of 
said ordinance having been concurred in by a majority of all members of the Council, the Mayor 
signed and approved the ordinance and the City Clerk attested the passage and adoption of the 
same and affixed her signature thereto. The Mayor then instructed the City Clerk to publish said 
Ordinance No. 5533 as required by law.

Public Hearing
(Innate Development)

(1/2 mile south of Benjamin Avenue & Victory Road)

A public hearing was held to consider to consider a zoning change from R-1 (Single Family 
Residential District) to R-2 (One and Two Family Residential District) on property generally 
located ½ mile south from the intersection of Benjamin Avenue and Victory Road at the request 
of Innate Development, LLC. City Planner Val Grimes provided information to the Mayor and 
City Council. 

On March 20, 2018, the Norfolk Planning Commission held a public hearing regarding the zone 
change for Innate Development, LLC. The City Clerk read the Planning Commission’s 
recommendations for approval into the record.

No one else appeared either in favor of or in opposition to the amendments and the Mayor 
declared the hearings closed.

Ordinance No. 5534
(Innate Development zone change)

Councilmember Fauss introduced, seconded by Councilmember Murren, Ordinance No. 5534 
entitled: AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, 
NEBRASKA; AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 
NEBRASKA; PROVIDING WHEN THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BE IN FULL FORCE AND 
EFFECT; AND PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF THIS ORDINANCE IN 
PAMPHLET FORM and moved that the ordinance be passed on first reading. Said ordinance 
was then read into the record by title by the City Clerk.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. Ordinance No. 5534 passed on 
first reading.

Councilmember Fauss moved, seconded by Councilmember Lange, that the statutory rule 
requiring reading on three different days be suspended.

Page 10 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 25 of 341



Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. The motion to suspend the rules 
was adopted by three-fourths of the Council and the statutory rule requiring reading on three 
different days was suspended for consideration of said ordinance.

Thereafter Councilmember Fauss moved, seconded by Councilmember Lange, that the statutory 
rules requiring reading on three different days be suspended and for final passage of the 
ordinance. The Mayor then stated the question "Shall Ordinance No. 5534 be passed and 
adopted?"

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. The passage and adoption of 
said ordinance having been concurred in by a majority of all members of the Council, the Mayor 
signed and approved the ordinance and the City Clerk attested the passage and adoption of the 
same and affixed her signature thereto. The Mayor then instructed the City Clerk to publish said 
Ordinance No. 5534 as required by law.

Public Hearing
(Oban Group, Inc., Final Planned Development)

(Norfolk Lodging)

A public hearing was held to consider a Final Planned Development on property generally 
located at the southeast corner of 13th Street and Omaha Avenue. City Planner Val Grimes 
provided information to the Mayor and City Council. The Planned Development addresses such 
items as the height and setback requirements for the Norfolk Lodging project.

On March 20, 2018, the Norfolk Planning Commission held a public hearing regarding the Final 
Planned Development. The City Clerk read the Planning Commission’s recommendations for 
approval into the record.

No one else appeared either in favor of or in opposition to the amendments and the Mayor 
declared the hearings closed.

Ordinance No. 5535
(Oban Group, Inc., Final Planned Development)

(Norfolk Lodge at southeast corner of 13th Street and Omaha Avenue)

Councilmember Merrill introduced, seconded by Councilmember Lange, Ordinance No. 5535 
entitled: AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, 
NEBRASKA, AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 
NEBRASKA, AND PROVIDING WHEN THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BE IN FULL FORCE 
AND EFFECT; AND PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF THIS ORDINANCE IN 
PAMPHLET FORM and moved that the ordinance be passed on first reading. Said ordinance 
was then read into the record by title by the City Clerk.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. Ordinance No. 5535 passed on 
first reading.

Councilmember Lange moved, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, that the statutory rule 
requiring reading on three different days be suspended.

Page 11 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 26 of 341



Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. The motion to suspend the rules 
was adopted by three-fourths of the Council and the statutory rule requiring reading on three 
different days was suspended for consideration of said ordinance.

Thereafter Councilmember Lange moved, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, that the statutory 
rules requiring reading on three different days be suspended and for final passage of the 
ordinance. The Mayor then stated the question "Shall Ordinance No. 5535 be passed and 
adopted?"

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. The passage and adoption of 
said ordinance having been concurred in by a majority of all members of the Council, the Mayor 
signed and approved the ordinance and the City Clerk attested the passage and adoption of the 
same and affixed her signature thereto. The Mayor then instructed the City Clerk to publish said 
Ordinance No. 5535 as required by law.

Regular Agenda Items

Ordinance No. 5529
(Magdefrau zone change)

Councilmember Granquist introduced, seconded by Councilmember Murren, Ordinance No. 
5529 entitled: AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, 
NEBRASKA; AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 
NEBRASKA; PROVIDING WHEN THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BE IN FULL FORCE AND 
EFFECT; AND PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF THIS ORDINANCE IN 
PAMPHLET FORM and moved that the ordinance be passed on second reading.

City Planner Val Grimes explained the property owner south of the Magdefrau property has not 
responded to staff about changing the zoning to residential; however, the property owner to the 
north of the Magdefrau property is moving forward with requesting a zone change to R-2 which 
will provide for more uniform zoning in that area.

Councilmember Lange moved, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, to table consideration of 
Ordinance No. 5529 on second reading to allow time for the other property owner to request a 
zoning change to R-2 as discussed.

Roll call to table Ordinance No. 5529: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, 
Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion to table 
carried.

Ordinance No. 5536
(Paving District No. 513, Georgia Avenue)

Councilmember Pfeil introduced, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, Ordinance No. 5536 
entitled: AN ORDINANCE CREATING PAVING DISTRICT NO. 513 IN THE CITY OF 
NORFOLK, NEBRASKA, ORDERING THE CONSTRUCTION OF STREET 
IMPROVEMENTS THEREIN AND ORDERING THE PUBLICATION OF THE 

Page 12 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 27 of 341



ORDINANCE IN PAMPHLET FORM and moved that the ordinance be passed on first reading.
Said ordinance was then read into the record by title by the City Clerk.

Paving District No. 513 provided for paving of Georgia Avenue from 1st Street to 3rd Street, and 
2nd Street from Georgia Avenue to Sycamore Avenue.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. Ordinance No. 5536 passed on 
first reading.

Councilmember Lange moved, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, that the statutory rule 
requiring reading on three different days be suspended.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. The motion to suspend the rules 
was adopted by three-fourths of the Council and the statutory rule requiring reading on three 
different days was suspended for consideration of said ordinance.

Thereafter Councilmember Lange moved, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, that the statutory 
rules requiring reading on three different days be suspended and for final passage of the 
ordinance. The Mayor then stated the question "Shall Ordinance No. 5536 be passed and 
adopted?"

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. The passage and adoption of 
said ordinance having been concurred in by a majority of all members of the Council, the Mayor 
signed and approved the ordinance and the City Clerk attested the passage and adoption of the 
same and affixed her signature thereto. The Mayor then instructed the City Clerk to publish said 
Ordinance No. 5536 as required by law.

Resolution No. 2018-17
(15th Street improvements)

Councilmember Merrill moved, seconded by Councilmember Granquist, to adopt Resolution No. 
2018-17 approving improvement of unpaved 15th Street as outlined in Gap Paving District No. 
514.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. Resolution No. 2018-17 was 
adopted.

Ordinance No. 5537
(Gap Paving District No. 514)
(15th Street, Hayes Avenue)

Councilmember Granquist introduced, seconded by Councilmember Murren, Ordinance No. 
5537 entitled: AN ORDINANCE CREATING GAP PAVING DISTRICT NO. 514 IN THE 
CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA, ORDERING THE CONSTRUCTION OF STREET 
IMPROVEMENTS THEREIN AND ORDERING THE PUBLICATION OF THE 
ORDINANCE IN PAMPHLET FORM and moved that the ordinance be passed on first reading.
Said ordinance was then read into the record by title by the City Clerk.

Page 13 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 28 of 341



Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. Ordinance No. 5537 passed on 
first reading.

Councilmember Granquist moved, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, that the statutory rule 
requiring reading on three different days be suspended.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. The motion to suspend the rules 
was adopted by three-fourths of the Council and the statutory rule requiring reading on three 
different days was suspended for consideration of said ordinance.

Thereafter Councilmember Granquist moved, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, that the 
statutory rules requiring reading on three different days be suspended and for final passage of the 
ordinance. The Mayor then stated the question "Shall Ordinance No. 5537 be passed and 
adopted?"

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. The passage and adoption of 
said ordinance having been concurred in by a majority of all members of the Council, the Mayor 
signed and approved the ordinance and the City Clerk attested the passage and adoption of the 
same and affixed her signature thereto. The Mayor then instructed the City Clerk to publish said 
Ordinance No. 5537 as required by law.

Resolution No. 2018-18
(Square Turn Boulevard Improvements)

Councilmember Lange moved, seconded by Councilmember Merrill, to adopt Resolution No. 
2018-18 approving improvement of unpaved Square Turn Boulevard as outlined in Gap Paving 
District No. 515.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. Resolution No. 2018-17 was 
adopted.

Ordinance No. 5538
(Gap Paving District No. 515)

(Square Turn Boulevard, Wilson Avenue)

Councilmember Lange introduced, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, Ordinance No. 5538 
entitled: AN ORDINANCE CREATING GAP PAVING DISTRICT NO. 515 IN THE CITY OF 
NORFOLK, NEBRASKA, ORDERING THE CONSTRUCTION OF STREET 
IMPROVEMENTS THEREIN AND ORDERING THE PUBLICATION OF THE 
ORDINANCE IN PAMPHLET FORM and moved that the ordinance be passed on first reading.
Said ordinance was then read into the record by title by the City Clerk.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. Ordinance No. 5538 passed on 
first reading.

Page 14 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 29 of 341



Councilmember Lange moved, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, that the statutory rule 
requiring reading on three different days be suspended.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. The motion to suspend the rules 
was adopted by three-fourths of the Council and the statutory rule requiring reading on three 
different days was suspended for consideration of said ordinance.

Thereafter Councilmember Lange moved, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, that the statutory 
rules requiring reading on three different days be suspended and for final passage of the 
ordinance. The Mayor then stated the question "Shall Ordinance No. 5538 be passed and 
adopted?"

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. The passage and adoption of 
said ordinance having been concurred in by a majority of all members of the Council, the Mayor 
signed and approved the ordinance and the City Clerk attested the passage and adoption of the 
same and affixed her signature thereto. The Mayor then instructed the City Clerk to publish said 
Ordinance No. 5538 as required by law.

McLaury Engineering, Inc.
(Gap Paving Projects 2018)

Councilmember Pfeil moved, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, to approve an engineering 
services contract with McLaury Engineering, Inc. for the Gap Paving Projects 2018 project for 
an amount of $65,000.00.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried.

Ordinance No. 5539
(Various Purpose bond issue)

(Sewer District 247)

Councilmember Merrill introduced, seconded by Councilmember Granquist, Ordinance No. 
5539 entitled: AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF GENERAL 
OBLIGATION VARIOUS PURPOSE BONDS, SERIES 2018, OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 
NEBRASKA, IN THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NOT TO EXCEED ONE MILLION FIVE 
HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,500,000) FOR THE PURPOSE OF PAYING OFF 
INTERIM FINANCING FOR THE COSTS OF SANITARY SEWER SYSTEM 
IMPROVEMENTS IN SANITARY SEWER EXTENSION DISTRICT NO. 247; 
PRESCRIBING THE FORM OF SAID BONDS; PROVIDING FOR THE LEVY AND 
COLLECTION OF TAXES TO PAY THE SAME; ENTERING INTO A CONTRACT ON 
BEHALF OF THE CITY WITH THE HOLDERS OF SAID BONDS; AUTHORIZING 
OFFICERS OF THE CITY TO MAKE ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE SALE OR 
PLACEMENT OF THE BONDS AND TO DESIGNATE THE FINAL TERMS, RATES AND 
MATURITY SCHEDULE FOR SAID BONDS WITHIN STATED PARAMETERS; AND 
PROVIDING FOR PUBLICATION OF THIS ORDINANCE IN PAMPHLET FORM and 
moved that the ordinance be passed on first reading. Said ordinance was then read into the 
record by title by the City Clerk.

Page 15 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 30 of 341



Councilmember Jackson briefly left the meeting room at 7:18 p.m.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Fauss and 
Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: Jackson. Motion carried. Ordinance No. 5539 passed on first 
reading.

Councilmember Lange moved, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, that the statutory rule 
requiring reading on three different days be suspended.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Fauss and 
Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: Jackson. Motion carried. The motion to suspend the rules was 
adopted by three-fourths of the Council and the statutory rule requiring reading on three different 
days was suspended for consideration of said ordinance.

Thereafter Councilmember Lange moved, seconded by Councilmember Fauss, that the statutory 
rules requiring reading on three different days be suspended and for final passage of the 
ordinance. The Mayor then stated the question "Shall Ordinance No. 5539 be passed and 
adopted?"

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Fauss and 
Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: Jackson. Motion carried. The passage and adoption of said 
ordinance having been concurred in by a majority of all members of the Council, the Mayor 
signed and approved the ordinance and the City Clerk attested the passage and adoption of the 
same and affixed her signature thereto. The Mayor then instructed the City Clerk to publish said 
Ordinance No. 5539 as required by law.

Councilmember Jackson came back to the meeting room at 7:19 p.m.

Resolution No. 2018-19 
(call $1,920,000 outstanding Series 2017 bond anticipation notes)

Councilmember Lange moved, seconded by Councilmember Granquist, to adopt Resolution No. 
2018-19 approving to call $1,920,000 of outstanding Series 2017 bond anticipation notes for 
redemption on or shortly after May 3, 2018.

Roll call: Ayes: Councilmembers Granquist, Lange, Merrill, Dahlkoetter, Murren, Jackson, 
Fauss and Pfeil. Nays: None. Absent: None. Motion carried. Resolution No. 2018-19 was 
adopted.

There being no further business, the Mayor declared the meeting adjourned at 7:20 p.m.

_____________________________
Josh Moenning
Mayor

ATTEST:

__________________________
Elizabeth A. Deck
City Clerk

( S E A L )

Page 16 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 31 of 341



I, the undersigned Clerk, hereby certify that the foregoing is the full, true and correct original 
document of proceedings of Monday, April 2, 2018, had and done by the Mayor and City 
Council; that all of the subjects included in the proceedings were contained in the agenda for the 
meeting, kept continually current and available for public inspection at the office of the Clerk; 
that such subjects were contained in said agenda for at least twenty-four hours prior to the 
meeting; that at least one copy of all reproducible material discussed at the meeting was 
available at the meeting for examination and copying by members of the public; that the said 
minutes were in written form and available for public inspection within ten working days and 
prior to the next convened meeting of said body; that all news media requesting notification 
concerning meetings of said body were provided advance notification of the time and place of 
said meeting and the subjects to be discussed at said meeting.

____________________________
Elizabeth A. Deck
City Clerk

( S E A L )

Page 17 of 17COUNCIL 2018 APRIL2.2018 BK NO 59

4/16/2018 Enclosure 7
Page 32 of 341



2018

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 BUDGET

October 152,672.26$     146,605.33$     148,836.44$     146,590.74$     153,275.87$     150,747.46$     6,685.13$        4.56% 2,528.41$        1.68%
November 131,791.85$     149,931.72$     141,623.11$     165,129.39$     162,140.35$     162,171.61$     (2,989.04)$       -1.81% (31.26)$            -0.02%
December 140,632.76$     156,389.09$     145,122.86$     143,379.83$     152,611.25$     148,253.15$     9,231.42$        6.44% 4,358.10$        2.94%
January 146,152.54$     141,791.99$     154,050.35$     150,938.69$     159,097.48$     153,463.59$     8,158.79$        5.41% 5,633.89$        3.67%
February 127,239.29$     139,310.10$     135,902.91$     139,477.44$     132,539.78$     131,608.29$     (6,937.66)$       -4.97% 931.49$           0.71%
March 122,839.76$     129,452.99$     146,298.74$     130,762.60$     137,250.77$     135,879.08$     6,488.17$        4.96% 1,371.69$        1.01%
April 147,074.05$     149,362.32$     170,858.36$     156,429.04$     153,741.05$     -$                 0.00% -$                 0.00%
May 138,107.94$     136,979.73$     151,200.24$     153,760.89$     153,634.60$     -$                 0.00% -$                 0.00%
June 152,871.03$     167,297.83$     159,124.41$     156,103.52$     156,833.40$     -$                 0.00% -$                 0.00%
July 171,669.65$     161,971.01$     162,858.50$     175,006.60$     163,574.56$     -$                 0.00% -$                 0.00%
August 156,755.29$     154,037.47$     171,086.68$     165,493.89$     170,058.30$     -$                 0.00% -$                 0.00%
September 168,982.88$     154,619.08$     162,012.90$     156,453.23$     163,034.91$     -$                 0.00% -$                 0.00%

Total 1,756,789.30$  1,787,748.66$  1,848,975.50$  1,839,525.86$  896,915.50$     1,843,000.00$  20,636.81$      2.36% 14,792.32$      1.68%

Change 2017 to 2018 BUDGET VARIANCE

Fiscal Years Ended September 30,

CITY OF NORFOLK
Food and Beverage & Lodging Occupation Tax Comparison

2014-2018

 $-

 $20,000.00

 $40,000.00

 $60,000.00

 $80,000.00

 $100,000.00

 $120,000.00

 $140,000.00

 $160,000.00

 $180,000.00

 $200,000.00

O
ct

o
b

e
r

N
o

ve
m

b
e

r

D
e

ce
m

b
e

r

J
a

n
u

a
ry

F
e

b
ru

a
ry

M
a

rc
h

A
p

ri
l

M
a

y

Ju
n

e

Ju
ly

A
u

g
u

st

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

4/16/2018 Enclosure 8
Page 33 of 341



2018
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 BUDGET

October 39,432.14$     37,425.91$        41,252.91$     40,407.21$       39,871.02$       37,053.29$       39,871.02$         (2,817.73)$          -6.97% (2,817.73)$          -7.07%
November 36,166.71$     39,975.67$        39,321.44$     39,733.90$       35,629.43$       40,116.22$       35,629.43$         4,486.79$            11.29% 4,486.79$            12.59%
December 43,948.78$     39,894.54$        44,785.52$     44,474.57$       44,894.50$       52,886.34$       44,894.50$         7,991.84$            17.97% 7,991.84$            17.80%
January 38,000.44$     40,298.07$        48,504.60$     40,381.86$       39,071.56$       44,229.53$       39,071.56$         5,157.97$            12.77% 5,157.97$            13.20%
February 38,751.85$     53,754.25$        50,607.13$     43,808.73$       42,629.35$       41,759.14$       42,629.35$         (870.21)$              -1.99% (870.21)$              -2.04%
March 51,777.84$     44,135.32$        45,127.36$     44,293.00$       46,620.29$       58,494.56$       46,620.29$         11,874.27$          26.81% 11,874.27$          25.47%
April 39,727.68$     40,933.85$        44,966.77$     40,949.52$       41,824.57$       -$                   41,824.57$         -$                      0.00% -$                      0.00%
May 38,066.44$     36,256.29$        43,287.45$     37,580.17$       40,334.09$       -$                   37,580.17$         -$                      0.00% -$                      0.00%
June 34,540.81$     33,063.59$        36,174.68$     32,517.32$       42,724.20$       -$                   32,517.32$         -$                      0.00% -$                      0.00%
July 31,461.98$     36,516.71$        40,297.60$     33,177.47$       42,226.60$       -$                   33,177.47$         -$                      0.00% -$                      0.00%
August 33,513.17$     41,785.04$        40,754.84$     37,712.88$       36,033.75$       -$                   37,528.30$         -$                      0.00% -$                      0.00%
September 34,172.08$     37,061.86$        38,266.08$     31,456.02$       39,627.93$       -$                   31,456.02$         -$                      0.00% -$                      0.00%

Total 459,559.91$   481,101.10$      513,346.39$   466,492.65$     491,487.29$     274,539.08$     462,800.00$       25,822.93$          5.54% 25,822.93$          5.58%

Change 2017 to 2018 BUDGET VARIANCE

Keno Yearly Comparison
Net Proceeds

 $-

 $10,000.00

 $20,000.00

 $30,000.00

 $40,000.00

 $50,000.00

 $60,000.00

 $70,000.00

O
ct

ob
er

N
ov

em
be

r

De
ce

m
be

r

Ja
nu

ar
y

Fe
br

ua
ry

M
ar

ch

Ap
ril

M
ay

Ju
ne Ju
ly

Au
gu

st

Se
pt

em
be

r

2013 2014

2015 2016

2017 2018

4/16/2018 Enclosure 9
Page 34 of 341



 VENDOR  BID TOTAL  ETD 

MOBOTREX $31,786.00 60 DAYS

FLN-MAR $32,500.00 45 DAYS

GENERAL TRAFFIC CONTROL $35,242.00 30-45 DAYS

CITY OF NORFOLK % STREETS

BIDS DUE -  THURSDAY - MARCH 29, 2018 - 3:30 P.M.

 ILLUMINATED LED STREET NAME SIGNS 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 10
Page 35 of 341



4/16/2018 Enclosure 11
Page 36 of 341

MANUFACTURER'S SUGGESTED RETAIL PRICE OF 
THIS MODEL INCLUDING DEALER PREPARATION 

• 1 Base Price: $25,895 I. 
JEEP CHEROKEE LATITUDE 4X4 

~:~~: tgl~::= :I~~\:~ii~r ~g~rCoat Exterior Paint 
Interior; Cloth Low-Back Bucket Seats 
Engine: 2.4L 14 MultiAir® Engine 
Transmission; 9-Spccd AutomatIC Transmission 

Illuminated Front Cup Holtklrs 
Jeep Cargo Management System 
Pc>wcr Windows with Driver's One-ToLlCh-Down Fe~ture 

EXTERIOR FEATURES 
17·lnch x 7.1nch Aluminum Wheels 
225165R17 BSW Al l Season TIres 
Automatic Hcadlamps 

STANDARD EQUIPMENT (UNLESS REPLACED BY OPTIONAL EQUIPMEt.'Tj 

LED Daytime Running Headlamps 
LED Tail Lamps 
Br911 Exhaust TIp FUNCTIONALISAFET"( FEATURES 

Advanced Multistage front Aroags 
Supplemental Slde-Cunain Front aOO Rear Aif~ 
Supplemental From Seat-Momte<l Side Aroags 
Supplemental Rear Seat Side Alrbags 
PasseJl9l!f Inflatable Kr.ee-80lsler Alrbag 
Driver Inflatable Knee-Bolster Airbag 
LATCH Ready Child Seat Anchor System 
Bi-Xenon High Intensity Discharge Headlamps 
Jeep AcIive Drive t 
Selec_Terralnw System 
Hin Start Assist 
P1II1IVIew* Rear 88ck Up Ca~ 
Keyless (ntry with Paille Alarm 
All Speed TractiOn Control 
Electronic Stabi lity Control 
Electronic Roll Mit igation 
Anti·Lock 4-Wheel Disc BrakM 
Speed ContrOl 
nre Pressure Monitoring Display 
Trailer Sway Damping 

INTERIOR FEATURES 
Uconnectil' 3 with S· lnch Display 
S.O· lnth Touchscreen Display 
Integrated Voice Command with Bluet00lh8 

Cluster 3.S-lnch m Black and White Display 
USB Charging Port In Console Bin 
Audio Jack .~ for Mobile OevicM 

6-Way Manual Passenger Seat ~ust 
12·VoIl Cargo Power Outlet 
Remote SO Card Slot 
nit I Telescope Steering Column 

AssetIVlIy I'oFIVPort r;J Entry: flflVlOt:RE. ILLINOIS. U.s.A. 

Br91t SicIe Roof Rails 
AccEflII Body·COIor Fascias 
PowerMil1'Ol'S 
BOOy-CoIor Door Handles 

OPTIONAL EQUIPMENT (May ~ Slandard EquipmenI) 

Customer Preferred Package 24J 
FJex fuel Vehitle 

f CA Fleet Powertrai" Care 
Fleet Incentive Waiver 

DESTINATION CHARGE 

.1 TOTAL PRICE: • $26,990 

WARRANTY COVERAGE 
5-year or 60,OOO-mile Powertraln Limi ted Warranty. 
3-year or 36,OOO-mile Basic Limited Warranty. 
Ask Dealer for a copy of the limited warranties or 
see your owner's manual lor details. 

5VEAR/60,OOOMILE 
POWERTRAIN WARRANTY 

5'fah 0 f tJeb~."q 

/,d If;eEl. 

" ;/:2,51/3 

IRS ~ll5.oootD !O Ill'! '<OtICU TO I;OMPlT Mn! f(OCRAl IAW. nl: LWlCANNOT 1I[!llI.I(N(O 
OR OlTtR:£D f'qI(lR 10 OUMIfT 10 nt: u..TIMAf(I'I.IIIO\olSlR. 
SlOTT_lOCAl TAJtfSJ:_. IItfNSl'''''nnfrrfS_tII' .. r.~If1>_ 
1'61...u:DOI'TIOfrIl;.o.NO i\CC(S5OllU /oR( NOT INClLOlD III THIS PIIICl. DI5COUfiT.1I 1M 
IS IAS!:DtwPl!lC(Of OI'l!ONS I P\.IRC!IAS(DSO'AAA1(lT. 

51,095 

For more information visit: wwwj eep.com 

orcaIl1-B77-IAM -JEEP 

FCA US LLC 

~~~ Fuel Economy and Environment -\ Gasoline Vehicle 

Fuel Economy These eSllma!es renee! new EPA mt!lhod\; bt!ginning w1!h 2017 rnod<:!l'O. 
You spend 

~23 
MPG Sma" SUV 4WD ran!/,! frum 18 to 34 MPG. 

The best vehicle rates 136 MPGe . 

$1,000 21 
combined cllylhwy city 

4.3 gallons per 100 mile!! 

28 
highway more in fuel costs 

over 5 years 
compared to the 
average new vehicle. 

Annual fuel cost Fuel Economy & Greenhouse Gas Rating (t.~pil'" only' Smog Rating (tailpipe; only) 

$1,550 .. lui D~ m 

Actual .e.ult .... ,11 v~ty ro .... ony .e.w ... Includmg dflvrng condItIon. and how you d"ve and "'~Int"'n youl 
veh,<lo The ~VG1'~go now vet"cl. got. 17 MPG ~nd co.t" 150 10 rue' ove, 5 yM'~ CO~l o,t,m3Io~.,0 
bo""d on 15 000 m,'o. P'" yom.l $2 40 po. gaUon MPGe I, mIl"'" pe. gawtono g~Oon <'<IU1V31~nl V"h,.r.. 
oml .. ,on. "'". "snlll<3nl cau", 01 <" mol" chang" and . mog. 

!.~~olp~.~~~~~.~fl2.~VOhICI"~ e 0 '/ 

GOVERNMENT 5-STAR SAFETY RATINGS 

Overall Vehicle Score **** Based on the eomblflCd ratings otlrOl1lill. skle. and ,ollovl'<. 
Should ONlY be compared 10 other vt'hicles r;J similar slle and weight. 

Frontal Driver 
Crash Passenger 
6.Jse.d mlhe risk 01 ~py ~ a framal inpact. 

**** **** 
Shot*I ONLY be complied to other vehicles r;J similar sire ;nj weigl!. 

Side 
Crash 

Front seat 
Rear seat 

8.Jsed mille rllok 01 irlPl1n I $Ide jn.,att 

Rollover 
8.Jsedmlheri5kol.......,.in l ~cnsh. 

***** ***** 
**** 

Star rattngs range from 1 105 slars (*****1 Wllh 5 betng the highest. 
Source Nallonal Highway TraffiC Safely AdmtnlstratlOn (NHTSA) 

wWllv.safercar gov or 1-888-327-4236 

ll1e safety rllirlgs aixMlllle based an Federal GoYemment 11!51S 01 particular Yl'hicles 
I!QIJlpped with certain l~at~1!5 and optio<ts. The performance r;Jlhls vehicle may difler. 

PARTS CONTENT INFORMATION 
FOR VEHICLES IN THIS CARLINE: 

U.S.lCANADIAN PARTS CONTENT: 72% 

MAJOR SOURCES OF FOREIGN PARTS 
CONTENT: 

MEXICO: 18% 
NOTE: PARTS CONTENT DOES NOT INCLUDE FINAL 
ASSEMBLY, DISTRIBUTION. OR OTHER 
NON-PARTS COSTS. 

FOR THIS VEHICLE: 
FINAL ASSEMBLY POINT: 

BELVIDERE, ILLINOIS, U.S.A. 
COUNTRY OF ORIGIN: 

ENGINE: UNITED STATES 
TRANSMISSION: UNITED STATES 



NEBRASKA LIQUOR CONTROL COMMISSION
301 CENTENNIAL MALL SOUTH

PO BOX 95046

LINCOLN, NE 68509-5046
PHONE: (402) 471-2571
FAX: (402)471-2814
Website: www.lcc.nebraska.gov

Special Designated License
Local Recommendation Form

Name of Retail Liquor Licensee or Non-Profit Organization

IX l\jt^ Ip?10(
Licensee Business Address or Non-Profit Business Address

mnho
Retail License Number or Non-Profit Federal ID # (Form #201 must be submitted as attachment)

Event Location: tf\ClP\ rifl lid'a awue.
Event Date &Time: S' /. OO

Alternate Date/Location:

Description ofarea to be licensed in length &width: fc'O X 9n

Indoor: V. Outdoor: (must include Form #109 as attachment)

Type of Event: ^tnco ijj% Estimated #of attendees: (OO^^^O
Event Supervisor: T.(c WWLU^

(Please print)

Contact Phone Number: d(c%. C^ll

Contact EmaU: /[/\ ^ hof

Local governing completes below:

City/County approving event:

Local Governing Body Authorized Signature Date

FORM 200

REV NOV 2016

4/16/2018 Enclosure 12
Page 37 of 341

NEBRASKA LIQUOR CONTROL COMMISSION 
301 CENTENNIAL MALL SOUTH 
PO BOX 95046 
LINCOLN, NE 68509-5046 
PHONE: (402) 471-2571 
FAX: (402)471-2814 
Website: www.lcc.nebras!cagov 

Special Designated License 
Local Recommendation Form 

Name of Retail Liquor Licensee or Non-Profit Organization 

.3 I ~ W· /J1Jv-fo[1L Ave IJOr h{fL Nf 6 flot 
Licensee Business Address or Non-Profit Business Address 

1;),1]60 
Retail License Number or Non-Profit Federal ID # (Form #201 must be submitted as attachment) 

Event Location: m ~ nd h 4.' 5 H /) VIlLe D.e cO'. L( 3 l. w. 1\10 ~ (.,fA: AY-l 
1\ q -00 -7. Alar -IrJ~ 1IlE- ./,870 I 

Event Date & Time: .5tJ+ M ~ S JoI!? _. ~ 4t7 ...L: Dc) p~ 

Alternate DatelLocation: 11/ IA-
--~,~~--------------------------------------------

Description of area to be licensed in length & width: __ 6 ... 0-=--_____ X 90 
Indoor: ::L Outdoor: __ (must include Form # 109 as attachment) 

Type of Event: C; VlLo UL ~%O Cel/J-LIYt<~fl-t. Estimated # ofattendees: 100- '}cIo 

Event Supervisor: 1: lvt. ,)±u1 \'y\4,\L 

(please print) 

Contact Phone Number: I{o J- sl" ~).D ~ 'B f<..'5. L( O?..- 7,-0 -, 31)... uti 
Contact Email: i l'\ Ib @ l1u Mit r.cJvrflJ '('A.4-I.1<e. f- . 0 M 

Local governing completes below: 

City/County approving event: ___________________________________________ _ 

Local Governing Body Authorized Signature Date 

FORM 200 
REV NOV 2016 



West Norfolk Ave hospital area

04/08/2016
4/16/2018 Enclosure 13

Page 38 of 341



W Norfolk Ave Emergency Rd

04/08/2016
4/16/2018 Enclosure 13

Page 39 of 341



W Norfolk Ave & 31st Street

04/08/2016
4/16/2018 Enclosure 13

Page 40 of 341



 RESOLUTION NO.________ 

 

 

 WHEREAS, the Chief of Police is given the authority, with the approval of the Mayor 

and City Council, for the placement of traffic control signs and for the regulation of traffic within 

the corporate limits of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska; and 

 

 WHEREAS, it has come to the attention of the Chief of Police that certain traffic control 

signs need to be removed and traffic in certain locations should be regulated in order to best 

serve the motoring public while aiding the public safety of the use of the streets and highways 

within the City of Norfolk, Nebraska; and 

 

 WHEREAS, it would be in the best interest of public safety to remove the stop sign 

controlling southbound traffic at the intersection of West Norfolk Avenue and 31st Street, and the 

stop sign controlling eastbound traffic at the intersection of West Norfolk Avenue and the road 

commonly known as Hospital Road and/or Emergency Road. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals the Mayor and City 

Council of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, hereby adopt the following resolution: 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska that 

the Chief of Police be authorized to remove certain traffic signs and to provide for the 

regulation of traffic as follows: 

 

1. Remove the stop sign controlling southbound traffic at the intersection of West 

Norfolk Avenue and 31st Street, and  

 

2. Remove the stop sign controlling eastbound traffic at the intersection of West 

Norfolk Avenue and the road commonly known as Hospital Road and/or 

Emergency Road. 

 

 PASSED AND APPROVED this ______ day of ________________, 2018. 

 

 

 

 

ATTEST:                        _________________________________ 

                                                     Josh Moenning, Mayor 

 

_______________________________ 

Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk 

 

 

Approved as to form:  _______________________________ 

                     Clint Schukei, City Attorney 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 13

2018-20

Page 41 of 341



INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT 

FOR BUILDING INSPECTION SERVICES (2018) 

 

 

 THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this _____ day of ____________, 2018, 

by and between the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, hereinafter referred to as “Norfolk,” and the 

Village of Beemer, Nebraska, hereinafter referred to as “Beemer”, WITNESSETH: 

 

 WHEREAS, Norfolk presently maintains and provides building inspection services in 

conjunction with its fire division services; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Beemer is desirous of entering into an interlocal agreement whereby 

Norfolk provides to Beemer such building inspection services on a contract basis; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Norfolk is willing to perform the building inspection services for Beemer; 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, Norfolk and Beemer are desirous of entering into an Agreement pursuant to 

the Nebraska Interlocal Cooperation Act (Nebr. Rev. Stat. §§ 13-801 through 13-827) as the 

same may from time to time be amended, for the purposes of describing the terms and conditions 

under which Norfolk will provide building inspection services to Beemer; 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the terms and 

conditions hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

 

 1.  The term of this Agreement shall commence on the date of this Agreement and shall 

terminate five (5) years thereafter.  Either party may terminate this Agreement at any time within 

thirty (30) days after delivering written notice to the other party. 

 

 2.  In consideration of the building inspection services provided, Beemer agrees to 

compensate Norfolk as billed by Norfolk following jobs actually performed.  Norfolk shall bill 

Beemer at the rate of 1.5 times the hourly rate for the inspector(s) actually performing the 

inspection services plus mileage per mile traveled to conduct such inspection services at the 

current reimbursement rate for mileage paid by Norfolk. 

 

 3.  As soon as practicable after receiving notification from Beemer of the need for 

specific inspection jobs, Norfolk shall inspect existing structures and such other jobs as Beemer 

may request except that Norfolk shall not do inspections of new construction during the 

construction process.  The inspection territory under this Agreement shall be limited to within 

the village limits of Beemer, Nebraska, as well as within the one (1) mile zoning jurisdiction 

outside such village limits. 

 

 4.  Following inspection jobs performed by Norfolk, Norfolk shall report back to Beemer 

with its findings on specific jobs.  All inspections and reporting shall be based on, and pursuant 

to, the International Property Maintenance Code, 2012, published by the International Code 

Council, Inc. which has been adopted by Norfolk and shall be adopted by Beemer with such 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 14
Page 42 of 341



modifications as Norfolk has made prior to the execution of this Agreement.  If Norfolk adopts 

future revisions or editions of this code, Beemer shall also adopt the same revisions or edition, as 

nearly as possible considering the statutory differences between the respective parties. 

 

 5.  Beemer agrees to name Norfolk as an additional insured on its general liability 

insurance policy having liability limits of not less than $1,000,000.00 per occurrence or a 

$2,000,000.00 aggregate and agrees to provide to Norfolk a certificate of insurance evidencing 

compliance with this provision.  Beemer also agrees to indemnify and hold Norfolk harmless 

from any claims against Norfolk that result from any error or omission of Norfolk in performing 

the inspections provided pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement in duplicate 

the day and year first above written.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts.  Each 

such counterpart, executed in duplicate, shall be deemed an original hereof and all such executed 

counterparts shall together be one and the same instrument. 

 

      CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA, 

      A Municipal Corporation 

 

ATTEST: 

      By____________________________________ 

                Josh Moenning, Mayor 

________________________________ 

Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk 

 

 

Approved as for form: ____________________________ 

       Clint Schukei, City Attorney 

 

 

      VILLAGE OF BEEMER, NEBRASKA, 

      A Municipal Corporation, 

 

 

      By______________________________________ 

 Chairperson  
 Printed Name:  ______________________________ 

ATTEST: 

 

___________________________________ 

Village Clerk 
Printed Name:  _____________________________ 

 

 

Approved as to form: _____________________________________ 

 Village Attorney 
 Printed Name:  _____________________________ 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 14
Page 43 of 341



WPC #1 Clarifier & Thickener Rehab Proj Bid Opening April  5, 2018 @ 1 p.m.

Bidder Total Bid Bond Y/N Addendum (Y/N)

Rutjens Construction 241,572.00 Y Y

Industrial Process Technologies 185,574.00 Y Y

Christiansen Construction 184,400.00 Y Y

4/16/2018 Enclosure 15
Page 44 of 341



4/16/2018 Enclosure 15
Page 45 of 341

0\.0 LSSO ® 
ASSOCIATES 

April 6, 2018 

City of Norfolk - Water Pollution Control 
Attn: Mr. Todd Boling 
610 E Monroe Avenue 
Norfolk, Nebraska 68701 

Re: Norfolk Water Pollution Control 
Primary Clarifier #1 & Sludge Thickener #1 Rehabilitation 
Norfolk, Nebraska - 2018 
OA Project No. 017-3133 

Dear Mr. Boling: 

On Tuesday, April 5, 2018, bids were received by the City of Norfolk for the above referenced project. 
A total of three (3) bids were received with the apparent low bid of $184,400.00 being submitted by 
Christiansen Construction Co. LLC of Pender, Nebraska. A summary of the bid amounts was 
prepared by the City of Norfolk and has been included with this letter as an attachment. 

The bids received ranged from the low of $184,400.00 as submitted by Christiansen Construction Co. 
LLC, to a second bid of $185,574.00, to a high bid of $241 ,572.00. An opinion of cost for the project 
was estimated at $120,000-$150,000, which is $34,400 less than the low bid for the proposed work. 
Olsson Associates has previously worked with Christiansen Construction Co. LLC on prior projects 
with satisfactory results. 

We recommend that an award be made to Christiansen Construction Co. LLC in the bid amount of 
$184,400.00. We trust that this letter provides you with the information to issue a Notice of Award. 

If you have any questions or need any additional information, please feel free to call. 

27~pJJ 
Jeremy Walker, P.E. 

Encl. 

F:1201713001-3500l017 -3133120-MANAGEMENnCOMMUNICATIONI18-04-06_WTWW_ TBOllNG_RECOMMEND AWARD PC1 & ST1.DOCX 

601 P Street, Suite 200 
P.O. Box 84608 
Lincoln, NE 68508-2303 

TEL 402.474.6311 
FAX 402.474.5160 www.olssonassociates.com 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 15
Page 46 of 341

WPC #1 Clarifier & Thickener Rehab Proj Bid Opening 

Bidder 

Rutjens Construction 

Industrial Process Technologies + 
Christiansen Construction 

Total Bid 

241,572.00 

185,574.00 
--

184,400.00 

April 5, 2018 @ 1 p.m. 
----I 

Bond YIN Addendum (YIN) 

Y Y 

y +- y 

Y Y 



 

EJCDC® C-510, Notice of Award - Adapted 
Prepared and published 2013 by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee.   

Page 1 of 1 
 

  
NOTICE OF AWARD 

Date of Issuance: _________________, 2018 Engineer: Olsson Associates 

Owner:  City of Norfolk, 610 E. Monroe Avenue, Norfolk, Nebraska 68701 

Project: WPC – Primary Clarifier #1 & Sludge Thickener #1 Rehabilitation 

Contract: Base Bid Engineer's Project No.: 017-3133 

Bidder & Address: Christiansen Construction Co., LLC, 210 Main Street, Pender, Nebraska 68047 

 
TO BIDDER: 
 
 You are notified that Owner has accepted your Bid dated April 5, 2018 for the above Contract, and that 
you are the Successful Bidder and are awarded a Contract for: 
 
 Painting all ferrous metal inside of Primary Clarifier #1 and Sludge Thickener #1, Rebuilding center drive 
mechanisms in Primary Clarifier #1 and Sludge Thickener #1, and associated improvements work as indicated on 
the drawings and within the specifications. 

 
 The Contract Price of the awarded Contract is:   
 
One Hundred Eighty-Four Thousand Four Hundred Dollars and No/100------------------------------------($184,400.00) 
 

 [4] unexecuted counterparts of the Agreement will follow this Notice of Award.  
 

 Up to [4] sets of the Drawings will be delivered separately from the other Contract Documents.  
 

 You must comply with the following conditions precedent within 15 days of the date of receipt of this 
Notice of Award: 

1. Deliver to Engineer [4] counterparts of the Agreement, fully executed by Bidder. 
2. Deliver with the executed Agreement(s) the Contract security (e.g., performance and payment bonds) 

and insurance documentation as specified in the Instruction to Bidders, General Conditions and 
Supplementary Conditions. 

3. Other conditions precedent:  None  
 
  Failure to comply with these conditions within the time specified will entitle Owner to consider you in 
default, annul this Notice of Award, and declare your Bid security forfeited.   
 
  Engineer will return to you one fully executed counterpart of the Agreement, together with any additional 
copies of the Contract Documents as indicated in the General Conditions. 
 

Owner:   CITY OF NORFOLK  

    By:   ______________________________________                  Title:  ______________________________ 

                             Authorized Signature  
 
cc:   Owner,  Contractor & Engineer 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 15
Page 47 of 341



4/16/2018 Enclosure 16
Page 48 of 341

In it. 

··· AIA Document 8105'· - 2017 
Standard Short Form of Agreement Between Owner and Architect 

AGREEMENT made as of the NlNTH day of APRIL in the year TWO THOUSAND 
EIGHTE EN 
(III words, i"dicate day, mOllth Ql1d year.) 

BETWEEN the Owner: 
(Name, legal .\'latlls, address and otlter il{formatioll) 

CITY OF NORFOLK 
309 N. 5TI1 STREET 
NORFOLK, NE 6870 1 

and the Arc hitect: 
(Name. legal slatus. address (lnd other j/!(urlllal iul1) 

CANNON MOSS BRYGGER & ASSOCIATES. P.c. 
d/b/a CMBA ARCHITECTS, P.c. 
208 N. PINE ST. , SUITE 301 
GRAND ISLAND, NE 68801 

for the following Projec t: 
(l\'ame, loca/iolllllld detailed description) 

CITY OF NORFOLK - PARK RESTROOMS 
NORFOLK, NE 

The Owner and Architect agree as follows. 

ADDlTtONS AND DELETIONS: 

The author of this document has 

added information needed for its 

completion. The author may also 

have revised the text of the origina l 
AlA standard form. An Additions and 

Deletions Report that notes added 

information as well as revisions to the 

standard form text is available from 
the author and should be reviewed. A 

vertica l line in the left margin of this 
document indicates where the author 

has added necessary information 

and where the author has added to or 

deleted from the original AlA lext. 

This document has important legal 

consequences. Consultation with an 
attorney is encouraged with respect 

10 its completion or modification. 

AlA Document 8105 1101 - 2017. Copyright © 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Inslitute of Architects. All rights reserved. WARNING: This AlA. Document 
is protected by U.S. Copyright law and International Treaties. Unauthorized reproduction or distribution of this AlAe Document, or any portion of it, may 1 
result In severe civil and criminal penalties, and will be prosecuted to the maximum extent possible under the law. This document was produced by AlA 
software aI 12:28:30 on 04/0912018 under Order NO.9450560231 which expires on 01/17/201 9. and is nol for resale. 
User Notes: (893537655) 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 16
Page 49 of 341

tnit . 

ARTICLE 1 ARCHITECT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
The Archi tect sha ll provide architec tural services ror the Projec t as desc ribed in th is Agreement. The Archi tec t shal l 
perfOlm its services consistent with the profess ional sk ill and care ordinari ly provided by archi tects practicing in the 
same or similar locality under the sa lTlC or similar circumstances. The Architect shall perform its services as 
expeditiously as is consistent with such professional skill and care and the orderly progress of the Projec t . The 
Architec t sha ll assist the Owner in dete rmining consulti ng serv ices required for the Projec t. The Archi tect's services 
inc lude the following consult ing services, if any: 

Structura l Engineering 
Mechan ical & Electrical Engineering 

During the Design Phase. the Architect shall rev iew the Owner's scope ofwark, budget and schedu le and rcach an 
understanding with the Owner of the Project requirements. Based on the approved Project requirements. the Architec t 
sha ll dcvelop a design, which sha ll be set rorth in draw ings and othcr documents appropriate ror thc Project. Upon the 
Owner's approval of the design, the Architec t shall prepare Construction Documents indicating requirements for 
construction of the Project and shall coord inate its services with any consulting services the Owner provides. The 
Archi tect shall ass ist the Owner in fi ling documents requi red for the approval of governmental authorities. in obtaining 
bids or proposals. and in awarding contracts [or construction. 

During the Construction Phase, the Architect shall ac t as the Owner's representati ve and provide administratio n o f the 
Contract between the Owner and Contractor. Thc extent of the Architect' s authori ty and responsibility during 
construction is described in AlA Document A I 05To\L 20 17, Standard Short Form of Agreement Between Owner and 
Contractor. Irthe Owner and Contractor modify AlA Document A t 05- 201 7, those modifications shall not aflect the 
Archi tec t' s scrvices under this Agrecment , un lcss the Owner and Architect amend this Agreemcnt. 

ARTICLE 2 OWNER'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
The Owner shall provide full information about the objectives, schedule, constraints and existi ng condi tio ns of the 
Project, and sha ll establish a budgc:t that includes reasonable cont ingencies and meets the Project requin: ments. The 
Owner sha ll provide decisions and furn ish requi red information as expeditiously as necessary for the orde rly progress 
of the Project. The Architect shall be entitled to re ly on the ul:curacy and completeness of the Owner's infonnation. 
The Owner shall furnish consulting scrvices not prov ided by the Architect, but rcqui red for the Project , such as 
surveying, which sha ll include property boundaries, topography, util ities, and wetlands infonnation; geotechnical 
engineering; and environmenta l testing services. The Owncr shall cmploy a Contractor, experienced in the type o f 
Project to be constructed, to perfonn the construction Work and to provide price infonnatioll . 

ARTICLE 3 USE OF DOCUMENTS 
Drawings, specifications and other documen ts prepared by the Architec t are the Archi tec t's Instn llnents o f Service, 
Clnd are for the Owner's use solely with respect to constrm .. ting the Project. The An.: hitect shall retain a ll common law, 
statutory and other reserved rights, includi ng the copyright. Upon completion of the cOllstmcti ol1 or the Projec t. 
provided that the Owner substant ia lly pelfonTIs its obliga tions under this Agreement, the Architect grants to the Owner 
a license to usc the Architect's Instnlll1Cnts of Service as a reference for maintain ing. altering and add ing to thc 
Project. The Owner agrees to indemnify the Architec t from a ll costs and expenses rdated tu claims arising from the 
Owner's lise of the Instruments of Service without reta ining the Architect. When transmitt ing copyright-protected 
infonn atia n far use on the Project, the transmitting pun y represents that it is either the copyright owner o f the 
information, or has permission from the copyright owner to lransmit the information for its li se on the ProjecL. 

ARTICLE 4 TERMINATION, SUSPENSION OR ABANDONMENT 
In the event often11i nation, suspension or abandonment of the Project by the Owner, the Archi tect shall be 
compensated for serv ices performed . The Owner's fa ilure to make payments in accordance with th is Agreemel1l shall 
be considered substant ia l nonperfonnallec and suffi cient cause for the Architect to suspcnd or tenninate scrvices. 
Either the Architect or the Owner may terminate this Agreement a fter g iving no less than seven days ' written notice if 
the Project is suspended for morc thal1 90 days, or if the other party substantia lly fails to pcrfo nn in accordance with 
the terms o f thi s Agreement. Except as otherwise cxpress ly provided here in, th is Agreement sha ll tcrminate one year 
from the date of Substantia l Completion. 

AlA Document Bl05'" - 2017. Copyright© 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All r ights reserved. WARNING: This ALAe Document 
is protected by U.S. Copyright Law and Internati onal Treaties. Unauthorized reproduction or distribution of this A IAt: Document, or any portion of it, may 2 
result In severe c ivil and criminal penalties, and wi ll be prosecuted to the maximum extent possible under the law. This document was produced by AlA 
software at 12:28:30 on 0410912018 under Order NO.9450560231 which expires on 01117/2019, and is not for resale. 
User Notes: (893537655) 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 16
Page 50 of 341

In it. 

ARTICLE 5 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
This Agreement shall be governed by the law of the place where the Project is located. Tenns in this Agreement shall 
have tbe same meaning as those in AlA DoclIlllent AIOS-2017, Standard Short Form of Agreement Between Owner 
and Contractor. Neither party to this Agreement shall assign the contract as a whole without written consent of the 
other. 

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall creale a contractual relationship with, or a cause of action in favor of. a 
third party against ei ther the Owner or the Architect. 

The Architect shall have no responsibility for the discovery. presence, handling. removal or disposa l of, or exposure of 
persons to, hazardous materials or toxic substances in any fOfm al the Project site. 

ARTICLE 6 PAYMENTS AND COMPENSATION TO THE ARCHITECT 
The Architect's Compensation shall be: 

FIXED FEE OF SEVENTEEN THOUSAND DOLLARS ($ 17.000.00), PLUS REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES 

The Owner shall pay the Arch itect an initial payment of ZE RO ($ 0.00) as a minimum payrncllt under thi s Agreement. 
The initial payment shall be cred ited to the final invoice. 

The Owner shall reimburse the Architect for expenses incurred in the interest of the Project, plus TEN percent ( 10%). 

Payments are due and payable upon receipt of the Architect's monthly invoice. Amounts unpaid thilty (30) days after 
the invoice date shall bear interest from tile date payment is due at the rate of percent ( %) , or in the absence 
thereof, at the lega l rate prevailing at the principal place of busi ness of the Arch itect. 

At the request oflhe Owner, the Architect shall provide additional services not induded in Article I for additional 
compensation. Such additional services may include, but not be limited to, providing or coordinating services of 
consultants not identified in Articlt': I; revisions dut': to changes in the Projt':ct scope, quality or budgd. or due to 
Owner-requested changes in the approved design; evaluating changes in the Work and Contractors' requests tor 
substitutions o f materials or systems; providing st':lVices necessitated by the Contractor's failure to perform ; and the 
extension ofthc Architect' s Article I services beyond twelve ( 12) months orthe date of this Agreement through no 
fault of the Architect. 

ARTICLE 7 OTHER PROVISIONS 
(Jnsert descriptions of other services and modifications to the terms oIlhis Agreement.) 

This Agreement entered into as of the day and year first written above. 

OWNER (Signature) 

STEVEN D. RAMES 
PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR/CITY ENG INEER 
(PrilJted name and lille) 

TROY D. KEIUG, AlA 
ASSOCIATE PRINCIPAL I ARCHITECT 
(printed Home. title. and license number, if required) 

AlA Document B105™ - 2017. Copyright © 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved . WARNING: Thi s AlAe Document 
is protected by U.S. Copyright Law and International Treaties. Unauthorized reproduction or distribution of this AlAe Document. or any portion of it , may 3 
result in severe c ivil and c rim inal pena lties, and will be prosecuted to th e maximum extent possible under th e law. This document was produced by AlA 
software aI12:28:30 on 04/0912018 under Order No.9450560231 which expires on 01/17/2019, and is not for resale. 
User Notes: (893537655) 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 17
Page 51 of 341

City of Norfolk, 309 North 5th Street, Norfolk , NE 6870 I 

EASEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into the __ day of _ _____ , 20_, by 

and between Wis-Pak of Norfolk, lnc., a Nebraska Corporation , party of the first part, and the 

City of Norfolk, Nebraska, a Municipal Corporation, party of the second part, Witnesseth: 

WHEREAS , the party of the first part owns and has title to the real es tate hereinafter 

descri bed as: 

See attached Exhibit 'A '; and 

WHEREAS , the party of the second part desires easements allowing for the construction and 

maintenance of a water main; and 

NOW THEREFORE, it is agreed as follows: 

I . The party of the first part does hereby grant, ass ign, and set over to the party of the second 

part a permanent easement for the construction and maintenance of a water main over, on 

and under the following described property as shown and described on the attached 

Exhibit 'B' . 

See attached Exhibit 'B' . 

The party of the first part, shall full y use and enjoy the aforesaid premi ses, except as to 

the rights herein granted. The party of the first part, themselves, their successors and 

assigns, covenant and agree that no buildings, structures or permanent improvements of 

any kind whatsoever shall be erected or placed in , on, over or across the easement area 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 17
Page 52 of 341

described in thi s agreement. For purposes of thi s paragraph, "permanent improvements" 

shall not include hard surfacing. 

2. The party of the first part does hereby grant, assign, and set over to the party of the second 

part a temporary easement for the construction of a water main over, on and under the 

following described property as shown and described on the attached Exhibit 'C'. 

See attached Exhibit 'C'. 

The party of the first part shall full y use and enjoy the aforesaid premises, except as to the 

ri ghts herein granted and except as to the right to erect permanent buildings or structures 

or install parking or additional hard surfacing on the property described in thi s paragraph. 

3. The party of the second part shall restore any surfaces damaged due to uti lity maintenance 

or repair to conditions similar to the condition ex isting prior to the utility maintenance or 

repaIrs. 

4. The party of the second part will relinquish all ri ghts 10 the temporary easement, and said 

temporary easement shall terminate, upon the completi on of the constructi on of the said project 

and its acceptance by the City, but not later than August I, 20 18. 

5. The party of the first part agrees that for and in cons iderat ion of the Sum of Three 

Hundred Ninety-Eight Dollars and 75 Cents, ($398.75), and other valuable cons ideration, 

cash in hand, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged , the party of the first part has 

thi s day bargained and sold by these presents does bargain , sell , convey, transfer, and 

deli ver unto the party of the second part the aforesaid easements. 

6. Said easement shall run with the land and shall be binding on the parties hereto, their 

successors in interest in the real estate, heirs, successors, personal representati ves and 

assigns. 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 17
Page 53 of 341

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed the foregoing Easement by 
signing separate signature pages hereof. 

STATE OF tJ£ ) 
.-r f¥( )ss 

COUNTY OF vi ~5am 

Wis-Pak of Norfolk, Inc. , 
a Nebraska Corporation 

BY :~-~--
Printed Name? tJ,1~ ~ljl 
Title: >''''Ct>I· -leT'> / 

I 

III Thh foregoing instrument MknOw~dged before~e this day of 
ttr-v ,20 / f , by Ii libn d 00OU;' , of Wis-Pak of 

Norfolk, Inc., a Nebraska Corporation, known to be the identical person hose name is affixed to 
the foregoing instrument and acknowledged the same to be his/her voluntary act and deed on 
behalf of the corporation. 

~~hu., / 
Not Public - Signature -- j' 

}je/Jm~ ([ kiu J)l-i1 1m.1~Jxr) 
Notary Public - Printed NameJ 

My commission expires the 1 #t. day of rl4:j«s/ , 20 2 0 . 

ACCEPTANCE 

Accepted thi s day of ______ , 20 __ , by the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, a 
Municipal Corporation. 

ATTEST: 

Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk Josh Moenning, Mayor 

(S E A L) 

Approved as to form: 
Clint Schukei, City Attorney 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 17
Page 54 of 341

STATE OF NEBRASKA ) 
)ss 

COUNTY OF MADISON ) 

On this day of ,20 __ , before me, the unders igned, a 
Notary Public, in and fo r said County and State, personally came Josh Moenning, Mayor and 
Eli zabeth A. Deck, City Clerk of the City of Norfolk, to me known to be the identi cal person or 
persons whose names are affi xed to the fo regoing instrument and acknowledged the same to be 
their voluntary act and deed. 

Notary Publi c - signature 

Notary Public - printed name 

My commission expires the ___ day of ______ , 20 __ 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 17
Page 55 of 341

EXIDBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

Lot 1, Wis-Pak Addition located In the East Half of the Southeast Quarter of Sectlon 
33, Township 24 North, Range 1 West of the 6th P.M., to the City of Norfolk and to 
Madison County, Nebraska, lESS a tract of land more particularly described as 
follows: 
Commencing at the center 1/16th corner of the Southeast QiJarter of said Section 33; 
tI1ence South, along the 1/16th line, 834.85 feet to the point of beginning; thence 
South 44°47'05" East 99.85 feet; thence South 31°05'30" East, 484.43 feet to a point 
on section line thence West, on the South Iilie of the Southeast Quarter of said 
Section 33, 320.5 feet to the South 1/16th corner of the Southeast Quarter, thence 
North on the 1/16th line, 487.99 feet to the point of beginning. Said tract of land now 
being a part of lot 1 of Wis-Pak Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, 
Nebraska . " 

"Tax ID No: 590291602 

Property address; 1400 Tahazouka Road, Norfolk, NE 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 17
Page 56 of 341

Exhibit '8' 

PERMANENT UTILITY EASEMENT 
CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA 

~ 
r , 
Ii: 
n: , 
u , 
>: 

I 
0' 

~ 
N , 

I 
50' 100' 200' 
SCALE IN FEET 

~ LEGEND 
~ 0 SECTION CORNER 
~, 

:ll --------- SECTION LINE 

LOT J 

I n 
I I 

I 'I 
" : I 
I 

PARK VIEW ADDITION I I 
I 

N88'Ol '25"E 

P.D.S 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I', ' I 1000 \I' 

\ 

...... 
c:o 

N.E.CORNER LOT 1 
WIS-?AK ADD ITION 

'" ,.... N ~S88 '01'25"W 20.00' 
"' 0 
"' <D 
N "' N 

1" 
en 

" ___ _ _ _ __ PROPERTY LINE 

w 
en 
.... 
\"l 
o 
o 
z 

~I WEST R.O. W b:/ UNE U.S. 
~r HWY. 281 

~ "l - - - - - -- HIGHWAY RIGHT-Of- WAY LI NE 
"0 .;; ~ NR5!RRRRRRRRR5b UTILITY EASEMENT AREA 

..[>1 l OT 1 
WlS-PAK ADDITION 

! OCATION W,\P 
s£c. J.J ll~N. R1 W 

OW/IJ. .~~ TO SC.oJ..[ 

.- S£ COR . 
'---__ L-__ y / SEC. J.J 

UTILI TY EASEMENT DESCRIPTION 

- -'i!---t I 10 00' I . 

S89 '42'15"W 10.00' 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

Y. EXISn NG PERMANENT I 
EASEMENT, INSTRU MENT I 
NO. 2015 PAGE 03680 I 

I I 
I 

: I 
A UTI LI TY EASEMENT LOCATED IN LOT I, WIS-PAK ADDITION, TO THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 
MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE NORTH EAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 1. THENCE ON AN ASSUMED 
BEARING S88'01'25"W ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT I , A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET 
TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF AN EXISTING UTILITY EASEMENT, INSTRUMENT NO. 2015 
PAGE 03580 AND NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 1 AND THE POINT OF BEGINNING: THENCE 
SOO'54'19"W ALONG WEST LINE OF SAID EXISTING UTILITY EASEMENT A DISTANCE OF 255.02 
FEET. THENCE S89 '42 '15"W A DISTANCE OF 10.00 FEET. THENCE NOO'54'19"E A DISTANCE 
OF 255.73 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 1. THENCE N88'01'25"E 
ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT A DI STANCE OF 10.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING. SAID UTILITY EASEMENT CONTAINS A CALCULATED AREA OF 2558.75 SQUARE 
FEET OR 0.058 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 

PROJECT NO: 2017·294 1 

DRAWN BY: TW 

DATE: 1211312017 

SOUTH WATER MAIN 
LOUP O\OLSSON . 

ASSOCIATES 

701 En' 2nd SUM! 
P.O. eo. 1072 
Grim wand. NE S8a02- 107 
TEL 3a8. 3t.U1SO 
FAX 308.:134.&752 

EXHIBIT 

8 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 17
Page 57 of 341

Exhibit 'C' 

TEMPORARY UTILITY EASEMENT 
CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA 

~ 
N , 

I I 
O· 50' 100' 200' 

SCALE IN FEET 

LEGEND 
~ 0 SECTION CORNER 
~, 

ill -------- SECTION LINE 

LOT :5 
PARK VIEW ADDITION 

S88'01'25" W 

S88'01 '25"W 

j SECTION 
LINE 

..... 
CO 

N.E. CORNER lOT 
1 VIIS-PAK ADD. 

P.D.B. 

"'-- _ --- PROPERTY LINE 
~ 
~, -- - - - -- HIGHWAY RIGHT-Of- WAY LINE 

"0 
IU a. UUUUUUU//Ur//?/!U/Jh UTILITY EASEMENT AREA 
~~ 
,Q.> 

.. '"-l 
~ :;: 
00 

lOCATION WAP 
SEC. 3J T20N. RIW 

",OT TO 5UJ..1 

r-f 

t 
~ 

~' ,< COil. 
~C II 

TEMi'ORAlIY uruTY 
5[:11011 lOCATION -i.o. 

" 

LOT 1 
'MS-PAK ADDITION 

S89'42'15"W 40.00' 

EXISTING PERMANENT L.-
EASEMENT, INSTRUMENT --------I 

NO. 2015 PAGE 03680 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

TEMPORARY UTILITY EASEMENT DESCRIPTION 

SOO'54 '19"W 

10.00 

30.00' 

WEST R.O. W. LINE 
U.S HWY. 81 

A TEMPORARY UTILI TY EASEMENT LOCATED IN LOT 1, WIS- PAK ADDITION, CITY OF NORFOLK. 
MADISON COUNTY NEBRASKA. AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE NORTH EAST CORNER OF LOT 1, THENCE ON AN ASSUMED BEARING 
S88·0,.25··W ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 1. A DISTANCE OF 30.00 FEET TO THE 
POINT OF BEGINNING: THENCE SOO'54'19" W A DISTANCE OF 255.73 FEET. THENCE 
N89 '42'15'"E A DISTANCE OF 10.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST R.O.W. OF U.S. HWY. 81. 
THENCE SOO'54 '19"W ALONG THE WEST R.O.W. LINE OF U.S. HWY. 81 A DISTANCE OF 30.00 
FEET. THENCE S89 '42 '15"W A DISTANCE OF 40.00 FEET. THENCE NOO'54 '19"E A DISTANCE 
OF 284.85 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 1. THENCE S88'01 ' 25"W 
ALONG THE SAID NORTH LINE A DISTANCE OF 30.04 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING: 
SAID TEMPORARY UTILITY EASEMENT CONTAIN ING A CALCULATED AREA OF 8858.917 SQUARE 
FEET OR 0. 20 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 

PROJECT NO: 2017·2941 
SOUTH WATER MAIN 

LOUP 
O\OLSSON . 

21l lhJl211C1$U"' 
P.O. 80~ 1012 

EXHIBIT 

DRAWN BY: TW 

DATE: 12113120 17 ASSOCIATES 

o.r.rd 1IIand. l'ie i5M02-I07 
TEL 303.3&-.8150 
FAX 3Oe.l$4.1152 C 



Page 1 of 2  

AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN OWNER AND ENGINEER 

FOR 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

 

 
THIS IS AN AGREEMENT effective as of April 16, 2018 (“Effective Date”) between Norfolk (“Owner”) and JEO 

Consulting Group, Inc. (“Engineer”). 

 

Owner’s project, of which Engineer’s services under this Agreement are a part, is generally identified as follows: 

 

Center Drive Street Concepts (“Project”). 

 

JEO Project Number: 180476.00 

 

Owner and Engineer further agree as follows: 

 

 
ARTICLE 1 - SERVICES OF ENGINEER 

       

 

1.01 Scope 

 
 A. Engineer shall provide, or cause to be provided, the services set forth herein and in Exhibit A. 

 

 

ARTICLE 2 - OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

       

 

2.01 Owner Responsibilities 

 
A. Owner responsibilities are outlined in Section 3 of Exhibit B. 

 

 

ARTICLE 3 - COMPENSATION 

       

 

3.01 Compensation 

 
A. Owner shall pay Engineer as set forth in Exhibit A and per the terms in Exhibit B. 

 

B. The fee for the Project is: $10,000 

 

C. The Standard Hourly Rates Schedule shall be adjusted annually (as of approximately January 1st) to 

reflect equitable changes in the compensation payable to Engineer.  The current hourly rate schedule 

can be provided upon request. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 18
Page 58 of 341



Page 2 of 2 

ARTICLE 4 - EXHIBITS AND SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

       

 

4.01 Exhibits 

 

Exhibit A – Scope of Services 

Exhibit B – General Conditions 

 

4.02 Total Agreement 
 

 A. This Agreement (consisting of pages 1 to 2 inclusive, together with the Exhibits identified as included 

above) constitutes the entire agreement between Owner and Engineer and supersedes all prior written 

or oral understandings.  This Agreement may only be amended, supplemented, modified, or canceled by 

a duly executed written instrument. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement. 

 

Owner:   City of Norfolk, Nebraska   Engineer: JEO Consulting Group, Inc. 

 

               

 

By:       By: Nathan Boone      

 

Title:        Title: Project Manager     

 

Date Signed:      Date Signed:       

 

Address for giving notices:    Address for giving notices: 

 

               

 

       JEO Consulting Group, Inc.     

 

       2700 Fletcher Ave      

  

       Lincoln, NE 68504      

4/9/2018

4/16/2018 Enclosure 18
Page 59 of 341



Exhibit A 
Page 1 of 2 

  

STATEMENT OF WORK 

City of Norfolk, NE 

Center Drive Street Concepts 

 
This project will include high-level conceptual roadway planning services for Center Drive in Norfolk, 
NE.  This work is being conducted by the City as a precursor to a joint renewal effort between the City 
and local business owners to invest in the area and understand the potential impact to existing right-of-
way. The study area generally includes Hwy. 81 from Hwy. 275 to W. Michigan Avenue, Hwy. 275 from 
S. 20th Street to Hwy. 81, and Center Drive on the north and west side of the Mall between Hwy. 275 and 
Hwy. 81 in addition to surrounding streets. Major study area intersections include: 
 

• Hwy. 81 and Center Drive/W. Michigan Avenue 

• Hwy 81 and Hwy. 275 

• Center Drive and W. Michigan Avenue 

• Center Drive/S. 18th Street and W. Michigan Avenue 

• Center Drive and Hwy. 275 

• S. 20th Street and Hwy. 275 

• Omaha Avenue and Hwy. 275 

• Hwy. 275 with four (4) access drives between Omaha Avenue and Hwy. 81 
 
The scope of services will include the following tasks: 
 
1. Conceptual design alternatives will be developed based on city input to enhance access and 

circulation to local businesses.  This work will include: 
a. Creation of potential typical sections for Center Drive between Hwy. 81 and Hwy. 275. 

Renderings will be developed illustrating both plan and typical section views of up to three 
(3) potential alternatives. Possible geometric and traffic control concepts for the intersections 
along Center Drive, include signalization, two-way stop-controlled, all-way stop-controlled, 
or roundabouts.  Existing right-of-way will also be reviewed to determine potential 
acquisition and/or easements necessary for the future improvements.   

 
Deliverable:  Alternative intersection and street concepts presented in plan view on aerial base 

maps, along with typical sections, and two-dimensional or three-dimensional isometric views. A 

plan view exhibit showing potential right-of-way acquisitions or easements necessary for each of 

the three (3) alternatives. 

 
 

2. Project Management and Meeting Attendance – This task will include project management of the 
JEO project team including adherence to project scope, schedule and budget.  Quality Control 
reviews will also be provided on a regular basis, at key project milestones and prior to submittal of all 
project deliverables.  One (1) project review meeting is anticipated for this scope of services. 

 
Deliverables:  Project Management and Quality Control activities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 18
Page 60 of 341



Exhibit A 
Page 2 of 2 

  

The proposed services will be completed for an hourly to a maximum fee of $10,000.  A preliminary cost 
breakdown by task is included in the table below: 
 

Task Estimated Cost 

1. Conceptual Design $9,000 

2. Project Management and Meeting Attendance $1,000 

Total Project Cost $10,000 

 
 
These services will be completed within one (1) month of notice to proceed following execution of the 
agreement.  
 
Items Excluded from Scope: 
 

• Any traffic data collection, analysis, or study. 

• Preparation of Conceptual, Preliminary or Final Intersection Improvement, Roadway Design or 
Pedestrian/Trail Plans, Specifications or Estimates (PS&E package). 

• Preparation of Final Wayfinding reviews or plans. 

• Stakeholder Outreach meetings. 

• Attendance at more than one (1) project review meetings. 
 
Excluded services can be invoiced on a time and materials basis, if needed. 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 18
Page 61 of 341



Exhibit B 

JEO CONSULTING GROUP INC  �  JEO ARCHITECTURE INC 
 

Page 1 of 2 – Revision 2  

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES: JEO Consulting Group, Inc. (JEO) shall 

perform the services described in Exhibit A.  JEO shall invoice the 

owner for these services at the fee stated in Exhibit A. 

 

2. ADDITIONAL SERVICES: JEO can perform work 

beyond the scope of services, as additional services, for a 

negotiated fee or at fee schedule rates. 

 

3. OWNER RESPONSIBILITIES:     The owner shall provide all criteria 

and full information as to the owner’s requirements for the project; 

designate and identify in writing a person to act with authority on 

the owner’s behalf in respect to all aspects of the project; examine 

and respond promptly to JEO’s submissions; and give prompt 

written notice to JEO whenever the owner observes or otherwise 

becomes aware of any defect in work. 

 

Unless otherwise agreed, the owner shall furnish JEO with right-of-

access to the site in order to conduct the scope of services.  Unless 

otherwise agreed, the owner shall also secure all necessary 

permits, approvals, licenses, consents, and property descriptions 

necessary to the performance of the services hereunder.  While JEO 

shall take reasonable precautions to minimize damage to the 

property, it is understood by the owner that in the normal course 

of work some damage may occur, the restoration of which is not a 

part of this agreement. 

 

4. TIMES FOR RENDERING SERVICES:      JEO’s services 

and compensation under this agreement have been agreed to in 

anticipation of the orderly and continuous progress of the project 

through completion. Unless specific periods of time or specific 

dates for providing services are specified in the scope of services, 

JEO’s obligation to render services hereunder shall be for a period 

which may reasonably be required for the completion of said 

services.  

 

If specific periods of time for rendering services are set forth or 

specific dates by which services are to be completed are provided, 

and if such periods of time or date are changed through no fault of 

JEO, the rates and amounts of compensation provided for herein 

shall be subject to equitable adjustment. If the owner has 

requested changes in the scope, extent, or character of the project, 

the time of performance of JEO’s services shall be adjusted 

equitably. 

 

5. INVOICES: JEO shall submit invoices to the owner monthly 

for services provided to date and a final bill upon completion of 

services.  Invoices are due and payable within 30 days of receipt.  

Invoices are considered past due after 30 days.  Owner agrees to 

pay a finance charge on past due invoices at the rate of 1.0% per 

month, or the maximum rate of interest permitted by law. 

 

If the owner fails to make any payment due to JEO for services and 

expenses within 30 days after receipt of JEO’s statement, JEO may, 

after giving 7 days’ written notice to the owner, suspend services 

to the owner under this agreement until JEO has been paid in full 

all amounts due for services, expenses, and charges. 

 

6. STANDARD OF CARE: The standard of care for all services 

performed or furnished by JEO under the agreement shall be the 

care and skill ordinarily used by members of JEO’s profession 

practicing under similar circumstances at the same time and in the 

same locality. JEO makes no warranties, express or implied, under 

this agreement or otherwise, in connection with JEO’s services.  

 

JEO shall be responsible for the technical accuracy of its services 

and documents resulting therefrom, and the owner shall not be 

responsible for discovering deficiencies therein. JEO shall correct 

such deficiencies without additional compensation except to the 

extent such action is directly attributable to deficiencies in owner 

furnished information.  

 

7. REUSE OF DOCUMENTS:       Reuse of any materials 

(including in part plans, specifications, drawings, reports, designs, 

computations, computer programs, data, estimates, surveys, other 

work items, etc.) by the owner on a future extension of this project, 

or any other project without JEO’s written authorization shall be at 

the owner’s risk and the owner agrees to indemnify and hold 

harmless JEO from all claims, damages, and expenses including 

attorney’s fees arising out of such unauthorized use. 

 

8. ELECTRONIC FILES: Copies of Documents that may be 

relied upon by the owner are limited to the printed copies (also 

known as hard copies) that are signed or sealed by JEO. Files in 

electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or of other types 

that are furnished by JEO to the owner are only for convenience of 

the owner. Any conclusion or information obtained or derived 

from such electronic files shall be at the user’s sole risk. 

a. Because data stored in electronic media format can 

deteriorate or be modified inadvertently or otherwise without 

authorization of the data’s creator, the party receiving electronic 

files agrees that it shall perform acceptance tests or procedures 

within 30 days, after which the receiving party shall be deemed 

to have accepted the data thus transferred. Any errors detected 

within the 30 day acceptance period shall be corrected by the 

party delivering the electronic files. JEO shall not be responsible 

to maintain documents stored in electronic media format after 

acceptance by the owner. 

b. When transferring documents in electronic media format, JEO 

makes no representations as to long term compatibility, 

usability, or readability of documents resulting from the use of 

software application packages, operating systems, or computer 

hardware differing from those used by JEO at the beginning of 

the project.  

c. The owner may make and retain copies of documents for 

information and reference in connection with use on the project 

by the owner. 

d. If there is a discrepancy between the electronic files and the 

hard copies, the hard copies govern.  

e. Any verification or adaptation of the documents by JEO for 

extensions of the project or for any other project shall entitle JEO 

to further compensation at rates to be agreed upon by the owner 

and JEO. 

 

9. SUBCONSULTANTS: JEO may employ consultants as JEO 

deems necessary to assist in the performance of the services. JEO 

shall not be required to employ any consultant unacceptable to 

JEO. 

 

10. INDEMNIFICATION: To the fullest extent permitted by law, 

JEO and the owner shall indemnify and hold each other harmless 

and their respective officers, directors, partners, employees, and 

consultants from and against any and all claims, losses, damages, 

and expenses (including but not limited to all fees and charges of 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 18
Page 62 of 341



Exhibit B 

JEO CONSULTING GROUP INC  �  JEO ARCHITECTURE INC 
 

Page 2 of 2 – Revision 2  

engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals, and all 

court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) to the extent 

such claims, losses, damages, or expenses are caused by the 

indemnifying parties’ negligent acts, errors, or omissions.  In the 

event claims, losses, damages, or expenses are caused by the joint 

or concurrent negligence of JEO and the owner, they shall be 

borne by each party in proportion to its negligence. 

 

11. INSURANCE:  JEO shall procure and maintain the 

following insurance during the performance of services under this 

agreement: 

a. Workers’ Compensation: Statutory 

b. Employer’s Liability 

i. Each Accident: $500,000 

ii. Disease, Policy Limit: $500,000 

iii. Disease, Each Employee: $500,000 

c. General Liability 

i. Each Occurrence (Bodily Injury and Property Damage): 

$1,000,000 

ii. General Aggregate: $2,000,000 

d. Auto Liability 

i. Combined Single: $1,000,000 

e. Excess or Umbrella Liability 

i. Each Occurrence: $1,000,000 

ii. General Aggregate: $1,000,000 

f. Professional Liability: 

i. Each Occurrence: $1,000,000 

ii. General Aggregate: $2,000,000 

g. All policies of property insurance shall contain provisions to 

the effect that JEO and JEO’s consultants’ interests are covered 

and that in the event of payment of any loss or damage the 

insurers shall have no rights of recovery against any of the 

insureds or additional insureds thereunder. 

h. The owner shall require the contractor to purchase and 

maintain general liability and other insurance as specified in the 

Contract Documents and to cause JEO and JEO’s consultants to 

be listed as additional insured with respect to such liability and 

other insurance purchased and maintained by the contractor for 

the project.  

i. The owner shall reimburse JEO for any additional limits or 

coverages that the owner requires for the project. 

 

12. TERMINATION:    This agreement may be terminated by either 

party upon 7 days prior written notice.  In the event of termination, 

JEO shall be compensated by owner for all services performed up 

to and including the termination date. The effective date of 

termination may be set up to thirty (30) days later than otherwise 

provided to allow JEO to demobilize personnel and equipment 

from the site, to complete tasks whose value would otherwise be 

lost, to prepare notes as to the status of completed and 

uncompleted tasks, and to assemble project materials in orderly 

files. 

 

13. GOVERNING LAW: This agreement is to be governed by 

the law of the state in which the project is located. 

 

14. SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNS, AND BENEFICIARIES:     The owner 

and JEO each is hereby bound and the partners, successors, 

executors, administrators and legal representatives of the owner 

and JEO are hereby bound to the other party to this agreement and 

to the partners, successors, executors, administrators and legal 

representatives (and said assigns) of such other party, with respect 

to all covenants, agreements and obligations of this agreement.  

a. Neither the owner nor JEO may assign, sublet, or transfer any 

rights under or interest (including, but without limitation, 

monies that are due or may become due) in this agreement 

without the written consent of the other, except to the extent 

that any assignment, subletting, or transfer is mandated or 

restricted by law. Unless specifically stated to the contrary in any 

written consent to an assignment, no assignment shall release or 

discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under this 

agreement. 

b. Unless expressly provided otherwise in this agreement: 

Nothing in this agreement shall be construed to create, impose, 

or give rise to any duty owed by the owner or JEO to any 

contractor, contractor’s subcontractor, supplier, other individual 

or entity, or to any surety for or employee of any of them. 

c. All duties and responsibilities undertaken pursuant to this 

agreement shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the 

owner and JEO and not for the benefit of any other party. 

 

15. PRECEDENCE:     These standards, terms, and conditions shall 

take precedence over any inconsistent or contradictory language 

contained in any proposal, contract, purchase order, requisition, 

notice to proceed, or like document regarding JEO’s services. 

 

16. SEVERABILITY:     Any provision or part of the agreement held 

to be void or unenforceable shall be deemed stricken, and all 

remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and binding upon 

the owner and JEO, who agree that the agreement shall be 

reformed to replace such stricken provision or part thereof with a 

valid and enforceable provision that comes as close as possible to 

expressing the intention of the stricken provision. 

 

17. NON-DISCRIMINATION CLAUSE:  Pursuant to Neb. 

Rev. Stat. § 73-102, the parties declare, promise, and warrant that 

they have and will continue to comply fully with Title VI of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964, as amended (42 U.S.C.A § 1985, et seq.) and the 

Nebraska Fair Employment Practice Act, Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-1101, 

et seq., in that there shall be no discrimination against any 

employee who is employed in the performance of this agreement, 

or against any applicant for such employment, because of age, 

color, national origin, race, religion, creed, disability or sex. 

 
18. E-VERIFY: JEO shall register with and use the E-Verify 

Program, or an equivalent federal program designated by the 

United States Department of Homeland Security or other federal 

agency authorized to verify the work eligibility status of a newly 

hired employee pursuant to the Immigration Reform and Control 

Act of 1986, to determine the work eligibility status of new 

employees physically performing services within the state where 

the work shall be performed. Engineer shall require the same of 

each consultant.  

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 18
Page 63 of 341



March 27th, 2018
Lyle Lutt
Risk Manager
City of Norfolk
llutt@ci.norfolk.ne.us

State Contract # 14611 OC

• K8A 4 door AWD Explorer/Police Package: $28,834
-500A equipment package--included
-6 speed automatic transmission--included
-Front cloth/bucket seat/rear vinyl--(-$50)
-Push Bumper lights (vendor installed)--included
-Setina PB400 push bumper (vendor installed)--included
-Driver's side spot light--included
-rear led's--included
-siren speaker:--included
-auxiliary battery:--(-$450)
-Repair Manual--$75 per vehicle (1 manual for $225)
-Delivery of vehicles to Norfolk--$150 per vehicle

Total price: $28,559 x 3 vehicles=$85,677

Bobby Colclasure
Anderson Auto Group
Commercial & Fleet Director
2500 Wildcat Dr Lincoln, NE 68521Cell - 402 - 617 - 4521
bobbyc@andersonautogroup.com

4/16/2018 Enclosure 19
Page 64 of 341



1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

SUBDIVISION APPLICATION
FORMA

Subdivision Name Petersen-Chace Addition

Subdivision Location 909-1007 Queen City Blvd/1000-1004 No 10th

Owner's Name GNP Properties, LLC

(402)-371-3919

Owner's Home Address ̂ 07 East Klug Avenue

Phone #1

Phone #2

Email Address: nikolkay@hotmail.eom

(402)-750-4063

Developer's Name GNP Properties, LLC

Developer's Address 507 East Klug Avenue

Engineer R'chard C. Johnson phone (402)-371-1255

Present use of property Pssidential

10. Desired use of property Residential

11 Present Zoning R-3, Multiple Family Residential District

12. Legal Description

Lot 3, Springfield's Subdivision and attached

13. Area of subject property square feet and/or acres 75,790 Square Feet

m 2 6

Signature of owner

'^ign/ture o^uthorized Agent

Return Completed forms to: Norfolk Planning Commission; 309 N 5th Street; Norfolk, NE 68701
Rev: 06-20164/16/2018 Enclosure 20

Page 65 of 341

SUBDIVISION APPLICATION 
FORMA 

I. Subdivision Name Petersen-Chace Addition 

2. Subdivision Location 909-1007 Queen City Blvd/1 000-1 004 No 10th 

3. Owner's Name GNP Properties, LLC 

4. Owner's Home Address 507 East Klu9 Avenue 
----~~~~---------------

5. Phone # 1 (402)-371-3919 

Phone #2 (402)-750-4063 

Emai l Address: nikolkay@hotmail .com 

6. Developer's Name _G_N_P_P_r~op,=-e~rt~i~e~s:.-, L=L=C=---___________ _ 

7. Developer's Address _5_0_7_E_a_s_t_K_lu--'9"-A_v_e_n'--ue=---__________ _ 

8. Engineer _R_ic_h_a_rd_C_. _Jo_h_n_s_on __ Phone (402)-371-1255 

9. Present use of property _R_e_s_id_e_n_t_ia_I _______________ _ 

10. Desired use of property _R_e_s_id_e_n_t_ia_I ______________ _ 

II. Present Zonin" R-3, Multiple Family Residential District o ___ ~~ __ ~ ______________ _ 

12. Legal Description 

Lot 3, Springfield's Subdivision and attached 

13. Area of subject property square feet and/or acres 75,790 Square Feet 

r---------~.-- , IT ~©~OW~ h\1 
-., MAR 2 5 U : 

I ~I 

Signature of owner 

L. _ _ _____ __ ~ 

Return Completed forms to: Norfolk Planning Commission; 309 N 5th Street; Norfolk, NE 68701 

Rev: 06-2016 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 20
Page 66 of 341

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS 

TRACT "2" - Lot 2, Chace's Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, a Replat of Lots 1 
through 3, Tempelmann's Subdivision of Braasch's Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, Springfield's 
Subdivision, all in the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska AND A PART OF Lot 16, Hutton's 
Subdivision of Lots 7 & 8 of Braasch's Suburban Lots to Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska described as 
follows: Beginning at the Northwest Corner of said Lot 16; thence proceeding East, along the North line of 
said Lot 16, on an assumed bearing of South 89 degrees 53 minutes 40 seconds East, 59.66 ft; thence 
South 75 degrees 02 minutes 49 seconds West, 57.50 ft. to a point on the West line of said Lot 16; thence 
North 15 degrees 22 minutes 05 seconds West, along the West line of said Lot 16, 15.50 ft. to the point of 
beginning AND A PART OF Lot 3, Chace's Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, a 
Replat of Lots 1 through 3, Tempelmann's Subdivision of Braasch's Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, 
Springfield's Subdivision, all in the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska described as follows: 
Beginning at the Southwest Corner of said Lot 3; thence proceeding East, along the South line of said Lot 3, 
on an assumed bearing of North 89 degrees 19 minutes 10 seconds East, 11.15 ft.; thence North 20 
degrees 01 minutes 00 seconds West, 48.61 ft.; thence South 76 degrees 30 minutes 30 seconds West, 
6.94 ft. to a point on the West line of said Lot 3; thence South 15 degrees 28 minutes 46 seconds East, 
along the West line of said Lot 3, 45.86 ft. to the point of beginning. 
AND LESS A PART OF Lot 2, Chace's Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, a Replat 
of Lots 1 through 3, Tempelmann's Subdivision of Braasch's Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, 
Springfield's Subdivision, all in the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska described as follows: 
Beginning at the Northwest Comer of said Lot 2; thence proceeding Northeast, along the North line of said 
Lot 2, on an assumed bearing of North 75 degrees 12 minutes 04 seconds East, 134.96 ft. to the Northeast 
Comer of said Lot 2; thence South 15 degrees 28 minutes 46 seconds East, along the East line of said Lot 
2,5.23 ft.; thence South 75 degrees 12 minutes 04 seconds West, 120.00 ft.; thence South 44 degrees 53 
minutes 41 seconds West, 11.15 ft. to a point on the West line of said Lot 2; thence North 41 degrees 11 
minutes 07 seconds West, along the West line of said Lot 2, 12.12 ft. to the pOint of beginning. 

TRACT "3" - Lot 1, Chace's Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, a Replat of Lots 1 
through 3, Tempelmann's Subdivision of Braasch's Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, Springfield's 
Subdivision, all in the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska and a part of Lot 4, Moore's Queen City 
Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, more particularly described as follows: 
Beginning at the Southwest Comer of said Lot 4; thence proceeding East, along the South line of said Lot 4, 
on an assumed bearing of South 89 degrees 41 minutes 29 seconds East, 133.87 ft. to the Northeast 
Comer of Lot 1 of said Chace's Addition; thence South 89 degrees 51 minutes East, along the South line of 
said Lot 4,10.74 ft.; thence North 05 degrees 54 minutes 12 seconds West, 35.00 ft.; thence South 76 
degrees 25 minutes 18 seconds West, 145.06 ft. to the point of beginning; AND A PART OF Lot 2, Chace's 
Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, a Replat of Lots 1 through 3, Tempelmann's 
Subdivision of Braasch's Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, Springfield's Subdivision, all in the City of 
Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska described as follows: Beginning at the Northwest Comer of said Lot 2; 
thence proceeding Northeast, along the North line of said Lot 2, on an assumed bearing of North 75 
degrees 12 minutes 04 seconds East, 134.96 ft. to the Northeast Comer of said Lot 2; thence South 15 
degrees 28 minutes 46 seconds East, along the East line of said Lot 2,5.23 ft.; thence South 75 degrees 12 
minutes 04 seconds West, 120.00 ft.; thence South 44 degrees 53 minutes 41 seconds West, 11.15 ft. to a 
point on the West line of said Lot 2; thence North 41 degrees 11 minutes 07 seconds West, along the West 
line of said Lot 2, 12.12 ft. to the point of beginning. 

TRACT "4" - Lot 3, Chace's Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, a Replat of Lots 1 
through 3, Tempelmann's Subdivision of Braasch's Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, Springfield's 
Subdivision, all in the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska LESS THAT PART described as follows: 
Beginning at the Southwest Comer of said Lot 3; thence proceeding East, along the South line of said Lot 3, 
on an assumed bearing of North 89 degrees 19 minutes 10 seconds East, 11. 15 ft.; thence North 20 
degrees 01 minutes 00 seconds West, 48.61 ft.; thence South 76 degrees 30 minutes 30 seconds West, 
6.94 ft. to a point on the West line of said Lot 3; thence South 15 degrees 28 minutes 46 seconds East, 
along the West line of said Lot 3, 45.86 ft. to the point of beginning. 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 20
Page 67 of 341

0 

SCALE 

A 
D 

I 

PETERSEN- CHACE ADDITION 
TO THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA 
CONSISTING OF LOT 3, SPRINGFIELD'S SUBDIVISION AND 
TRACTS 2, 3, AND 4 OF THE LOT BOUNDARY CHANGE 
FILED FOR RECORD IN CABINET 6, PAGE 177 A, ALL IN 
THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA 

Ch, Brg,=S30"08'05'1I A 
Ch. Brg.=S30019'32w\.,/ P 
Ch, Dis1;,=59,54 A ~ P ~ 
R=60,OO 

S33"33'57'E A 
3"36'31'E P ~ __ 

11, A 
1L3 P 

vQ 

Ch Br ,=S28"07'14 E A"--{<_'5~_-
Ch: Br8':.S28"03'21'E P 
Ch, Dlsl;,-55,]g A 
Ch, Dlst,=55,75 P ~ 
R=125,00 1"'~ 
L=55,77 A ~ 
L=55,75 P 

N05"48'12"1I A 
N05"54'12'" P 
35,09 A 
35,03 P 

103,85 P 

I, N75"01'10'E A 
\ N76°30'30'E P 
\ 7.36 A 
\ 6,94 P 2 

S19"S8'2S'E A 
S20"01'00'E P 
48,54 A 
48,61 P 

N 
5D,00 ? ~ 

1" - 50' 

I I 
50 100 

LEGEND 
CORNER FOUND (AS SHO~N) 
CORNER SET (3/4' IRON PIPE) 
ACTUAL (MEASURED> DIMENSION 
DEEDED (RECORDED) DIMENSION 
FRONT SETBACK--25 FT, 
UTILITY EASEMENTS 

10' REAR 
5' SIDE 

N74"49'03'E A 
N75"02'48'E P 
57,55 A 
5750 P 

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS 

N86",1'55'E A 
N89"19'10'E P 

11.0'3 A 
lU5 P 

\ 
\ 
\ 
\ 

-£ \ 
-::, \ 
;"-0 .... \ 
y ~ \ 

'iI-\ 

10' Pllltt"~ 
ut\Uty Eo.5"I'I"nt 

\ 
\ 

TRACT 

\ 
\ 

1 

.~ , 
, -,~-

"\ '30't? 
,,1."04 5' Plo.U"d 

Utility Eo.,."",,, .. t 

TRACT I, LOT 3, SPRINGFIELD'S SUBDIVISION, A PLATTED ADDITIONN TO THE CITY OF NORFOLK, IN MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, 

TRACT 2, LDT 2, CHACE'S ADDITIDN TO THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, A REPLAT OF LOTS 1 THROUGH 3, 
TEMPELMANN'S SUBDIVISION OF BRAASCH'S SUBURBAN LOTS 9 AND 10 AND LOT 2, SPRINGFIELD'S SUBDIVISION, ALL IN THE 
C[TY OF NORFOLK, MAD[SON COUNTY, NEBRASKA AND A PART OF LOT 16, HUTTON'S SUBD[VISION OF LOTS 7 AND 8 OF 
BRAASCH'S SUBURBAN LOTS TO NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA DESCRIBED AS FOLLOIIS, BEG[NNING AT THE NORTHIIEST 
CORNER OF SAm LOT 16) THENCE PROCEEDING EAST, ALONG THE NORTH UNE OF SAID LOT 16, ON AN ASSUMED BEAR[NG OF 
S89"53'40'E, 59,66 FEET, THENCE S75"02'49'1I, 57.50 FEET TO A POINT ON THE IIEST UNE OF SAID LOT 16) THENCe: 

~h~"r't~~~'¥D ~~~Nht~EOf'ENSOVd~~< ["D1~b~ ~~1Nl-f'1, l~r~R~§H }OA ~~~(A~[NJF 0[O?fG[N~~~gLGAHND3,ATt~~tL~~N~~ST s3iJBjj~~rEaN 
OF BRAASCH'S SUBURBAN LOTS 9 AND 10, AND LOT 2, SPR[NGF[ELD'S SUBDIV[SION, ALL [N THE C[TY OF NORFOLK, MADISON 
COUNTY, NEBRASKA DESCR[BED AS FOLLOIIS, BEG[NNING AT THE SOUTHVlEST CORNER OF SAlD LOT 3; THENCE PROCEEDING EAST, 
ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LDT 3, ON AN ASSUMED BEARING OF N89"19'10' E, lU5 FEET; THENCE N20"O!'OO'II, 48,61 FEET; 
THENCE S76'30'30"VI, 6,94 FEET TO A POINT ON THE IIEST UNE OF SAlD LOT 3, THENCE SI5'28'46"[, ALONG THE IIEST LINE 
OF SAlD LOT 3, 45,86 FEET TO THE PDlNT OF BEG[NNING; 
AND LESS A PART OF LOT 2, CHACE'S ADDIHON TO THE C[TY OF NORFOLK, MADrSON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, A REPLAT OF LOTS 
LOTS 1 THROUGH 3, TEMPELMANN'S SUBDIVErDN OF BRAASCH'S SUBURBAN LOTS 9 AND 10 AND LOT 2, SPRrNGFIELD'S 
SUBDlV[SrDN, ALL [N THE C[TY OF NORFOLK, MADEON COUNTY, NEBRASKA DESCRIBED AS FOLLOIIS, BEG[NNING AT THE 
NORTHVlEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2; THENCE PROCEEDING NORTHEAST, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 2, ON AN ASSUMED 
BEAR[NG OF N75'12'04'E, 134,96 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2) THENCE SI5"28'46'E, ALONG THE EAST LINE 
OF SAID LOT 2, 5,23 FEET; THENCE S7S"12'04'V, 120,00 FEET; THENCE S44"S3'41'VI, IUS FEET TO A POINT ON THE VlEST LINE 
OF SAm LOT 2; THENCE N41"11'07"1I, ALONG THE IIEST UNE OF SAlD LOT 2, 12,12 FEET TO THE PDlNT OF BEGINN[NG, 

TRACT 3, LOT I, CHACE'S ADDIHON TO THE C[TY OF NORFOLK, MADlSON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, A REPLAT OF LOTS 1 THROUGH 3, 
TEMPELMANN'S SUBDlVErDN OF BRAASCH'S SUBURBAN LOTS 9 AND 10 AND LOT 2, SPRINGFIELD'S SUBDNISrDN, ALL IN THE 
THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA AND A PART OF LOT 4, MOORE'S QUEEN CITY ADDnrDN TO THE C[TY OF 

~~~fOMt ~~D-I~~~cro~~~ttEND1~~At~~T~Ofco~&Rl~rU~~Bf~ ErJfR~~EEAtff [8+L~lIaN !NEGl~~o~~DA1El~rN~o~~H~l9s"~1 fi,~~~~R OF 
133,87 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 1 OF SAlD CHACE'S ADDnrDN; THENCE S89'51'E, ALONG THE SOUTH UNE OF 
SAID LOT 4, 10,74 FEET; THENCE N05"54'12'1I, 35,00 FEET; THENCE S76"25'18'1I, 14S,06 FEET TO THE PDlNT OF BEGINN[NG; 

~ ~~O~G~ A~; PtMpLgTMA
2N N ~SHASCUE~~ [~PflJ~O~F T ~ R A~~c~W sB~u~~~~o t~t S M~DI~r9~ I~ 0~~1Y L ~ -FB ~,A~~~tN M!IIN sOJBDL[ ~i~IIIN, 

ALL IN THE cny OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA DESCRIBED AS FOLLOIIS, BEGINNNING AT THE NORTHIIEST CORNER 
OF SAlD LOT 2; THENCE PROCEEDING NORTHEAST, ALONG THE NORTH UNE OF SAID LOT 2, ON AN ASSUMED BEARING OF N75'12'04'E, 
134,96 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAlD LOT 2; THENCE SI5"28'46'E, ALONG THE EAST UNE OF SAID LOT 2, 5,23 FEET; 
THENCE S75'12'04'1I, 120,00 FEET; THENCE S44"53'41'1I, lU5 FEET TO A PDlNT ON THE IIEST UNE OF SAID LOT 2, THENCE 
N41"11'07"1I, ALONG THE IIEST UNE OF SAm LOT 2, 12,[2 FEET TO THE PDlNT OF BEGINN[NG, 

TRACT 4, LOT 3, CHACE'S ADDIHON TO THE C[TY OF NORFOLK, MADlSON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, A REPLAT OF LOTS I THROUGH 3, 
TEMPELMANN'S SUBmV[SrDN OF BRAASCH'S SUBURBAN LOTS 9 AND 10 AND LOT 2, SPRINGFIELD'S SUBDNISrDN, ALL IN THE 
THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA LESS THAT PART DESCRIBED AS FDLLOIIS, BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHIIEST 
CORNER OF SAID LOT 3; THENCE PROCEEDING EAST, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 3, ON AN ASSUMED BEARING OF 
N89"19'10'E, lU5 FEET) THENCE N20"01'00'1I, 48,61 FEET) THENCE S76"30'30'VI, 6,94 FEET TO A POINT ON THE VlEST LINE OF 
SAm LOT 3) THENCE SI5"2B'46"E, ALONG THE IIEST LINE OF SAm LOT 3, 45,86 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, 

\ 
Georgia. Avenue 

D efk 's 
S bu ba. 
, 3 2 

eMpel 
6 

7 

3 

NOTE: A four (4) foot sidewalk shull be constructed by the 
owner on the street side or sides of eo.ch lot in the oddition 
abutting on 0. pla. tted street as provided far loy Ordinance 8 No, 3780 of the City of Norfolk passed and o.pproveol on 
April L 1991. 

NOTEI Tracts 2, 3, o.nd 4 o.re lots of record frOM the Lot Bounda.ry 
Cha.nge Between Lots L 2, o.ncl 3, Cha.ce's Addition to -the City of 
Norfolk, Mooison County, Nelorosko ono Lot 16 ond Port of Lot 17, 
Hutton's Subdivision of Lots 7 8. 8, Bro.o.sch's Suburban Lots to 
Norfolk, Mo.oiison County, Neloro.sko., So.iol Lot Bounolo.ry Change is 

, 

10 

filed for record in PLo.t Co.loinet 6, Po.ge 177A (Book 2015, PogE' 01469) 
in the Office of the Register of Deeas of Madison County, f'lelornskn. 

NOTE: Plotted utility easeMents shown herein were originally granted 
on the plots of Choce's Addition one; Sprlngflele;'s Sulodlvlslon, 

NOTE: linE'S Ioetween Lots 3 nnd 4 nnd Ioetween Lots 5 and 6 are 
the extensions of the center wull lines of the Iouildings on suid lots. 

LOT AREAS STREET ADDRESSES 

LOT I -
LOT 2 -
LOT 3 
LOT 4 -
lOT 5 -
LOT 6 
LOT 7 -

TRACT I' 
TRACT 2, 
TRACT 3, 

13200 SQ. FT. LOT I - 909 Queen City Boulevard 
14265 SO, FT, LOT 2 - 1001 Queen City Boulevard 
5946 SQ, FT, LOT 3 1005 Queen City Boulevard 
6,934 SQ. FT. LOT 4 - 1007 Queen City Boulevard 
6624 SO. FT, LOT 5 - 1000 North 10th Street 
7376 SQ, FT, LOT 6 - 1002 North 10th Street 

19 223 SQ, FT, LOT 7 - 1004 North 10th Street 

PARCEL I,D, NO, 590015397 
PARCEL I,D, NO, 590106821 
PARCEL I,D, NO, 590292986 
PARCEL I,D, NO, 590292994 
PARCEL I,D, NO, 590293001 
PARCEL I,D, NO, 590293028 
PARCEL 1,0, NO, 590289348 
PARCEL I,D, NO, 590289350 
PARCEL I,D, NO, 590289352 
PARCEL I,D, NO, 590289353 
PARCEL I,D, NO, 590106848 

VICINITY SKETCH 
NDT TO SCALE 

CONSENT OF LIEN HOLDER 
~E, MADISON COUNTY BANK, BEING A LIEN HOLDER ON TRACTS 2, 3, AND 4 DESCRIBED HEREIN, 

DO HEREBY AGREE AND CONSENT TO THE SUBDIVISION OF SAID TRACT OF LAND AS SHOwN ON THE 
PLAT HEREIN, 

MADISON COUNTY BANK 

(SIGNATURE> 

(PRINTED NAME 1. TITLD 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF NOTARY 

STATE OF NEBRASKA 

COUNTY OF MADISON 

) 

) 

) 
S,S 

ON THIS DAY OF 2018, BEFORE ME, A NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR SAID 
COUNTY AND STATE, CAME .~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ __ OF 
MADISON COUNTY BANK, PERSONALLY KNO~N TO ME TO BE THE IDENTICAL PERSON ~HOSE NAME IS 
AFFIXED TO THE FOREGOING INSTRUMENT AND HE HAS ACKNOwLEDGED THE EXECUTION THEREOF TO BE HIS 
VOLUNTARY ACT AND DEED AND THE VOLUNTARY ACT AND DEED OF COLUMBUS BANK 1. TRUST, 

wITNESS MY HAND AND OFFICIAL SEAL THE LAST DATE AFORESAID, 

NOTARY PUBLIC 

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES ON THE DAY OF _____ , 20 __ , A,D, PRINTED NAME 

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE 

I, RICHARD C, JOHNSON, REGISTERED LAND SURVEYOR IN THE STATE OF NEBRASKA, HAVE DIRECTED AND SUPERVISED THE SURVEY OF THE 
TRACTS OF LAND DESCR[BED HERE[N, 

[ HAVE SUBDIvmED SAID TRACTS OF LAND [NTO LOTS 1 THROUGH 6, TO BE HERE[NAFTER KNOVIN AS PETERSEN-CHACE ADDITlON TO THE 
CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA CDNS[STING OF LOT 3, SPRINGF[ELD'S SUBDNISrDN AND TRACTS 2, 3, AND 4 OF THE LOT 
BOUNDARY CHANGE FILED FOR RECORD IN CABINET 6 OF PLATS, PAGE 177A, ALL IN THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, 

I CERTIFY THAT THE PLAT HEREIN IS THE ORIGINAL, ACCURATE AND CORRECT PLAT OF SAID PETERSEN-CHACE ADDITON AND THAT SAID PLAT 
ACCURATEL Y AND CORRECTLY REFLECTS ALL OF THE LOTS, BLOCKS, ROADS, STREETS, AVENUES, ALLEYS, PARKS, COMMONS, AND OTHER GROUNDS [N 
SAm ADDITlDN, ALL OF IIH[CH ARE CORRECTLY AND ACCURATELY STAKED OFF AND MARKED AND ARE DES[GNATED AND SHOIIN ON THE PLAT HERE[N, 

[ CERT[FY THAT THE SURVEY AND PLAT IIERE MADE AT THE [NSTANCE AND REQUEST OF THE OIiNERS OF SA[D TRACT OF LAND IIHO ARE 
HEREIN NAMED, 

[ CERTlFY THAT I HAVE EXECUTED THE ABOVE INSTRUMENT THIS _____ DAY OF ____________________ , 2018, 

RICHARD C, JOHNSON, L,S, NO, 429 

APPROVAL 
THE FOREGOING AND IIITHIN PLAT, APPROVED BY THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

C[TY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA BY RESOLUTION DULY PASSED THIS ____________ DAY OF 
_______________________________ , 2018. 

ATTEST' 

EUZABETH A. DECK, CLERK JOSH MOENNING, MAYOR 

APPROVAL 
THE FOREGo[NG AND VI!THIN PLAT APPROVED BY THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE C[TY OF NORFOLK, 

MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA THIS __________ DAY OF _____________________ , 2018, 

DAN SPRAY, CHAIRMAN 

OWNERS' CERTIFICATE 
liE, AL A, RAJAEE, A SINGLE PERSON, OViNER OF TRACT 1 DESCRIBED HERE[N, AND GNP PROPERTlES, 

LLC, A NEBRASKA UMITED UABIUTY COMPANY, OIiNERS OF TRACTS 2, 3, AND 4 DESCRIBED HERE[N HAVE 
CAUSED TO BE MADE A SURVEY AND PLAT OF SAm TRACTS OF LAND AS SHOIIN HEREm SAID TRACTS OF 
LAND SHALL HERE[NAFTER BE KNOIIN AS PETERSEN-CHACE ADDITlON TO THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON 
COUNTY, NEBRASKA CDNS[STING OF LOT 3, SPR[NGF[ELD'S SUBDIV[SlDN AND TRACTS 2, 3, AND 4 OF THE 
LOT BOUNDARY CHANGE F[LED FOR RECORD IN CABrNET 6 OF PLATS, PAGE 177A, ALL IN THE C[TY OF 
NORFOLK, MADlSON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, 

VIE DO HEREBY PRovmE EASEMENTS FOR THE CONSTRUCTION AND MA[NTENANCE OF UTlUTlES OF 
OVER, UNDER ACROSS, AND THROUGH THE NORTH 5 FEET OF LOT 2, THE SOUTH 5 FEET OF LOT 3, AND 
THE NORTH 5 FEET OF LOT 6 IN THE ADDlTlDN, 

AL A, RAJAEE, A S[NGLE PERSON 

GNP PROPERHES, LLC" A NEBRASKA 
UMlTED UAB[UTY COMPANY 

GARY L, PETERSEN, MEMBER 

NIKOL K, PETERSEN, MEMBER 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF NOTARY 

STATE OF NEBRASKA ) 

) 

COUNTY OF MADlSON ) 
S,S, 

THE FOREGDrNG liAS AI)KNOVILEDGED BEFORE ME TH[S _______ DAY OF ________________________ , 2018 
AL A, RAJAEE, A S[NGLE PERSON, 

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES ON THE DAY OF __________ , 20 

NOTARY PUBLIC 

NOTARY PUBLIC (PRINTED NAME) 
AD, 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF NOTARY 

STATE OF NEBRASKA ) 

) 

COUNTY OF MADISON ) 
S,S, 

THE FOREGDrNG liAS AI)KNOVILEDGED BEFORE ME TH[S _______ DAY OF ________________________ , 2018 
BY GARY L, PETERSEN AND N[KOL K, PETERSEN, MEMBERS OF GNP PROPERTlES, LLC" A NEBRASKA UMITED 
UAB[LITY COMPANY, 

MY COMMISSION EXP[RES ON THE _____ DAY OF __________ , 20 

NOTARY PUBLIC 

NOTARY PUBLIC (PRINTED NAME) 
A,D, 



           

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Norfolk 
309 North 5th Street 
Norfolk, Nebraska 68701 

 
 

SUBDIVISION AGREEMENT 

PETERSEN-CHACE ADDITION, 
to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska,  
Consisting of Lot 3, Springfield’s Subdivision and 
Tracts 2, 3, and 4 of the Lot Boundary Change 

Filed for Record in Cabinet 5, Page 177A, all in the 
City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska 

 
This agreement is made and entered into this ________ day of ____________, 2018 by 

and between the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, a municipal corporation, hereinafter referred to as 

the "the City" and GNP Properties, L.L.C., a Nebraska Limited Liability Company, hereinafter 

referred to as "the Developers" and Al A. Rajaee, a single person, hereinafter referred to as 

“the Owner.”  

 
WHEREAS, the Developers are the Owners of certain property situated within the 

corporate limits of the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska and legally described as 
follows: 

 

TRACT "2" – Lot 2, Chace’s Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, 
Nebraska, a Replat of Lots 1 through 3, Tempelmann’s Subdivision of Braasch’s 
Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, Springfield’s Subdivision, all in the City of 
Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska AND A PART OF Lot 16, Hutton’s 
Subdivision of Lots 7 & 8 of Braasch’s Suburban Lots to Norfolk, Madison 
County, Nebraska described as follows: Beginning at the Northwest Corner of 
said Lot 16; thence proceeding East, along the North line of said Lot 16, on an 
assumed bearing of South 89 degrees 53 minutes 40 seconds East, 59.66 ft; 
thence South 75 degrees 02 minutes 49 seconds West, 57.50 ft. to a point on 
the West line of said Lot 16; thence North 15 degrees 22 minutes 05 seconds 
West, along the West line of said Lot 16, 15.50 ft. to the point of beginning AND 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 20
Page 68 of 341



           

 Page - 2 of 6 

A PART OF Lot 3, Chace’s Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, 
Nebraska, a Replat of Lots 1 through 3, Tempelmann’s Subdivision of Braasch’s 
Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, Springfield’s Subdivision, all in the City of 
Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska described as follows:  Beginning at the 
Southwest Corner of said Lot 3; thence proceeding East, along the South line of 
said Lot 3, on an assumed bearing of North 89 degrees 19 minutes 10 seconds 
East, 11.15 ft.; thence North 20 degrees 01 minutes 00 seconds West, 48.61 ft.; 
thence South 76 degrees 30 minutes 30 seconds West, 6.94 ft. to a point on the 
West line of said Lot 3; thence South 15 degrees 28 minutes 46 seconds East, 
along the West line of said Lot 3, 45.86 ft. to the point of beginning. 
AND LESS A PART OF Lot 2, Chace’s Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison 
County, Nebraska, a Replat of Lots 1 through 3, Tempelmann’s Subdivision of 
Braasch’s Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, Springfield’s Subdivision, all in the 
City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska described as follows:  Beginning at 
the Northwest Corner of said Lot 2; thence proceeding Northeast, along the 
North line of said Lot 2, on an assumed bearing of North 75 degrees 12 minutes 
04 seconds East, 134.96 ft. to the Northeast Corner of said Lot 2; thence South 
15 degrees 28 minutes 46 seconds East, along the East line of said Lot 2, 5.23 
ft.; thence South 75 degrees 12 minutes 04 seconds West, 120.00 ft.; thence 
South 44 degrees 53 minutes 41 seconds West, 11.15 ft. to a point on the West 
line of said Lot 2; thence North 41 degrees 11 minutes 07 seconds West, along 
the West line of said Lot 2, 12.12 ft. to the point of beginning. 
 
 

TRACT "3" – Lot 1, Chace’s Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, 
Nebraska, a Replat of Lots 1 through 3, Tempelmann’s Subdivision of Braasch’s 
Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, Springfield’s Subdivision, all in the City of 
Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska and a part of Lot 4, Moore’s Queen City 
Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, more particularly 
described as follows: Beginning at the Southwest Corner of said Lot 4; thence 
proceeding East, along the South line of said Lot 4, on an assumed bearing of 
South 89 degrees 41 minutes 29 seconds East, 133.87 ft. to the Northeast 
Corner of Lot 1 of said Chace’s Addition; thence South 89 degrees 51 minutes 
East, along the South line of said Lot 4, 10.74 ft.; thence North 05 degrees 54 
minutes 12 seconds West, 35.00 ft.; thence South 76 degrees 25 minutes 18 
seconds West, 145.06 ft. to the point of beginning; AND A PART OF Lot 2, 
Chace’s Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, a Replat of 
Lots 1 through 3, Tempelmann’s Subdivision of Braasch’s Suburban Lots 9 and 
10 and Lot 2, Springfield’s Subdivision, all in the City of Norfolk, Madison County, 
Nebraska described as follows:  Beginning at the Northwest Corner of said Lot 2; 
thence proceeding Northeast, along the North line of said Lot 2, on an assumed 
bearing of North 75 degrees 12 minutes 04 seconds East, 134.96 ft. to the 
Northeast Corner of said Lot 2; thence South 15 degrees 28 minutes 46 seconds 
East, along the East line of said Lot 2, 5.23 ft.; thence South 75 degrees 12 
minutes 04 seconds West, 120.00 ft.; thence South 44 degrees 53 minutes 41 
seconds West, 11.15 ft. to a point on the West line of said Lot 2; thence North 41 
degrees 11 minutes 07 seconds West, along the West line of said Lot 2, 12.12 ft. 
to the point of beginning. 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 20
Page 69 of 341



           

 Page - 3 of 6 

TRACT "4" - Lot 3, Chace’s Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, 
Nebraska, a Replat of Lots 1 through 3, Tempelmann’s Subdivision of Braasch’s 
Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, Springfield’s Subdivision, all in the City of 
Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska LESS THAT PART described as follows: 
Beginning at the Southwest Corner of said Lot 3; thence proceeding East, along 
the South line of said Lot 3, on an assumed bearing of North 89 degrees 19 
minutes 10 seconds East, 11.15 ft.; thence North 20 degrees 01 minutes 00 
seconds West, 48.61 ft.; thence South 76 degrees 30 minutes 30 seconds West, 
6.94 ft. to a point on the West line of said Lot 3; thence South 15 degrees 28 
minutes 46 seconds East, along the West line of said Lot 3, 45.86 ft. to the point 
of beginning. 
 
 
WHEREAS, the Owner is the Owner of certain property situated within the corporate 

limits of the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska and legally described as follows: 
 

Lot 3, Springfield’s Subdivision, a platted addition to the City of Norfolk, 
Madison County, Nebraska 
 
WHEREAS, the Developers wish to plat said property and hereby submit to the City as 

provided by law, an accurate subdivision plat of the addition to be known as PETERSEN-

CHACE ADDITION, to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, Consisting of Lot 3, 
Springfield’s Subdivision and Tracts 2, 3, and 4 of the Lot Boundary Change Filed for Record in 
Cabinet 5, Page 177A, all in the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska 

 
      

WHEREAS, new subdivisions are subject to certain required minimum improvements as 
specified by City Ordinances, and 

 
     IT IS THEREFORE AGREED by the parties contained herein as follows: 
 

GENERAL CONDITIONS: 
 

 1. GRADING: The parties agree that the addition has been graded.  The City agrees, 
that because the addition consists of lots of record which were in place, Post Construction Best 
Management Practices (BMP) for the addition, as required by Section 26-190(a)(i) of the 
Norfolk City Code, will not be required. 

  

2. SANITARY SEWER:  The parties agree that sanitary sewer mains necessary to serve 
all lots in the addition are in place at this time and that all lots in the addition, except Lot 2 are 
connected to said sanitary sewer mains.  At the time of development of said Lot 2, sanitary 
sewer service will be provided by connection to the existing sanitary sewer main on Queen City 
Boulevard.  There will be no cost to the City for connection to the existing sanitary sewer main. 
 

3. WATER SUPPLY:  The parties agree that water mains necessary to serve all lots in 
the addition are in place at this time and that all lots in the addition, except Lot 2 are connected 
to said water mains.  At the time of development of said Lot 2, water service will be provided by 
connection to the existing water main on Queen City Boulevard.  There will be no cost to the 
City for connection to the existing water main. 

         

4/16/2018 Enclosure 20
Page 70 of 341



           

 Page - 4 of 6 

4.  STREET IMPROVEMENTS:  The parties agree that no new street improvements are 
necessary as a result of the platting of the addition. 
   
 5.  STREET SIGNS:  The parties agree that no new street signs are necessary as a 
result of the platting of the addition. 

 

 6.  ESTIMATED DATES OF COMPLETION:  The estimated dates of completion for the 
above described improvements are as follows: 
     Grading—Completed 
     Sanitary Sewer—Completed 
     Water—Completed 
     Paving—Completed 
 

 

MISCELLANEOUS: 
 
 

1.  The Developers agree to pay all interest and principal on any special assessments 
levied by the City on the property being so subdivided as same shall become due until such 
time as the property is sold.  At the time any lot is conveyed to a third party, any special 
assessments remaining unpaid against said property being transferred shall be paid in full at 
the time of closing of the conveyance of said lot at which time the City will release the 
Developers from any future obligations, assessments, or special assessments against said lot. 
If the Developers fail to keep special assessments current, the City may seek to collect the 
amount not paid by any remedy at law or in equity. 

 
2.  The Developers agree to hold the City of Norfolk harmless from any liability and 

claims arising out of and relative to the development of this subdivision, to and including, but 
not limited to, the determination of wetlands as defined in the Federal Clean Water Act and the 
Water Quality permits required by the Nebraska Department of Environmental Quality. 

 
 
3.  The parties agree that building permits and occupancy permits for lots in this 

subdivision may be issued with the proposed infrastructure in place, if applicable.  The 
Developers further agree to specifically comply with Section 23-45(j)-3 of the Norfolk 
City Code which states that: 

 
"Forty-eight (48) hours' notice shall be given to the City Engineer prior to 
the start of construction on any improvements. The Developer's Engineer 
shall provide the City with a signed certification, assuring that 
improvements have been installed in accordance with the approved plans 
and specifications." 

 
4.  The Developers agree to keep the public Right-of-way free from accumulation of 

water, waste material, weeds or rubbish, and to maintain the finished street surfaces free from 
dirt caused during development of the subdivision. 

 
5.  The Owners enter into this agreement only to show that they have been made aware 

of the terms and conditions of said agreement.  The Owners shall have no specific duties as a 
result of this agreement except duties which they agree to in writing. 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 20
Page 71 of 341



           

 Page - 5 of 6 

6. This agreement, and the terms and duties set forth herein, shall run with the land and 
shall be binding upon the parties hereto, their successors in interest in the real estate described 
herein, their heirs, personal representatives, and assigns. 
 
 
CITY OF NORFOLK,                     THE DEVELOPERS 
 A Municipal Corporation GNP Properties, L.L.C., 
  A Nebraska Limited Liability Company  
 
 
_____________________________ ________________________________ 
Josh Moenning, Mayor                           Gary L. Petersen, Member      
 
Attest:                                                                      
   
 
____________________________                   ________________________________             
Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk                             Nikol K. Petersen, Member 
                                                               
 
                  THE OWNER 
  ., 
   
 
  ________________________________ 
                                                               Al A. Rajaee, a Single Person   
  
 
Approved as to form: _____________________________ 
                        Clint Schukei, City Attorney 

 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
STATE OF NEBRASKA          ) 
  )  s.s. 
COUNTY OF MADISON         ) 
 
     The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of 
________________, 2018, by Josh Moenning, Mayor and Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk on 
behalf of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, a Municipal Corporation. 
                                            
 
  __________________________        
  Notary Public 
 
 
  __________________________        
  Notary Public (Printed Name) 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 20
Page 72 of 341



           

 Page - 6 of 6 

 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
STATE OF NEBRASKA          ) 
  )  s.s. 
COUNTY OF MADISON         ) 
 
     The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of 
________________, 2018, by Gary L. Petersen and Nikol K. Petersen, members of GNP 
Properties, L.L.C., a Nebraska Limited Liability Company. 
  
  __________________________        
  Notary Public 
 
 
  __________________________        
  Notary Public (Printed Name) 
 

 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
STATE OF NEBRASKA          ) 
  )  s.s. 
COUNTY OF MADISON         ) 
 
     The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of 
________________, 2018, by Al A. Rajaee, a Single Person. 
  
  __________________________        
  Notary Public 
 
 
  __________________________        
  Notary Public (Printed Name) 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 20
Page 73 of 341



 
             progress.  right at home. 
 
  

 
 

309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE  68701 

P402-844-2280 F402-844-2028 
www.ci.norfolk.ne.us 

 
 
April 3, 2018 
 
 
Honorable Mayor 
   and 
City Council 
 
Dear Mayor and Council: 
 
On April 3, 2018 the Norfolk Planning Commission reviewed the final plat of Petersen-
Chace Addition. 
  
All items required for the final plat approval have been submitted and the accompanying 
subdivision agreement has been reviewed by the City Engineer. 
  
The Planning Commission recommends approval of the final plat with a vote of 8-0.  
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Dan Spray, Vice-Chair 
Norfolk Planning Commission 

 
 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 20
Page 74 of 341



Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Norfolk, 309 N. 5th Street, Norfolk, Nebraska 68701 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2018-_________ 
 
 WHEREAS, the following described real property is located within the City of Norfolk or within the 
extraterritorial area in which the City exercises zoning jurisdiction, to wit: 
 
TRACT "2" – Lot 2, Chace’s Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, a Replat of Lots 1 

through 3, Tempelmann’s Subdivision of Braasch’s Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, Springfield’s 

Subdivision, all in the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska AND A PART OF Lot 16, Hutton’s 

Subdivision of Lots 7 & 8 of Braasch’s Suburban Lots to Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska described as 

follows: Beginning at the Northwest Corner of said Lot 16; thence proceeding East, along the North line of 
said Lot 16, on an assumed bearing of South 89 degrees 53 minutes 40 seconds East, 59.66 ft; thence South 75 
degrees 02 minutes 49 seconds West, 57.50 ft. to a point on the West line of said Lot 16; thence North 15 
degrees 22 minutes 05 seconds West, along the West line of said Lot 16, 15.50 ft. to the point of beginning 
AND A PART OF Lot 3, Chace’s Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, a Replat of 

Lots 1 through 3, Tempelmann’s Subdivision of Braasch’s Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, Springfield’s 

Subdivision, all in the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska described as follows:  Beginning at the 
Southwest Corner of said Lot 3; thence proceeding East, along the South line of said Lot 3, on an assumed 
bearing of North 89 degrees 19 minutes 10 seconds East, 11.15 ft.; thence North 20 degrees 01 minutes 00 
seconds West, 48.61 ft.; thence South 76 degrees 30 minutes 30 seconds West, 6.94 ft. to a point on the West 
line of said Lot 3; thence South 15 degrees 28 minutes 46 seconds East, along the West line of said Lot 3, 
45.86 ft. to the point of beginning. 
AND LESS A PART OF Lot 2, Chace’s Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, a Replat 

of Lots 1 through 3, Tempelmann’s Subdivision of Braasch’s Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, Springfield’s 

Subdivision, all in the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska described as follows:  Beginning at the 
Northwest Corner of said Lot 2; thence proceeding Northeast, along the North line of said Lot 2, on an 
assumed bearing of North 75 degrees 12 minutes 04 seconds East, 134.96 ft. to the Northeast Corner of said 
Lot 2; thence South 15 degrees 28 minutes 46 seconds East, along the East line of said Lot 2, 5.23 ft.; thence 
South 75 degrees 12 minutes 04 seconds West, 120.00 ft.; thence South 44 degrees 53 minutes 41 seconds 
West, 11.15 ft. to a point on the West line of said Lot 2; thence North 41 degrees 11 minutes 07 seconds West, 
along the West line of said Lot 2, 12.12 ft. to the point of beginning. 
 
TRACT "3" – Lot 1, Chace’s Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, a Replat of Lots 1 

through 3, Tempelmann’s Subdivision of Braasch’s Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, Springfield’s 

Subdivision, all in the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska and a part of Lot 4, Moore’s Queen City 

Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, more particularly described as follows: Beginning 
at the Southwest Corner of said Lot 4; thence proceeding East, along the South line of said Lot 4, on an 
assumed bearing of South 89 degrees 41 minutes 29 seconds East, 133.87 ft. to the Northeast Corner of Lot 1 
of said Chace’s Addition; thence South 89 degrees 51 minutes East, along the South line of said Lot 4, 10.74 

ft.; thence North 05 degrees 54 minutes 12 seconds West, 35.00 ft.; thence South 76 degrees 25 minutes 18 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 20

21

Page 75 of 341



Page 2 of 2 
 

seconds West, 145.06 ft. to the point of beginning; AND A PART OF Lot 2, Chace’s Addition to the City of 

Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, a Replat of Lots 1 through 3, Tempelmann’s Subdivision of Braasch’s 

Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, Springfield’s Subdivision, all in the City of Norfolk, Madison County, 

Nebraska described as follows:  Beginning at the Northwest Corner of said Lot 2; thence proceeding 
Northeast, along the North line of said Lot 2, on an assumed bearing of North 75 degrees 12 minutes 04 
seconds East, 134.96 ft. to the Northeast Corner of said Lot 2; thence South 15 degrees 28 minutes 46 seconds 
East, along the East line of said Lot 2, 5.23 ft.; thence South 75 degrees 12 minutes 04 seconds West, 120.00 
ft.; thence South 44 degrees 53 minutes 41 seconds West, 11.15 ft. to a point on the West line of said Lot 2; 
thence North 41 degrees 11 minutes 07 seconds West, along the West line of said Lot 2, 12.12 ft. to the point 
of beginning. 
 
TRACT "4" - Lot 3, Chace’s Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, a Replat of Lots 1 

through 3, Tempelmann’s Subdivision of Braasch’s Suburban Lots 9 and 10 and Lot 2, Springfield’s 

Subdivision, all in the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska LESS THAT PART described as follows: 
Beginning at the Southwest Corner of said Lot 3; thence proceeding East, along the South line of said Lot 3, 
on an assumed bearing of North 89 degrees 19 minutes 10 seconds East, 11.15 ft.; thence North 20 degrees 01 
minutes 00 seconds West, 48.61 ft.; thence South 76 degrees 30 minutes 30 seconds West, 6.94 ft. to a point 
on the West line of said Lot 3; thence South 15 degrees 28 minutes 46 seconds East, along the West line of 
said Lot 3, 45.86 ft. to the point of beginning.. 
 
 WHEREAS, said property is owned by GNP Properties, L.L.C., a Nebraska Limited Liability 
Company and Al A. Rajaee, a single person; and 
 

WHEREAS, the owners of the above described property are desirous of platting the property pursuant 
to the laws of the State of Nebraska and the City of Norfolk; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a plat and subdivision agreement have been prepared in anticipation of platting the above 
described property. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals, the Mayor and City Council of the 
City of Norfolk, Nebraska, hereby adopt the following Resolution: 
 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, that the 
final plat of PETERSEN-CHACE ADDITION, consisting of Lot 3, Springfield’s Subdivision 

and Tracts 2, 3, and 4 of the Lot Boundary Change filed for record in Cabinet 5, Page 177A, all 
in the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, and its accompanying subdivision agreement, 
duly made, acknowledged and certified, be and the same are hereby approved and ordered filed 
and recorded in the office of the Register of Deeds of Madison County, Nebraska.   

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the above described property shall hereinafter be legally 
described as set forth and depicted on the final plat being approved hereunder. 

 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this ______ day of _______________, 2018. 
 
 
 
ATTEST:                             _________________________________ 
                             Josh Moenning, Mayor 
 
_______________________________ 
Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form:  ____________________________ 
            Clint Schukei, City Attorney 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 20
Page 76 of 341



SUBDIVISION APPLICATION
FORMA

1. Subdivision Name NIGHTCAP ADDITION

SE CORNER OF OMAHA AVE & SOUTH 13TH STREET
2. Subdivision Location

3. Owner's Name OBAN GROUP INC (ATTN DUANE D PETERSON)

4. Owner's Home Address 75° BOONE AVE NORTH MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55427

5. Phone #1

Phone #2

Email Address: duane@pbzcpa.com

6. Developer's Name NORFOLK EXTENDED LODGING LLC

7. Developer's Address 5600 S 59TH ST, SUITE 201 LINCOLN, NE 68506

E8LACONSULTI.NGGROUPJNC-
8. Engineer ATTN: RICKONNEN _Phone ^uz^zu-/

9. Present use of property VACANT

10. Desired use of property COMMERICAL

11. Present Zoning

12. Legal Description
LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION TO THE CH-Y OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTT,
NEBRASKA.

13. Area of subject property square feet and/or acres ^•'

Signature of owner

or

^^^^
Signature of Authorized Agent

Return Completed forms to: Norfolk Planning Commission; 309 N 5th Street; Norfolk, NE 68701

Rev: 06-20164/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 77 of 341

SUBDIVISION APPLICATION 
FORMA 

1. S~~~oo~~_N_IG_H_T_C_A_P_A_D_D_IT_I_O_N ___________ _ 

S bd' .. L t' SE CORNER OF OMAHA AVE & SOUTH 13TH STREET 2. u IVlSlon oca Ion ___________________ _ 

3. Owner's Name OBAN GROUP INC (ATTN DUANE 0 PETERSON) 

4. Owner's Home Address 750 BOONE AVE NORTH MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55427 

5. Phone #1 

Phone #2 

Email Address: duane@pbzcpa.com 

6. Developer's Name NORFOLK EXTENDED LODGING LLC 

7. Developer's Address 5600 S 59TH ST, SUITE 201 LINCOLN, NE 68506 

E & A CONSULTING GROUP, INC 
8. Engineer ATTN: RICK ONNEN Phone _(4_0_2_)_-4_2_0_-_7_2_17 ______ _ 

9. fu~~~~~p~y-V-A-C-A-N-T----------------

10. De~redu~~~~~-C-O-M-M-E-R-I-C-A-L------------~ 

11. Present Zoning _1-_1 ____________________ _ 

12. Legal Description 
LOT 2, OB'AN'S CYHAWK ADDITION TO THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, 
NEBRASKA. 

13. Area of subject property square feet and/or acres _4_.5_8_4_A_C ______ _ 

Signature of owner 

or 

Signature of Authorized Agent 

Return Completed forms to: Norfolk Planning Commission; 309 N 5th Street; Norfolk, NE 68701 

Rev: 06-2016 



10.0' EASEMENT FOR ELECTRICAL LINES
AND/OR UNDERGROUND ELECTRICAL FACILITIES
GRANTED TO CITY OF NORFOLK AND
NEBRASKA PUBLIC POWER DISTRICT
DOC. NO. 79-4 PAGE 199

10.0' RIGHT-OF-WAY EASEMENT
GRANTED TO CITY OF NORFOLK AND
NEBRASKA PUBLIC POWER DISTRICT
DOC. NO. 87-8 PAGE 56

5.0' UTILITY EASEMENT
DOC. NO. 2012-12 PAGE 1686

10.0' UTILITY EASEMENT
DOC. NO. 2012-12 PAGE 1686

0.619 AC
2

1.640 AC
OUTLOT "A"

60.00'
20.0' SANITARY

SEWER EASEMENT
(SEE DETAIL "A")

60.00'

2.325 AC
1

15.0' SEWER EASEMENT
DOC. NO. 82-12 PAGE 165

20.0' PARKING EASEMENT
DOC. NO. 82-2 PAGE 297

10.0' UTILITY EASEMENT
DOC. NO. 2012-12 PAGE 1686

109.53'

24
6.3

2'

15
7.7

3'

109.53'

34
6.7

3'

15.00'

56
.30

'

198.61'

24
6.3

0'

367.65'

19
8.3

5'

56.90'

40
.33

'

40.08'

19
6.0

0'

247.21'40.08'27.94'

PROPOSED 20.0' SANITARY
SEWER EASEMENT
(SEE DETAIL "A")

25' ACCESS EASEMENT

10.0' EASEMENT FOR ELECTRICAL LINES
AND/OR UNDERGROUND ELECTRICAL FACILITIES
GRANTED TO CITY OF NORFOLK AND
NEBRASKA PUBLIC POWER DISTRICT
DOC. NO. 79-4 PAGE 203

20' EASEMENT FOR
ROADWAY PURPOSE

DOC. NO. M72 PAGE 758

INGRESS / EGRESS EASEMENT
DOC. NO. 2012-12 PAGE 1686

INGRESS AND EGRESS EASEMENT
DOC. M72 PAGE 760

30' X 30' EASEMENT FOR ROADWAY
DOC. NO. 2012-12 PAGE 1686

20.0' ROADWAY EASEMENT
DOC. NO. M72 PAGE 758

10.0' ACCESS EASEMENT
DOC. NO. 2012-12 PAGE 1686

25.0'
FRONT

SETBACK

30.0' REAR SETBACK
(MAX - SEE ZONING CODE)

30.0' REAR
SETBACK

22.0' REAR
SETBACK

40
.33

'

S88°01'39"W 367.65'

S0
1°

34
'15

"E
 60

0.0
3'

N88°26'12"E 308.14'

N0
2°

51
'22

"W
 19

8.3
5'

N87°06'16"E 56.90'

N0
2°

51
'22

"W
 34

6.7
3'

N88°02'36"E
15.00'

N0
1°

44
'12

"W
56

.30
'

179°14'28"

88°
09'

57"
17

7°
33

'50
"

91°16'05"

178
°07

'48
"

89°59'34"

90
°4

3'0
9"

POINT OF BEGINNING

5/8" REBAR

"X
" N

AI
L

3/4" OTP
3/4" OTP

5/8" REBAR

3/4" OTP

N0
1°

34
'15

"W
 24

6.3
2'

S88°25'45"W 109.53'

N88°25'45"E 247.21'

S00°18'10"E 40.33'

N89°42'03"W 40.08'

N00°18'10"W 40.33'

N87°51'48"E
27.94'

5.0' UTILITY
EASEMENT

10.0' UTILITY
EASEMENT

5.0' UTILITY
EASEMENT

5.0' UTILITY
EASEMENT

5.0' UTILITY
EASEMENT

5.0' UTILITY
EASEMENT

S89°42'03"E 40.08'

10.0' UTILITY EASEMENT
DOC. NO. 2012-12 PAGE 1686

10.0' UTILITY EASEMENT
DOC. NO. 2012-12 PAGE 1686

1

OUTLOT "A"

N88°26'12"E   9.10'
N88°26'12"E   20.00'

N01°37'16"W   5.00'
N88°26'12"E   184.51'

S01°33'48"E
20.00'

S88°26'12"W   184.49'

S0
1°

37
'16

"E
   3

78
.04

'

N0
1°

37
'16

"W
   4

02
.88

'

2

N89°42'03"W   8.58'S87°51'48"W
11.43'

Re
vis

ion
s

Da
te

De
sc

rip
tio

n
E 

& 
A 

CO
NS

UL
TI

NG
 G

RO
UP

, IN
C.

En
gin

ee
rin

g ·
 P

lan
nin

g ·
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

tal
 &

 F
iel

d S
er

vic
es

10
90

9 M
ill 

Va
lle

y R
oa

d, 
Su

ite
 10

0 ·
 O

ma
ha

, N
E 

 68
15

4
Ph

on
e: 

40
2.8

95
.47

00
 ·

 F
ax

: 4
02

.89
5.3

59
9

ww
w.

ea
cg

.co
m

No

K:
\P

ro
jec

ts\
20

17
\28

5\p
01

\P
lat

\F
ina

l D
es

ign
\F

P-
00

0.d
wg

3/2
8/2

01
8 8

:16
 A

M
Je

ff S
tol

l

Da
te

De
sc

rip
tio

n

FI
NA

L P
LA

T
NI

GH
TC

AP
 A

DD
IT

IO
N

LO
TS

 1 
& 

2 &
 O

UT
LO

T 
"A

"
NO

RF
OL

K,
 N

EB
RA

SK
A

of

Dr
aw

n B
y:

De
sig

ne
d B

y:

Da
te:

Pr
oj 

No
:

Sh
ee

t:

Sc
ale

:

P2
01

7.2
85

.00
5

03
/19

/18 JR
S

JR
S

1"
 =

 50
' 1

1

0

1 inch  =        ft.

50 50

50

RIGHT OF WAY LINE

BOUNDARY LINE

LOT LINE

EASEMENT LINE

SETBACK LINE

AREA OF DETAIL

DETAIL "A"
PROPOSED SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

NOT TO SCALE
NOTES:
1. OUTLOT "A" IS NOT A BUILDABLE LOT EXCEPT FOR STORMWATER RETENTION AND POST

CONSTRUCTION TREATMENT FACILITIES.

2. A PERMANENT RECIPROCAL INGRESS AND EGRESS, PARKING AND PEDESTRIAN EASEMENT IS
GRANTED TO THE OWNERS OF LOTS 1, 2, NIGHTCAP ADDITION, THEIR GUESTS AND INVITEES
OVER ALL OF SAID LOTS EXCEPT THOSE PARTS OF SAID LOTS 1, 2, NIGHTCAP ADDITION,
WHICH ARE OCCUPIED BY BUILDINGS AS CONSTRUCTED.

3. A FOUR (4) FOOT SIDEWALK SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED BY THE OWNER ON THE STREET SIDE
OR SIDES OF EACH LOT IN THE ADDITION ABUTTING ON A PLATTED STREET AS PROVIDED FOR
BY ORDINANCE No. 3780 OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK PASSED AND APPROVED ON APRIL 1, 1991.

NIGHTCAP ADDITION
LOTS 1 & 2 INCLUSIVE & OUTLOT "A"

A TRACT OF LAND BEING A REPLATTING OF LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A SUBDIVISION LOCATED IN PART NW1/4
OF NW1/4 OF SECTION 34, TOWNSHIP 24 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST OF THE 6TH P.M., MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA.

PARCEL NUMBER: 590305104

SURVEYORS CERTIFICATION

I, BRIAN HAVERKAMP, REGISTERED LAND SURVEYOR IN THE STATE OF NEBRASKA, HAVE DIRECTED AND
SUPERVISED THE SURVEY OF A TRACT OF LAND BEING A REPLATTING OF LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK
ADDITION, A SUBDIVISION LOCATED IN PART NW1/4 OF NW1/4 OF SECTION 34, TOWNSHIP 24 NORTH,
RANGE 1 WEST OF THE 6TH P.M., MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA. SAID TRACT OF LAND IS MORE
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO
BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 1, SAD OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON
THE WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CYHAWK LOOP; THENCE S01°34'15"E (ASSUMED BEARING)
ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID LINE ALSO BEING SAID
WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CYHAWK LOOP, A DISTANCE OF 600.03 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST
CORNER OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION; THENCE S88°01'39"W ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF
SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A DISTANCE OF 367.65 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF
SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 2,
OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION ON THE FOLLOWING THREE (3) DESCRIBED COURSES; (1) THENCE
N02°51'22"W, A DISTANCE OF 198.35 FEET; (2) THENCE N87°06'16"E, A DISTANCE OF 56.90 FEET; (3)
THENCE N02°51'22"W, A DISTANCE OF 346.73 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 3, SAID
OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION; THENCE N88°02'36"E ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK
ADDITION, SAID LINE ALSO BEING SAID SOUTH LINE OF LOT 3, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A DISTANCE OF
15.00 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 3, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION; THENCE
N01°44'12"W ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID LINE ALSO BEING THE
EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 3, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A DISTANCE OF 56.30 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST
CORNER OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE SOUTHWEST CORNER
OF SAID LOT 1, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION; THENCE N88°26'12"E ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 2,
OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID LINE ALSO BEING THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 1, OBAN'S CYHAWK
ADDITION, A DISTANCE OF 308.14 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

EXCEPT OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:
COMMENCING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO
BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 1, SAID OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON
THE WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CYHAWK LOOP; THENCE S01°34'15"E ALONG THE EAST LINE OF
SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID LINE ALSO BEING SAID WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF
CYHAWK LOOP, A DISTANCE OF 404.03 FEET; THENCE S88°25'45"W A DISTANCE OF 247.21 FEET TO THE
NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE
POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE S00°18'10"E ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK
ADDITION, A DISTANCE OF 40.33 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK
ADDITION; THENCE N89°42'03"W ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION,
A DISTANCE OF 40.08 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION;
THENCE N00°18'10"W ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A
DISTANCE OF 40.33 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION;
THENCE S89°42'03"E ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A
DISTANCE OF 40.08 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION TO
THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

SAID TRACT OF LAND CONTAINS 199,684 SQUARE FEET OR 4.584 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

I HAVE SUBDIVIDED SAID TRACT OF LAND INTO LOTS 1 AND 2 AND OUTLOT "A" TO BE HEREINAFTER
KNOWN AS NIGHTCAP ADDITION TO THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, A TRACT OF
LAND BEING A REPLATTING OF LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A SUBDIVISION LOCATED IN PART
NW1/4 OF NW1/4 OF SECTION 34, TOWNSHIP 24 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST OF THE 6TH P.M., MADISON
COUNTY, NEBRASKA.

I DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE PLAT ABOVE IS THE ORIGINAL, ACCURATE, AND CORRECT PLAT OF
NIGHTCAP ADDITION TO THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, A TRACT OF LAND BEING
A REPLATTING OF LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A SUBDIVISION LOCATED IN PART NW1/4 OF NW1/4
OF SECTION 34, TOWNSHIP 24 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST OF THE 6TH P.M., MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA
AND THAT SAID PLAT ACCURATELY AND CORRECTLY REFLECTS ALL OF THE LOTS, BLOCKS, ROADS,
STREETS, AVENUES, ALLEYS, PARKS, COMMONS, AND OTHER GROUNDS IN SAID ADDITION, ALL OF
WHICH ARE CORRECTLY AND ACCURATELY STAKED OFF AND ARE DESIGNATED ON THE PLAT ABOVE.

I CERTIFY THAT THE SURVEY AND PLAT WERE MADE AT THE INSTANCE AND REQUEST OF THE OWNERS
WHO ARE HEREIN NAMED.

I CERTIFY THAT I HAVE EXECUTED THE ABOVE INSTRUMENT THIS ___________DAY_______________,
20________.

___________________________________________
BRIAN HAVERKAMP LS-787                                       

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF NOTARY

STATE OF  _______________  )
COUNTY OF _______________  )

ON THIS ___________DAY OF ___________________, ___________, BEFORE ME, THE UNDERSIGNED, A
NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR SAID COUNTY, PERSONALLY CAME DUANE D. PETERSON, PRESIDENT OF
OBAN GROUP, INC., A MINNESOTA CORPORATION,  WHO IS PERSONALLY KNOWN TO BE THE IDENTICAL
PERSON WHOSE NAME IS AFFIXED TO THE DEDICATION  ON THIS PLAT AND ACKNOWLEDGED THE SAME
TO BE HIS VOLUNTARY ACT AND DEED.

WITNESS MY HAND AND NOTARIAL SEAL THE DAY AND YEAR LAST ABOVE WRITTEN.

______________________________________
NOTARY PUBLIC

ACCEPTANCE BY NORFOLK CITY COUNCIL

THE FOREGOING AND WITHIN PLAT APPROVED BY THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE
CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA BY RESOLUTION DULY PASSED ON THIS
___________DAY_______________, 20__________.

_____________________________________
JOSH MOENNING, MAYOR

ATTEST  _______________________________
                 ELIZABETH DECK, CITY CLERK

ACCEPTANCE BY NORFOLK PLANNING COMMISSION

THE FOREGOING AND WITHIN PLAT APPROVED BY THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA ON THIS ___________DAY_______________, 20__________.

_____________________________________
DAN SPRAY, CHAIRMAN

DEDICATION & WAIVER

WE, OBAN GROUP, INC., A MINNESOTA CORPORATION, ARE THE SOLE OWNERS OF THE TRACT OF LAND
DESCRIBED IN THE SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE AND WE HAVE CAUSED TO BE MADE A SURVEY AND
PLAT OF SAID TRACT OF LAND AS SHOWN HEREIN. SAID TRACT OF LAND SHALL HEREINAFTER BE
KNOWN NIGHTCAP ADDITION TO THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, A TRACT OF
LAND BEING A REPLATTING OF LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A SUBDIVISION LOCATED IN PART
NW1/4 OF NW1/4 OF SECTION 34, TOWNSHIP 24 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST OF THE 6TH P.M., MADISON
COUNTY, NEBRASKA. WE DO HEREBY DEDICATE THE STREETS, AVENUES, DRIVES, ROADS, AND PUBLIC
GROUNDS DESIGNATED UPON AND REFERRED TO ON THE PLAT TO THE USE AND BENEFIT OF THE
PUBLIC.

WE FURTHER DECLARE THAT LOT 1 MAY BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE COST OF REPAIRS, MAINTENANCE,
TAXES AND INSURANCE FOR POST CONSTRUCTION BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES AND THAT SUCH
OBLIGATION OF THE DESIGNED LOTS SHALL RUN WITH THE LAND.

WE DO HEREBY PROVIDE EASEMENTS FOR THE CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENANCE OF UTILITIES OF 5
FEET ALONG THE SIDE LOT LINE AND 10 FEET ALONG THE REAR LINE OF EACH LOT IN THE ADDITION AS
SHOWN ON THE PLAT HEREIN.

THE 25 FEET ACCESS EASEMENT ALONG THE NORTH BOUNDARY OF LOT 1 AND LOT 2 IS DEDICATED TO
THE OWNER OF LOT 1, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION FOR THE PURPOSES OF COMMON PARKING,
INGRESS AND EGRESS.

WE, OBAN GROUP, INC., A MINNESOTA CORPORATION, ARE OWNERS OF THE REAL ESTATE DESCRIBED
HEREON AND HEREBY WAIVER ANY RIGHT TO CLAIMS AS A RESULT OF DAMAGES OCCASIONED BY THE
ESTABLISHMENT OF GRADES OR ALTERATIONS OF THE SURFACE.

DATED THIS _________ DAY OF _____________________, 20____.

OBAN GROUP, INC., A MINNESOTA CORPORATION

________________________________________________________
DUANE D. PETERSON, PRESIDENT                  DATE

LOT AREAS
1

2

OUTLOT "A" 71,438 SQ. FT. 1314 CYHAWK LOOP

STREET ADDRESS

5/8" REBAR SET

PINS FOUND (AS NOTED)

LEGEND

PROJECT
SITE

VICINITY  MAP

MONROE AVENUE

HIGHWAY 275

HI
GH

W
AY

 81

S.
 16

TH
 S

TR
EE

T

101,267 SQ. FT. 1308 CYHAWK LOOP

26,979 SQ. FT. 1302 CYHAWK LOOP

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 78 of 341



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
City of Norfolk 
309 North 5th Street 
Norfolk, Nebraska 68701 

 

 

 

SUBDIVISION AGREEMENT 

 
 
 

NIGHTCAP ADDITION 
LOTS 1 & 2 INCLUSIVE & OUTLOT "A" 

CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA 
 

A TRACT OF LAND BEING A REPLATTING OF LOT 2, OBAN'S 
 CYHAWK ADDITION, LOCATED IN PART NW1/4 

OF NW1/4 OF SECTION 34, TOWNSHIP 24 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST OF 
THE 6TH P.M., MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA. 

 
 
 

This agreement is made and entered into this ____ day of ________, 2018 by and between the 
City of Norfolk, hereinafter referred to as “The City” and Oban Group, Inc., A Minnesota 
Corporation, hereinafter referred to as “The Developers”. 

  
RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the developers are the owners of certain property situated in the City of 
Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, and legally described as follows: 
 
A tract of land located in part of the NW1/4 of NW1/4 of Section 34, Township 24 North, Range 1 West 
of the 6th P.M., Madison County, Nebraska.  Said tract of land is more particularly described as 
follows: 
 
BEGINNING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, 
SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 1, SAID OBAN'S CYHAWK 
ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 
CYHAWK LOOP; THENCE S01°34'15"E (ASSUMED BEARING) ALONG THE EAST LINE OF 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 79 of 341



SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID LINE ALSO BEING SAID WESTERLY 
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CYHAWK LOOP, A DISTANCE OF 600.03 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST 
CORNER OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION; THENCE S88°01'39"W ALONG THE 
SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A DISTANCE OF 367.65 FEET TO 
THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION; THENCE 
NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION ON THE 
FOLLOWING THREE (3) DESCRIBED COURSES; (1) THENCE N02°51'22"W, A DISTANCE OF 
198.35 FEET; (2) THENCE N87°06'16"E, A DISTANCE OF 56.90 FEET; (3) THENCE N02°51'22"W, 
A DISTANCE OF 346.73 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 3, SAID OBAN'S 
CYHAWK ADDITION; THENCE N88°02'36"E ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOT 2, OBAN'S 
CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID LINE ALSO BEING SAID SOUTH LINE OF LOT 3, OBAN'S 
CYHAWK ADDITION, A DISTANCE OF 15.00 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID 
LOT 3, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION; THENCE N01°44'12"W ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF 
LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID LINE ALSO BEING THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 
3, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A DISTANCE OF 56.30 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER 
OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE SOUTHWEST 
CORNER OF SAID LOT 1, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION; THENCE N88°26'12"E ALONG THE 
NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID LINE ALSO BEING THE 
SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 1, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A DISTANCE OF 308.14 FEET TO 
THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
EXCEPT OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2, 
OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 
1, SAID OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE WESTERLY RIGHT-
OF-WAY LINE OF CYHAWK LOOP; THENCE S01°34'15"E ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID 
LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID LINE ALSO BEING SAID WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-
WAY LINE OF CYHAWK LOOP, A DISTANCE OF 404.03 FEET; THENCE S88°25'45"W A 
DISTANCE OF 247.21 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S 
CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE 
S00°18'10"E ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A 
DISTANCE OF 40.33 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK 
ADDITION; THENCE N89°42'03"W ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S 
CYHAWK ADDITION, A DISTANCE OF 40.08 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF 
OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION;THENCE N00°18'10"W ALONG THE WEST LINE 
OF SAID OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, ADISTANCE OF 40.33 FEET TO THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER OF OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION;THENCE S89°42'03"E 
ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, ADISTANCE 
OF 40.08 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION 
TOTHE POINT OF BEGINNING.SAID TRACT OF LAND CONTAINS 199,684 SQUARE FEET. 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Developers wish to plat said property and hereby submit to the City as 
provided by law, an accurate Subdivision Plat to be known as Nightcap Addition, City of 
Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska.  Being part of the NW1/4 of NW1/4 of Section 34, Township 
24 North, Range 1 West of the 6th P.M., Madison County, Nebraska.   
 

AND WHEREAS, new subdivisions are subject to certain required minimum 
improvements as specified by City ordinances;  
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 80 of 341



 
IT IS, THEREFORE, agreed by the parties contained herein as follows: 
 
 
GENERAL CONDITIONS:  
 

1. Sanitary Sewer:  The Developers agree to install 8” sanitary sewer mains and 

appurtenances to serve all lots in the addition. Sanitary sewer mains to be installed are as 
follows.  
 
An 8” sanitary sewer main will be extended east, approximately 190 feet from the 
existing sanitary sewer main in the Northwest corner of Lot 1 and located approximately 
280 feet west of Cyhawk Loop.   

 
The Developers agree to pay all costs associated with the installation of sanitary sewer 
mains, manholes, and sanitary sewer service lines to individual lots in the addition.  
There will be a cost for connection to existing sanitary sewer as outlined in Section 26 of 
City Code.  There will be no cost to the city for sanitary sewer improvements in the 
addition.   

 
The Developers’ registered professional engineer shall submit the plans and 

specifications to the Nebraska Department of Environmental Quality for review to obtain 
a construction permit for the sanitary sewer improvements prior to any construction. 
 
The Developers’ registered professional engineer shall provide the City with “As-Built” 

plans of the improvements and shall certify to the City that all construction was 
completed in accordance with the Standard Specifications of the City of Norfolk.  Upon 
receipt of said certification, the Developers will dedicate the sanitary sewer mains to the 
City for public use and maintenance.   
 

2. Water:  The Developers agree to install water mains and appurtenances to serve all lots in 
the addition as follows. 
 
Water main will be extended south for approximately 375 feet along the west side of 
Cyhawk Loop.   
 
The Developers agree to pay all costs associated with the installation of water mains, fire 
hydrants, valves, and water service lines to individual lots in the addition.  There will be a 
cost for connection to existing water as outlined in Section 26 of City Code.  There will 
be no cost to the city for water improvements in the addition.   
 
The Developers’ registered professional engineer shall submit the plans and 

specifications to the Nebraska Department of Health and Human Services for review to 
obtain a construction permit for the water main improvements prior to any construction.  
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 81 of 341



The Developers’ registered professional engineer shall provide the City with “As-Built” 

plans of the improvements and shall certify to the City that all construction was 
completed in accordance with the Standard Specifications of the City of Norfolk.  Upon 
receipt of the said certification, the Developers will dedicate the water mains to the City 
for public use and maintenance.   

 
3. Street Improvements:  As a part of the Project, the Developers will extend Cyhawk Loop 

Road approximately three hundred seventy-five (375) feet in the right of way located to 
the East of the Project Site (the “Cyhawk Loop Extension”). The Developers agree that 
the design and installation of the Cyhawk Loop Extension shall comply with all 
applicable codes and regulations. There will be no cost to the city for street 
improvements and related storm sewer in the addition.   
 
The Developers agree that street signs approved by the City will be installed in the 
addition at no cost to the City.  Said signs will be equal, in type and quality, to the signs 
currently in use by the City of Norfolk. 

 
The Developers’ registered professional engineer shall provide the City with “As-Built” 

plans of the improvements and shall certify to the City that all construction was 
completed in accordance with the Standard Specifications of the City of Norfolk and all 
other applicable laws, rules, and regulations.  Upon receipt of said certification, the 
Developers will dedicate the streets to the City for public use and maintenance. 

 
4.  Sidewalks: The Developers agree to construct sidewalk meeting the design standards and 

requirements of the City, if required by the City.  A four feet wide sidewalk shall be 
constructed on the street side or sides of each lot as provided for in Ordinance No. 3780 
of the City of Norfolk, passed and approved on April 1, 1991. 

 
The Developers’ registered professional engineer shall provide the City with “As Built” 

plans of the improvements and shall certify to the City that all construction was 
completed in accordance with the Standard Specifications of the City of Norfolk and all 
other applicable laws, rules, and regulations.  
 

5. Grading and Drainage:  The Developers agree to grade the Addition according to the 
grading and drainage plans entitled “Norfolk Extended Lodging Grading and Drainage 

Plan” Dated February 12th, 2018. Said plans were developed by E&A Consulting Group 
and are accepted by, and on file with, the City Engineer and are made part of this 
agreement by reference. There shall be no cost to the City for the grading and drainage 
improvements of the subdivision.  
 
Curb inlets and storm sewer piping will be added to properly handle storm water from the 
Addition.  Post Construction BMPs will be installed in accordance with Section 26-190 
of City Code.   

 
A portion of said land owned by  the Developers shall be used as detention facilities and 
bio-swales under permanent best management practice (BMP) to detain storm water from 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 82 of 341



Nightcap Addition as required by City code. The Developers agree to build the BMP as 
shown on the Norfolk Extended Lodging Grading and Drainage Plan. The Developers 
agrees to maintain the detention facility as required by City Code and as agreed to the in 
the Post Construction Storm Water Management Plan Maintenance Agreement and 
Easement. There will be no cost to the City for construction, maintenance, or inspection 
of the detention facilities and bio-swales. Oban Group Inc., shall execute this Agreement 
below to evidence its agreement with this paragraph 5.  
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 

1. The Developers agree to pay all interest and principal on any special assessments levied 
by the City on the property being so subdivided as same shall become due until such time 
as the property is sold.  At the time any lot is conveyed to a third party, any special 
assessments remaining unpaid against said property being transferred shall be paid in full 
at the time of the closing of the conveyance of said lot.  If the Developers fail to keep 
special assessments current, the City may seek to collect the amount not paid by any 
remedy allowed by law or in equity. 

 
2. The Developers agree to hold the City of Norfolk harmless from any liability and claims 

arising out of and relative to the development of this Addition, to an including, but not 
limited to, the determination of wetlands as defined in the Federal Clean Water Act and 
the Water Quality permits required by the Nebraska Department of Environmental 
Quality. 
 

3. The Developers agree to specifically comply with Section 23-45-(J)-3 of the Norfolk City 
Code: 
 
 “Forty-eight (48) hours notice shall be given to the City Engineer prior to the start of 
construction on any improvements.  The Developers’ Engineer shall provide the City 

with a signed certification, assuring that Improvements have been installed in accordance 
with the approved plans and specifications.” 
 

4. The Developers agree to keep the public Right-of-Way free from accumulation of water, 
waste material, weeds or rubbish, and to maintain the finished street surfaces free from 
dirt caused by their operations during the construction phase. 
 

5. This Agreement, and the terms and duties set forth herein, shall run with the land and be 
binding upon the parties hereto, their successors in interest in the real estate described, 
their heirs, personal representatives and assigns. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 83 of 341



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
OBAN GROUP, INC, A Minnesota Corporation 

 
 
By_________________________________ 

  Title: __________________________________ 
  Printed Name: ___________________________ 
 
 

 
CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA, 
A Municipal Corporation 

ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________ ___________________________________ 
Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk           Josh Moenning, Mayor 
 
 
Approved as to Form: ______________________________ 
        Clint Schukei, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF NEBRASKA ) 
  ) ss 
COUNTY OF ___________ ) 
 
 On this _______ day of ____________________, 2018, before me, a Notary Public, in 
and for said County and State, personally came ________________________, ______________, 
and ___________________________, _______________, of Oban Group Inc., a Minnesota 
Corporation, who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged before me that they are 
duly authorized and did execute the same on behalf of the corporation.   
 
 Dated this ___________ day of _____________________, 2018. 
 
 
     ________________________________________ 
            Notary Public 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 84 of 341



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF NEBRASKA ) 
  ) ss 
COUNTY OF ___________ ) 
 
 Before me, a Notary Public, duly qualified in and for said county and state, personally 
appeared Josh Moenning, Mayor of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, and Elizabeth A. Deck, 
Norfolk City Clerk, known to me to be the identical persons who executed the foregoing 
instrument and acknowledged the execution thereof to be their voluntary act and deed on behalf 
of the City of Norfolk. 
 
 Witness my hand and notarial seal this ______ day of ___________________, 2018. 
 
 
       ___________________________________ 
                Notary Public 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
        
 
 
4832-1013-0272, v. 5 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 85 of 341



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

By: City of Norfolk, 309 N, 5th St., Norfolk, NE  68701 

POST-CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PLAN 

MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT AND EASEMENT 

 

WHEREAS, Oban Group, Inc. recognizes that a storm water management and detention facility 

(the “facility” or “facilities”) into which the storm water of the Nightcap Addition shall drain, 

must be maintained for the development called Nightcap Addition located in the City of 

Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska; 

WHEREAS, Oban Group, Inc. (the “Property Owner”) is the owner of Nightcap Addition as 

described in Exhibit “A: attached and incorporated by the reference (the “Property”); 

WHEREAS, the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, a municipal corporation (the “City”) requires and the 

Property Owner, and its successors, or assigns, agree that the health, safety and welfare of the 

citizens of the City require that the facility be constructed and maintained on the Property. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises, the covenants contained herein, 

and the following terms and conditions, the property owner agrees as follows: 

1. Construction:  The facility shall be constructed by the Property Owner in accordance 

with the installation and Maintenance Requirement stated within, which has been 

reviewed and accepted by the City of its designee. 

2. Maintenance:  The Property Owner must develop and provide the maintenance as 

described within Exhibit “B”, which has been reviews and accepted aby the City or its 

designee.  Exhibit “B” described the specific maintenance practices to be performed for 

the facilities and includes a schedule for implementation of these practices.  The 

Property Owner, its administrators, executors, successors, heirs, or assigns, shall 

construct and perpetually operate and maintain, at its sole expense, the facilities in 

strict accordance with the attached Exhibit “B” accepted by the City or its designee. 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 86 of 341



3. Annual Report:  The Property Owner, its successors, or assigns, shall submit an annual 

maintenance report starting one year from the date of this agreement.  The report shall 

be sent to City of Norfolk Engineering Division, 309 North 5th Street, Norfolk, NE 68701. 

4. Permission to Access:  The Property Owner, it successors, or assigns hereby grants 

permission to the City, its authorized agents and employees, to enter upon the Property 

and to inspect the facilities whenever the City deems necessary.  The City shall provide 

the Owner copies of the inspection findings and a directive to commence with the 

repairs if necessary.  The City will required the Property Owner to provide, within 7 

calendar days, a written response addressing what actions will be taken to correct any 

deficiencies and provide a schedule of repairs within a reasonable time frame.  

Whenever possible, the City shall provide notice prior to entry.  The City shall indemnify 

and hold the Property Owner harmless from any damage by reason of the City’s 

negligent acts during such entry upon the Property. 

5. Default and Remedy:  The Property Owner, it successors, or assigns agrees that should it 

fail to correct any defects in the facility or facilities within reasonable time frame agreed 

to in the response by the Property Owner or corrective actions, or shall fail to maintain 

the structure in accordance with the attached Exhibit “B” and with the law and 

applicable executive regulation or , in the event of an emergency as determined by the 

City of its designee in its sole discretion, the City or its designee is authorized to enter 

the property to make all repairs, and to perform all maintenance, construction and 

reconstruction as the City of its designee deems necessary.   Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, the City shall indemnify and hold the Property Owner harmless from any 

damage by reason of the City’s negligent acts during such entry upon the Property. 

The City or its designee shall have the right to recover from the Property Owner any and 

all reasonable costs toe City expends to maintain or repair the facility or facilities or to 

correct any operational deficiencies subject to the provisions of the immediately 

preceding sentence relating to the negligence or intentional acts of the City.  Failure to 

pay the City or its designee all of its expended costs, after forty-five days written notice, 

shall constitute a breach of the agreement.  The City or its designee shall thereafter be 

entitled to bring an action against the Property Owner to pay, or foreclose upon the lien 

hereby authorized by the agreement against the property, or both.  Interest, collection 

costs, and reasonable attorney fees shall be added to the recovery to the successful 

party. 

6. No Duty for the City:  The Property Owner shall not obligate the City to maintain or 

repair the facility or facilities, and the City shall not be liable to any person for the 

condition or operation of the facility or facilities. 

7. Indemnification:  The Property Owner, its administrators, executors, successors, heirs, 

or assigns, hereby indemnifies and holds harmless the City and its authorized agents and 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 87 of 341



employees for any and all damages, accidents, casualties, occurrences or claims that 

may arise or be asserted against the City for the construction, presence, existence or 

maintenance of the facility or facilities by the Property Owner.  In the event a claim is 

asserted against the City, its authorized agents or employees, the City shall promptly 

notify the Property Owner and the Property Owner shall defend at its own expense any 

suit based on such claim. 

8. Ordinances:  The Property Owner shall not in any way diminish, limit, or restrict the 

right of the City to enforce any of its ordinances as authorized by law. 

9. Recordation:  This Agreement shall be recorded with the Register of Deeds of Madison 

County, Nebraska and shall constitute a covenant running with the land and shall be 

binding on the Property Owner, its successors or assigns, including any homeowners or 

property owners association and any other successors in interest.  The Property Owner 

specifically reserves the right to assign this Agreement to an association of property 

owners which is formed between the owners of the real estate contained in Nightcap 

Addition. 

10. Facility Upkeep:  The facility shall be platted as private property,  In the event ownership 

of the facility is transferred by Property Owner to a privately formed property owner’s 

association made up of one or more of the owners of lots within the subdivision, said 

property owner’s association shall be responsible for the repairs, maintenance, taxes 

and insurance of the facility.  If the facility is transferred to a property owner’s 

association and the association either ceases to exist or otherwise fails to perform its 

obligations to repair, maintain, pay taxes and provide insurance as required in the 

subdivision agreement, then the owner of: 

Lot 1 of Nightcap Addition, to the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, 

being part of the NW 1/4 of the NW 1/4 of Section 34, Township 24 North, Range 

1 West of the 6th P.M., Madison County, Nebraska 

shall be responsible for the cost of repairs, maintenance, taxes and insurance in the 

event the property owner’s association fails to do so.  The plat shall include a 

declaration that the lot or lots so designated may be responsible for the cost of repairs, 

maintenance, taxes and insurance for the facility and that such obligation of the 

designated lot or lots shall run with the land. 

11. Insurance:   The owner of the facility shall keep in force liability insurance on the facility 

for property damage, bodily injury, and personal injury in the minimum amount of One 

Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) and naming the City as an additional insured.  The 

amount of such insurance shall be increased or decreased annually in an amount equal 

to the change in the Consumer Price Index as computed by the United States 

Department of Commerce for the calendar year ending prior to the renewal of the 

insurance. 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 88 of 341



 

Executed as of this ____ day of ______________, 2018. 

 “CITY” 

 CITY OF NORFOLK 

 A Municipal Corporation 

 

 

 

 _______________________ 

 Josh Moenning, Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

______________________________ 

Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk 

 

 

Approved as to form: _________________________ 

 Clint Schukei, City Attorney 

 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

 

STATE OF NEBRASKA  ) 

 ) ss 

COUNTY OF MADISON )  

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of _________________, 

2018 by Josh Moenning, Mayor, and Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk on behalf of the City of 

Norfolk, Nebraska, a Municipal Corporation. 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Notary Public 

  

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 89 of 341



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, The Property Owner has executed this agreement this ____ day of 

__________________, 2018. 

 “DEVELOPER” 

 OBAN GROUP, INC. 

 A Minnesota Corporation  

 

 

 _____________________________ 

 Duane D. Peterson, President 

 

 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

 

STATE OF MINNESOTA  ) 

 ) ss 

COUNTY OF ____________ )  

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of _________________, 

2018 by Duane D. Peterson, President, Oban Group, Inc. on behalf of the corporation. 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Notary Public 

 

  

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 90 of 341



EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description of the Property 

 

 
NIGHTCAP ADDITION 

LOTS 1 & 2 INCLUSIVE & OUTLOT "A" 

CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA 

 

  

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 91 of 341



EXHIBIT B 

 

Water Quality Control Form 

 

Site Name: Nightcap Addition 

Location: SE Corner of Omaha Ave. and South 13th Street, Norfolk, NE 

Owner: Oban Group, Inc. 

Owner Contact Information: Duane D. Peterson 

 750 Boone Avenue North 

 Minneapolis, MN  55427 

 763-545-7110 

 

Person Responsible for Maintenance: TBA 

Development/Redevelopment: Redevelopment 

Relevant Storm Event: 80th Percentile, 0.62” 

Water Quality Control:  

 Retention Pond, STF-1 

 -Percent Impervious: 77% 

 -Contributing Drainage Area: 5.75 Acres  

 -On-site Contributing Drainage Area: 4.58 Acres 

 -Impervious Drainage Area: 3.53 Acres 

 -Water Quality Control Volume (WQCV): 594 Cubic Ft. 

 

Structural BMP Type: Retention Pond 

Attach Plans: See Plan Sheet 

Maintenance Plan:  

Retention Pond Maintenance shall consist of the following activities to be performed as 

needed, but no less than annually: 

 Monitor the pond for accumulation of sediment and other contaminants. 

o If significant sedimentation is observed, conduct survey to confirm the water 

storage volume provided meets or exceeds the WQCV specified above. 

o If the available storage volume is determined to be less than 150% of the 

WQCV, perform dredging or grading operations to increase capacity. 

 Remove accumulated trash and debris. 

 Remove dead and unwanted vegetation. 

 Repair and stabilize eroded earth slopes. 
4834-9875-3633, v. 2 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 92 of 341



 
             progress.  right at home. 
 
  

 
 

309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE  68701 

P402-844-2280 F402-844-2028 
www.ci.norfolk.ne.us 

 
 
April 3, 2018 
 
 
Honorable Mayor 
   and 
City Council 
 
Dear Mayor and Council: 
 
On April 3, 2018 the Norfolk Planning Commission reviewed the final plat of Nightcap 
Addition. 
  
All items required for the final plat approval have been submitted and the accompanying 
subdivision agreement and post-construction storm water management plan maintenance 
agreement and easement have been reviewed by the City Engineer. 
  
The Planning Commission recommends approval of the final plat with a vote of (8-0).  
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Dan Spray, Chairman 
Norfolk Planning Commission 

 
 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 93 of 341



Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Norfolk, 309 N. 5th Street, Norfolk, Nebraska 68701 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2018-_________ 
 
 WHEREAS, the following described real property is located within the City of Norfolk or within the 
extraterritorial area in which the City exercises zoning jurisdiction, to wit: 
 
A tract of land located in part of the NW1/4 of NW1/4 of Section 34, Township 24 North, Range 1 West 
of the 6th P.M., Madison County, Nebraska.  Said tract of land is more particularly described as 
follows: 
 
BEGINNING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, 
SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 1, SAID OBAN'S CYHAWK 
ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 
CYHAWK LOOP; THENCE S01°34'15"E (ASSUMED BEARING) ALONG THE EAST LINE OF 
SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID LINE ALSO BEING SAID WESTERLY RIGHT-
OF-WAY LINE OF CYHAWK LOOP, A DISTANCE OF 600.03 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST 
CORNER OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION; THENCE S88°01'39"W ALONG THE 
SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A DISTANCE OF 367.65 FEET TO 
THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION; THENCE 
NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION ON THE 
FOLLOWING THREE (3) DESCRIBED COURSES; (1) THENCE N02°51'22"W, A DISTANCE OF 
198.35 FEET; (2) THENCE N87°06'16"E, A DISTANCE OF 56.90 FEET; (3) THENCE N02°51'22"W, 
A DISTANCE OF 346.73 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 3, SAID OBAN'S 
CYHAWK ADDITION; THENCE N88°02'36"E ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOT 2, OBAN'S 
CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID LINE ALSO BEING SAID SOUTH LINE OF LOT 3, OBAN'S 
CYHAWK ADDITION, A DISTANCE OF 15.00 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID 
LOT 3, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION; THENCE N01°44'12"W ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOT 
2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID LINE ALSO BEING THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 3, 
OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A DISTANCE OF 56.30 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER 
OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE SOUTHWEST 
CORNER OF SAID LOT 1, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION; THENCE N88°26'12"E ALONG THE 
NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID LINE ALSO BEING THE 
SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 1, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A DISTANCE OF 308.14 FEET TO 
THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
EXCEPT OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2, 
OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21

22

Page 94 of 341



Page 2 of 2 
 

1, SAID OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE WESTERLY RIGHT-
OF-WAY LINE OF CYHAWK LOOP; THENCE S01°34'15"E ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID 
LOT 2, OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID LINE ALSO BEING SAID WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-
WAY LINE OF CYHAWK LOOP, A DISTANCE OF 404.03 FEET; THENCE S88°25'45"W A 
DISTANCE OF 247.21 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S 
CYHAWK ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE 
S00°18'10"E ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, A 
DISTANCE OF 40.33 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK 
ADDITION; THENCE N89°42'03"W ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S 
CYHAWK ADDITION, A DISTANCE OF 40.08 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF 
OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION;THENCE N00°18'10"W ALONG THE WEST LINE 
OF SAID OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, ADISTANCE OF 40.33 FEET TO THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER OF OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION;THENCE S89°42'03"E 
ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION, ADISTANCE 
OF 40.08 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF OUTLOT "A" OBAN'S CYHAWK ADDITION 
TOTHE POINT OF BEGINNING.SAID TRACT OF LAND CONTAINS 199,684 SQUARE FEET. 
 
 WHEREAS, said property is owned by Oban Group, Inc., a Minnesota Corporation; and 
 

WHEREAS, the owners of the above described property are desirous of platting the property pursuant 
to the laws of the State of Nebraska and the City of Norfolk; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a plat and subdivision agreement have been prepared in anticipation of platting the above 
described property. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals, the Mayor and City Council of the 
City of Norfolk, Nebraska, hereby adopt the following Resolution: 
 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, that the 
final plat of NIGHTCAP ADDITION, City of Norfolk, Madison County Nebraska, being a 
replat of Lot 2, Oban’s Cyhawk Addition, located in part NW1/4 of NW1/4 of Section 34, 

Township 24, Range 1 West of the 6th P.M., Madison County, Nebraska, and its accompanying 
subdivision agreement and post construction storm water management plan maintenance 
agreement and easement , duly made, acknowledged and certified, be and the same are hereby 
approved and ordered filed and recorded in the office of the Register of Deeds of Madison 
County, Nebraska.   

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the above described property shall hereinafter be legally 
described as set forth and depicted on the final plat being approved hereunder. 

 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this ______ day of _______________, 2018. 
 
 
 
ATTEST:                             _________________________________ 
                             Josh Moenning, Mayor 
 
_______________________________ 
Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form:  ____________________________ 
            Clint Schukei, City Attorney 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 21
Page 95 of 341



SUBDIVISION APPLICATION
FORMA

1. Subdivision Name Legacy Bend

2. Subdivision Location 0-5 mi. no. of Norfolk Ave off of Victory

3. Owner's Name Scott Rief

4. Owner's Home Address 705 N Webb Road, Grand Island, NE

5. Phone #1 402-440-1760

Phone #2 308-384-4955

Email Address: talonapts@gmail.com

6. Developer's Name innate Development, LLC

7. Developer's Address 705 N Webb Road, Grand Island, NE

8. Engineer O'sson Associates 308-384-8750

9. Present use of property agricultural

10. Desired use of property Single & Multi-family use

11. Present Zoning ,51iL5^

12. Legal Description

PART OF THE NORTH HALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER

(N1/2 SE1/4) OF SECTION TWENTY-THREE (23)

13. Area of subject property square feet and/or acres 79.07 ac.

ignature of owner

Signature of Authorized Agent

Return Completed forms to; Norfolk Planning Commission; 309 N 5th Street; Norfolk. NE 68701

Rev; 06-2016

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 96 of 341

SUBDIVISION APPLICATION 
FORMA 

1. Subdivision Name _L_e.:::9_a--'cY'--S_e_n_d _______________ _ 

2. Subdivision Location 0.5 mi. no. of Norfolk Ave off of Victory 

3. Owner's Name _S_c_o_tt_R_i_e_f _________________ _ 

4. Owner's Home Address 705 N Webb Road, Grand Island, NE 

5. Phone #1 402-440-1760 

Phone #2 308-384-4955 

Email Address: talonapts@9mail.com 

6. Developer's Name Innate Development, LLC 

7. Developer's Address 705 N Webb Road, Grand Island, NE 

8. Engineer Olsson Associates Phone 308-384-8750 

9. Present use of property _a_9_ri_cu_l_tu_r_a_1 ______________ _ 

10. Desired use of property _S_in....:9:....le_&_M_u_lt_i-f_a_m_i..:.IY_u_s_e _________ _ 

II. Present Zoning _R_1_&_R_2 ________________ _ _ _ 

12. Legal Description 

PART OF THE NORTH HALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER 

(N1/2 SE1/4) OF SECTION TWENTY-THREE (23) 

13. Area of subject property square feet and/or acres _7_9_.0_7_a_c_. ______ _ 

19nature of owner 

or 

Signature of Authorized Agent 

Return Completed forms to: Norfolk Planning Commission; 309 N 5th Street; Norfolk, NE 68701 

Rev: 06-201 6 



60.18'(M
)

S22°02'08"E N76°21'01"E  163.10'(M)
N87°32'05"E  170.92'(M)

S
02

°0
0'

00
"E

  6
62

.5
1'

(M
)

S87°33'00"W  448.66'(M)

LOT 1

LOT 2

LOT 3

LOT 4
LOT 5

LOT 6
LOT 7

LOT 8

LOT 9

LOT 10LOT 11

LOT 12

LOT 13

LOT 14

O
U

TL
O

T 
1

LOT 1

LOT 2

LOT 3

LOT 4

LOT 5
LOT 6

LOT 7

O
U

TL
O

T 
2

LOT 15
LOT 16

LOT 1

LOT 2

LOT 3

LOT 17

N
19°11'04"W

61.06'(M
)

N
16°48'11"W

  172.00'(M
)

N
21°04'17"W

  179.50'(M
)

N
20°55'21"W

  148.54'(M
)

N23°23'09"W

64.01'(M
)

N65°46'15"E  112.36'(M)

60.62'(M)

N75°59'37"E
N70°55'55"E  132.03'(M)

FAX  308.384.8752
TEL  308.384.8750
Grand Island, NE 68802-1072
P.O. Box 1072
201 East 2nd Street

(PARCEL ID:  PART OF 590039326 AND PART OF 590283642)

POB

LOCATION MAP

LOT  TABLE - BLOCK 1

LOT  TABLE - BLOCK 2

LOT  TABLE - BLOCK 3

CURVE TABLE

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 97 of 341



SUBDIVISION AGREEMENT 
LEGACY BEND FIRST ADDITION 

 
PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER (SE1/4 NE1/4) 
AND PART OF NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER (NE1/4 SE1/4) 
ALL IN SECTION TWENTY-THREE (23), TOWNSHIP TWENTY-FOUR (24) NORTH, 
RANGE ONE (1) WEST OF THE 6TH P.M. 
MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA 
 
This Agreement is made and entered into this ____day of ________, 2018 by and between the City 
of Norfolk, Nebraska, hereinafter referred to as the “City" and Innate Development, LLC, 
hereinafter referred to as the “Developer". 
 
WHEREAS, the Developer is the owner of certain property situated in the City of Norfolk, 
Madison County, Nebraska, and legally described as follows: 
 
A TRACT OF LAND LOCATED IN PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER (SE1/4 NE1/4) AND PART OF TAX LOT ONE (1) IN THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER (NE1/4 SE1/4) ALL IN 
SECTION TWENTY-THREE (23), TOWNSHIP TWENTY-FOUR (24) NORTH, RANGE ONE 
(1) WEST OF THE 6TH P.M., MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, AND MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
COMMENCING AT THE EAST QUARTER (E1/4) CORNER OF SECTION 23-T24N-R1W; 
THENCE ON AN ASSUMED BEARING OF S87°32'05"W, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF 
THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER (SE1/4) OF SECTION 23, A DISTANCE OF 80.90 FEET TO 
THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF VICTORY ROAD, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE 
POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE S02°00'00"E, ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY 
LINE, A DISTANCE OF 662.51 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF A TRACT OF 
LAND OWNED BY THE CITY OF NORFOLK RECORDED ON DECEMBER 28, 2016 IN 
BOOK 2016, PAGE 05829, FILED AT THE REGISTER OF DEEDS MADISON COUNTY, 
NEBRASKA; THENCE S87°33'00"W, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID TRACT OF 
LAND, A DISTANCE OF 448.66 FEET; THENCE N21°04'17"W A DISTANCE OF 179.50 
FEET; THENCE N16°48'11"W A DISTANCE OF 172.00 FEET; THENCE N19°11'04"W A 
DISTANCE OF 61.06 FEET; THENCE N20°55'21"W A DISTANCE OF 148.54 FEET; 
THENCE N23°23'09"W A DISTANCE OF 64.01 FEET; THENCE N65°46'15"E A DISTANCE 
OF 112.36 FEET; THENCE N75°59'37"E A DISTANCE OF 60.62 FEET; THENCE 
N70°55'55"E A DISTANCE OF 132.03 FEET; THENCE S22°02'08"E A DISTANCE OF 60.18 
FEET; THENCE N76°21'01"E A DISTANCE OF 163.10 FEET; THENCE N87°32'05"E A 
DISTANCE OF 170.92 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  SAID TRACT CONTAINS 
358,445.76 SQUARE FEET OR 8.229 ACRES MORE OR LESS OF WHICH 1.802 ACRES ARE 
NEW DEDICATED PUBLIC ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY;  
 
AND WHEREAS, the Developer wishes to plat said property and hereby submits to the City as 
provided by law, an accurate Subdivision Plat to be known as LEGACY BEND FIRST 
SUBDIVISION being PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 98 of 341



QUARTER (SE1/4 NE1/4) AND PART OF TAX LOT ONE (1) IN THE NORTHEAST 
QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER (NE1/4 SE1/4) ALL IN SECTION TWENTY-
THREE (23), TOWNSHIP TWENTY-FOUR (24) NORTH, RANGE ONE (1) WEST OF THE 
6TH P.M., MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA. 
 
AND WHEREAS, new subdivisions are subject to certain required minimum improvements as 
specified by City ordinances; 
 
AND WHEREAS, the Community Development Agency of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska 
(“CDA”) and Developer entered into a Redevelopment Contract dated February 5, 2018 (the 
“Contract”) providing for the installation of Public Improvements (as defined therein) and 
formation of Assessments Districts for the redevelopment of Legacy Bend First Subdivision (the 
“Subdivision”); 
 
IT IS, THEREFORE, agreed by the parties contained herein as follows: 
 
GENERAL CONDITIONS: 
 

1. Sanitary Sewer: At the request of the Developer, the City will form a utility district for the 
construction of sanitary sewer mains, manholes, services and appurtenances to serve all 
lots in the Subdivision in accordance with the plans and specifications approved by the  
Public Works Director.  Sanitary sewer mains will be extended from the existing 16” sewer 
main located approximately 650’ west of the southeast corner of the Subdivision.  A 10” 

line will be extended to future extension of  Sunrise Drive and then an 8” sewer will be 

constructed along  Sunrise Drive to edge of the Subdivision as shown in the preliminary 
plat approved at the March 20, 2018 Planning Commission meeting.   The sewer mains 
shall be 8” within the Subdivision. 
 
Pursuant to Section 5.02 of the Contract   the City CDA shall pay all costs associated with 
the installation of sanitary sewer mains, manholes, and sanitary sewer service lines to 
individual lots in the Subdivision through Assessment Districts   There will be a cost for 
connection to existing sanitary sewer as outlined in Section 26 of City Code. 
 

2. Water:  At the request of the Developer, the City will form a utility district for the 
construction of water mains, services and appurtenances to serve all lots in the Subdivision 
in accordance with the plans and specifications approved by the  Public Works Director.  
The mains shall be 8” connecting to the existing main at the Victory Road &  Sunrise Drive 
intersection. 
 
There will be a cost for connection to existing water main as outlined in Section 26 of City 
Code. Pursuant to Section 5.02 of the Contract the City shall pay all costs associated with 
the installation of water mains, fire hydrants, valves, and water service lines to individual 
lots in the Subdivision through Assessment Districts.  
 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 99 of 341



3. Street Improvements:  At the request of the Developer, the City will form a paving district 
for the construction of six-inch (6") PCC paving 31 feet wide on  Sunrise Drive, David 
Street, and David Circle within the Subdivision in accordance with the plans and 
specifications approved by the  Public Works Director.  The improvements district shall 
include associated grading, storm sewer, and storm sewer structures for the construction of 
the roadway improvements and design of bike trail along Victory Road abutting the 
Subdivision (construction by others). 
 
Pursuant to Section 5.02 of the Contract the City shall pay all costs associated with the 
street construction, associated grading, storm sewer, and storm sewer structures for the 
construction of the roadway improvements through Assessment Districts; PROVIDED 
HOWEVER, the City agrees to pay the cost of the intersections of  Sunrise Drive & Victory 
Road,  Sunrise Drive & David Drive/David Circle.  
 
The Developer agrees that street signs approved by the City will be installed in the 
Subdivision at no cost to the City. Said signs will be equal, in type and quality, to the signs 
currently in use by the City of Norfolk.  
 

4. Sidewalks: A four foot wide sidewalk shall be constructed on the street side or sides of 
each lot in the Subdivision by each respective homeowner, as provided for in Ordinance 
No. 3780 of the City of Norfolk, passed and approved on April 1, 1991. 

 
5. Grading and Drainage: The Developer agrees to grade the Subdivision according to the 

grading and drainage plans entitled "Legacy Bend Preliminary Plat" approved by Planning 
Commission on March 20, 2018 and Legacy Bend Subdivision Phase 1 Drainage Plan.  
Said plans were prepared by Olsson Associates and are accepted by, and on file with, the 
City Engineer and are made a part of this agreement by reference. 
 
A portion of said land owned by Innate Development, LLC shall be used as bio-swales 
under permanent best management practice (BMP) to treat storm water from Legacy Bend 
First Subdivision as required by City Code. The Developer agrees to build the BMP as 
shown on the Legacy Bend Subdivision Phase 1 Drainage Plan. The Developer agrees to 
maintain the bio-swale as required by City Code and as agreed to in the Post Construction 
Stormwater Management Plan Maintenance Agreement and Easement. There will be no 
cost to the City for construction, maintenance or inspection of the bio-swales.  

 
MISCELLANEOUS: 
 

1. Pursuant to Section 5.02 of the Contract,  the Developer agrees to pay all interest and 
principal on any special assessments levied by the City on the property being so subdivided 
on a ten (10) year amortization as the same shall become due until such time as each Lot 
is sold. At the time any lot is conveyed to a third party, any special assessments remaining 
unpaid against said lot being transferred shall be paid in full at the time of the closing of 
the conveyance of said lot. If the Developer fails to keep special assessments current, the 
City may seek to collect the amount not paid by any remedy allowed by law or in equity. 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 100 of 341



2. For all improvements to be constructed by the Developer, it agrees to hold the City of 
Norfolk harmless from any liability and claims arising out of and relative to the 
development of this Subdivision, to an including, but not limited to, the determination of 
wetlands as defined in the Federal Clean Water Act and the Water Quality permits required 
by the Nebraska Department of Environmental Quality. 

 
3. The Developer agrees to specifically comply with Section 23-45-(J)-3 of the Norfolk City 

Code: “Forty-eight (48) hours’ notice shall be given to the City Engineer prior to the start 
of construction on any improvements.  
 

4. The Developer agrees to keep the public right-of-way free from accumulation of water, 
waste material, weeds or rubbish, and to maintain the finished street surfaces free from dirt 
caused by their operations during the construction phase. 
 

5. The Developer shall pay all special assessments for Outlots 1 and 2 prior to transfer to 
Homeowners Assoication. 
 

6. The Homeowners Association shall be responsible for the cost of repairs, maintenance, 
taxes and insurance for Outlots 1 and 2. Such obligation of the designated Outlots shall run 
with the land.  In the event that the Homeowners Association dissolves said ownership of 
the designated Outlots shall revert back to adjacent lots. 

7. This Agreement shall run with the land and be binding upon the parties hereto, their 
successors, heirs, personal representatives and assigns. 

 
 
INNATE DEVELOPMENT, LLC,  
a Nebraska Limited Liability Company 
 
 
BY: _______________________________________ 
                       Scott Rief, Manager 
 
 
ATTEST:            CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA 

A Municipal Corporation 
 
 
_____________________________________ _______________________________ 

City Clerk        Mayor 
(S E A L) 

 
 
Approved as to form: ____________________________________________ 

City Attorney 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 101 of 341



STATE OF NEBRASKA ) 
            )ss 

COUNTY OF MADISON ) 
 
Before me, a Notary Public, duly qualified in and for said County and State, personally 
appeared Mayor Josh Moenning, and Elizabeth Deck, City Clerk, on behalf of the City of 
Norfolk, a Municipal Corporation, known to me to be the identical persons who executed 
the foregoing instrument and acknowledge the execution thereof to be their voluntary act 
and deed. 
 
Witness my hand and notarial seal the ____ day of _______, 2018 
 
 
      
 ______________________________________ 

Notary Public 
 
 

STATE OF NEBRASKA ) 
            )ss 

COUNTY OF ________ ) 
 
Before me, a Notary Public, duly qualified in and for said County and State, personally 
appeared Scott Rief, Manager of Innate Development, LLC, on behalf of said Company, known 
to me to be the identical persons who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledge the 
execution thereof to be his voluntary act and deed. 
 
Witness my hand and notarial seal the ____ day of _______ , 2018 
 
 
      
 ______________________________________ 

Notary Public 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 102 of 341



 
Post Construction Stormwater Management Plan Maintenance Agreement And Easement 1 

 

 

 

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PLAN 

MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT AND EASEMENT 
 
 
WHEREAS, Innate Development, LLC recognizes that a storm water management facility 
(the “facility” or “facilities”) into which the storm water of the Legacy Bend Subdivision shall 
drain, must be maintained for the development called Innate Development located in the 
jurisdiction of the City of Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska;  
 
WHEREAS, Innate Development, LLC ( the “Property Owner”) is the owner of Legacy Bend 
Subdivision, as described on Exhibit “A” attached and incorporated by this reference ( the 
“Property”); 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, a municipal corporation (the “City”) requires and 

the Property Owner, and its successors, or assigns, agree that the health, safety and welfare of 
the citizens of the City require that the facility be constructed and maintained on the Property. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises, the covenants contained 
herein, and the following terms and conditions, the property owner agrees as follows: 
 

1. Construction.  The facility shall be constructed by the Property Owner in accordance 
with the Installation and Maintenance Requirements stated within, which has been 
reviewed and accepted by the City or its designee. 
 

2. Maintenance.  The Property Owner must develop and provide the maintenance as 
described within Exhibit “B”, which has been reviewed and accepted by the City or its 

designee.  Exhibit “B” describes the specific maintenance practices to be performed for 
the facilities and includes a schedule for implementation of these practices. The 
Property Owner, its administrators, executors, successors, heirs, or assigns, shall 
construct and perpetually operate and maintain, at its sole expense, the facilities in strict 
accordance with the attached Exhibit “B” accepted by the City or its designee. 
 

3. Annual Report.  The Property Owner, its successors,  or assigns, shall submit an 
annual maintenance report starting one year from the date of this agreement.  The 
report shall be sent to City of Norfolk Public Works, 309 North 5th  Street, Norfolk, 
NE  68701. 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 103 of 341



 
Post Construction Stormwater Management Plan Maintenance Agreement And Easement 2 

4. Permission to Access. The Property Owner, its successors, or assigns hereby grants 
permission to the City, its authorized agents and employees, to enter upon the Property 
and to inspect the facilities whenever the City deems necessary.  The City shall provide 
the Owner copies of the inspection findings and a directive to commence with the 
repairs if necessary.  The City will require the Property Owner to provide, within 7 
calendar days, a written response addressing what actions will be taken to correct any 
deficiencies and provide a schedule of repairs within a reasonable time frame.  
Whenever possible, the City shall provide notice prior to entry.  The City shall 
indemnify and hold the Property Owner harmless from any damage by reason of the 
City’s negligent acts during such entry upon the property. 
 

5. Default and Remedy.  The Property Owner, its successors or assigns, agrees that should 
it fail to correct any defects in the facility or facilities within reasonable time frame 
agreed to in the response by the Property Owner for corrective actions, or shall fail to 
maintain the structure in accordance with the attached Exhibit “B” and with the law 

and applicable executive regulation or, in the event of an emergency as determined by 
the City or its designee in its sole discretion, the City or its designee is authorized to 
enter the property to make all repairs, and to perform all maintenance, construction and 
reconstruction as the City or its designee deems necessary.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the City shall indemnify and hold the Property Owner harmless from any 
damage by reason of the City’s negligent acts during such entry upon the Property. 
 
The City or its designee shall have the right to recover from the Property Owner any 
and all reasonable costs the City expends to maintain or repair the facility or facilities 
or to correct any operational deficiencies subject to the provisions of the immediately 
preceding sentence relating to negligence or intentional acts of the City.  Failure to pay 
the City or its designee all of its expended costs, after forty-five days written notice, 
shall constitute a breach of the agreement.  The City or its designee shall thereafter be 
entitled to bring an action against the Property Owner to pay, or foreclose upon the lien 
hereby authorized by this agreement against the property, or both.  Interest, collection 
costs, and reasonable attorney fees shall be added to the recovery to the successful 
party. 
 

6. No Duty for the City.  The Property Owner shall not obligate the City to maintain or 
repair the facility or facilities, and the City shall not be liable to any person for the 
condition or operation of the facility or facilities. 
 

7. Indemnification.  The Property Owner, its administrators, executors, successors, heirs, 
or assigns, hereby indemnifies and holds harmless the City and its authorized agents 
and employees for any and all damages, accidents, casualties, occurrences or claims 
that may arise or be asserted against the City from the construction, presence, existence 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 104 of 341



 
Post Construction Stormwater Management Plan Maintenance Agreement And Easement 3 

or maintenance of the facility or facilities by the Property Owner.  In the event a claim 
is asserted against the City, its authorized agents or employees, the City shall promptly 
notify the Property Owner and the Property Owner shall defend at its own expense any 
suit based on such claim unless due solely to the negligence of the City in which event 
the City shall be required to defend any such suit at its own expense.  Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, if any claims are made against both the City and the Property Owner, 
each will be required to defend any such suit or claim against it at its own expense.  
Each shall be responsible for payment of any recovery to the extent determined in such 
suit.  If any judgment or claims against the City, its authorized agents or employees 
shall be allowed, the Property Owner shall pay for all costs and expenses in connection 
herewith except to the extent of the negligence or intentional act of the City. 
 

8. Ordinances.  The Property Owner shall not in any way diminish, limit, or restrict the 
right of the City to enforce any of its ordinances as authorized by law. 
 

9. Recordation.  This Agreement shall be recorded with the Register of Deeds of 
Lancaster County, Nebraska and shall constitute a covenant running with the land and 
shall be binding on the Property Owner, its successors or assigns, including any 
homeowners or property owners association and any other successors in interest.  The 
Property Owner specifically reserves the right to assign this Agreement to an 
association of property owners which is formed between the owners of the real estate 
contained in Legacy Bend Subdivision. 

 
  

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 105 of 341



 
Post Construction Stormwater Management Plan Maintenance Agreement And Easement 4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Property Owner has executed this agreement this day of 

____________________________________, 20___. 

 
 
INNATE DEVELOPMENT, LLC 

a Nebraska Limited Liability Company 
 

By:______________________________ 

    Scott Rief, Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

 
STATE OF NEBRASKA                ) 
State  
COUNTY OF ________________        ) 
County  

 
 
On this ______ day of ____________________, 20____ before me, a Notary Public, in and 
for said County, personal came the above named Scott Rief as Manager of Innate 
Development, LLC, a Nebraska limited liability company who is personally known to me to 
be the identical person whose name is affixed to the above instrument and acknowledged the 
instrument to be is voluntary act and deed for the purpose therein stated. 
 
WITNESS my hand and Notarial Seal the day and year last above written. 
 

 
 

Notary Public 
 
 
 
 
Notary Seal 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 106 of 341



 
Post Construction Stormwater Management Plan Maintenance Agreement And Easement 5 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 107 of 341



 

EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description of the Property 
 
A TRACT OF LAND LOCATED IN PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER (SE1/4 NE1/4) AND PART OF TAX LOT ONE (1) IN THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER (NE1/4 SE1/4) ALL IN 
SECTION TWENTY-THREE (23), TOWNSHIP TWENTY-FOUR (24) NORTH, RANGE ONE 
(1) WEST OF THE 6TH P.M., MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, AND MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
  
COMMENCING AT THE EAST QUARTER (E1/4) CORNER OF SECTION 23-T24N-R1W; 
THENCE ON AN ASSUMED BEARING OF S87°32'05"W, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF 
THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER (SE1/4) OF SECTION 23, A DISTANCE OF 80.90 FEET TO 
THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF VICTORY ROAD, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE 

POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE S02°00'00"E, ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY 
LINE, A DISTANCE OF 662.51 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF A TRACT OF 
LAND OWNED BY THE CITY OF NORFOLK RECORDED ON DECEMBER 28, 2016 IN 
BOOK 2016, PAGE 05829, FILED AT THE REGISTER OF DEEDS MADISON COUNTY, 
NEBRASKA; THENCE S87°33'00"W, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID TRACT OF 
LAND, A DISTANCE OF 448.66 FEET; THENCE N21°04'17"W A DISTANCE OF 179.50 
FEET; THENCE N16°48'11"W A DISTANCE OF 172.00 FEET; THENCE N19°11'04"W A 
DISTANCE OF 61.06 FEET; THENCE N20°55'21"W A DISTANCE OF 148.54 FEET; 
THENCE N23°23'09"W A DISTANCE OF 64.01 FEET; THENCE N65°46'15"E A 
DISTANCE OF 112.36 FEET; THENCE N75°59'37"E A DISTANCE OF 60.62 FEET; 
THENCE N70°55'55"E A DISTANCE OF 132.03 FEET; THENCE S22°02'08"E A 
DISTANCE OF 60.18 FEET; THENCE N76°21'01"E A DISTANCE OF 163.10 FEET; 
THENCE N87°32'05"E A DISTANCE OF 170.92 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  
SAID TRACT CONTAINS 358,445.76 SQUARE FEET OR 8.229 ACRES MORE OR LESS 
OF WHICH 1.802 ACRES ARE NEW DEDICATED PUBLIC ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY. 
 

 
 
 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 108 of 341



 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 

Water Quality Control Form 

 

Site Name: Legacy Bend Subdivision  

Location: A TRACT OF LAND LOCATED IN PART OF THE EAST HALF (E1/2) OF SECTION TWENTY-THREE 
(23), TOWNSHIP TWENTY-FOUR (24) NORTH, RANGE ONE (1) WEST OF THE 6TH P.M., MADISON 
COUNTY, NEBRASKA 
 
Owner: Innate Development, LLC 

Owner Contact Information: 
 
 
Person Responsible for Maintenance: 
 
 
Development/Redevelopment: Development 

Relevant Storm Event: 80%, 0.83” 

Water Quality Control: 
 Bioswale 
 -Percent Impervious: 70% ROW & 30% Lots 
 -Contributing Drainage Area: 28.00 acres 
 -Impervious Drainage Area: 8.01 Acres 
 -Water Quality Volume Discharge Rate: 8.50 C.F.S. 
 -Minimum Length of Treatment: 164.13’ 
 
 

Structural BMP Type: Bio-Swale / Grass Filter Strips  

Attach Plans: See Plan Sheet 

Attach Maintenance Plan and other relevant information (e.g. nonstructural BMP activities/descriptions 

if applicable): 

 

Maintenance Form 

1. Drawing: See Attached 

 

2. Descriptions as follows: 

 

3. Inspection form as follows: 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 109 of 341



 

4. Contact information 

 

 

5. Legal documents: 

 

Description: 

Bio-Swale located at south property line, north of proposed regional detention cell. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 110 of 341



 

 

Inspection Report 

Bio-Swale 

Facility Name and Address  
 

Date of Inspection  
 

Inspector Name and Phone Number  
 

Best Management Practice Inspected  
 

 

Inspection References: 
Omaha Regional Stormwater Design Manual, Section 8.6.4.4 Bioswales Inspection and Maintenance 
Approved Post-Construction Stormwater Management Plan (PCSMP) 
 
Instructions: 
One inspection report shall be prepared for each BMP. Identify the BMP inspected as indicated on the 
PCSMP if multiple BMPs are present on-site. Sign and date the inspection report and return the original 
to the City of Norfolk Engineering Department. Attach pictures taken during the inspection to the report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 111 of 341



 

 
 
Vegetation 
 
 No additional maintenance is recommended at this time. 
 

 An adequate uniform vegetative cover is not provided within the swale and/or the height of the 
grass is less than shown in PCSMP 
 
Comments:_____________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

The outfall area is eroded. The eroded area shall be repaired. 

Comments:_____________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Bare areas within the swale. These areas shall be re-planted. 

Comments:_____________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

The outfall area is blocked. Blockage shall be removed. 

Comments:_____________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Sediment, trash or debris are noticeable within the swale area, the material shall be removed 

and re-planted as necessary to ensure adequate vegetated cover. 

Comments:_____________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Additional Items/Comments:______________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 112 of 341



 

 

Other Maintenance Items: 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Site Inspection Photos Attached:   Yes  No 

 

Remedial items to be completed within 30 days of the inspection. Please contact the City of 

Norfolk Engineering Division at 402-844-2020 when remedial items are completed. 

 

Inspector: 

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Signature                                                          Printed Name                                                     Date  

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 113 of 341



 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 114 of 341



 
             progress.  right at home. 
 
  

 
 

309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE  68701 

P402-844-2280 F402-844-2028 
www.ci.norfolk.ne.us 

 
 
April 3, 2018 
 
 
Honorable Mayor 
   and 
City Council 
 
Dear Mayor and Council: 
 
On April 3, 2018 the Norfolk Planning Commission reviewed the final plat of Legacy 
Bend Addition 1st Addition. 
  
All items required for the final plat approval have been submitted and the accompanying 
subdivision agreement and post-construction storm water management plan maintenance 
agreement and easement have been reviewed by the City Engineer. 
  
The Planning Commission recommends approval of the final plat with a vote of (8-0).  
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Dan Spray, Chairman 
Norfolk Planning Commission 

 
 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 115 of 341



Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Norfolk, 309 N. 5th Street, Norfolk, Nebraska 68701 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2018-_________ 
 
 WHEREAS, the following described real property is located within the City of Norfolk or within the 
extraterritorial area in which the City exercises zoning jurisdiction, to wit: 
 
 
 A TRACT OF LAND LOCATED IN PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST 
QUARTER (SE1/4 NE1/4) AND PART OF TAX LOT ONE (1) IN THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF 
THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER (NE1/4 SE1/4) ALL OF SECTION TWENTY-THREE (23), TOWNSHIP 
TWENTY-FOUR (24) NORTH, RANGE ONE (1) WEST OF THE 6TH P.M., MADISON COUNTY, 
NEBRASKA, AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  
COMMENCING AT THE EAST QUARTER (E1/4) CORNER OF SECTION 23-T24N-R1W; THENCE ON 
AN ASSUMED BEARING OF S87°32'05"W, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST 
QUARTER (SE1/4) OF SECTION 23, A DISTANCE OF 80.90 FEET TO THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY 
LINE OF VICTORY ROAD, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE 
S02°00'00"E, ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 662.51 FEET TO THE 
NORTHEAST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND OWNED BY THE CITY OF NORFOLK RECORDED 
ON DECEMBER 28, 2016 IN BOOK 2016, PAGE 05829, FILED AT THE REGISTER OF DEEDS 
MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA; THENCE S87°33'00"W, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID 
TRACT OF LAND, A DISTANCE OF 448.66 FEET; THENCE N21°04'17"W A DISTANCE OF 179.50 
FEET; THENCE N16°48'11"W A DISTANCE OF 172.00 FEET; THENCE N19°11'04"W A DISTANCE OF 
61.06 FEET; THENCE N20°55'21"W A DISTANCE OF 148.54 FEET; THENCE N23°23'09"W A 
DISTANCE OF 64.01 FEET; THENCE N65°46'15"E A DISTANCE OF 112.36 FEET; THENCE 
N75°59'37"E A DISTANCE OF 60.62 FEET; THENCE N70°55'55"E A DISTANCE OF 132.03 FEET; 
THENCE S22°02'08"E A DISTANCE OF 60.18 FEET; THENCE N76°21'01"E A DISTANCE OF 163.10 
FEET; THENCE N87°32'05"E A DISTANCE OF 170.92 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. SAID 
TRACT CONTAINS 358,445.76 SQUARE FEET OR 8.229 ACRES MORE OR LESS OF WHICH 1.802 
ACRES ARE NEW DEDICATED PUBLIC ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY;  
 
 WHEREAS, said property is owned by Innate Development, LLC; and 
 

WHEREAS, the owners of the above described property are desirous of platting the property pursuant 
to the laws of the State of Nebraska and the City of Norfolk; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a plat and subdivision agreement have been prepared in anticipation of platting the above 
described property. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals, the Mayor and City Council of the 
City of Norfolk, Nebraska, hereby adopt the following Resolution: 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22

23

Page 116 of 341



Page 2 of 2 
 

 
BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, that the 
final plat of LEGACY BEND FIRST ADDITION, being part of the SE ¼ of the NE ¼, part of 
tax lot 1 in the NE ¼ of the SE ¼, all in Section 23, Township 24, Range 1 West of the 6th P.M., 
Madison County, Nebraska, and its accompanying subdivision agreement and post construction 
storm water management plan maintenance agreement and easement , duly made, acknowledged 
and certified, be and the same are hereby approved and ordered filed and recorded in the office 
of the Register of Deeds of Madison County, Nebraska.   

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the above described property shall hereinafter be legally 
described as set forth and depicted on the final plat being approved hereunder. 

 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this ______ day of _______________, 2018. 
 
 
 
ATTEST:                             _________________________________ 
                             Josh Moenning, Mayor 
 
_______________________________ 
Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form:  ____________________________ 
            Clint Schukei, City Attorney 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 22
Page 117 of 341



AGREEMENT 

 

 

 This Agreement is made and entered into the ______ day of __________, 2018, by and 

between the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, a Municipal Corporation, hereinafter referred to as 

“CITY”; and Norfolk Area Visitors Bureau, a Nebraska Nonprofit Corporation, hereinafter 

referred to as “VISITORS BUREAU”; WITNESSETH: 

 

 WHEREAS, CITY is the owner of Veterans Memorial Park in Norfolk, Nebraska, which 

has a baseball field located within the park; and 

 

 WHEREAS, VISITORS BUREAU is desirous of utilizing the baseball field in Veterans 

Memorial Park to hold a professional baseball game Saturday, May 12, 2018; and  

 

WHEREAS, Norfolk City Code Section 18-10 prohibits vending in the park without the 

prior permission of the Mayor and City Council; and  

 

 WHEREAS, CITY is desirous of allowing VISITORS BUREAU to hold a professional 

baseball game at the baseball field in Veterans Memorial Park.   

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals, and the terms and 

conditions hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

 

 1.  FACILITY.  CITY shall allow VISITORS BUREAU to utilize the baseball field in 

Veterans Memorial Park to hold a professional baseball game on Saturday, May 12, 2018, at 

6:30 p.m.  VISITORS BUREAU shall have access to the facility between 3:30 p.m. and 11:00 

p.m. on May 12, 2018. 

 

 2.  ACCESS COST.  There shall be no cost to VISITORS BUREAU for use of CITY’s 

facility under the terms of this Agreement in exchange for VISITORS BUREAU naming CITY 

as a sponsor of the event on all promotional materials for the event. 

 

3.  LATE FEE.  Pursuant to CITY’s policy, VISITORS BUREAU shall pay to CITY a 

late fee in the amount of $75.00 due to VISITORS BUREAU submitting an event application to 

CITY later than 60 days prior to VISITORS BUREAU’s use of CITY facilities.  Said late fee 

shall be paid to CITY upon the signing of this Agreement. 

 

4.  FACILITY ACCESS.  For the baseball game, VISITORS BUREAU shall have access 

to and use of the baseball field, press boxes, ticket booths, parking lots, and restrooms.  Field 

lighting, scoreboard and public address system shall be available for use by VISITORS 

BUREAU.  VISITORS BUREAU’s use of the baseball field (but not the entire park) shall be 

exclusive for the date and times set forth in this Agreement.   

 

5.  LOCKER ROOM ACCESS/BASEBALL-SPIKED SHOES.  VISITORS BUREAU 

shall have access to the locker rooms and showers in the multipurpose building after the game.  

If baseball players wear baseball-spiked shoes in the locker room, they shall be restricted to the 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 23
Page 118 of 341



2 

 

carpeted runners in the locker room and the baseball-spiked shoes shall not come in contact with 

the epoxy floor.  In the event the locker room floor is damaged by baseball-spiked shoes, 

VISITORS BUREAU shall be responsible for the cost of repairing or replacing the floor. 

 

 6.  INSURANCE.  VISITORS BUREAU shall provide CITY with a certificate of general 

liability insurance in the following minimum amounts:   

 

General Aggregate    $2,000,000 

a. Bodily Injury/Property Damage  $1,000,000 each occurrence 

b. Personal Injury Damage   $1,000,000 each occurrence 

c. Contractual Liability    $1,000,000 each occurrence 

d. Products Liability & Completed Operations $1,000,000 each occurrence 

 e. Fire Damage     $   100,000 any one fire 

f. Medical Expense    $       5,000 any one person 

 

In addition, VISITORS BUREAU shall name CITY as an additional insured.  Said 

insurance shall be the primary insurance coverage for VISITORS BUREAU’s event.  The 

policy issued shall cover all activities and vendors sponsored by VISITORS BUREAU 

while using CITY’s baseball facility at Veterans Memorial Park with no exclusions.  

VISITORS BUREAU agrees to be responsible for any damages or claim of loss not 

covered by VISITORS BUREAU’s insurance or VISITORS BUREAU’s vendors’ 

insurance.  A certificate of insurance shall be filed with the City Clerk’s office upon 

execution of this Agreement.  In the event the certificate of insurance is not filed by May 

2, 2018, then (1) VISITORS BUREAU shall pay a late fee to CITY in the amount of 

$75.00, and (2) this Agreement shall be voidable at the option of CITY's risk manager.   

 

7.  HOLD HARMLESS/INDEMNIFICATION.  VISITORS BUREAU agrees to save, 

hold harmless, indemnify and defend CITY, its representatives, agents and employees from any 

loss or damage or claim of loss by VISITORS BUREAU or by any tournament participant or 

their parent or guardian, or any third party from damage or claim of damage that arises from any 

of the activities authorized or undertaken as provided in this Agreement and for any loss to CITY 

that results from VISITORS BUREAU failing to perform its obligations under this Agreement or 

engaging in any activity not authorized by this Agreement.   

 

 8.  COPYRIGHTED MUSIC.  VISITORS BUREAU agrees that it either has or will 

secure any necessary licenses required for the playing or performance of copyrighted music at 

the activities being conducted by VISITORS BUREAU and expressly agrees to hold CITY 

harmless and indemnify CITY from any cost or liability that may result to CITY as a result of the 

contemplated VISITORS BUREAU activities being held on property owned by CITY. 

 

 9.  VOLUNTEERS.  Any volunteers that access CITY’s baseball facilities as part of this 

Agreement are VISITORS BUREAU’s volunteers and VISITORS BUREAU shall be 

responsible for any insurance coverage or liability related to or stemming from VISITORS 

BUREAU’s volunteers. 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 23
Page 119 of 341



3 

 

 10.  CONCESSIONS.  CITY shall operate the concession stand at Veterans Memorial 

Park during VISITORS BUREAU’s event.  VISITORS BUREAU is prohibited from selling or 

participating in the sale of any concessions at Veterans Memorial Park, including but not limited 

to tailgating, and VISITORS BUREAU shall prohibit participants and spectators from 

participating in the sale of concessions, including but not limited to tailgating, at Veterans 

Memorial Park.  VISITORS BUREAU shall not receive any profit from concession sales.  

Further, VISITORS BUREAU shall be responsible for assuring that no coolers, outside food, or 

outside beverages (except for water) are brought into Veterans Memorial Park by spectators 

when concessions are being sold by CITY.  

 

 11.  VENDING.  Section 18-10 of the Official Code of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska 

states that vending of various goods, services, products or commodities is permitted; however, 

such vending is conditional upon the vendor first obtaining permission from the Mayor and City 

Council.  This Agreement shall serve as permission granted to VISITORS BUREAU as required 

by Section 18-10 of the City Code for vending in Veterans Memorial Park during the term of this 

Agreement provided that such vending is limited to the sale of team souvenirs (not concessions).   

 

 12.  ADVERTISING.  VISITORS BUREAU shall not erect any advertising or temporary 

signs at CITY’s baseball facilities. 

 

   13.  CLEANING.  VISITORS BUREAU shall be responsible for cleanup of the facilities 

at Veterans Memorial Park at the conclusion of their use including but not limited to completely 

cleaning up any sunflower seeds from the bleachers.  In the event VISITORS BUREAU fails to 

clean the facilities they utilize at Veterans Memorial Park, VISITORS BUREAU agrees to pay 

the actual cost incurred by CITY in cleaning the facilities.  CITY shall document the condition of 

the facilities and shall consult with VISITORS BUREAU prior to cleaning, if practicable.  

During VISITORS BUREAU’s event at Veterans Memorial Park, the following statement or 

LEGION’s own statement which suggests these items shall be announced over the public address 

system periodically throughout VISITORS BUREAU’s event:  

 

“Welcome to Veterans Memorial Park.  In an effort to keep this facility clean, we 

kindly ask that you pick up your trash and deposit it in the provided trash 

receptacles before leaving the stadium.” 
 

 14.  ALCOHOL.  No alcohol shall be allowed on the premises pursuant to Section 3-11 

of CITY’s Official Code. 

 

 15.  TOBACCO.  VISITORS BUREAU shall be responsible for compliance with CITY’s 

tobacco policy set forth in CITY’s Official Code which precludes tobacco use except in parking 

areas available to the general public.  

 

 16.  PETS.  No pets shall be allowed on the premises except for service animals. 

 

 17.  DAMAGE.  VISITORS BUREAU shall be responsible for any damage to any part of 

the Memorial Field facility utilized by VISITORS BUREAU above normal use and wear for all 

times during which VISITORS BUREAU has control of the facility.  VISITORS BUREAU shall 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 23
Page 120 of 341



4 

 

be responsible for all damage and repair costs to any portion of Veterans Memorial Park while 

accessing the CITY facilities during the term of this Agreement.  

 

   18.  SECURITY.  VISITORS BUREAU shall be responsible for providing adequate 

security at the facility from the time the gates to the field and doors to that portion of the 

multipurpose building utilized by VISITORS BUREAU are unlocked on the day of the game, 

during the game, and until the time the facility is locked except as the same relates to the 

concession area.  

 

 19.  PARKING.  VISITORS BUREAU shall be responsible for assuring that vehicles 

within Veterans Memorial Park are parked only in approved parking areas and shall be 

responsible for removing vehicles parked in places other than approved parking areas.  All 

parking is at the risk of VISITORS BUREAU and the party parking the vehicle.   

 

 20.  MULTI-PURPOSE BUILDING.  VISITORS BUREAU shall be allowed to utilize 

the locker rooms in the multipurpose building.  In the event VISITORS BUREAU utilizes the 

locker rooms as set forth herein, VISITORS BUREAU shall enter and exit the multipurpose 

building as directed.  In no event shall VISITORS BUREAU allow exit from the multipurpose 

building to the water park. 

 

 21.  SCOREBOARD.  VISITORS BUREAU shall be allowed to utilize the scoreboard 

and accompanying graphics board at Veterans Memorial Park.  VISITORS BUREAU 

understands that the message board must be operated as directed by CITY’s park and building 

maintenance superintendent so that CITY can comply with the terms of its July 5, 2011 

agreement with Score Tables by Design, L.L.C.  A copy of the applicable portion of the July 5, 

2011 agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. 

 

 22.  FIELD LIGHTS.  Any field lighting requests by VISITORS BUREAU shall be 

directed to CITY’s park and building maintenance superintendent.   

 

 23.  OTHER AREAS OF VETERANS MEMORIAL PARK.  VISITORS BUREAU shall 

be responsible for restricting participants and spectators to the baseball and parking portions of 

Veterans Memorial Park during VISITORS BUREAU’s game and shall prohibit people from 

accessing other portions of Veterans Memorial Park closed to the public during the time when 

VISITORS BUREAU is utilizing CITY’s baseball facility.  VISITORS BUREAU shall be 

responsible for all damage and repair costs to any portion of Veterans Memorial Park while 

accessing the CITY facilities at Veterans Memorial Park during the term of this Agreement.  

 

 24.  ALTERATIONS TO FACILITY.  VISITORS BUREAU shall make no alterations or 

additions, etc., to CITY’s facility without VISITORS BUREAU’s prior written request and 

CITY’s prior written approval.   

 

 25.  DUGOUTS.  CITY does not allow individuals to be on the roof of the dugouts at 

Veterans Memorial Field.  VISITORS BUREAU shall be responsible for keeping individuals off 

the roof of the dugouts during VISITORS BUREAU’s event. 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 23
Page 121 of 341



5 

 

 26.  CANCELLATION BY VISITORS BUREAU.  VISITORS BUREAU shall be 

responsible for providing notice of any cancellation of its game to CITY’s park and building 

maintenance superintendent at 844-2180. 

 

 27.  CITY’S RIGHT TO CANCEL ACTIVITIES.  Notwithstanding any other provision 

of this Agreement, CITY retains the right at any time to cancel any activities scheduled on CITY 

property due to inclement weather or for any other reason. 

 

 28.  UNADDRESSED ISSUES.   Issues related to CITY’s baseball facility not addressed 

in this Agreement may be approved by CITY at the discretion of CITY’s park and building 

maintenance superintendent upon request of VISITORS BUREAU. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed the foregoing Agreement in 

duplicate the day and year first above written.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts.  

Each such counterpart, executed in duplicate, shall be deemed an original hereof and all such 

executed counterparts shall together be one and the same instrument. 

 

 

 CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA,              

       A Municipal Corporation 

ATTEST:  

 

________________________________ By_________________________________ 

Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk         Josh Moenning, Mayor 

 

 

Approved as to Form: _________________________ 

       Clint Schukei, City Attorney 

 

 

 

  NORFOLK AREA VISITORS BUREAU, 

  A Nebraska Nonprofit Corporation  

 

 

      By__________________________________ 
       Printed Name: ________________________ 

       Title: _______________________________   
 

 
      By__________________________________ 
       Printed Name: ________________________ 

       Title: _______________________________   

4/16/2018 Enclosure 23
Page 122 of 341



6 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

(Excerpt from July 5, 2011 Agreement between 

City of Norfolk and Score Tables by Design, L.L.C.) 
 

 

 

  

4/16/2018 Enclosure 23
Page 123 of 341

Advertising Services 
4. Score Tables shall be the sole vendor authorized by the City of Norfolk to sell advertising space to 
businesses and other entities at Memorial Football Field and Memorial Baseball Field. 

5. Score Tables shall be responsible for soliciting advertisers, billing advertisers and collecting 
advertising revenue. Score Tables will sell space primarily on multi-year contracts to advertisers. 

6. Score Tables will design and program advertising and provide it in an appropriate format to the City 
of Norfolk. The advertising will be "still" graphics and will not include video andlor sound and will be 
displayed during athletic events, involving Norfolk Public Schools, Norfolk Catholic Schools, 
Lutheran High School of Northeast Nebraska and related events. 

7. A maximum ofthirty (30) advertisers will be presented on each of the LED Message Displays. 

8. The LED Message Displays at the football field and baseball field also may be used to present City 
of Norfolk announcements, school information, game data, photos, statistics and graphics, and such 
displays will be programmed by the City of Norfolk. The amount of such programming would be at 
the discretion of the City of Norfolk; however such programming should not consume more than 25 
percent of the time the LED Message Center is operating during an event. 

9. Advertising to be displayed at the athletic facilities shall conform to City of Norfolk: policies on 
advertising. Therefore, all advertising must be tasteful, must not advertise products or services that are 
illegal for minors and must not convey political or religious messages. The City of Norfolk is not 
creating a public forum for messages and retains i1s authority to detemrine the products and services 
appropriate to advertise on the premises. 



RESOLUTION NO. 2018-_______ 

 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, is an eligible unit of a general local government 

authorized to file an application under the Site and Building Development Act of 2011; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, has received an invitation to apply for $300,000 of 

Site and Building Development Funds from the Nebraska Department of Economic 

Development; and ContiTech USA, Inc. has executed an SBDF Business Certification agreement 

expressing their intent to complete the project. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY the City Council of Norfolk, Nebraska, that 

the Mayor be authorized and directed to proceed with the formulation of any and all contracts, 

documents or other memoranda between Norfolk, Nebraska, and the Nebraska Department of 

Economic Development so as to effect acceptance of the grant application. 

         
          Passed and approved this _______ day of __________, 2018. 
 

_____________________________ 
        Josh Moenning, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Elizabeth A Deck, City Clerk 
 
 
( S E A L ) 
 
 
Approved as to form: ________________________ 
Clint Schukei, City Attorney 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 24

24

Page 124 of 341



4/16/2018 Enclosure 25
Page 125 of 341

Courtesy Ford Lincoln 
423 Madison Ave. 

Norfolk, NE 68701 
(402-371-9350) 

I I 

BID OFFERING FOR THE CITY OF NORFOLK 

The following is a bid for one (1) or more 2019 Ford F-250 Supercab 4x4 
pickup. 

- 6.2L V8 gas engine 
- automatic transmission 
- 6 % foot box 
- white in color 
- cloth front 40/20/40 bench seat with power driver seat 
- power windows and locks 
- rear VIew camera 
- cruise control 
- air conditioning 
- electronic shift on the fly 4x4 
- manual telescoping trailer tow mirrors with power glass 
- rear VIew camera 
- one service manual on cd rom 

MSRP '45930.00 
Delivered Price 32199.00 

Please allow up to 120 days for delivery. Bid price good for up to 
30 days after City of Norfolk receives the bid. 

Courtesy Ford Lincoln (date) City of Norfolk (date) 



City of Norfolk, 309 N. 5th Street, Norfolk, NE 68701 

LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS LEASE is made and entered into this I O~ day of Apr) L ,2018, by 
and between Michael R. Braun and Kristy J. Braun, husband and wife, hereinafter referred to as 
"BRAUN" as Lessor and the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, a Municipal Corporation, hereinafter 
referred to as "CITY", as Lessee, WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, BRAUN is the owner of a tract of land described as follows: 

Lot 3, Blueberry Hill Subdivision, Stanton County, Nebraska, less that 
portion taken by Return of Appraisers on July 11, 2001 in Book 28 Page 
496 of the records of Stanton County, Nebraska; and 

WHEREAS, a portion of the above described property is to be leased under the terms of 
this lease Agreement which portion of land is more particularly described as follows: 

Beginning at the Southwest Corner of Section 30, T24N, RIB; thence 
Easterly on the South line of Section 30 on an assumed bearing of North 
87°20'15 "E, a distance of 1193.4] ft.; thence North 01 °54'26"W a distance 
of 132.65 ft. to the intersection of the North Highway right-of-way line 
and the west line of Lot 3, Blueberry Hill Subdivision of Stanton County, 
Nebraska; thence North 70°05'51 "E a distance of 44.52 ft. to a point being 
the point of beginning; thence North 06°45'33"E a distance of 49.27 ft. ; 
thence North 87°24'22"E a distance of 70.56 ft.; thence South 03°06'37"E 
a distance of 36.25 ft. to a point on the North Highway right-of-way line; 
thence South 86°46'14"W on the North Highway right-of-way line a 
distance of 40.18 ft.; thence South 70°05'51 "Won the North Highway 
right-of-way line a distance of 40.55 ft. to the point of beginning. 
Said tract of land is in Lot 3, Blueberry Hill Subdivision, and the SW 1/4 
of Section 30, T24N, R IE, Stanton County, Nebraska and East of the 6th 
Principal Meridian, and contains 2911 Sq. Ft. more or less, said leased 
area is depicted as the crosshatched area on the attached-Exhibit "A"; and 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 26
Page 126 of 341

City of Norfolk, 309 N. 5th Street, Norfolk, NE 68701 

LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS LEASE is made and entered into this I O~ day of Apr; L ,2018, by 
and between Michael R. Braun and Kristy J. Braun, husband and wife, hereinafter referred to as 
"BRAUN" as Lessor and the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, a Municipal Corporation, hereinafter 
referred to as "CITY", as Lessee, WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, BRAUN is the owner of a tract of land described as follows: 

Lot 3, Blueberry Hill Subdivision, Stanton County, Nebraska, less that 
portion taken by Return of Appraisers on July 11 , 2001 in Book 28 Page 
496 of the records of Stanton County, Nebraska; and 

WHEREAS, a portion of the above described property is to be leased under the terms of 
this lease Agreement which portion of land is more particularly described as follows: 

Beginning at the Southwest Corner of Section 30, T24N, RIE; thence 
Easterly on the South line of Section 30 on an assumed bearing of North 
87°20'l5"E, a distance of 1193.41 ft.; thence North 01 °54'26"W a distance 
of 132.65 ft. to the intersection of the North Highway right-of-way line 
and the west line of Lot 3, Blueberry Hill Subdivision of Stanton County, 
Nebraska; thence North 70 0 05'51''E a distance of 44.52 ft. to a point being 
the point of beginning; thence North 06°45 '33"E a distance of 49.27 ft. ; 
thence North 87°24'22"E a distance of 70.56 ft.; thence South 03°06'37"E 
a distance of 36.25 ft. to a point on the North Highway right-of-way line; 
thence South 86°46'14"W on the North Highway right-of-way line a 
distance of 40.18 ft.; thence South 70°05'51 "Won the North Highway 
right-of-way line a distance of 40.55 ft. to the point of beginrting. 
Said tract of land is in Lot 3, Blueberry Hill Subdivision, and the SW 1/4 
of Section 30, T24N, R IE, Stanton County, Nebraska and East of the 6th 
Principal Meridian, and contains 2911 Sq. Ft. more or less, said leased 
area is depicted as the crosshatched area on the attached-Exhibit "A"; and 



WHEREAS, CITY is desirous of utilizing the above described property for placement of 
a lighted billboard sign. 

IT IS THEREFORE agreed by and between the parties as follows: 

1. DESCRIPTION. BRAUN, in consideration of the covenants and agreements set forth 
herein, does hereby lease to CITY the real property described in recital set forth above and 
situated in Stanton County, Nebraska, which property is depicted as the crosshatched area on the 
attached Exhibit "A". 

2. CONSIDERATION. CITY agrees that consideration for the leasing of said premises 
is the total sum of One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) for the first year of this lease, payable by 
CITY to BRAUN upon the execution of this lease. The initial rental amount of One Thousand 
Dollars ($1,000.00) shall be increased each year by an amount equal to three percent (3%) of the 
prior year's rent and shall be payable upon the annual anniversary of the execution of this lease. 

3. TERM AND OPTION TO RENEW. The term of this lease shall be for fifteen (15) 
years from the date of execution hereof. CITY shall have the option to extend this lease for three 
(3) additional five (5) year periods, under the terms and conditions of this lease, upon the mutual 
agreement of the parties. Any extension(s) of the original term hereof shall include the three 
percent (3%) per year increase in the annual rent. 

4. INSURANCE. CITY shall at all times during the term of this lease maintain a 
liability insurance policy or policies, naming BRAUN as an additional insured, in the following 
minimum amounts: 

General Aggregate 
a. Bodily InjurylProperty Damage 
b. Personal Injury Damage 
c. Contractual Liability 
d. Products Liability & Completed Operations 
e. Fire Damage 
f. Medical Expense 

$1,000,000 
$1,000,000 each occurrence 
$1,000,000 each occurrence 
$1,000,000 each occurrence 
$1,000,000 each occurrence 
$ 100,000 anyone fire 
$ 5,000 anyone person 

CITY shall furnish BRAUN with a certificate of insurance in the minimum amounts as set forth 
above upon the execution of this lease agreement if requested. 

5. HOLD HARMLESS. CITY agrees to hold BRAUN harmless and indemnify BRAUN 
from any and all liability and claims arising out of and relative to CITY's use of the demised 
premises during the term of this lease agreement. 

6. USAGE. The demised premises shall be used by CITY for placement of a lighted 
billboard sign. Said usage by CITY of the demised premises includes the installation by CITY at 
its expense of any improvements to be placed thereon to include movement of dirt to 
accommodate signage, placement of a billboard sign, installation of fencing, running electrical 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 26
Page 127 of 341

WHEREAS, CITY is desirous of utilizing the above described property for placement of 
a lighted billboard sign. 

IT IS THEREFORE agreed by and between the parties as follows: 

1. DESCRIPTION. BRAUN, in consideration of the covenants and agreements set forth 
herein, does hereby lease to CITY the real propelty described in recital set forth above and 
situated in Stanton County, Nebraska, which property is depicted as the crosshatched area on the 
attached Exhibit "A". 

2. CONSIDERATION. CITY agrees that consideration for the leasing of said premises 
is the total sum of One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) for the first year of this lease, payable by 
CITY to BRAUN upon the execution of this lease. The initial rental amount of One Thousand 
Dollars ($1,000.00) shall be increased each year by an amount equal to three percent (3%) of the 
prior year' s rent and shall be payable upon the annual anniversary of the execution of this lease. 

3. TERM AND OPTION TO RENEW. The term of this lease shall be for fifteen (15) 
years from the date of execution hereof. CITY shall have the option to extend this lease for three 
(3) additional five (5) year periods, under the terms and conditions of this lease, upon the mutual 
agreement of the parties. Any extension(s) of the original term hereof shall include the three 
percent (3 %) per year increase in the annual rent. 

4. INSURANCE. CITY shall at all times during the term of this lease maintain a 
liability insurance policy or policies, naming BRAUN as an additional insured, in the following 
minimum amounts: 

General Aggregate 
a. Bodily InjurylProperty Damage 
b. Personal Injury Damage 
c. Contractual Liability 
d. Products Liability & Completed Operations 
e. Fire Damage 
f. Medical Expense 

$1,000,000 
$1,000,000 each occurrence 
$1,000,000 each occurrence 
$1,000,000 each occurrence 
$1,000,000 each occurrence 
$ 100,000 anyone fire 
$ 5,000 anyone person 

CITY shall furnish BRAUN with a certificate of insurance in the minimum amounts as set forth 
above upon the execution of this lease agreement if requested. 

5. HOLD HARMLESS. CITY agrees to hold BRAUN harmless and indemnify BRAUN 
from any and all liability and claims arising out of and relative to CITY's use of the demised 
premises during the term of this lease agreement. 

6. USAGE. The demised premises shall be used by CITY for placement of a lighted 
billboard sign. Said usage by CITY of the demised premises includes the installation by CITY at 
its expense of any improvements to be placed thereon to include movement of dirt to 
accommodate signage, placement of a billboard sign, installation of fencing, running electrical 



power to the leased premises, installation of lighting for the area and landscaping of the area, all 
in accordance with CITY's specifications. 

7. MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR. CITY, at its own expense, shall maintain and 
repair the demised premises and keep said premises in a clean and orderly condition pursuant to 
all applicable laws and ordinances during the term thereof. 

8. ELECTRICITY. CITY shall pay for all electricity used on the premises during the 
term of this lease or any extensions thereof and shall be responsible for, at its own expense, any 
power lines now on or hereafter placed on the demised premises. 

9. IMPROVEMENTS. The cost of the improvements placed upon the demised premises 
shall be paid by CITY and CITY shall not allow any lien or claim to arise against the demised 
premises or BRAUN. 

10. EXPIRATION. At the expiration of the term(s) hereof, CITY agrees to remove all 
improvements, except for access to electrical power, and agrees to give peaceful possession of 
the demised premises to BRAUN. 

11. TERMINATION. BRAUN shall have the right to terminate this lease at any time 
during the term hereof should CITY fail, refuse or neglect to comply with any of the terms or 
conditions hereof and BRAUN, upon said breach, shall have the right to obtain possession as 
provided by law and to retain the consideration paid by CITY. Prior to enforcement of said right 
to terminate, BRAUN shall give CITY twenty (20) days written notice addressed to City of 
Norfolk Risk Manager and CITY shall have said twenty (20) day period within which to comply 
with the terms of the lease and correct any such breach and thereby reinstate said lease in full 
force and effect. CITY shall be allowed to terminate this lease upon giving sixty (60) days' 
notice to BRAUN. This Agreement shall terminate in the event the Nebraska Depmtment of 
Transportation requires removal of CITY' s lighted billboard sign, in which case BRAUN shall 
refund to CITY on a pro-rata basis any unearned rent prepaid by CITY. 

12. VISUAL ACCESS EASEMENT. To assure visual access of the sign erected by 
CITY, BRAUN grants to CITY an easement over that portion of property owned by BRAUN 
which lies within an approximately 150' east x 50' north area. This shall be referred to as the 
"Visual Access Easement". BRAUN shall allow CITY to enter upon the Visual Access 
Easement to maintain the visual area by removal of any trees or other growth on the BRAUN 
property that obstruct the view of CITY's sign from Highway #275 during the term of this lease. 
BRAUN agrees not to plant any trees or other vegetation or to place, park, store or build any 
object in the Visual Access Easement that would obstruct the view of CITY's sign from 
Highway #275 during the term of this lease. Said Visual Access Easement shall terminate upon 
the termination of this lease. 

13. SIGN ACCESS EASEMENT. BRAUN hereby grants to CITY an easement over the 
south 15' of the Visual Access Easement for the purpose of CITY accessing the leased premises 
for occasional maintenance of the property and improvements located thereon. This shall be 
referred to as the "Sign Access Easement". Said access shall be off of Highway #275 right of 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 26
Page 128 of 341

power to the leased premises, installation of lighting for the area and landscaping of the area, all 
in accordance with CITY's specifications. 

7. MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR. CITY, at its own expense, shall maintain and 
repair the demised premises and keep said premises in a clean and orderly condition pursuant to 
all applicable laws and ordinances during the term thereof. 

8. ELECTRICITY. CITY shall pay for all electricity used on the premises during the 
term of this lease or any extensions thereof and shall be responsible for, at its own expense, any 
power lines now on or hereafter placed on the demised premises. 

9. IMPROVEMENTS. The cost of the improvements placed upon the demised premises 
shall be paid by CITY and CITY shall not allow any lien or claim to arise against the demised 
premises or BRAUN. 

10. EXPIRATION. At the expiration of the term(s) hereof, CITY agrees to remove all 
improvements, except for access to electrical power, and agrees to give peaceful possession of 
the demised premises to BRAUN. 

11. TERMINATION. BRAUN shall have the right to terminate this lease at any time 
during the term hereof should CITY fail, refuse or neglect to comply with any of the terms or 
conditions hereof and BRAUN, upon said breach, shall have the right to obtain possession as 
provided by law and to retain the consideration paid by CITY. Prior to enforcement of said right 
to terminate, BRAUN shall give CITY twenty (20) days written notice addressed to City of 
Norfolk Risk Manager and CITY shall have said twenty (20) day period within which to comply 
with the terms of the lease and correct any such breach and thereby reinstate said lease in full 
force and effect. CITY shall be allowed to terminate this lease upon giving sixty (60) days' 
notice to BRAUN. This Agreement shall terminate in the event the Nebraska Department of 
Transportation requires removal of CITY' s lighted billboard sign, in which case BRAUN shall 
refund to CITY on a pro-rata basis any unearned rent prepaid by CITY. 

12. VISUAL ACCESS EASEMENT. To assure visual access of the sign erected by 
CITY, BRAUN grants to CITY an easement over that portion of property owned by BRAUN 
which lies within an approximately 150' east x 50' north area. This shall be referred to as the 
"Visual Access Easement". BRAUN shall allow CITY to enter upon the Visual Access 
Easement to maintain the visual area by removal of any trees or other growth on the BRAUN 
property that obstruct the view of CITY' s sign from Highway #275 during the term of this lease. 
BRAUN agrees not to plant any trees or other vegetation or to place, park, store or build any 
object in the Visual Access Easement that would obstruct the view of CITY's sign from 
Highway #275 during the term of this lease. Said Visual Access Easement shall terminate upon 
the termination of this lease. 

13. SIGN ACCESS EASEMENT. BRAUN hereby grants to CITY an easement over the 
south 15' of the Visual Access Easement for the purpose of CITY accessing the leased premises 
for occasional maintenance of the property and improvements located thereon. This shall be 
referred to as the "Sign Access Easement". Said access shall be off of Highway #275 right of 



way and includes the most direct route from Highway #275 to the leased premises. Said Sign 
Access Easement shall terminate upon the termination of this lease. 

14. NO TRESPASSING SIGNS. CITY shall be responsible for posting "No 
Trespassing" signs on the leased property at its option. 

15. REAL ESTATE TAXES. BRAUN shall be responsible for paying all real estate 
taxes on the property being leased hereunder. 

16. PARTIES BOUND. All of the agreements herein shall extend to and be binding 
upon the heirs, successors and assigns of the parties hereto. 

17. CONTINGENT UPON SIGN PERMIT. This lease shall be contingent upon the 
granting of a sign permit to CITY by the Nebraska Department of Transportation. In the event 
the application for sign permit is denied, then this lease agreement shall be null and void. 

18. AGREEMENT RECORDED. This lease agreement shall be filed of record in 
Stanton County with the recording cost to be divided equally between the parties. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed the foregoing lease agreement in 
duplicate the day and year first above written. 

ATTEST: 

Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk 

(SEAL) 

Michael R. Braun, Lessor 

di§~ :) dJzau~ 
Kri . ~u ,Lessor 

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA, 
A Municipal Corporation, Lessee 

Josh Moenning, Mayor 

Approved as to form: _____________ _ 
City Attorney 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 26
Page 129 of 341

way and includes the most direct route from Highway #275 to the leased premises. Said Sign 
Access Easement shall terminate upon the termination of this lease. 

14. NO TRESPASSING SIGNS. CITY shall be responsible for posting "No 
Trespassing" signs on the leased property at its option. 

15. REAL ESTATE TAXES . BRAUN shall be responsible for paying all real estate 
taxes on the property being leased hereunder. 

16. PARTIES BOUND. All of the agreements herein shall extend to and be binding 
upon the heirs, successors and assigns of the parties hereto. 

17. CONTINGENT UPON SIGN PERMIT. This lease shall be contingent upon the 
granting of a sign permit to CITY by the Nebraska Department of Transportation. In the event 
the application for sign permit is denied, then this lease agreement shall be null and void. 

18. AGREEMENT RECORDED. This lease agreement shall be ftled of record in 
Stanton County with the recording cost to be divided equally between the parties. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed the foregoing lease agreement in 
duplicate the day and year first above written. 

ATTEST: 

Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk 

(SEAL) 

Approved as to form: 
City Attorney 

Michael R. Braun, Lessor 

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA, 
A Municipal Corporation, Lessee 

Josh Moenning, Mayor 



STATE OF NEBRASKA ) 
) ss 

COUNTY OF -.StQrH-(j~ ) 
Before me, a Notary Public, duly qualified in and for said county and state, personally 

appeared Michael R. Braun and Kristy J. Braun, husband and wife, known to me to be the 
identical persons who executed the foregoing Lease Agreement and acknowledged the execution 
thereof to be their voluntary act and deed. 

Witness my hand and notarial seal this ___ day of _______ , 2018. 

Notary Public 

STATEOFNEBRASKA ) 
) ss 

COUNTY OF MADISON ) 

Before me, a Notary Public, duly qualified in and for said county and state, personally 
appeared Josh Moenning, Mayor, and Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk, known to me to be the 
identical persons who executed the foregoing Lease Agreement and acknowledged the execution 
thereof to be their voluntary act and deed on behalf of the corporation. 

Witness my hand and notarial seal this ___ day of _______ , 2018. 

Notary Public 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 26
Page 130 of 341

STATE OF NEBRASKA ) 
) ss 

COUNTY OF ,Stn.rrturJ ) 

Before me, a Notary Public, duly qualified in and for said county and state, personally 
appeared Michael R. Braun and Kristy J. Braun, husband and wife, known to me to be the 
identical persons who executed the foregoing Lease Agreement and acknowledged the execution 
thereof to be their voluntary act and deed. 

Witness my hand and notarial seal this ___ day of _______ , 2018. 

Notary Public 

STATEOFNEBRASKA ) 
) ss 

COUNTY OF MADISON ) 

Before me, a Notary Public, duly qualified in and for said county and state, personally 
appeared Josh Moenning, Mayor, and Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk, known to me to be the 
identical persons who executed the foregoing Lease Agreement and acknowledged the execution 
thereof to be their voluntary act and deed on behalf of the corporation. 

Witness my hand and notarial seal this ___ day of _______ , 2018. 

Notary Public 



 

Proclamation 
for  

“Buddy Poppy Day” 
 

WHEREAS:   The annual sale of Buddy Poppies by the Veterans of Foreign 
Wars (VFW) of the United States has been officially recognized 
and endorsed by governmental leaders since 1922; and 

 
WHEREAS:   VFW Buddy Poppies are assembled by disabled veterans and 

the proceeds of this worthy fund-raising campaign are used 
exclusively for the benefit of disabled and needy veterans, and 
the widows and orphans of deceased veterans; and 

 
WHEREAS: The basic purpose of the annual sale of Buddy Poppies by the 

VFW is eloquently reflected in the desire to “Honor the Dead 
by Helping the Living”. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that I, Josh Moenning, Mayor of 
the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, by the power vested in me, do hereby proclaim 
April 28, 2018, as: 
 

“BUDDY POPPY DAY” 
 
in the City of Norfolk, Nebraska and the surrounding area, and urge all 
citizens to recognize the merits of this cause by contributing generously to its 
support through your donations for Buddy Poppies on the day set aside for 
the distribution of these symbols of appreciation for the sacrifices of our 
honored dead. 
 
I urge all patriotic citizens to wear a Buddy Poppy as mute evidence of our 
gratitude to the men and women of this country who have risked their lives in 
defense of the freedoms which we continue to enjoy as American citizens. 
 
 
__________________________           April 16, 2018 
                 Mayor 
 

Seal 
 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 28
Page 131 of 341



4/16/2018 Enclosure 29
Page 132 of 341

O\OLSSON ® 

Direction Photo 
Taken: East 

Description: 

A SSOCIAT E S 

Installing Geogrid prior to 
Inlet 2 construction. 

i 
Taken: South 

Description: 

Phase 1 48" HOPE Pipe 
installation. 

cc: File 
C:lprojects\O 1 5-2 1 35\Norlolk\ 

PHOTO LOG - WEEK 02 

Page 1 of 1 

8/24/2017 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 29
Page 133 of 341

o\'OLSSON ® 
ASSOCIATES 

PHOTO LOG - WEEK 03 

~~~'~I~~::~ __ ~N:ortolkReg"io_n_a_IA_icrp,o_rt_' _N_o_rt~ol~k_' N~E~r-______ -==-:-__ ~~~~~~L-_O~1~5'~2~1f35~ 
Direction Photo 
Taken: NE 

Description: 

Pouring Inlet 3 in place. 

Taken: South 

Description: 

Phase 1 18" Pipe 
Installation. STA 108+00 

cc: File 
C:\projeas\O 15-2135\Norfolk\ 

Page 1 of 1 

8129120 17 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 29
Page 134 of 341

o\'OLSSON ® 
ASSOCIATES 

Norfolk Regional Airport, Norfolk, NE 

Direction Photo 
Taken: SE 

Description: 

Placing Inlet /If; in Phase 
1 

i 
Taken: N 

Description: 

Phase 1 Grading around 
inlets. Inlet #4 shown. 

cc: File 
C:\projects\O 15-2135\Norfolk\ 

Page 1 of 1 

PHOTO LOG - WEEK 05 

015-2135 

9/1212017 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 29
Page 135 of 341

O\OLSSON ® 

Direction Photo 
Taken: W 

Description: 

ASSOCIATES 

Attaching 36" pipe to Inlet 
10 

Taken: W 

Description: 
Phase 4. Pouring Inlet 
64. 

cc: File 
C:\projects\O 15-2135\Norfolk\ 

PHOTO LOG - WEEK 13 

01 

Page 1 of 1 

1111 512017 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 29
Page 136 of 341

()\OLSSON ® 
ASSOCIATES 

i 
Norfolk Regional Airport , Norfolk, NE 

Direction Photo 
Taken: N 

Description: 
Pouring 4x4 inlets in 
Staging area #1 

i i 
Taken: E 

Description: 
Phase 4. Final Grading of 
4- non perforated pipe 
prior to seeding 

cc: File 
C:\projects\015-2135\Norfolk\ 

Page 1 of 1 

PHOTO LOG - WEEK 18 

1/8/2018 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 29
Page 137 of 341

______________ ~A~C/~P~D~ATASHEET~ __ _ 
Norfolk Regional Airport 1 Karl Stefan 
Memorial Field , Norfolk, NE 

Taxiway Surface Treatment 

$ " •• s _'+ __ , 

\ 

LOCID 

SURFACE TREATMENT ~~ __ -+~~ __ ~ 
TAXIWAY A, BAND C 

JUSTIFICATION: 

_ LOCAL PRIORITY 

Identify FFY that you 
desire to construct 
tl-l- Y: oct.'·SopL 30} 

11 . 

3 

FFY 19 

January 2018 

A pavement surface treatment was completed in 2010. Surface treatments are recommended every 5-8 years, to preserve 
and rehabilitate the pavement. Any cracks will be repaired prior to the surface treatment. The runway will also be remarked. 
COST ESTIMATE: (Attach detailed cost estimate) 
Federal (90%) $461,700 State $ Local (10 %) $51 ,300 Total $513,000 

SPONSOR'S VERIFICATION: Date (see instruction sheet) 
For each and every project 8/22108 - Date of approved ALP with project shown 
as applicable CE Para - Date of environmental determination (ROD, FONSI , CE) , or 

5-6.4. cite CE paragraph # (307-312) in Order 1050.1 E 
N/A - Date of land acquisition or signed purchase agreement 

FAA USE ONLY N/A - Date of pavement maintenance program 
, . - . . - N/A - Snow removal equipment inventory & sizing worksheet (for SRE acquisition) 

N/A - Apron sizing worksheet (for apron projects) 
--- Revenue producing facilit ies (for fuel farms, hangars, etc.) 
N/A - Date statement submitted for completed airside development 
N/A - Date statement submitted for runway approaches are clear of obstructions 

( rj/. - -SPONSOR S SIGNATURE. --,-,!.R=..ItN,-,,,~,--",J;,,,,~--,--,I<,,,,'-t':"'~=='--____ DATE. I / J - .20 /! 

PRI NTED NAME: ____ T"'e"'r!.!.ri -"W"'a""c"'h"te"-r____________ TITLE: ____ ..!A"'ir"'p"ort"""M"'awn"'ag"'e",r ____ _ 

PHONE NUMBER: __ ~4~0~2~-3~7~1-~7~21~0L-________ __ 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 29
Page 138 of 341

ACIP Data Sheet Cost Estimate 

Project Description: Taxiway Surface Treatment 

Norfolk Regional Airport 
Norfolk, Nebraska 

1 

2 Marking Removal 

3 Sealant (width < 3/4") 

4 Repair (width> 3/4") 

5 Treatment 

6 Pavement Markings 

7 Pavement Markings 

and Administration 

19,600 

5,500 

2,750 

56,790 

19,600 

19,600 

1 

LS 

SF 

LF 

SF 

LS 

Federal (90%) 

State ( 0%) 

Local (10%) 

Jan-18 

$461,700.00 

$0.00 

$51,300.00 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 29
Page 139 of 341

I 

______________ ~A~C~/P~D~ATASHEET~ __ _ 

SKETCH: 

Norfolk Regional Airport I Karl Stefan 
Memorial Field , Norfolk, NE 

Runway 14132 Surface Trealment 

®': 
• I S -41--- , 

\ 
SURFACE TREATMENT 

RUNWAY 14132 ----.J.L:.~ 

JUSTIFICATION: 

LOCID _ LOCAL PRIORITY 

Identify FFY that you 
desire to construct 
(FFY: Oct. 1·Sept. 30) 

II . 

2 

FFY 19 

January 2018 

A pavement surface trealment was completed in 2010. Surface treatments are recommended every 5-8 years, to preserve 
and rehabil itate the pavement. Any cracks will be repaired prior to the surface treatment. The runway will also be remarked. 
COST ESTIMATE: (Attach detailed cost estimate) 
Federal (90%) $591 ,300 State $ Local (10 'Yo) $65,700 Total $657 ,000 

SPONSOR'S VERIFICATION: Date (see instruction sheet) 
For each and every project 8/22108 • Date of approved ALP with project shown 
as appl icable CE Para • Date of environmental determination (ROD, FONSI, CE), or 

5-6,4. cite CE paragraph # (307·312) in Order 1050.1 E 
N/A • Date of land acquisit ion or signed purchase agreement 

FAA USE ONLY N/A • Date of pavement maintenance program 
, , , , . , .. N/A • Snow removal equipment inventory & sizing worksheet (for SRE acquisition) 

NIA • Apron sizing worksheet (for apron projects) 

--- Revenue producing facilities (for fuel farms , hangars, etc.) 
N/A • Date stalement submitted for completed airside developmenl 
N/A 'j)ale slalement submitted for runway approaches are clear of obslruclions 

.' 12 J. .I.,elf a.c2X.1, SPONSOR'S SIGNATURE: DATE: / -/.{. ,:tcUJ 

PRINTED NAME: ___ T"e"'r"ri'-'W=ac"'h"'I"'er!... __________ TITLE: ___ "A",i",rp",o"rt,-,M"""a",na",g",e",r ____ _ 

PHONE NUMBER: __ ~4~0~2~,3~7L1 ·~7~21~O~ ________ __ 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 29
Page 140 of 341

ACIP Data Sheet Cost Estimate 

Project Description: Runway 14/32 Surface Treatment 

Norfolk Regional Airport 
Norfolk, Nebraska Jan-18 

1 LS 

2 Marking Removal 40,000 SF 

Sealant (width < 3/4") 9,000 LF 

(width ;> 3/4") 4,500 LF 

61,400 SY 

6 Pavement 40,000 SF 

7 Permanent Pavement Markings 40,000 SF 

and Administration LS $130, 

Federal (90%) $591 ,300.00 

State ( 0%) $0.00 

Local (10%) $65,700.00 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 29
Page 141 of 341

______________ ~A~C~/P~D~ATASHEET~ __ _ 
Norfo lk Regional Airport 1 Karl Stefan 
Memorial Field, Norfolk, NE 

Runway 1/19 Surface Treatment 

DISPLACE THRESHOLD AND 
MARK RUNWAY 1/19 • . ,' 

• I S -il--

JUSTIFICATION: 

, 

\ 
I 

SURFACE TREATMENT 
RUNWAY 1119 

i I 
REPLACE RUNWAY LIGHTS 

AND GUIDANCE SIGNS 

\ \ 

LOCID _ LOCAL PRIORITY 

Identify FFY that you 
desire to construct 
(FFY: Oct. 1 ~Sept . 30) 

11 

1 

FFY 19 

January 2018 

A pavement overlay was completed in 2010. Surface trealments are recommended every 5-8 years, to preserve and 
rehabilitate the pavement. Any cracks will be repaired prior 10 the surface treatment. Because the surface will be remarked , 
this is an opportune time to displace the threshold on Runway 19 as shown on the ALP. Runway lights will be replaced when 
relocated to match the new threshold location and to re-adjust spacing. The 4 light PAPI system for Runway 19 will be 
relocated as part of th is project. Guidance signs associated with the runway lighting system will also be replaced. 
COST ESTIMATE: (Attach detailed cost estimate) 

Federa l (90%) $1,476,000 State $ Local (10%) $164000 Total $1,640,000 , 
SPONSOR'S VERIFICATION: Oat. (see instruction sheet) 
For each and every project 8/22/08 - Date of approved ALP w~h project shown 
as appl icable CE Para - Date of environmental determination (ROD, FONSI, CEl, or 

5·6.4. cite CE paragraph # (307-312) in Order 1050.1 E 
N/A - Date of land acquisition or signed purchase agreement 

FAA USE ONLY NIA - Date of pavement maintenance program 
, . • . . N/A - Snow removal equipment inventory & sizing worksheet (for SRE acquisition) 

N/A - Apron sizing worksheet (for apron projects) 

--- Revenue producing facilities (for fuel farms, hangars, etc.) 
N/A - Date statement submitted for completed airs ide development 
N/A - Date statement submitted for runway approaches are clear of obstructions 

SPONSOR'S SIGNATURE( / d-
_") L- , 

I -(), . ,;/Q/tP ,A1:r-/1 ,,-" DATE: , 
PRINTED NAME: __ T~e~r~ri~W~ac~h~t~er~______ TITLE: __ ~A~i~rp~o~rtwM~an~a~g~e~r __ __ 

PHONE NUMBER: __ ~4~O~2-~3~7~1-~7~21~O~ _____ __ 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 29
Page 142 of 341

ACIP Data Sheet Cost Estimate 

Project Description: Runway 1119 Surface Treatment 

Norfolk Regional Airport 
Norfolk, Nebraska 

Item 
No. Description 

-
1 Mobilization 

- -
2 Pavement Marking Removal 

3 Crack Sealant (width < 3/4") 

4 Crack Repair (width> 3/4") 

5 Surface Treatment 

6 Temporary Pavement Markings 

7 Pavement Markings (Rwy + Twy Hold Lines) 

8 Runway Edge Lights 

9 Runway Threshold Lights 

10 Runway Distance Remaining Signs 
I-
II Hold/Guidance Signs 

12 Cable, Duct and Counterpoise 

13 Duct, Pushed 
--

14 Vault Work, Regulator, Radio Controller 

15 Relocate PAPt-4 (FAA owned) 

FAA Engineering Services (PAPI Relocation) 

Engineering and Administration 

Estimated 
Quantity 

1 

100,000 

12,000 

6,000 

68,300 

85,000 

85,000 

58 

24 

10 

8 

20,000 

1,000 

1 

1 

1 

1 

Jan·18 

Unit 
Unit Price Amount 

LS $120,000.00 $120,000.00 

SF S1.00 S100,000.00 

LF $3.00 $36,000.00 

LF $5.00 $30,000.00 

SY 55.00 $341 ,500.00 

SF 81.00 $85,000.00 

SF $1 .00 585,000.00 .-
EA 51,000.00 $58,000.00 

EA 51,000.00 $24,000.00 

EA $3,500.00 $35,000.00 

EA $2,500.00 $20,000.00 

LF $7.00 $140,000.00 

LF $20.00 $20,000.00 

LS S50,000.00 $50,000.00 

LS S100,000.00 $100,000.00 

LS $85,000.00 $85,000.00 

LS S310,500.00 $310,500.00 

Total $1 ,640,000.00 

Federal (90%) $1,476,000.00 

State ( 0%) $0.00 

Local (10%) $164,000.00 



 
             progress.  right at home. 
 
  

 
 

309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE  68701 

P402-844-2280 F402-844-2028 
www.ci.norfolk.ne.us 

 
 
April 3, 2018 
 
 
Honorable Mayor 
   and 
City Council 
 
Dear Mayor and Council: 
 
The Norfolk Planning Commission held a public hearing on April 3, 2018 to consider an 
amendment to Section 6-173 of the code to alter the minimum seer rating for residential air 
conditioners and heat pumps. 
 
The Planning Commission recommends approval of the amendment with an 8-0 vote.   
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Dan Spray, Chairman 
Norfolk Planning Commission 

 
 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 30
Page 143 of 341



ORDINANCE NO. __________ 

 

 

 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA TO AMEND 

SECTION 6-173 OF THE CODE TO ALTER THE MINIMUM SEER RATING FOR 

RESIDENTIAL AIR CONDITIONERS AND HEAT PUMPS; TO PROVIDE WHEN THIS 

ORDINANCE SHALL BE IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT; AND TO PROVIDE FOR THE 

PUBLICATION OF THIS ORDINANCE IN PAMPHLET FORM. 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF NORFOLK, 

NEBRASKA: 

 Section 1.  That Section 6-173 of the Official City Code be and the same is hereby 

amended to read as follows: 

Sec. 6-173.  Energy conservation standards. 
 

Minimum requirements are as follows: 
 

(a)    Ceiling:  R-49 insulation.   
 

(b)    Frame walls:  R-20 (combined R-value of wall elements). 
 

(c) Slab edge (on-grade):  R-10 insulation, from top of slab to 24” below finished grade. 
 

(d)    Floors (over unheated spaces):  R-38 insulation. 
 

(e)    Finished basement walls:  R-18 (Combined R-value of wall elements).             

 

(f)    Crawl spaces:  R-10 insulation.  Shall be a conditioned space.  Floor shall be 

        covered with not less than three (3) inches of concrete. 
 

(g)    Windows:  Minimum of double-glazed and maximum U-factor of .30.   
 

(h)    Doors: 
 

(1)    Sliding glass:  Double-glazed, maximum U-value of .30.                           
 

(2) Swinging:  Maximum U-value of .35 based on testing prior to installation of    

         glazing. 
 

( i )   Weatherstripping/caulking:  Whatever is necessary to minimize infiltration. 
 

( j )   HVAC equipment. 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 31

5540

Page 144 of 341



(1)    Heat pumps – Heating mode: 

                     a.      COP=2.5/1.5 (air source). 

                     b.      COP=2.5 (water source). 

(2)     Boilers and furnaces:  Combustion efficiency equals eighty-two (82) 

          percent. 

(3)     Air Conditioners/heat pumps – Cooling:  SEER minimum rating 15.0 14.0. 

(4)     Controls:  Each system controlled by thermostat; heating system capable of 

setback to fifty-five (55) Fahrenheit; cooling system capable of setup to 

eighty-five (85) Fahrenheit. 

(5)     All duct work shall be located within the conditioned envelope of the 

dwelling.  Duct work within an attic shall be considered to be in a 

conditioned space when: 

 

a) Immediately adjacent to conditioned living spaces, and  

 

b) Remaining surfaces are covered by not less than R-49 insulation.  Joints 

in duct work shall be sealed as required by HVAC equipment 

manufacturer.  

 

(k) Insulate exterior of foundation of slab-on-grade heated structures or provide a     

            thermal break between floor and exterior foundation. 

 

(l) When proposed rehabilitation of a structure exceeds 50% of current market value, 

the structure shall meet or exceed all energy code requirements adopted by the 

city. 

 

(m) Radon venting shall not be located within walls that are required to be insulated 

unless minimum R-values can be achieved. 

 

(n) A minimum R-value of R-44 shall be maintained above all exterior wall plates of 

conditioned spaces. 
  

Deviations from above requirements require approval of the code official.  

 

Section 2.  That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 

approval and publication in pamphlet form as required by law. 

 PASSED AND APPROVED  this ________ day of ___________________, 2018. 

 

ATTEST: 

       ______________________________ 

_______________________________   Josh Moenning, Mayor 

Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk 

    

       

Approved as to Form:  ____________________________ 

        Clint Schukei, City Attorney 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 31
Page 145 of 341



ZONING CHANGE
APPLICATION-FORM A

1. Applicant's Name Kerry Werner & Barbara Werner

2. Applicant's Address 84453 539th Ave. Meadow Grove, NE

3. Phone Numbers:

Home 402-634-2108 Business Cell 402-649-0769

4. E-Mail Address

5. Contact other than applicant ̂ 'Chard C. Johnson

Phone 402-371-1255 Address 701 Michigan Avenue

6. Current Zoning Requested Zoning R-2 w/P.D. Overlay

7. Location of Property 307 No. 31st. Street 306-310 No. 32nd Street

8. Legal Description Lots 2,4, and S, Block 3. Green Meadow Addition to the City of
Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska

9. Property area^^'^^^

10. Use of adjoining properties

North Agricultural

East Hospital/Tower

South Vacant

West Townhouses

[f^E©ED¥[1
7^

UJ
MAR 1 9

U

Signature of Owner

Printed Name

or

Authorized Agent

Printed Name

E-Mail Address

Richard c. Johnson

rcj@cableone.net

Return Completed forms to: Norfolk Planning Commission: 309 N 5th Street; Norfolk, NE 68701
Page 1 of 2 Rev. 05-2016

4/16/2018 Enclosure 32
Page 146 of 341

ZONING CHANGE 
APPLICATION-FORM A 

I. Applicant's Name Kerry Werner & Barbara Werner 

2. Applicant's Address 84453 539th Ave. Meadow Grove, NE 

3. Phone Numbers: 

Home 402-634-2108 Business _______ Cell 402-649-0769 

4. E-Mail Address ______________________ _ 

5. Contact other than applicant _R_i_c_h_a_rd_C_._J_o_h_n_s_o_n __________ _ 

Phone 402-371-1255 Address 701 Michigan Avenue 

6. Current Zoning ....:C....:-..:.3 _____ Requested Zoning R-2 w/P.D. Overlay 

7. Location of Property 307 No. 31st. Street 306-310 No. 32nd Street 

8. Legal Description Lots 2,4, and 5, Block 3, Green Meadow Addition to the City of 
Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska 

9. Property area 82,652 sq. ft. 

10. Use of adjoining properties 

North Agricultural South Vacant 

East HospitallTower West Townhouses 

Signature of Owner 

Printed Name 
~--------~~==~--1) ~©~ O ~~ TI or 

1\" MAR 1 9 /lg U 
L-___ ----...lL':::::l 

\ L ________________ ~ 

Authorized Agent 

Printed Name Richard . Johnson 

E-Mail Address rcj@cableone.net 

Return Completed forms to: Norfolk Planning Commission; 309 N 5th Street; Norfolk. NE 68701 
Page 1 of 2 Rev. 05-2016 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 32
Page 147 of 341

ZONING CHANGE 
JUSTIFICATION - FORM B 

1. What type of development does the Norfolk Comprehensive Plan recommend for this area? 

Town homes 

2. Does the zone change request require an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan? 

N/A 

3. Is the proposed property in the Flood Plan Hazard area as delineated under the Federal Flood Insurance 

pro~am? ~N~o~ ______________________________________________________ _ 

4. What is the reason for the zone change request? 
To develop single family residences on the subject property 

S. How would this zoning district conform with adjacent properties' zoning? 
The property to the west and north is zoned R-3. This would conform quite well. 
Property to the south is zoned C-3. 

6. What is the general character of the area? 
Generally the area is a blend of commercial and residential uses. 

7. Is adequate sewer and water available? 

Yes 

8. Does the change affect any proposed public projects? 

No 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 32
Page 148 of 341

IN 

, 

'y 
) 

RIVE 

~,,\I 

300' 
BOUNDARY 

2 , , , 
® 

RAASCH DRIVE \ 

\)\" 
"""\ '\ \. --

8 

• 

N 

NOT TO SCALE 
S: \DEPT\ENG\DEAN\FIREPLOT\20SW241-020817 .owe 

0Yv 

\<-\'~ SYv'?--'-
:\'0<:; 

, ",0 :\'\ 
\;')S 'I!;,~\ 

~\-'0'f.>f. 
C; \,'" >-w 

w 
2 ~ 

'" F 
m 
N 

n~\\ 



 
             progress.  right at home. 
 
  

 
 

309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE  68701 

P402-844-2280 F402-844-2028 
www.ci.norfolk.ne.us 

 
 
April 3, 2018 
 
 
Honorable Mayor 
   and 
City Council 
 
Dear Mayor and Council: 
 
The Norfolk Planning Commission held a public hearing on April 3, 2018 at the request of 
Kerry and Barbara Werner to consider a zoning change from C-3 (Service Commercial District) to 
R-2 (One and Two Family Residential District) on properties addressed as 307 North 31st Street 
and 306 and 310 North 32nd Street. 
 
The Planning Commission recommends approval of the request with an 8-0 vote.   
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Dan Spray, Chairman 
Norfolk Planning Commission 

 
 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 32
Page 149 of 341



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1 of 1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA; 

AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA; PROVIDING 

WHEN THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BE IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT; AND PROVIDING FOR THE 

PUBLICATION OF THIS ORDINANCE IN PAMPHLET FORM. 

  BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 

NEBRASKA:  

Section 1. That the C-3 (Service Commercial District) zoning on the following described real 

estate:  

Lots 2, 4, and 5, Block 3, Green Meadow Addition to the City of Norfolk, Madison 
County, Nebraska. 
  

is hereby changed to R-2 (One and Two Family Residential District). 
 

Section 2.  That this ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval, 

and publication in pamphlet form according to law. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this ____________ day of ________________, 2018. 

 

____________________________ 
Josh Moenning, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
__________________________ 
Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk 
 

(SEAL) 
 
 
Approved as to form: _________________________ 
                                   Clint Schukei, City Attorney 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 33

5541

Page 150 of 341



ZONING CHANGE
APPLICATION-FORM A

1. Applicant's Name Ken Funk

2. Applicant's Address P.O. Box 1287

3. Phone Numbers:

Home Business Cell 402-841-8285

4. E-Mail Address kenfunkconstructioninc@gmail.com

5. Contact other than applicant Richard C. Johnson

Phone 371 -1255 Address 701 Michigan Avenue

6. Current Zoning
I 1

Requested Zoning _|_J.

7. Location of Property 1406 Pierce Street

8. Legal Description Lot 3, Block 4. Norfolk Junction, in Norfolk. Madison County,
Nebraska

9. Property area ^>000

10. Use of adjoining properties

North Residential

East Industrial

South Mini-Storage

West Industrial

t

Signature of Owner

Printed Name

or

Authorized Agent

Printed Name

E-Mail Address

Richard C.^ohnson

rcj@cableone.net

Return Completed forms to: Norfolk Planning Commission; 309 N 5th Street. Norfolk, NE 68701
Page 1 of 2 Rev. 05-2010

4/16/2018 Enclosure 34
Page 151 of 341

ZONING CHANGE 
APPLICATION-FORM A 

l. Applicant's Name .:..K:.:e::.n:...:F:...:u=n:.::k~ _ _______________ _ 

2. Applicant' s Address ..:.P...:..O.=..:.. . .::Bc::0:.,::x:...:1:..:2:.:8:.:7 ______________ _ 

3. Phone Numbers: 

Home _______ Business _ _ _____ Cell 402-841-8285 

4. E-Mai l Address kenfunkconstructioninc@gmail.com 

5. Contact other than applicant _R_i_c_h_a_rd_C_._J_o_h_n_s_o_n __________ _ 

Phone 371-1255 Address 701 Michigan Avenue 

6. Current Zoning _R_-_2 _____ Requested Zoning _1-_1 ________ _ 

7. Location of Property _1_4:...:0:...:6_P~ie...:.r...:.c.:.e:...:S:..:t:..:re.:.e.::..t::...-____________ _ 

8. Legal Description Lot 3, Block 4, Norfolk Junction, in Norfolk, Madison County, 
Nebraska 

9. Property area 9,000 Sq. Ft. 

10. Use of adjoining properties 

North Residential South Mini-Storage 

East Industrial West Industrial 

Signature of Owner 

mfr~~bU ~ b~ 
lin) I MAR 1 S /1& 
I I 
L I 

Printed Name 

or 

Authorized Agent 

Prin ted Name Richard C. Johnson 

E-Mail Address rcj@cableone.net 

Return Completed forms to : Norfolk Planning Commission; 309 N 5th Street; Norfolk, NE 68701 
Page 1 of 2 Rev. 05-2016 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 34
Page 152 of 341

ZONING CHANGE 
JUSTIFICATION - FORM B 

I. What type of development does the Norfolk Comprehensive Plan recommend for this area? 

Single Family Residential 

2. Does the zone change request require an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan? 

N/A 

3. Is the proposed property in the Flood Plan Hazard area as delineated under the Federal Flood Insurance 

pro~? ~N~o~ ________________________________________________________________ _ 

4. What is the reason for the zone change request? 
Developer would like to build a building for his business on the lot and the lot to the 
south. 

5. How would this zoning district conform with adjacent properties' zoning? 
The zoning district would conform quite well to the 1-1 zoning south and west. North 
and east are zoned R-2. The use East appears to be 1-1. 

6. What is the general character of the area? 
Generally, the area is a blend of single family residential and light industrial uses. 

7. Is adequate sewer and water available? 

Yes 

8. Does the change affect any proposed public projects? 

No 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 34
Page 153 of 341

I 

~ 'A"A 
-VIVIF'\T " 

, ,~ 
VL. 

10 
r----l·~ .. 

21 
'W 

2 20 

J 19 

4 lB 

5 17 

6 16 

1@ 24 
f------1 J (3: 

2 22 

J 21 

0N 20 4 

5 19 5 

6 lB 6 

7 17 '--_--' 16'- [ '" '7 L-_---' 

"' "'" ~ NORTHWESTERN 

----------~ ~ 

BO' 

1 • 12 1 13 

11 2 
or 

14 2 

10 J 10 J J 

or 

ORTATION COMPANY 
CHICAGO AND NORTH WESTERN ~RANSPORTATION COMPANY 

INGTON AVENUE 

II II II '-1 '-1 '-1 ~I ~I ,"..:.1 ~I I Ir 

NOT TO SCALE 
34NW241 031318 

r 

0 
« 
0 

'" 
...J 
« 

'" r-

2 
[",r--

oo 
::::J 
0 

wAL'NUT ~ 

4 

5 

I 



 
             progress.  right at home. 
 
  

 
 

309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE  68701 

P402-844-2280 F402-844-2028 
www.ci.norfolk.ne.us 

 
 
April 3, 2018 
 
 
Honorable Mayor 
   and 
City Council 
 
Dear Mayor and Council: 
 
The Norfolk Planning Commission held a public hearing on April 3, 2018 at the request of 
Ken Funk to consider a zoning change from R-2 (One and Two Family Residential District) to I-1 
(Light Industrial District) on property addressed as 1406 Pierce Street. 
 
The Planning Commission recommends approval of the request with a 6-2 vote.   
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Dan Spray, Chairman 
Norfolk Planning Commission 

 
 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 34
Page 154 of 341



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1 of 1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA; 

AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA; PROVIDING 

WHEN THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BE IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT; AND PROVIDING FOR THE 

PUBLICATION OF THIS ORDINANCE IN PAMPHLET FORM. 

  BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 

NEBRASKA:  

Section 1. That the R-2 (One and Two Family Residential District) zoning on the following 

described real estate:  

Lot 3, Block 4, Norfolk Junction, in Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, 
  

is hereby changed to I-1 (Light Industrial District). 
 

Section 2.  That this ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval, 

and publication in pamphlet form according to law. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this ____________ day of ________________, 2018. 

 

____________________________ 
Josh Moenning, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
__________________________ 
Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk 
 

(SEAL) 
 
 
Approved as to form: _________________________ 
                                   Clint Schukei, City Attorney 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 35

5542

Page 155 of 341



ZONING CHANGE
APPLICATION-FORM A

1. Applicant's Name Ewin Properties, LLC

2. Applicant's Address 3207 South 12th Street, Box 101

3. Phone Numbers:

Home 371-0667 Business Cell

4. E-Mail Address Terri Ewin <tewin71@gmail.com>

Richard C. Johnson5. Contact other than applicant

Phone 371-1255 Address 701 Michigan Avenue

6. Current Zoning
I 1Requested Zoning

7. Location of Property 915 Bonita Drive

8. Legal Description See Attached

9. Property area Acres

10. Use of adjoining properties

North Sand Pit

East Residential

South Mobile Home Park

West Mobile Home Park

D

Signature of Owner

Printed Name

or

Authorized Agent

Printed Name

E-Mail Address

Richard C. Johnson

rcj@cableone.net

Return Completed forms to: Norfolk Planning Commission; 309 N 5th Street; Norfolk, NE 68701
Page 1 of 2 Rev. 05-2016

4/16/2018 Enclosure 36
Page 156 of 341

ZONING CHANGE 
APPLICATION-FORM A 

I. Applicant's Name Ewin Properties, LLC 

2. Applicant' s Address 3207 South 12th Street, Box 101 

3. Phone Numbers: 

Home 371-0667 Business _______ Cell ___ ___ _ 

4. E-Mail AddressTerriEwin<tewin71@gmail.com> 

5. Contact other than applicant _R_i_c_h_a_rd_C_,_J_o_h_n_s_o_n __________ _ 

Phone 371-1255 Address 701 Michigan Avenue 

6. Current Zoning _R_-M ______ Requested Zoning _1-_1 ________ _ 

7. Location of Property .:.9...:1.:.5...:B=-.:.o...:n...:ita=-:D:...:..:ri..:.v.::e _ ____________ _ 

8 . Legal Description .!:S:!:e::.e.!:A~tt~a~ch~e~d~ ________________ _ 

9. Property area 2.80 Acres 

10. Use of adjoining properties 

North Sand Pit South Mobile Home Park 

East Residential West Mobile Home Park 

Signature of Owner 

Printed Name 

or 

Authorized Agent 

Printed Name Richard C. ;Johnson 

L ________________ ~ E-Mail Address rcj@cableone.net 

Return Completed lorms to: Norfolk Planning Commission; 309 N 5th Street; Norfolk, NE 68701 
Page 1 of 2 Rev. 05-2016 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 36
Page 157 of 341

ZONING CHANGE 
JUSTIFICATION - FORM B 

1. What type of development does the Norfolk Comprehensive Plan recommend for this area? 

Multi-Family Residential 

2. Does the zone change request require an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan? 

N/A 

3. Is the proposed property in the Flood Plan Hazard area as delineated under the Federal Flood Insurance 

program? No. Property Is In Zone x. 

4. What is the reason for the zone change request? 
The Developers would like to fill the existing lagoon and provide covered (lean-to) 
parking for recreational vehicles, both accessory and rental 

5. How would this zoning district conform with adjacent properties' zoning? 
East, West, and South of the property Is a mobile home park owned by the 
Developers. North of the property Is zoned 1-3. 

6. What is the general character of the area? 
The area is generally industrial in nature with a mobile home park owned by the 
Developers and a single family residence. 

7. Is adequate sewer and water available? 
Sewer is available. Sewer and water are not needed for the proposed use. 

8. Does the change affect any proposed public projects? 

No. 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 36
Page 158 of 341

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

A tract of land lying wholly in lot 2, Ewin Properties Addition, Madison County, 
Nebraska, being a part of the N 1/2 of the SW 1/4 of Section 3, Township 23 North, Range 1 
West of the 6th P.M., Madison County, Nebraska. Said tract of land is more particularly 
described as follows: 

Referring to the Northwest Corner of said lot 2, thence proceeding East, along the 
North line of said lot 2, on an assumed bearing of South 89 degrees 45 minutes 35 seconds 
East, 315.00 feet to the point of beginning; thence continuing South 89 degrees 45 minutes 35 
seconds East, along the North line of said lot 2, 400.00 feet; thence South 01 degrees 26 
minutes 00 seconds West, 304.50 feet; thence South 89 degrees 57 minutes 14 seconds West, 
400.08 feet; thence North 01 degrees 26 minutes 19 seconds East, 306.50 feet to the point of 
beginning. Said tract of land contains 2.80 acres, more or less. 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 36
Page 159 of 341

ui'-l---

::i 

_ _ --iSEC.L--3 ,- --

300' BOUNDARY 

N 

NOT TO SCALE 
a:\daan\f1raplot\OJsw231 -0301 1 B.dwg 

SHERW OD RD. 



 
             progress.  right at home. 
 
  

 
 

309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE  68701 

P402-844-2280 F402-844-2028 
www.ci.norfolk.ne.us 

 
 
April 3, 2018 
 
 
Honorable Mayor 
   and 
City Council 
 
Dear Mayor and Council: 
 
The Norfolk Planning Commission held a public hearing on April 3, 2018 at the request of 
Ewin Properties, LLC to consider a zoning change from R-M (Mobile Home District) to I-1 (Light 
Industrial District) on property generally located ¼ mile east of the intersection of Highway 81 and 
Bonita Drive. 
 
After review of the application, the Planning Commission advises a zone change to the less 
intensive district of C-3 (Service Commercial District). The applicant proposes to fill in the no 
longer used lagoon, and add lean-to storage for campers. The use is permitted in C-3 zoning with 
the addition of a Conditional Use Permit. 
 
The Planning Commission recommends approval of a zone change from R-M (Mobile 
Home District) to C-3 (Service Commercial District) with an 8-0 vote.   
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Dan Spray, Chairman 
Norfolk Planning Commission 

 
 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 36
Page 160 of 341



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1 of 1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA; 

AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA; PROVIDING 

WHEN THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BE IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT; AND PROVIDING FOR THE 

PUBLICATION OF THIS ORDINANCE IN PAMPHLET FORM. 

  BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 

NEBRASKA:  

Section 1. That the R-M (Mobile Home District) zoning on the following described real estate:  

A tract of land lying wholly in Lot 2, Ewin Properties Addition, Madison County, Nebraska, 
being a part of the N 1/2 of the SW 1/4 of Section 3, Township 23 North, Range 1 West of 
the 6th P.M., Madison County, Nebraska.  Said tract of land is more particularly described as 
follows:  
Referring to the Northwest Corner of said Lot 2, thence proceeding East, along the North line 
of said Lot 2, on an assumed bearing of South 89 degrees 45 minutes 35 seconds East, 315.00 
feet to the point of beginning; thence continuing South 89 degrees 45 minutes 35 seconds East, 
along the North line of said Lot 2, 400.00 feet; thence South 01 degrees 26 minutes 00 seconds 
West, 304.50 feet; thence South 89 degrees 57 minutes 14 seconds West, 400.08 feet; thence 
North 01 degrees 26 minutes 19 seconds East, 306.50 feet to the point of beginning. Said tract 
of land contains 2.80 acres, more or less, 
 

is hereby changed to I-1 (Light Industrial District). 
 

Section 2.  That this ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval, 

and publication in pamphlet form according to law. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this ____________ day of ________________, 2018. 

 

____________________________ 
Josh Moenning, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
__________________________ 
Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk 
 

(SEAL) 
 
 
Approved as to form: _________________________ 
                                   Clint Schukei, City Attorney 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 37

5543

Page 161 of 341



ZONING CHANGE
APPLICATION-FORM A

1. Applicanfs Name Vandelav Investments. L.L.C.

2. Applicant's Address P.O. Box 22151. Lincoln. NE 68542-2151

3. Phone Numbers;

Home Business 402-826-9393 Cell

4. E-Mail Address

5. Contact other than applicant Ben Conover

Phone 402-580-1508 Address 314 N. 5^ St.. Norfolk. NE 68701

Contact other than applicant JEO Consulting Group. Inc

Phone 402-371-6416 Address 803 W. Norfolk Ave.. Norfolk. NE 68701

6. Current Zoning t-2 Heavy Industrial District Requested Zoning R-3-Muitiplv Family
Residential District

7. Location of Property In the NE1/4 of the NE1/4 of Section 34. T24N. R1W of the Sixth P.M..
Madison County. Nebraska

8. Legal Description. (See Attached)

9. Property area_ 1.19 Acres fmore or less)

10. Use of adjoining properties

North Northwestern Ave.

South Railroad fl-2)

East Mead Farm and Ranch. Home Farm and Ranch Buildino SuppIv fl-2)

West Brad's Repair (1-2)

Signature of Owi

Printed Name

Return Completed Forms to: Norfolk Planning Commission; 309 N 5™ Street; Norfolk, NE 68701

Page 1 of 2

JAN 1 9

4/16/2018 Enclosure 38
Page 162 of 341

ZONING CHANGE 
APPLICATION-FORM A 

1. Applicant's Name _--,V",a"-,n""de",l",aLY-"-ln,-!v""es",t",m",e",,n,,,ts,,-. .!:L",. L",.C~. _____ _ 

2. Applicant's Address P.O. Box 22151 . Lincoln. NE 68542-2151 

3. Phone Num bers: 

Home _____ _ Business __ -=4"'0,.2->-8"'2"'6""'-9"'3""9"'3 _ ___ Cell ______ _ 

4. E-Mail Address ________________________ _ 

5. Contact other than applicant __ --'B"'e"-n'-'C"'o"'n-'-'o'-'-v-"e'--r _ _______ _ 

Phone _---"'40"'2 .... -"'58"'0'--1"",5"'0"'8 __ _ Address _--",31.!.:4,-,N",.,-,5,-th--,S",t~ .. ,-,N~0,-"rfo",l""k . ...!.N""E,-,6",8,-,-7-",0-,-1 __ _ 

Contact other than applicant __ ----"J""E"'O"'C"'o"'n"'s"'u"'lti"-'n""o.",G""r"'ou"'p"" . .!!1 n-'-'c'--______ _ _ _ 

Phone_~4~02~-~3~71'---~64~1~6~ ___ Address 803 W. Norfolk Ave., Norfolk. NE 68701 

6. Current Zoning 1-2 Heavy Industrial District Requested Zoning R-3-Multioly Family 
Residential District 

7. Location of Property In the NE1 i4 of the NE1 i4 of Section 34, T24N, R1W of the Sixth P.M., 
Madison County. Nebraska 

8. Legal Description ______ --'("'S"'e"'e..!,A"'tt"'a"'ccehe"'d"') ________ _ 

9. Property area _____ "'1....!.1 ",,9 ,!OA",c",re",s--,(!!.m",o",re,-,o",r....!l",es",s!l,) __ 

10. Use of adjoining properties 

North Northwestern Ave. 
South Railroad (1-2) 
East Mead Farm and Ranch, Home Farm and Ranch Building Supply (1-2) 
West Brad's Repair (1-2) 

Signature of Ow r.p<"'--____ ....",-__ _ 

Printed Name 

Return Completed Forms to: Norfolk Planning Commission; 309 N 5TH Street; Norfolk, NE 68701 

Page 1 of 2 ~ © ~ U 'W' lli; 1\ I: 
JAN 1 9 u 

I_ .. ~~_-_-_-_---,_L.::J----,I 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 38
Page 163 of 341

ZONING CHANGE 

JUSTIFICATION - FORM B 

1. What type of development does the Norfolk Comprehensive Plan recommend for this area? 

This area is located in the ''Ta-Ha-Zouka'' district, which currently provides housing 
options that are predominately single-family, detached housing. The Comprehensive 
Plan recommends that new residential developments within this district should encourage 
the maintenance and improvement of existing residential homes and residential 
neighborhoods within the same areas already developed for this purpose. 

2. Does the zone change request require an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan? 

The zone change request does not require an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan 

3. Is the proposed property in the Flood Plan Hazard area as delineated under the Federal 
Flood Insurance program? 

No, the proposed property is not in the Flood Plan Hazard area. 

4. What is the reason for the zone change request? 

The reason for the zone change request is to change the zoning from 1-2 to R-3 in order to 
renovate the existing historical railroad Depot building into apartments for multi-family 
housing. 

5. How would this zoning district conform with adjacent properties' zoning? 

The current landowners of adjacent properties have 1-2 zoning, but the current land use 
appears to have a low enough density to conform to R -3 zoning. 

6. What is the general character of the area? 

The general character of the area has multiple personalities. Although it is zoned 
Industrial, directly across the street you can find antique shopping, dining and live music 
with special events being hosted by the area businesses. There currently exists residential 
housing and apartments in the near vicinity. This renovation provides a great opportunity 
to revive historical "Norfolk Junction", a separate town that was established in 1879. 

7. Is adequate sewer and water available? 

Adequate sewer and water is available. 

8. Does the change affect any proposed public projects? 

This zoning change does not affect any proposed public projects. 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 38
Page 164 of 341

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: (RECORDED IN BOOK 2016, PAGE 03046) 

A TRACI' OF LAND LYING WHOLLY IN THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST 
QUARTER OF SECTION TlDRTY-FOUR (34), TOWNSHIP1WENTY-FOUR (24) NORTH, RANGE 
ONE (1) WEST OF THE 6TH P.M., MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, MORE PARTICULARLY 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE SOUTH RIGIn' OF WAY LINE OF NORTHWESTERN 
AVENUE, SAID POINT BEING 92.62 FEET WEST OF THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE 
OF SECOND STREET PROJECfED, WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF NORTHWESTERN AVENUE; 
THENCE SOUTHERLY ON A LINE DRAWN PERPENDICULAR WITH NORTHWESTERN 
AVENUE AND DISTANCE 95.0 FEET WESTERLY ON THE WESTERLY MAIN FACE OF AN 
OFFICE BunDlNG OF THE CHICAGO AND NORTHWESTERN RAILWAY COMPANY, AS NOW 
LOCATED WITIDN THE SOUTHERLY EXTENSION OF SAID SECOND STREET, A DISTANCE OF 
139.2 FEET TO A POINT 23.2 FEEf NORTHERLY, MEASURED AT RIGHr ANGLES, FROM THE 
CENTER LINE OF SPUR TRACK I.C.C. NUMBER 123 OF SAID RAlLWAY COMPANY, AS NOW 
LOCATED AND ESTABLISHED; THENCE WESTERLY, ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH THE 
CENTER LINE OF SAID SPUR TRACK, A DISTANCE OF 318.2 FEEf TO A POINT ON A LINE 
DRAWN PERPENDICULAR TO THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF NORTHWESTERN AVENUE AND 5.0 
FEET WESTERLY OF THE WESTERLY MAIN FACE OF THE DEPOT BUILDING OF SAID 
RAILWAY COMPANY, AS SAID BtmDING IS NOW LOCATED; THENCE NORTHERLY, ALONG 
SAID PERPENDICULAR LINE, A DISTANCE OF 139.0 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID 
NORTHWESTERN AVENUE; THENCE EASTERLY, ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 
318.2 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING AND THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER 
OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION TmRTY-FOUR (34), TOWNSIDP TWENTY-FOUR 
(24) NORTH, RANGE ONE (1) WEST OF THE 6TH P.M., MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA 
BOUNDED AS FOLLOWS: THE EASTERLY 55 FEET (BEING MEASURED PARALLEL WITH THE 
SOUTHERLY LINE OF NORTHWESTERN AVENUE) OF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED TRACT: 
ON THE NORTHERLY SIDE BY THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF NORTHWESTERN AVENUE; ON 
THE EASTERLY SIDE BY A LINE DRAWN AT RIGIn' ANGLES TO SAID SOUTHERLY LINE OF 
NORTHWESTERN AVENUE AT A POINT THEREON DISTANCE 410.42 FEET (410.82 PEEr 
IvIEASURED) WESTERLY FROM IT'S INTERSECTION WITH THE SOUTHERLY EXTENSION OF 
THE WEST LINE OF SECOND STREET; ON THE SOUTHERLY SIDE BY A LINE PARALLEL 
WITH A DISTANCE 25.0 FEET NORTHERLY, MEASURED AT RIGHr ANGLES, FROM THE 
CENTER LINE OF THE MAIN TRACK OF THE CmCAGO AND NORTHWESTERN 
TRANSPORTATION COMPANY, AS SAID TRACK IS NOW LOCATED; AND ON THE WESTERLY 
SIDE BY A LINE DRAWN PARALLEL WITH THE WEST LINE OF SAID QUARTER-QUARTER 
SECTION THROUGH A POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID NORTHWESTERN AVENUE 
AT A POINT THEREON DISTANT 190.0 PEEr (190.2 FEET MEASURED) EASTERLY FROM IT'S 
INTERSECTION WITH THE WEST LINE OF SAID QUARTER-QUARTER. 

Legal Description.doc 



Conover Amended Statement.doc 

 
 
Amended April 4, 2018 
 
 
 
Over the past 4 years, Conover Properties has successfully renovated 3 old buildings in Pierce and Tilden 
into multi-family housing.  We are beginning on our 4th renovation in Madison which will consist of 12 
apartments.  The Depot building located at 211 West Northwestern Avenue in Norfolk is one of the most 
historic buildings in our community.  Our goal is to renovate this building into 10 to 12 high end 
apartments for multi-family living as we have successfully done before. 
 
Norfolk is in need of nice housing and we have seen very high demand after completion of similar projects.  
We believe this building will be a great candidate to repurpose as a multi-family building providing high 
end housing to many families.  It will also dress up an area of town which is deemed blighted and 
substandard.  During the renovation, we intend to keep the outside of the building similar to what it has 
always been to maintain the historical significance.  

4/16/2018 Enclosure 38
Page 165 of 341



GRAPHIC SCALE
0 20 40105

NOTE:  ALL BEARINGS ARE ASSUMED.

REVIEW DATE

REVIEW BY

REVISIONS

FIELD BOOK

SURVEY FILE NO.

FIELD CREW

FILE NAME

DATE

PROJECT NO.

DRAWN BY

CP

NORFOLK N-45

1 OF 2

M
A

D
I
S

O
N

 
C

O
U

N
T

Y
,
 
N

E
B

R
A

S
K

A

S
E

C
.
 
3

4
,
 
T

2
4

N
,
 
R

1
W

 
O

F
 
T

H
E

 
S

I
X

T
H

 
P

.
M

.
,

L
O

C
A

T
E

D
 
I
N

 
T

H
E

 
N

E
1

/
4

 
O

F
 
T

H
E

 
N

E
1

/
4

 
O

F
 

N
O

R
F

O
L

K
 
J

U
N

C
T

I
O

N

F
I
N

A
L

 
P

L
A

N
N

E
D

 
D

E
V

E
L

O
P

M
E

N
T

KSL

2/26/18

sv172106.dwg

R172106

 

REV. 4-4-18

P
:\S

ur
ve

yi
ng

\1
72

10
6.

00
 - 

C
on

ov
er

 P
D

 O
ve

rla
y\

6 
S

ur
ve

y\
D

ra
w

in
gs

\s
v1

72
10

6.
dw

g,
 o

n 
4/

4/
20

18
 1

1:
12

 A
M

.

Ph: 402.371.6416
PO Box 1424
Norfolk, NE  68702

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:

SURVEYOR'S REPORT:

FINAL PLANNED DEVELOPMENT
NORFOLK JUNCTION

LOCATED IN THE NE1/4 OF THE NE1/4 OF SECTION 34, T24N, R1W
OF THE SIXTH P.M. MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA

NORTHWESTERN AVENUE

1.19 ACRES

 BENCHMARKS - NAVD88

POINT
NAME NORTHING EASTING ELEVATION LONG DESCRIPTION

BM-1 N/A N/A 1519.15
SET CHAIR NAILS IN THE SOUTH FACE OF A
LIGHT POLE AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF
PROPERTY

BM-2 N/A N/A 1519.25
SET CHAIR NAILS IN THE SOUTH FACE OF THE
FIRST LIGHT POLE EAST OF THE WEST DRIVE
TO PROPERTY

VICINITY MAP

LEGEND:

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

NOTE:

NEITHER THE OWNER (CLIENT) NOR JEO CONSULTING GROUP, INC.
ASSUMES ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR UTILITY LOCATIONS BEING
ACCURATELY SHOWN OR NOT SHOWN ON THE PLANS.  A REQUEST
FOR UTILITY LOCATES WAS MADE FOR THIS LOCATION AS PER THE
ONE-CALL NOTIFICATION SYSTEM ACT.
(DATE:  1-09-18    TICKET NO.:  180080268).

UTILITIES SHOWN ARE FROM MAPS PROVIDED BY THE UTILITY
PROVIDERS.

THE EXACT LOCATION AND/OR SIZE OF UNDERGROUND FEATURES
MAY NOT BE ACCURATELY, COMPLETELY AND RELIABLY DEPICTED.
FIELD VERIFICATION OF UTILITIES MAY BE REQUIRED.
CONTRACTOR(S) SHALL NOTIFY THE RESPECTIVE UTILITY
COMPANIES BEFORE COMMENCING ANY WORK.

THIS PLANNED DEVELOPMENT GIVES THE FOLLOWING RELIEF FROM SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS:

POINT
NAME NORTHING EASTING LONG DESCRIPTION

CP-1 118059.11 122837.68 1" OPEN TOP PIPE

CP-2 117921.92 122845.10 1" OPEN TOP PIPE

CP-3 117940.57 123217.82 5/8" REBAR

CP-4 118079.58 123210.27 1" OPEN TOP PIPE

CP-5 118062.23 122892.60 DRILL HOLE IN TOP OF CURB

CP-6 117923.33 122900.01 1/2" REBAR

MADISON COUNTY LOW DISTORTION PROJECTION

PROJECTION: TRANSVERSE MERCATOR

SCALE FACTOR: 1.0000751

CENTRAL MERIDIAN: -97°30'00"

LATITUDE OF ORIGIN: 41°55'00"

FALSE NORTHING: 25,000 METERS (82,020.833 US FEET)

 FALSE EASTING: 30,000 METERS (98,425.000 US FEET)

2N
D

 S
T.

NOTES:

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE:

4/16/2018 Enclosure 38
Page 166 of 341



REVIEW DATE

REVIEW BY

REVISIONS

FIELD BOOK

SURVEY FILE NO.

FIELD CREW

FILE NAME

DATE

PROJECT NO.

DRAWN BY

CP

NORFOLK N-45

2 OF 2

M
A

D
I
S

O
N

 
C

O
U

N
T

Y
,
 
N

E
B

R
A

S
K

A

S
E

C
.
 
3

4
,
 
T

2
4

N
,
 
R

1
W

 
O

F
 
T

H
E

 
S

I
X

T
H

 
P

.
M

.
,

L
O

C
A

T
E

D
 
I
N

 
T

H
E

 
N

E
1

/
4

 
O

F
 
T

H
E

 
N

E
1

/
4

 
O

F
 

N
O

R
F

O
L

K
 
J

U
N

C
T

I
O

N

F
I
N

A
L

 
P

L
A

N
N

E
D

 
D

E
V

E
L

O
P

M
E

N
T

KSL

2/26/18

sv172106.dwg

R172106

 

P
:\S

ur
ve

yi
ng

\1
72

10
6.

00
 - 

C
on

ov
er

 P
D

 O
ve

rla
y\

6 
S

ur
ve

y\
D

ra
w

in
gs

\s
v1

72
10

6.
dw

g,
 o

n 
4/

4/
20

18
 1

1:
12

 A
M

.

Ph: 402.371.6416
PO Box 1424
Norfolk, NE  68702

FINAL PLANNED DEVELOPMENT
NORFOLK JUNCTION

LOCATED IN THE NE1/4 OF THE NE1/4 OF SECTION 34, T24N, R1W
OF THE SIXTH P.M. MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA

4/16/2018 Enclosure 38
Page 167 of 341

DEDICATION & WAIVER 

WE, CONOVER PROPERTIES, LLC ARE THE OWNERS OF THE TRACT OF LAND DESCRIBED IN THE SURVEYOR'S STATEMENT AND WE 
HAVE CAUSED TO BE MADE A SURVEY AND PLANNED DEVELOPMENT OF SAID TRACT OF LAND AS SHOWN HEREIN. SAID TRACT 
OF LAND SHALL BE HEREINAFTER BE KNOWN AS NORFOLK JUNCTION LOCATED IN THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 34, TOWNSHIP 24 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST OF THE SIXTH P.M., MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, 

CONOVER PROPERTIES, LLC 

BENJAMIN CONOVER, MEMBER 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF NOTARY 

STATE OF NEBRASKA) 
)SS 

COUNTY OF MADISON) 

ON THIS ___ DAY OF _________ , 2018, BEFORE ME, THE UNDERSIGNED, A NOTARY PUBLIC, DULY COMMISSIONED AND 
QUALIFIED FOR SAID COUNTY AND STATE, APPEARED BENJAMIN CONOVER. MEMBER OF CONOVER PROPERTIES. LLC. TO BE 
PERSONALLY KNOWN TO BE THE IDENTICAL PERSON WHO EXECUTED THE FOREGOING INSTRUMENT, AND ACKNOWLEDGED THE 
SIGNING THEREOF TO BE HIS VOLUNTARY ACT AND DEED. 

WITNESS MY HAND AND OFFICIAL SEAL ON THE DATE LAST WRITTEN 

NOTARY PUBLIC (PRINTED NAME) 

NOTARY PUBLIC (SIGNATURE) 

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES: 

CONSENT OF LIENHOLDER 

WE. MADISON COUNTY BANK. BEING LIENHOLDERS OF THE DESCRIBED TRACT OF LAND. HEREBY APPROVE AND AGREE TO THE 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT OF NORFOLK JUNCTION LOCATED IN THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF 
SECTION 34, TOWNSHIP 24 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST OF THE SIXTH P.M., MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA. 

MADISON COUNTY BANK 

CHRIS BRUMMELS, VICE PRESIDENT 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF NOTARY 

STATE OF NEBRASKA) 
)SS 

COUNTY OF MADISON) 

ON THIS ___ DAY OF _________ , 2018, BEFORE ME, THE UNDERSIGNED, A NOTARY PUBLIC, DULY COMMISSIONED AND 
QUALIFIED FOR SAID COUNTY AND STATE. APPEARED CHRIS BRUMMELS. VICE PRESIDENT OF MADISON COUNTY BANK. TO BE 
PERSONALLY KNOWN TO BE THE IDENTICAL PERSON WHO EXECUTED THE FOREGOING INSTRUMENT, AND ACKNOWLEDGED THE 
SIGNING THEREOF TO BE HIS VOLUNTARY ACT AND DEED. 

WITNESS MY HAND AND OFFICIAL SEAL ON THE DATE LAST WRITTEN 

NOTARY PUBLIC (PRINTED NAME) 

NOTARY PUBLIC (SIGNATURE) 

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES: 

PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVAL 

THE FOREGOING AND WITHIN PLANNED DEVELOPMENT, DEDICATION AND INSTRUMENT WERE APPROVED BY THE 
PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, 

NEBRASKA, THIS ___ DAY OF ___________ , 2018. 

CHAIRMAN (SIGNATURE) 

(PRINTED NAME) 

CITY COUNCIL APPROVAL 

THE FOREGOING AND WITHIN PLANNED DEVELOPMENT, DEDICATION AND INSTRUMENT WERE APPROVED BY THE 
HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA BY RESOLUTION 
DULY PASSED ON THE ___ DAY OF ______________________ , 2018. 

CITY CLERK 
ELIZABETH DECK 

MAYOR 
JOSH MOENNING 

REGISTER OF DEEDS 

STATE OF NEBRASKA) 
)SS 

COUNTY OF MADISON) 

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THIS INSTRUMENT WAS FILED FOR RECORD IN THE 
REGISTER OF DEEDS OFFICE AT _________ .M. ON THE ______ DAY OF 
________ . 2018. 

REGISTER OF DEEDS 

• 

JEO CONSULTING GROUP INC 

I , 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 38
Page 168 of 341

8 BUILDING AMERICA" 

February 5, 2018 

VIA EMAIL ONLY:vgrimes@ci.norfolk.ne.us 

City of Norfolk 
Planning Commission 
Attn: Valerie Grimes 
309 N 5'" Street 
Norfolk, NE 68701 

Re: Comments to Proposed Zoning Change to R-3 (Multiple Family Residential District) at 
211 West Northwestern Avenue (the "Project") 

Dear Ms. Grimes: 

Thank you for allowing Union Pacific Railroad Company ("UP") the opportunity to submit the 
following comments on the above-referenced Project. UP is a Delaware corporation that owns and 
operates a common carrier railroad network in the western half of the United States, including the State of 
Nebraska. UP's rail network is vital to the econom ic health of Nebraska and the nation as a whole and its 
rail service to customers in Nebraska is crucial to the future success and growth of those customers. 

The proposed Project location is adjacent to UP's property and railroad operations. Any land 
planning decis ions should consider that train volumes near the Project area may increase in the future. 
UP also asks that the City and the applicant keep in mind that this is an active rail corridor and nearby 
land uses shou ld be compatible with this conti nui ng rail use. 

Increased Traffic Impact 

Rail crossing safety is critical to the public and to UP. Any increase in traffic from the Project 
may render inadequate the current safety devices in place on the nearby at-grade crossings. Additionally, 
an increase of pedestrian and vehicular traffic may conflict with train operations causing trains to proceed 
more slowly through the City, and/or make more frequent emergency stops, which wou ld make rail 
service less effective and efficient. Should this Project be approved, UP requests that the Project 
developer and the City examine any increase in vehicular and pedestrian traffic and the impacts on the 
nearby at-grade road crossings to see if any additional mitigation measures should be included in the 
Proj ect. 

Trespass ing 

Any increase in pedestrian traffic will increase the likelihood of trespass ing onto the railroad 
right-of-way . UP requests that the developer and the City examine the Project impacts associated with 
the increased likelihood of trespassing and set fOlth appropriate mitigation measures. The developer 
should install vandal resistant fencing at least 8 feet or taller (without impai ring vi sibility), pavement 
markings and " no trespassing" signs designed to prevent individuals ii·om trespassing onto the railroad 
tracks. All pedestrians and cyclists should be directed to use designated pedestrian rail crossings by 

UNION PACIFIC RAILROAD 

1400 Douglas Sireol 
Omaha, Nebraska 68179 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 38
Page 169 of 341

utilizing appropriate signage and paths. Buffers and setbacks shou ld also be required adjacent to the 
right-of-way. 

Noise and Vibration Impact 

UP's 24-hour rail operations generate the noise and vibration one would expect from an active 
railway. Any increase in pedestrian and veh icular traffic over and around at-grade crossings may result in 
additiona l horn use by railroad employees. As a mitigation measure, the developer should disclose to the 
genera l public, including residents of the proposed development, the daytime and nighttime noise levels 
naturally occurring with rail service, including sounding horns at vehicle crossings where req uired, as 
well as the pre-existing and predictably-occurring vibration. These disclosures should note that train 
volume may increase in the future. The Project' s development plans should also include appropriate 
mitigation measures, such as construction of sound barrier walls or landscape buffers, and/or use of 
sound-proofing materials and techniques. 

Drainage and Pro ject Construction 

UP requests the City ensure that the drainage plan relating to the Project does not shift storm 
water drainage toward UP property and infrastructure. Any runoff onto UP's property may cause damage 
to its facilities resulting in a potential public safety issue. If the Project is approved, we ask that the City 
require the applicant to mitigate all safety risks and the impacts of the railroad 's 24-hour operations 
during the construction of the Project, including contacting UP to arrange for f1aggers for work performed 
within twenty-five feet (25') of the nearest track. 

UP appreciates the developer and the City giving due consideration to the above concerns, as th is 
proposed Project may result in impacts to land use and public safety. Please give notice to UP of all 
futu re hearings and other matters with respect to the Project as fo llows: 

Anna Palmer - Analyst 
Union Pacific Railroad Company . 
1400 Douglas Street - STOP 1690 Omaha, NE 68179 
(402) 544-8554 
acpa lmer@up.com 

Please do not hesitate to contact Anna Palmer if you have any questions or concerns. 

cc: Anna Palmer 

Sincerely, 

Patrick R. McGill 
Sen ior Counsel 
Union Pacific Railroad Company 



 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO._________ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, AMENDING 

THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA, AND PROVIDING WHEN THIS 

ORDINANCE SHALL BE IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT; AND PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF 

THIS ORDINANCE IN PAMPHLET FORM. 

  BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 

NEBRASKA: 

Section 1.  That the R-3 (Multiple Family Residential District) zoning on the following described real 

estate: 

A TRACT OF LAND LYING WHOLLY IN THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER 
OF SECTION THIRTY-FOUR (34), TOWNSHIP TWENTY-FOUR (24) NORTH, RANGE ONE (1) WEST OF 
THE 6TH P.M., MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF NORTHWESTERN 
AVENUE, SAID POINT BEING 92.62 FEET WEST OF THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF 
SECOND STREET PROJECTED, WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF NORTHWESTERN AVENUE; THENCE 
SOUTHERLY ON A LINE DRAWN PERPENDICULAR WITH NORTHWESTERN AVENUE AND DISTANCE 
95.0 FEET WESTERLY ON THE WESTERLY MAIN FACE OF AN OFFICE BUILDING OF THE CHICAGO 
AND NORTHWESTERN RAILWAY COMPANY, AS NOW LOCATED WITHIN THE SOUTHERLY 
EXTENSION OF SAID SECOND STREET, A DISTANCE OF 139.2 FEET TO A POINT 23.2 FEET 
NORTHERLY, MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES, FROM THE CENTER LINE OF SPUR TRACK I.C.C. 
NUMBER 123 OF SAID RAILWAY COMPANY, AS NOW LOCATED AND ESTABLISHED; THENCE 
WESTERLY, ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH THE CENTER LINE OF SAID SPUR TRACK, A DISTANCE 
OF 318.2 FEET TO A POINT ON A LINE DRAWN PERPENDICULAR TO THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF 
NORTHWESTERN AVENUE AND 5.0 FEET WESTERLY OF THE WESTERLY MAIN FACE OF THE DEPOT 
BUILDING OF SAID RAILWAY COMPANY, AS SAID BUILDING IS NOW LOCATED; THENCE 
NORTHERLY, ALONG SAID PERPENDICULAR LINE, A DISTANCE OF 139.0 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE 
OF SAID NORTHWESTERN AVENUE; THENCE EASTERLY, ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 
318.2 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING AND THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION THIRTY-FOUR (34), TOWNSHIP TWENTY-FOUR (24) NORTH, 
RANGE ONE (1) WEST OF THE 6TH P.M., MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA BOUNDED AS FOLLOWS:  
THE EASTERLY 55 FEET (BEING MEASURED PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF 
NORTHWESTERN AVENUE) OF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED TRACT:  ON THE NORTHERLY SIDE BY 
THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF NORTHWESTERN AVENUE; ON THE EASTERLY SIDE BY A LINE DRAWN 
AT RIGHT ANGLES TO SAID SOUTHERLY LINE OF NORTHWESTERN AVENUE AT A POINT THEREON 
DISTANCE 410.42 FEET (410.82 FEET MEASURED) WESTERLY FROM IT'S INTERSECTION WITH THE 
SOUTHERLY EXTENSION OF THE WEST LINE OF SECOND STREET; ON THE SOUTHERLY SIDE BY A 
LINE PARALLEL WITH A DISTANCE 25.0 FEET NORTHERLY, MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES, FROM 
THE CENTER LINE OF THE MAIN TRACK OF THE CHICAGO AND NORTHWESTERN 
TRANSPORTATION COMPANY, AS SAID TRACK IS NOW LOCATED; AND ON THE WESTERLY SIDE BY 
A LINE DRAWN PARALLEL WITH THE WEST LINE OF SAID QUARTER-QUARTER SECTION THROUGH 
A POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID NORTHWESTERN AVENUE AT A POINT THEREON 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 38

5530

Page 170 of 341



DISTANT 190.0 FEET (190.2 FEET MEASURED) EASTERLY FROM IT'S INTERSECTION WITH THE WEST 
LINE OF SAID QUARTER-QUARTER 
 
is hereby overlaid with Norfolk Junction PD (Planned Development) as indicated on the plan previously 

approved by the  Planning Commission, concerning such described real estate.  Said overlay does not change 

the underlying R-3 zoning on the land, but shall allow the owner or owners thereof to develop said land as 

authorized in the PD plan.  The development plan as submitted by the owner or owners is hereby approved and 

shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk.  

Section 2.  That this ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval, 

and publication in pamphlet form according to law. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this____________ day of________________, 2018. 

                          ________________________________ 
                          Josh Moenning, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 
Elizabeth A. Deck, City Clerk 

 

Approved as to form: _____________________________ 
                                   Clint Schukei, City Attorney 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 38
Page 171 of 341



 BID TABULATION
 5-Apr-2018 017-2941

2:00 p.m.
 

 
CONTRACTOR

Item 
No. ITEM UNIT QTY. Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension

Bid Section "A"
1 Mobilization / Demobilizaton LS 1 $7,250.00 $7,250.00 $10,700.00 $10,700.00 $30,000.00 $30,000.00
2 12-inch D.I. Water Main LF 3636 $38.10 $138,531.60 $46.50 $169,074.00 $55.00 $199,980.00
3 8-inch D.I. Water Main LF 5 $25.40 $127.00 $46.80 $234.00 $45.80 $229.00
4 6-inch D.I. Water Main LF 10 $22.50 $225.00 $43.00 $430.00 $42.00 $420.00
5 Trenchless Crossing with 24”x0.250” W.T. Steel Casing LF 175 $190.00 $33,250.00 $380.00 $66,500.00 $375.00 $65,625.00
6 12-Inch Directional Drilled D.I. Water Main LF 890 $108.45 $96,520.50 $108.00 $96,120.00 $125.00 $111,250.00
7 12-Inch Tapping Tee and Tapping Valve w/Box EA 1 $3,867.00 $3,867.00 $5,290.00 $5,290.00 $5,094.00 $5,094.00
8 12-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 6 $1,878.00 $11,268.00 $2,095.00 $12,570.00 $2,758.00 $16,548.00
9 8-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 1 $1,060.00 $1,060.00 $1,245.00 $1,245.00 $1,649.00 $1,649.00
10 6-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 1 $854.00 $854.00 $880.00 $880.00 $1,466.00 $1,466.00
11 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (5.5’ Bury) EA 1 $3,610.00 $3,610.00 $3,345.00 $3,345.00 $3,610.00 $3,610.00
12 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (6.0’ Bury) EA 3 $3,610.00 $10,830.00 $3,395.00 $10,185.00 $3,681.00 $11,043.00
13 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (6.5’ Bury) EA 2 $3,915.00 $7,830.00 $3,475.00 $6,950.00 $3,773.00 $7,546.00
14 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (7.5’ Bury) EA 1 $3,915.00 $3,915.00 $3,545.00 $3,545.00 $3,792.00 $3,792.00
15 Air Release Structure EA 3 $5,420.00 $16,260.00 $5,500.00 $16,500.00 $7,674.00 $23,022.00
16 12” M.J. 90° Bend EA 2 $310.00 $620.00 $395.00 $790.00 $587.00 $1,174.00
17 12” M.J. 45° Bend EA 1 $285.00 $285.00 $370.00 $370.00 $524.00 $524.00
18 12” M.J. 22 ½° Bend EA 4 $268.00 $1,072.00 $355.00 $1,420.00 $485.00 $1,940.00
19 12” M.J. Cross EA 1 $705.00 $705.00 $565.00 $565.00 $951.00 $951.00
20 12” x 12” M.J. Tee EA 1 $335.00 $335.00 $500.00 $500.00 $716.00 $716.00
21 12” x 6” M.J. Tee EA 6 $310.00 $1,860.00 $415.00 $2,490.00 $494.00 $2,964.00
22 12” x 8” M.J. Reducer EA 1 $295.00 $295.00 $195.00 $195.00 $344.00 $344.00
23 12” x 6” M.J. Reducer EA 1 $285.00 $285.00 $255.00 $255.00 $332.00 $332.00
24 12” M.J. Cap EA 1 $189.00 $189.00 $225.00 $225.00 $198.00 $198.00
25 8” M.J. Cap EA 1 $115.00 $115.00 $175.00 $175.00 $152.00 $152.00
26 6” x 6” M.J. Tee EA 1 $225.00 $225.00 $300.00 $300.00 $424.00 $424.00
27 6” M.J. Cap EA 1 $110.00 $110.00 $135.00 $135.00 $108.00 $108.00
28 Dewatering LF 275 $20.00 $5,500.00 $82.80 $22,770.00 $50.00 $13,750.00
29 Bollards EA 3 $550.00 $1,650.00 $570.00 $1,710.00 $250.00 $750.00
30 Remove Pavement SY 166 $10.00 $1,660.00 $8.00 $1,328.00 $7.00 $1,162.00
31 Place 8” P.C. Concrete Pavement (High Early) SY 166 $85.00 $14,110.00 $90.00 $14,940.00 $86.00 $14,276.00
32 Gravel Surfacing TN 30 $22.00 $660.00 $30.50 $915.00 $18.00 $540.00
33 Coarse Aggregate TN 25 $38.00 $950.00 $45.50 $1,137.50 $50.00 $1,250.00
34 Seeding AC 4.22 $2,000.00 $8,440.00 $2,300.00 $9,706.00 $2,800.00 $11,816.00
35 Traffic Control LS 1 $5,500.00 $5,500.00 $3,800.00 $3,800.00 $7,500.00 $7,500.00
36 Erosion Control LS 1 $31,250.00 $31,250.00 $13,490.00 $13,490.00 $6,800.00 $6,800.00
37 Tree Removal / Clearing and Grubbing LS 1 $3,500.00 $3,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00

Total Bid Section "A" 414,714.10 482,284.50 558,945.00
Alternate Bid Section "A"

6A 14-Inch Directional Drilled HDPE Water Main LF 890 $            106.75 $95,007.50 $115.50 $102,795.00 $105.00 $93,450.00

Bid Section "B"
1 Mobilization / Demobilizaton LS 1 $12,222.00 $12,222.00 $14,200.00 $14,200.00 $30,000.00 $30,000.00
2 12-inch D.I. Water Main LF 6678 $40.25 $268,789.50 $46.50 $310,527.00 $55.00 $367,290.00
3 8-inch D.I. Water Main LF 5 $26.75 $133.75 $46.80 $234.00 $45.80 $229.00
4 6-inch D.I. Water Main LF 138 $25.10 $3,463.80 $43.00 $5,934.00 $42.00 $5,796.00
5 4-inch D.I. Water Main LF 39 $25.00 $975.00 $48.00 $1,872.00 $47.00 $1,833.00
6 12-Inch Directional Drilled D.I. Water Main LF 895 $110.00 $98,450.00 $108.00 $96,660.00 $125.00 $111,875.00

SOUTH WATER MAIN LOOP
CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA 

Rutjens Construction, Inc Penro Construction Myers Construction

4/16/2018 Enclosure 39
Page 172 of 341



7 12-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 7 $1,978.00 $13,846.00 $2,095.00 $14,665.00 $2,758.00 $19,306.00
8 8-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 2 $1,165.00 $2,330.00 $1,245.00 $2,490.00 $1,649.00 $3,298.00
9 6-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 1 $861.00 $861.00 $880.00 $880.00 $1,466.00 $1,466.00
10 4-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 1 $755.00 $755.00 $725.00 $725.00 $924.00 $924.00
11 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (5.5’ Bury) EA 1 $3,610.00 $3,610.00 $3,345.00 $3,345.00 $3,610.00 $3,610.00
12 Fire Hydrant Assembly without Aux Valve (5.5’ Bury) EA 1 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $2,700.00 $2,700.00 $2,610.00 $2,610.00
13 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (6.0’ Bury) EA 2 $3,610.00 $7,220.00 $3,395.00 $6,790.00 $3,681.00 $7,362.00
14 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (6.5’ Bury) EA 1 $3,815.00 $3,815.00 $3,475.00 $3,475.00 $3,773.00 $3,773.00
15 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (7.0’ Bury) EA 1 $3,830.00 $3,830.00 $3,495.00 $3,495.00 $3,782.00 $3,782.00
16 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (7.5’ Bury) EA 7 $3,995.00 $27,965.00 $3,545.00 $24,815.00 $3,792.00 $26,544.00
17 Hydrant Extension VF 2 $350.00 $700.00 $630.00 $1,260.00 $530.00 $1,060.00
18 1-Inch Service Connection EA 2 $299.00 $598.00 $415.00 $830.00 $528.00 $1,056.00
19 1-Inch Curb Stop w/Box EA 2 $270.00 $540.00 $360.00 $720.00 $504.00 $1,008.00
20 1-inch Service Tubing LF 86 $14.00 $1,204.00 $28.00 $2,408.00 $20.00 $1,720.00
21 Air Release Structure EA 4 $5,420.00 $21,680.00 $5,500.00 $22,000.00 $7,674.00 $30,696.00
22 Wet Cut-In EA 3 $650.00 $1,950.00 $2,400.00 $7,200.00 $800.00 $2,400.00
23 12” M.J. 90° Bend EA 2 $310.00 $620.00 $395.00 $790.00 $587.00 $1,174.00
24 12” M.J. 45° Bend EA 1 $295.00 $295.00 $370.00 $370.00 $524.00 $524.00
25 12” M.J. 22 ½° Bend EA 2 $285.00 $570.00 $355.00 $710.00 $485.00 $970.00
26 12” M.J. 11 ¼° Bend EA 2 $280.00 $560.00 $350.00 $700.00 $473.00 $946.00
27 12” M.J. Cross EA 2 $720.00 $1,440.00 $565.00 $1,130.00 $951.00 $1,902.00
28 12” x 12” M.J. Tee EA 1 $355.00 $355.00 $500.00 $500.00 $716.00 $716.00
29 12” x 6” M.J. Tee EA 11 $294.00 $3,234.00 $415.00 $4,565.00 $494.00 $5,434.00
30 12” x 4” M.J. Tee EA 1 $290.00 $290.00 $405.00 $405.00 $465.00 $465.00
31 12” x 8” M.J. Reducer EA 2 $275.00 $550.00 $195.00 $390.00 $344.00 $688.00
32 12” x 6” M.J. Reducer EA 1 $270.00 $270.00 $255.00 $255.00 $332.00 $332.00
33 12” M.J. Cap EA 1 $200.00 $200.00 $225.00 $225.00 $198.00 $198.00
34 12” M.J. Sleeve EA 1 $425.00 $425.00 $385.00 $385.00 $508.00 $508.00
35 8” x 6” M.J. Reducer EA 1 $300.00 $300.00 $140.00 $140.00 $220.00 $220.00
36 6” x 6” M.J. Tee EA 1 $355.00 $355.00 $300.00 $300.00 $424.00 $424.00
37 6” M.J. Cap EA 1 $110.00 $110.00 $135.00 $135.00 $108.00 $108.00
38 4” M.J. 45° Bend EA 2 $165.00 $330.00 $165.00 $330.00 $144.00 $288.00
39 4” M.J. Sleeve EA 1 $310.00 $310.00 $240.00 $240.00 $152.00 $152.00
40 4” M.J. Cap EA 3 $100.00 $300.00 $125.00 $375.00 $68.00 $204.00
41 Remove Pavement SY 1777 $10.00 $17,770.00 $7.00 $12,439.00 $5.00 $8,885.00
42 Place 8” P.C. Concrete Pavement SY 1777 $45.00 $79,965.00 $43.25 $76,855.25 $56.00 $99,512.00
43 Gravel Surfacing TN 149 $32.00 $4,768.00 $30.50 $4,544.50 $18.00 $2,682.00
44 Remove and Reset Cable Wire Fence LF 20 $20.00 $400.00 $15.00 $300.00 $20.00 $400.00
45 Remove and Reset Mailbox EA 6 $75.00 $450.00 $135.00 $810.00 $100.00 $600.00
46 Seeding AC 5.68 $3,200.00 $18,176.00 $2,300.00 $13,064.00 $2,800.00 $15,904.00
47 Traffic Control LS 1 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 $6,500.00 $6,500.00 $12,000.00 $12,000.00
48 Erosion Control LS 1 $6,500.00 $6,500.00 $22,225.00 $22,225.00 $8,240.00 $8,240.00
49 Tree Removal / Clearing and Grubbing LS 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $21,500.00 $21,500.00
50 Remove Fire Hydrant EA 1 $550.00 $550.00 $380.00 $380.00 $800.00 $800.00

Total Bid Section "B" 623,531.05 678,287.75 813,414.00
Alternate Bid Section "B"

5B 14-Inch Directional Drilled HDPE Water Main LF 895 $            106.75 $95,541.25 $115.50 $103,372.50 $105.00 $93,975.00

Bid Section "C"
1 Mobilization / Demobilizaton LS 1 $12,110.00 $12,110.00 $11,650.00 $11,650.00 $30,000.00 $30,000.00
2 21-inch Sanitary Sewer Line LF 2037 $84.50 $172,126.50 $83.25 $169,580.25 $96.00 $195,552.00
3 4-inch Sanitary Sewer Service LF 176 $16.00 $2,816.00 $34.00 $5,984.00 $20.00 $3,520.00
4 48-Inch Diameter Manhole (9 Foot) EA 4 $4,875.00 $19,500.00 $3,500.00 $14,000.00 $6,380.00 $25,520.00
5 48-Inch Diameter Drop Manhole (9 Foot) EA 2 $5,125.00 $10,250.00 $5,175.00 $10,350.00 $7,150.00 $14,300.00
6 Additional Manhole Depth (Standard or Drop) VF 7.07 $210.00 $1,484.70 $275.00 $1,944.25 $200.00 $1,414.00
7 Sewer Connection EA 4 $410.00 $1,640.00 $600.00 $2,400.00 $1,500.00 $6,000.00
8 21”x4” Sanitary Sewer Wye EA 9 $1,000.00 $9,000.00 $800.00 $7,200.00 $1,500.00 $13,500.00
9 4-Inch Sewer Cap EA 1 $45.00 $45.00 $75.00 $75.00 $28.00 $28.00
10 Remove Sewer Line (12” or Less) LF 1344 $5.00 $6,720.00 $7.50 $10,080.00 $10.00 $13,440.00

4/16/2018 Enclosure 39
Page 173 of 341



11 Remove Manhole EA 8 $1,000.00 $8,000.00 $250.00 $2,000.00 $800.00 $6,400.00
12 Abandon Manhole EA 1 $450.00 $450.00 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00
13 Concrete Sewer Plug (21” and Less) EA 4 $750.00 $3,000.00 $350.00 $1,400.00 $500.00 $2,000.00
14 Remove Pavement SY 4500 $8.00 $36,000.00 $6.00 $27,000.00 $5.00 $22,500.00
15 Place 8” P.C. Concrete Pavement SY 4500 $43.00 $193,500.00 $41.45 $186,525.00 $56.00 $252,000.00
16 Dewatering LS 1 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $55,000.00 $55,000.00 $114,000.00 $114,000.00
17 Seeding AC 0.1 $2,000.00 $200.00 $2,300.00 $230.00 $2,800.00 $280.00
18 Traffic Control LS 1 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 $6,700.00 $6,700.00
19 Erosion Control LS 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 $6,300.00 $6,300.00

Total Bid Section "C" 503,842.20 512,018.50 713,954.00
Bid Section "D"

1 Mobilization / Demobilizaton LS 1 $8,500.00 $8,500.00 $4,430.00 $4,430.00 $30,000.00 $30,000.00
2 8-inch D.I. Water Main LF 1372 $35.25 $48,363.00 $38.50 $52,822.00 $45.80 $62,837.60
3 6-inch D.I. Water Main LF 106 $24.80 $2,628.80 $38.00 $4,028.00 $42.00 $4,452.00
4 4-inch D.I. Water Main LF 45 $24.80 $1,116.00 $42.65 $1,919.25 $47.00 $2,115.00
5 8-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 1 $1,065.00 $1,065.00 $1,245.00 $1,245.00 $1,649.00 $1,649.00
6 6-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 2 $910.00 $1,820.00 $880.00 $1,760.00 $1,466.00 $2,932.00
7 4-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 2 $995.00 $1,990.00 * $725.00 $1,450.00 $924.00 $1,848.00
8 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (5.0’ Bury) EA 2 $3,610.00 $7,220.00 $3,515.00 $7,030.00 $3,748.00 $7,496.00
9 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (5.5’ Bury) EA 2 $3,705.00 $7,410.00 $3,345.00 $6,690.00 $3,610.00 $7,220.00
10 2-Inch Service Connection EA 1 $509.00 $509.00 $800.00 $800.00 $628.00 $628.00
11 2-Inch Curb Stop w/Box EA 1 $600.00 $600.00 $660.00 $660.00 $1,140.00 $1,140.00
12 2-inch Service Tubing LF 13 $20.00 $260.00 $66.00 $858.00 $38.00 $494.00
13 1-Inch Service Connection EA 8 $235.00 $1,880.00 $415.00 $3,320.00 $528.00 $4,224.00
14 1-Inch Curb Stop w/Box EA 8 $265.00 $2,120.00 $360.00 $2,880.00 $504.00 $4,032.00
15 1-inch Service Tubing LF 159 $16.00 $2,544.00 $28.00 $4,452.00 $20.00 $3,180.00
16 Wet Cut-In EA 6 $450.00 $2,700.00 $2,050.00 $12,300.00 $800.00 $4,800.00
17 8” M.J. 45° Bend EA 4 $185.00 $740.00 $280.00 $1,120.00 $280.00 $1,120.00
18 8” x 6” M.J. Tee EA 6 $225.00 $1,350.00 $345.00 $2,070.00 $412.00 $2,472.00
19 8” x 4” M.J. Tee EA 2 $215.00 $430.00 $325.00 $650.00 $364.00 $728.00
20 8” x 4” M.J. Reducer EA 1 $175.00 $175.00 $140.00 $140.00 $165.00 $165.00
21 6” M.J. Sleeve EA 2 $315.00 $630.00 $165.00 $330.00 $177.00 $354.00
22 4” M.J. Sleeve EA 3 $310.00 $930.00 $140.00 $420.00 $152.00 $456.00
23 4” M.J. Plug EA 9 $100.00 $900.00 $125.00 $1,125.00 $51.00 $459.00
24 Remove Fire Hydrant EA 3 $450.00 $1,350.00 $380.00 $1,140.00 $800.00 $2,400.00
25 Remove Pavement SY 978 $14.00 $13,692.00 $6.00 $5,868.00 $5.00 $4,890.00
26 Place 8” P.C. Concrete Pavement SY 978 $44.50 $43,521.00 $43.25 $42,298.50 $56.00 $54,768.00
27 Seeding AC 0.1 $2,500.00 $250.00 $2,300.00 $230.00 $2,800.00 $280.00
28 Traffic Control LS 1 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 $2,300.00 $2,300.00 $6,700.00 $6,700.00
29 Erosion Control LS 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 $6,800.00 $6,800.00

Total Bid Section "D" 161,193.80 * 165,935.75 220,639.60

Total Bid Sections "A" - "D" 1,703,281.15 1,838,526.50 2,306,952.60

Addendum : No Addendum Issued
Bid Guarantee:
Remarks:

 

5%
N/AN/A

* Bid form had $1,790 for the 
extension and $160,993.80 for the 

Total Bid Section "D"

N/A
5% 5%

4/16/2018 Enclosure 39
Page 174 of 341



 BID TABULATION
 5-Apr-2018 017-2941

2:00 p.m.
 

 
CONTRACTOR

Item 
No. ITEM UNIT QTY. Unit Price Extension

Bid Section "A"
1 Mobilization / Demobilizaton LS 1 $66,000.00 $66,000.00
2 12-inch D.I. Water Main LF 3636 $51.50 $187,254.00
3 8-inch D.I. Water Main LF 5 $125.00 $625.00
4 6-inch D.I. Water Main LF 10 $54.00 $540.00
5 Trenchless Crossing with 24”x0.250” W.T. Steel Casing LF 175 $497.00 $86,975.00
6 12-Inch Directional Drilled D.I. Water Main LF 890 $122.00 $108,580.00
7 12-Inch Tapping Tee and Tapping Valve w/Box EA 1 $5,787.00 $5,787.00
8 12-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 6 $2,650.00 $15,900.00
9 8-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 1 $1,634.00 $1,634.00
10 6-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 1 $1,100.00 $1,100.00
11 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (5.5’ Bury) EA 1 $4,290.00 $4,290.00
12 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (6.0’ Bury) EA 3 $4,343.00 $13,029.00
13 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (6.5’ Bury) EA 2 $4,394.00 $8,788.00
14 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (7.5’ Bury) EA 1 $4,616.00 $4,616.00
15 Air Release Structure EA 3 $7,312.00 $21,936.00
16 12” M.J. 90° Bend EA 2 $655.00 $1,310.00
17 12” M.J. 45° Bend EA 1 $625.00 $625.00
18 12” M.J. 22 ½° Bend EA 4 $560.00 $2,240.00
19 12” M.J. Cross EA 1 $1,452.00 $1,452.00
20 12” x 12” M.J. Tee EA 1 $970.00 $970.00
21 12” x 6” M.J. Tee EA 6 $795.00 $4,770.00
22 12” x 8” M.J. Reducer EA 1 $490.00 $490.00
23 12” x 6” M.J. Reducer EA 1 $487.00 $487.00
24 12” M.J. Cap EA 1 $545.00 $545.00
25 8” M.J. Cap EA 1 $470.00 $470.00
26 6” x 6” M.J. Tee EA 1 $606.00 $606.00
27 6” M.J. Cap EA 1 $354.00 $354.00
28 Dewatering LF 275 $40.00 $11,000.00
29 Bollards EA 3 $798.00 $2,394.00
30 Remove Pavement SY 166 $10.00 $1,660.00
31 Place 8” P.C. Concrete Pavement (High Early) SY 166 $116.00 $19,256.00
32 Gravel Surfacing TN 30 $33.00 $990.00
33 Coarse Aggregate TN 25 $37.00 $925.00
34 Seeding AC 4.22 $1,043.00 $4,401.46
35 Traffic Control LS 1 $9,374.00 $9,374.00
36 Erosion Control LS 1 $16,434.00 $16,434.00
37 Tree Removal / Clearing and Grubbing LS 1 $14,153.00 $14,153.00

Total Bid Section "A" 621,960.46
Alternate Bid Section "A"

6A 14-Inch Directional Drilled HDPE Water Main LF 890 $            117.50 $104,575.00

Bid Section "B"
1 Mobilization / Demobilizaton LS 1 $25,800.00 $25,800.00
2 12-inch D.I. Water Main LF 6678 $52.25 $348,925.50
3 8-inch D.I. Water Main LF 5 $125.00 $625.00
4 6-inch D.I. Water Main LF 138 $58.00 $8,004.00
5 4-inch D.I. Water Main LF 39 $63.50 $2,476.50
6 12-Inch Directional Drilled D.I. Water Main LF 895 $121.00 $108,295.00

SOUTH WATER MAIN LOOP
CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA 

Carstensen Contracting, Inc.

4/16/2018 Enclosure 39
Page 175 of 341



7 12-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 7 $2,650.00 $18,550.00
8 8-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 2 $1,634.00 $3,268.00
9 6-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 1 $1,100.00 $1,100.00
10 4-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 1 $930.00 $930.00
11 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (5.5’ Bury) EA 1 $4,290.00 $4,290.00
12 Fire Hydrant Assembly without Aux Valve (5.5’ Bury) EA 1 $3,480.00 $3,480.00
13 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (6.0’ Bury) EA 2 $4,342.00 $8,684.00
14 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (6.5’ Bury) EA 1 $4,390.00 $4,390.00
15 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (7.0’ Bury) EA 1 $4,566.00 $4,566.00
16 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (7.5’ Bury) EA 7 $4,616.00 $32,312.00
17 Hydrant Extension VF 2 $398.00 $796.00
18 1-Inch Service Connection EA 2 $1,000.00 $2,000.00
19 1-Inch Curb Stop w/Box EA 2 $334.00 $668.00
20 1-inch Service Tubing LF 86 $42.00 $3,612.00
21 Air Release Structure EA 4 $7,294.00 $29,176.00
22 Wet Cut-In EA 3 $2,562.00 $7,686.00
23 12” M.J. 90° Bend EA 2 $655.00 $1,310.00
24 12” M.J. 45° Bend EA 1 $625.00 $625.00
25 12” M.J. 22 ½° Bend EA 2 $560.00 $1,120.00
26 12” M.J. 11 ¼° Bend EA 2 $634.00 $1,268.00
27 12” M.J. Cross EA 2 $1,167.00 $2,334.00
28 12” x 12” M.J. Tee EA 1 $968.00 $968.00
29 12” x 6” M.J. Tee EA 11 $795.00 $8,745.00
30 12” x 4” M.J. Tee EA 1 $706.00 $706.00
31 12” x 8” M.J. Reducer EA 2 $460.00 $920.00
32 12” x 6” M.J. Reducer EA 1 $487.00 $487.00
33 12” M.J. Cap EA 1 $545.00 $545.00
34 12” M.J. Sleeve EA 1 $390.00 $390.00
35 8” x 6” M.J. Reducer EA 1 $262.00 $262.00
36 6” x 6” M.J. Tee EA 1 $606.00 $606.00
37 6” M.J. Cap EA 1 $354.00 $354.00
38 4” M.J. 45° Bend EA 2 $240.00 $480.00
39 4” M.J. Sleeve EA 1 $219.00 $219.00
40 4” M.J. Cap EA 3 $193.00 $579.00
41 Remove Pavement SY 1777 $9.00 $15,993.00
42 Place 8” P.C. Concrete Pavement SY 1777 $60.00 $106,620.00
43 Gravel Surfacing TN 149 $33.00 $4,917.00
44 Remove and Reset Cable Wire Fence LF 20 $7.00 $140.00
45 Remove and Reset Mailbox EA 6 $380.00 $2,280.00
46 Seeding AC 5.68 $1,044.00 $5,929.92
47 Traffic Control LS 1 $11,405.00 $11,405.00
48 Erosion Control LS 1 $21,787.00 $21,787.00
49 Tree Removal / Clearing and Grubbing LS 1 $19,780.00 $19,780.00
50 Remove Fire Hydrant EA 1 $305.00 $305.00

Total Bid Section "B" 830,708.92
Alternate Bid Section "B"

5B 14-Inch Directional Drilled HDPE Water Main LF 895 $            117.50 $105,162.50

Bid Section "C"
1 Mobilization / Demobilizaton LS 1 $44,600.00 $44,600.00
2 21-inch Sanitary Sewer Line LF 2037 $111.00 $226,107.00
3 4-inch Sanitary Sewer Service LF 176 $76.00 $13,376.00
4 48-Inch Diameter Manhole (9 Foot) EA 4 $5,623.00 $22,492.00
5 48-Inch Diameter Drop Manhole (9 Foot) EA 2 $6,800.00 $13,600.00
6 Additional Manhole Depth (Standard or Drop) VF 7.07 $445.00 $3,146.15
7 Sewer Connection EA 4 $2,135.00 $8,540.00
8 21”x4” Sanitary Sewer Wye EA 9 $1,242.00 $11,178.00
9 4-Inch Sewer Cap EA 1 $185.00 $185.00
10 Remove Sewer Line (12” or Less) LF 1344 $7.50 $10,080.00

4/16/2018 Enclosure 39
Page 176 of 341



11 Remove Manhole EA 8 $1,016.00 $8,128.00
12 Abandon Manhole EA 1 $1,060.00 $1,060.00
13 Concrete Sewer Plug (21” and Less) EA 4 $300.00 $1,200.00
14 Remove Pavement SY 4500 $9.00 $40,500.00
15 Place 8” P.C. Concrete Pavement SY 4500 $56.44 $253,980.00
16 Dewatering LS 1 $14,344.00 $14,344.00
17 Seeding AC 0.1 $2,193.70 $219.37
18 Traffic Control LS 1 $16,092.00 $16,092.00
19 Erosion Control LS 1 $2,096.00 $2,096.00

Total Bid Section "C" 690,923.52
Bid Section "D"

1 Mobilization / Demobilizaton LS 1 $14,000.00 $14,000.00
2 8-inch D.I. Water Main LF 1372 $47.00 $64,484.00
3 6-inch D.I. Water Main LF 106 $59.00 $6,254.00
4 4-inch D.I. Water Main LF 45 $70.00 $3,150.00
5 8-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 1 $1,634.00 $1,634.00
6 6-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 2 $1,100.00 $2,200.00
7 4-Inch Gate Valve w/Box EA 2 $930.00 $1,860.00
8 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (5.0’ Bury) EA 2 $4,242.00 $8,484.00
9 Fire Hydrant Assembly w/Aux. Valve (5.5’ Bury) EA 2 $4,290.00 $8,580.00
10 2-Inch Service Connection EA 1 $1,145.00 $1,145.00
11 2-Inch Curb Stop w/Box EA 1 $700.00 $700.00
12 2-inch Service Tubing LF 13 $57.00 $741.00
13 1-Inch Service Connection EA 8 $885.00 $7,080.00
14 1-Inch Curb Stop w/Box EA 8 $334.00 $2,672.00
15 1-inch Service Tubing LF 159 $42.00 $6,678.00
16 Wet Cut-In EA 6 $2,373.00 $14,238.00
17 8” M.J. 45° Bend EA 4 $474.00 $1,896.00
18 8” x 6” M.J. Tee EA 6 $622.00 $3,732.00
19 8” x 4” M.J. Tee EA 2 $600.00 $1,200.00
20 8” x 4” M.J. Reducer EA 1 $248.00 $248.00
21 6” M.J. Sleeve EA 2 $241.00 $482.00
22 4” M.J. Sleeve EA 3 $214.00 $642.00
23 4” M.J. Plug EA 9 $190.00 $1,710.00
24 Remove Fire Hydrant EA 3 $305.00 $915.00
25 Remove Pavement SY 978 $9.00 $8,802.00
26 Place 8” P.C. Concrete Pavement SY 978 $61.00 $59,658.00
27 Seeding AC 0.1 $2,193.00 $219.30
28 Traffic Control LS 1 $5,572.00 $5,572.00
29 Erosion Control LS 1 $1,560.00 $1,560.00

Total Bid Section "D" 230,536.30

Total Bid Sections "A" - "D" 2,374,129.20

Addendum : No Addendum Issued
Bid Guarantee:
Remarks:

 

N/A
5%

4/16/2018 Enclosure 39
Page 177 of 341



4/16/2018 Enclosure 39
Page 178 of 341

O\OLSSON® 
ASSOCIATES 

April 6, 2018 

Mayor and City Council 
City of Norfolk 
309 North 5th Street 
Norfolk, NE 68701 

Re: South Water Mai Loop 
Norfolk, Nebraska - 2018 
OA Project No. 017-2941 

Dear Mayor & Council, 

-------

" 

A total of four (4) bids were received for the South Water Main Loop project. The low bid 
submitted for the project was from Rutjens Construction Inc., Tilden, Nebraska for 
$1,703,281 .15 for Bid Sections "A", "B", "C", and "0". The low bid was below the Engineer's 
Opinion of Costs for the project. The tabulation for the bids that were received on the project is 
attached. 

Rutjens Construction Inc. is a contractor that we are familiar with and have completed multiple 
projects with Olsson Associates and also multiple projects with the City of Norfolk. They have 
shown that they have the capacity to successfully complete a project such as the South Water 
Main Loop project. 

We did have an alternate bid for HOPE pipe for the directional drilling portion of the project for 
BID Section "A" and Bid Section "B" . The alternate bid section for HOPE pipe was less 
expensive than the base bid of ductile iron pipe. However, We do not recommend that the City 
accept the alternate bid since the ductile iron pipe is a better material for this installation and the 
cost difference between the two pipe materials is small. Olsson Associates recommends that 
you approve the bid of Rutjens Construction Inc., Tilden, Nebraska for $1,703,281.15 for Bid 
Sections "A" - "0" for the South Water Main Loop project. 

If you have any questions or comments, please do not hesitate to call. 

Sincerel~~ 

Jl C. Baxter, P.E. 

201 East 2nd Street 
Grand Island, NE 68801 

TEL 308.384.8750 
FAX 308.384.8752 www.olssonassociates.com 

-



ORDINANCE NO.  ____ 

 

AN ORDINANCE CREATING PAVING DISTRICT NO. 516 IN THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 

NEBRASKA, ORDERING THE CONSTRUCTION OF STREET IMPROVEMENTS THEREIN 

AND ORDERING THE PUBLICATION OF THE ORDINANCE IN PAMPHLET FORM. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 

NEBRASKA as follows: 

Section 1.  That there be and hereby is created in the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, a paving district 

to be known and designated as Paving District No. 516 of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska 

Section 2.  That the outer boundaries of Paving District No. 516 as depicted on Exhibit ‘A’, 

attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference shall include, in addition to the streets to 

be improved, all of the following described property, to-wit: 

 

Lots 1 through 17, Block 1, Legacy Bend First Addition, a tract of land located in part of the SE ¼ 

of the NE 1/4, part of Tax Lot 1 in the NE ¼ SE ¼, all in Section 23, Township 24 North, Range 1 

West of the 6th P.M., Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska. 

 

Outlot 1, Block 1, Legacy Bend First Addition, a tract of land located in part of the SE ¼ of the NE 

1/4, part of Tax Lot 1 in the NE ¼ SE ¼, all in Section 23, Township 24 North, Range 1 West of the 

6th P.M., Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska 

 

Lots 1 through 7, Block 2, Legacy Bend First Addition, a tract of land located in part of the SE ¼ of 

the NE 1/4, part of Tax Lot 1 in the NE ¼ SE ¼, all in Section 23, Township 24 North, Range 1 

West of the 6th P.M., Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska. 

 

Outlot 2, Block 2, Legacy Bend First Addition, a tract of land located in part of the SE ¼ of the NE 

1/4, part of Tax Lot 1 in the NE ¼ SE ¼, all in Section 23, Township 24 North, Range 1 West of the 

6th P.M., Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska 

 

Lots 1 through 3, Block 3, Legacy Bend First Addition, a tract of land located in part of the SE ¼ of 

the NE 1/4, part of Tax Lot 1 in the NE ¼ SE ¼, all in Section 23, Township 24 North, Range 1 

West of the 6th P.M., Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska 

 

All in the City of Norfolk, and within which district the following streets shall be improved by 

paving with integral curb and necessary appurtenances: 

 

 Sunrise Drive; from Victory Road west approximately 585 feet.   

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 40

5544

Page 179 of 341



 David Street; from Sunrise Drive north approximately 225 feet. 

 

 David Circle; from Sunrise Drive south/southeast approximately 485 feet. 

 

All of which streets are hereby found to be intersecting or interconnecting. 

Section 3.  Said streets shall be improved and said improvements shall be made in accordance 

with the plans, specifications and estimate prepared by the City of Norfolk Engineering Division 

and to be approved by the Mayor and Council.  The cost of such paving except street intersection 

shall be assessed against the property within said district specifically benefited thereby in proportion 

to benefits. 

Section 4.  Notice of the creation of said District shall be published as provided by law in the 

Norfolk Daily News, a legal newspaper of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska. 

Section 5.  This ordinance shall be published in pamphlet form and take effect as provided by 

law. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this _____ day of ___________, 2018. 
 

ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________ ________________________________ 

Elizabeth A, Deck, City Clerk Josh Moenning, Mayor 

 

 

 

(S E A L) 

 

 

Approved as to form: _________________________ 

  Clint Schukei, City Attorney 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 40
Page 180 of 341



4/16/2018 Enclosure 40
Page 181 of 341

PAV NG o STR CT 

NOT TO SCALE 
PD516.PDF 

NO. 516 

LOT3 ) 

OF DISTRICT 

\ LOTI \ --',-----\,\------:1:-----11 ... 
~ --- \ \ \ \ \ \ I I .... 

\ .... --.;:. -"\ \ \"-- II , \ \ " LOT 7 ' 10 
\ ~;::.- \ \ , q ' \ ' LOTS \ 11 I I§ --::: --- \ \ 1 \ ~ LOTS \ \ 1\ \ t 

<:) - ,.:::... ,:.-- ", II 1\ 'I' "I .., e __ \ \ " \ \ \ \ I I I 

~ ~\ \ I I " _--, (::> \ LOT2 ... .-.;.._'::: """\ \ LOT 4 \ , 1 _ 11 \ __ - , I I 

~ \ - .,;;::=;::..-- \" ,,,- - '\' , ! '. ~ -- - ....... ' 1\ _ II '\ I. ~ - .:::-::-- \ 11- - - \ \ \ '. ...... e .... _ \ LOT 3 \ \ I.' 

\ \ \\ -- \.' \..-~ 

• Qft\\fC. '-" I SUNl<lSt I.' Ii , , 
'I' _ ',1---11 " -1 '-- II " Zi'nDlt II _ ,I \I I , __ ,,,,, '0' \ \ 1_- r I 'I' 'I!; II _-I \ I II I~ 

\ , - \ \ I r r LOT 16 I \ LOT 17 I ~ 
• - \ \ \ \ \ LOT 15 I,' I I I 0 

-z;.sr. \ \ \ 1\ 'I' I I I JI ---fSDE(11'P) I I , LOT14 \ \ I : , , ' I I 
- \ \ \ \ \ \ I I I 'I 

• 
• 

• 
\ LOT 13 \~\ 1\\..---~~=~--=i=-: -=------'_+_ ___ ~ \ I I ---.- - - I -------------, • / - , \ ,.\ 1,,- • - __ -, r- " ,It 

' \ -- .- .... I r--- I I / / I 
\ ,./ .... -- ... - --"1 I I I /~// I \ /' \ .. --:- .... ---- ',r I I "/ " I 
\ . --- -_.... ' , I I I I (f"'/ I 
" LOT 1 __ J~, ... -- I I LOT 11 1, 1 LOT 10 "" I -::.-:--- \ III 1 1 ,. ,. 1 \ -----:!: ---\ • lOT 12 'I 'I' 'j. " , .... - - ' I r , I ,. ,. r r--- \ ' II _-I 1_......... ,."~" I 

' \ 0 " " I / I I ""'~' , \ -..,L ........ _ I I V 'e' ,.,. 1 
\ /a " - , , , ' \ I \ lOT 2 \. .... z ... 11,../ lOT 9 r \ ......................... Q; , ' \ 

\ ..... ~..-~ ...... \ ~C). .' I 

\ ~;:~/ \. /. Y' --J _______ J 
\..~(/ LOT 3 ',,'1/ "-= _-::= ___ , 

/ / I , \ 11/ '........ I~ .. I 
' I II .......... / / , e 'Tt , / , \ 01 

I ....... , /__ I I • ~ LOT a 1 
\ / I /' _ -/ ! " " I 
\ 1/ I" 1' 1'.... 'I )-,', I 
\ '"~ 11,1 1/ 1 ........ r L- """'" ', ........ , I \, 0 I I -- - , .... " r \ 011/ Lor.. 1/ /I I I : '~,,' 

, I I " , LOT 5 / / / I II lOT 7 .... ~.... I 
\ 1/ 1,/ ,,1 LOTS I I I .... " .... , I 

\'1 ,'" II 'I' ' .... '1 II, I I I I , 'o,J 
VI I ,I '1 II '~ t ________ / f ________ J L ________ J L ____________ _ 

>-
§ 
" 5 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41

5545

Page 182 of 341

ORDINANCE NO. __ _ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF BOND ANTICIPATION NOTES 
OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA, IN THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NOT TO EXCEED 
NINE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($900,000) FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING INTERIM 
FINANCING TO PAY FOR THE COSTS OF CONSTRUCTING IMPROVEMENTS IN PAVING 
DISTRICT NOS. 510 AND 511 AND SIDEWALK DISTRICT NO. 2017-1 PENDING THE ISSUANCE OF 
PERMANENT GENERAL OBLIGATION V ARIOUS PURPOSE BONDS OF THE CITY; PRESCRIBING 
THE FORM OF SAID NOTES; AGREEING TO ISSUE THE CITY'S GENERAL OBLIGATION 
VARIOUS PURPOSE BONDS TO PAY THE NOTES AT MATURITY OR TO PAY THE NOTES FROM 
OTHER AVAILABLE FUNDS; ENTERING INTO A CONTRACT ON BEHALF OF THE CITY WITH 
THE HOLDERS OF SAID NOTES; AUTHORIZING OFFICERS OF THE CITY TO MAKE 
ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE SALE OR PLACEMENT OF THE NOTES AND TO DESIGNATE THE 
FINAL TERMS, RATES AND MATURITY SCHEDULE FOR SAID NOTES WITHIN STATED 
PARAMETERS; AND PROVIDING FOR PUBLICATION OF THIS ORDINANCE IN PAMPHLET 
FORM. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 
NEBRASKA: 

Section 1. The Mayor and Council hereby find and determine that the City ofNorfolk, Nebraska (the 

"City'') has by ordinance created Paving District Nos. 510 and 511 and Sidewalk District No. 2017-1; that the 

City is authorized to construct improvements in said districts (the "Project"); that for purposes of paying the 

costs of the Project the City is authorized to issue temporary fmancing and is authorized to issue its Street 

Improvement Bonds and Iotersection Improvement Bonds as provided in Sections 16-623 and 16-626, RRS. 

Neb. 2012 and its Sidewalk Bonds as provided in Section 19-2419, RRS. Neb. 2012, as amended; that the 

City has contracted for the Project; that the estimated cost for work and other related costs in said districts and 

requiring financing as described above is not less than $900,000. 

Section 2. The Mayor and Council further fmd and determine that it is therefore necessary and 

advisable that the City issue its notes pending permanent fmancing pursuant to Sections 18-1801 and 

18-1802, R.R.S. Neb. 2012, as amended; that pursuant to Section 10-137, RR.S. Neb. 2012, the City is 

authorized to issue notes for the purpose of providing temporary financing for the costs of the improvements 

in said districts and payment of the cost of issuing the notes herein authorized; that all conditions, acts and 

things required by law to exist or to be done precedent to the issuance of bond anticipation notes in the 

aggregate amount of not to exceed $900,000 to pay such total estimated costs in said districts do exist and 

have been done as required by law. 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41
Page 183 of 341

Section 3. For the purpose of providing interim financing for the purposes as set out in Section 1 

pending the issuance of permanent general obligation various purpose bonds by the City of Norfolk, there 

shall be and there are hereby ordered issued notes of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, to be known as General 

Obligation Bond Anticipation Notes, Series 2018 (the ''Notes''), of the aggregate principal amount ofnotto 

exceed Nine Hundred Thousand Dollars ($900,000), with said notes bearing interest at the rate per annum not 

to exceed 2.75% per annum (said interest to be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 

30-day months), and to become due on June 1, 2021, provid~ that the Notes shall mature and bear interest at 

such rates per annum as shall be determined in a written designation (the "Designation'') signed by the Mayor 

and also signed by the City Treasurer (the "Authorized Officers") on behalf of the City, which Designation may 

also determine or modify the principal amount or maturity date of the Notes, mandatory redemption provisions 

(if any) and pricing terms as set forth in Section 9 hereof, all within the following limitations: 

(a) the aggregate principal amount of the Notes shall not exceed $900,000 but may be reduced in 
principal amount; 

(b) the true interest cost on the Notes shall not exceed 2.75%; 

The Authorized Officers are hereby authorized to make such determinations on behalf of the City and to 
evidence the same by execution and delivery of the Designation and such determinations shall constitute the 
action of the Mayor and Council without further action of the Mayor and Council. 

The Notes shall be issued in fully registered form in the denomination of $5,000 or any integral 

multiple thereof. The date of original issue for the Notes shall be the date of delivery thereof. Interest on the 

Notes shall be payable semiannually on June 1 and December 1 of each year commencing December 1, 2018 

(except as otherwise provided in the Designation, each of said dates an "Interest Payment Date"), and the 

Notes shall bear such interest from the date of original issue or the most recent Interest Payment Date to 

which interest has been paid or provided for, whichever is later. The interest due on each Interest Payment 

Date shall be payable to the registered owners of record as of the close of business on the fifteenth day of the 

month immediately preceding the month in which such Interest Payment Date occurs (except as otherwise 

provided in the Designation, the "Record Date''), subject to the provisions of Section 5 hereof. The Notes 

shall be numbered from 1 upwards in the order of their issuance. The initial numbering and principal amounts 

for each of the Notes shall be designated by the City Treasurer as directed by the initial purchaser thereof. 

2 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41
Page 184 of 341

Payments of interest due on the Notes prior to maturity or early redemption shall be made by the Paying 

Agent and Registrar, as designated pursuant to Section 4 hereof, by mailing a check or draft in the amount due 

for such interest on each Interest Payment Date to the registered owner of each Note, as of the Record Date 

for such Interest Payment Date, to such owner's registered address as shown on the books of registration as 

required to be maintained in Section 4 hereof. Payments of principal due at maturity or at any date fixed for 

redemption prior to maturity, together with any unpaid interest accrued thereon, shall be made by said Paying 

Agent and Registrar to the registered owners upon presentation and surrender of the Notes to said Paying 

Agent and Registrar. The City and said Paying Agent and Registrar may treat the registered owner of any 

Note as the absolute owner of such Note for the purpose of making payments thereon and for all other 

purposes and neither the City nor the Paying Agent and Registrar shall be affected by any notice or 

knowledge to the contrary, whether such Note or any installment of interest due thereon shall be overdue or 

not. All payments on account of interest or principal made to the registered owner of any Note in accordance 

with the terms of this ordinance shall be valid and effectual and shall be a discharge of the City and said 

Paying Agent and Registrar, in respect of the liability upon the Notes or claims for interest to the extent of the 

sum or sums so paid. 

Section 4. The City Treasurer is hereby designated as Paying Agent and Registrar for the Notes. The 

City reserves the right in the discretion of the Mayor and Council to appoint a bank or trust company as 

successor to the City Treasurer in the capacity of Paying Agent and Registrarunderthe terms of an agreement 

to be approved at the time of any such designation. The Paying Agent and Registrar shall keep and maintain 

for the City books for the registration and transfer of the Notes at the City's offices. The names and registered 

addresses of the registered owner or owners of the Notes shall at all times be recorded in such books. Any 

Note may be transferred pursuant to its provisions at the offices of said Paying Agent and Registrar by 

surrender of such Note for cancellation, accompanied by a written instrument of transfer, in form satisfactory 

to said Paying Agent and Registrar, duly executed by the registered owner in person or by such owner's duly 

authorized agent, and thereupon the Paying Agent and Registrar on behalf of the City will deliver at its office 

(or send by registered mail to the transferee owner or owners thereof at such transferee owner's or owners' 

risk and expense), registered in the name of such transferee owner or owners, a new Note or Notes of the 

same interest rate, aggregate principal amount and maturity. To the extent of the denominations authorized 

for the Notes by this ordinance, one such Note may be transferred for several such Notes of the same interest 

3 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41
Page 185 of 341

rate and maturity, and for a like aggregate principal amount, and several such Notes may be transferred for 

one or several such Notes, respectively, of the same interest rate and maturity and for a like aggregate 

principal amount. In every case of transfer of a Note, the surrendered Note or Notes shall be canceled and 

destroyed. All Notes issued upon transfer of the Notes so surrendered shall be valid obligations of the City 

evidencing the same obligations as the Notes surrendered and shall be entitled to all the benefits and 

protection of this ordinance to the same extent as the Notes upon transfer of which they were delivered. The 

City and said Paying Agent and Registrar shall not be required to transfer any Note during any period from 

any Record Date until its immediately following Interest Payment Date or to transfer any Note called for 

redemption for a period of 30 days next preceding the date fixed for redemption. 

Section 5. In the event that payments of interest due on the Notes on an Interest Payment Date are not 

timely made, such interest shall cease to be payable to the registered owners as of the Record Date for such 

Interest Payment Date and shall be payable to the registered owners of the Notes as of a special date of record 

for payment of such defaulted interest as shall be designated by the Paying Agent and Registrar whenever 

monies for the purpose of paying such defaulted interest become available. 

Section 6. If the date for payment of the principal of or interest on the Notes shall be a Saturday, 

Sunday, legal holiday or a day on which banking institutions in the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, are authorized 

by law or executive order to close, then the date for such payment shall be the next succeeding day which is 

not a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or a day on which such banking institutions are authorized to close, and 

payment on such day shall have the same force and effect as if made on the nominal date of payment. 

Section 7. The Notes of this issue shall be subject to redemption, in whole or in part, prior to maturity 

at the option of the City at any time on or after the date that is one year from the date of original issue (or such 

other redemption date as may be set out in the Designation), at par plus accrued interest on the principal 

amount redeemed to the date fixed for redemption (except as otherwise provided in the Designation). The 

City may select the Notes to be redeemed in its sole discretion, but Notes shall be redeemed only in amounts 

of$5,000 or integral multiples thereof. Notes redeemed in part only shall be surrendered to the Paying Agent 

and Registrar in exchange for new Notes evidencing the unredeemed principal thereof. Notice of redemption 

of any Note called for redemption shall be given at the direction of the City by the Paying Agent and 

Registrar by mail not less than thirty days prior to the date fixed for redemption, first class, postage prepaid, 

sent to the registered owner of such Note at such owner's registered address. Such notice shall designate the 

4 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41
Page 186 of 341

Note or Notes to be redeemed by number, the date of original issue and the date fixed for redemption and 

shall state that such Note or Notes are to be presented for prepayment at the office of the Paying Agent and 

Registrar. In case of any Note partially redeemed, such notice shall specify the portion of the principal 

amount of such Note to be redeemed. No defect in the mailing of notice for any Note shall affect the 

sufficiency of the proceedings of the City designating the Notes called for redemption or the effectiveness of 

such call for Notes for which notice by mail has been properly given and the City shall have the right to 

further direct notice of redemption for any such Note for which defective notice has been given. 

Section 8. The Notes shall be in substantially the following form: 

5 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41
Page 187 of 341

No. 

Interest Rate 

Registered Owner: 

Principal Amount: 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF NEBRASKA 
COUNTY OF MADISON 

GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND ANTICIPATION NOTE 
OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA 

SERIES 2018 

Maturity Date Date of Original Issue CUSIPNo. 

Dollars 

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS: That the City of Norfolk, in the County of 
Madison, in the State of Nebraska (the "City"), hereby acknowledges itself to owe and for value received 
promises to pay to the registered owner specified above, or registered assigns, the principal amount specified 
above in lawful money of the United States of America on the maturity date specified above with interest 
thereon to maturity (or earlier redemption) from the date of original issue or most recent interest payment date 
for which interest has been paid or provided for, whichever is later, at the rate per annum specified above, 
payable semiannually on and of each year commencing ....,-_::-"..,.,....,,
(each of said dates an "Interest Payment Date"). Said interest shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day 
year consisting of twelve 30-day months. The principal hereof together with any unpaid interest accrued 
thereon due at maturity or upon earlier redemption is payable upon presentation and surrender of this note at 
the office of the City Treasurer of Norfolk, Nebraska, as Paying Agent and Registrar, in Norfolk, Nebraska. 
Interest on this note due prior to maturity or earlier redemption will be paid on each Interest Payment Date by 
a check or draft mailed by the Paying Agent and Registrar to the registered owner of this note, as shown on 
the books of record maintained by the Paying Agent and Registrar, at the close of business on the fifteenth 
day of the month inunediately preceding the month in which the Interest Payment Date occurs, to such 
owner's address as shown on such books and records (the "Record Date"). Any interest not so timely paid 
shall cease to be payable to the person entitled thereto as of the Record Date such interest was payable, and 
shall be payable to the person who is the registered owner of this note (or of one or more predecessor notes 
hereto) on such special record date for payment of such defaulted interest as shall be fixed by the Paying 
Agent and Registrar whenever monies for such purpose become available. 

All notes of this issue are subject to redemption prior to maturity at any time on or after the date that 
is one year from the date of original issue at par plus accrued interest on the principal amount redeemed to the 
date set for redemption. Notice of redemption shall be given by mail to the registered owner of any note to be 
redeemed, not less than thirty days prior to the date set for redemption, in the manner specified in the 
ordinance authorizing the issuance of said notes. Individual notes may be redeemed in part but only in the 
amount of $5,000 or any integral mnltiple thereof. 

This note is one of an issue of fully registered notes of the total principal amount of $:---:::c:---;;----::--, 
of even date and like tenor herewith, except as to denomination, which were issued by the City for the 
purpose of providing interim financing to pay for the costs of constructing improvements in Paving District 
Nos. 510 and 511 and Sidewalk District No. 2017-1 and the costs of issuance of such notes, pending the 
issuance of general obligation Various Purpose Bonds or other bonds of the City. The issuance of this note 
and the other notes of this issue has been lawfully authorized by an ordinance dnly passed, approved and 
published by the Mayor and Council of the City of Norfolk in strict compliance with Section 10-137, Reissue 
Revised Statutes of Nebraska, 2012, as amended. 

6 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41
Page 188 of 341

The City hereby certifies and warrants that it has taken all actions necessary and appropriate for 
authorization of the construction of said improvements and agrees that the notes of this issue are special 
obligations of the City to be paid from the proceeds of bonds to be issued by the City or other available funds. 
The City reserves the right to issue additional bond anticipation notes to pay additional costs of said 
improvements or other improvements or to payor redeem the notes of this issue. 

This note is transferable by the registered owner or such owner's attorney duly authorized in writing 
at the office of the City Treasurer of Norfolk, Nebraska, as Paying Agent and Registrar, upon surrender and 
cancellation of this note and thereupon a new note or notes of the same aggregate principal amount will be 
issued to the transferee as provided in the ordinance authorizing said issue of notes, subject to the limitations 
therein prescribed. The City, the Paying Agent and Registrar and any other person may treat the person in 
whose name this note is registered as the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment due 
hereunder and for all purposes and shall not be affected by any notice to the contrary, whether this note be 
overdue or not. 

If the date for payment of the principal of or interest on this note shall be a Saturday, Sunday, legal 
holiday or a day on which banking institotions in the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, are authorized by law or 
executive order to close, then the date for such payment shall be the next succeeding day which is not a 
Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or a day on which such banking institutions are authorized to close, and 
payment on such day shall have the same force and effect as if made on the nominal date of payment. 

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED AND WARRANTED that all conditions, acts and things required by 
law to exist or to be done precedent to and in the issuance of this note did exist, did happen and were done 
and performed in regular and due form and time as required by law and that the indebtedness of the City, 
including this note, does not exceed any limitation imposed by law. 

This note shall not be valid for any purpose until the Certificate of Authentication hereon shall have 
been signed by the Paying Agent and Registrar. 

7 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41
Page 189 of 341

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Mayor and Council of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, have caused this 
note to be executed on behalf of the City with the signatures of its Mayor and City Clerk, both of which 
signatures may be facsimile signatures, and by having affixed hereto or imprinted hereon the City's seal, all as 
of the date of issue shown above. 

(SEAL) 

ATTEST: 

(Smnpie - Do not sign) 
City Clerk 

THE CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA 

By: __ ~(~Smn~p~l~e~-~D~o~n~ot~s~i6gn~)L-______ ___ 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 
AND REGISTRATION 

This note is one of the series designated therein and has been registered to the owner named in said 
note and the name of such owner has been recorded in the books of record maintained by the undersigned as 
Paying Agent and Registrar for said issue of notes. 

(Smnpie - Do not sign) 
City Treasurer, 
Paying Agent and Registrar 
for the City of Norfolk, Nebraska 

(FORM OF ASSIGNMENT) 

For value received, ________________________________ -----"hereby sells, assigns and 
transfers unto , (Social Security or Taxpayer 
1.0. No. ) the within note and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints 

---,.,...,-____ -,-----, __ --,-----,-" attorney, to transfer the same on the books of registration in the office of the 
within-mentioned Paying Agent and Registrar with full power of substitution in the premises. 

Dated: ____________________ ___ 

Registered Owner( s) 
Signature Guaranteed 
By ________________________ _ 

Authorized Officer 

8 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41
Page 190 of 341

Note: The signature(s) of this assignment MUST CORRESPOND with the name(s) as written on the face 
of the within note in every particular, without alteration, enlargement or any change whatsoever, and must be 
guaranteed by a commercial bank or a trust company or by a firm having membership on the New York, 
Midwest or other stock exchange. 

9 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41
Page 191 of 341

Section 9. Each of the Notes shall be executed on behalf of the City with the facsimile signatures of 

the Mayor and the City Clerk and shall have imprinted thereon the City's seal. Unless sold as a private 

placement and designated as such in the Designation, the Notes shall be issued initially as ''book-entry-only'' 

notes using the services of The Depository Trust Company (the "Depository"), with one typewritten bond per 

maturity being issued to the Depository. In such connection said officers of the City are authorized to execute 

and deliver a Letter of Representations (the "Letter of Representations'') in the form required by the 

Depository (including in blanket form and counterparts), for and on behalf of the City, which shall thereafter 

govern matters with respect to registration, transfer, payment and redemption of the Notes. Upon the issuance 

of the Notes as "book-entry-only" bonds, the following provisions shall apply: 

(a) The City and the Paying Agent and Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation to any 
broker-dealer, bank or other financial institution for which the Depository holds Notes as securities 
depository (each, a ''Note Participant'') or to any person who is an actual purchaser of a Note from a 
Note Participant while the Notes are in book-entry form (each, a "Beneficial Owner'') with respect to 
the following: 

(i) the accuracy of the records of the Depository, any nominees of the Depository or 
any Note Participant with respect to any ownership interest in the Notes, 

(ii) the delivery to any Note Participant, any Beneficial Owner or any other person, 
other than the Depository, of any notice with respect to the Notes, including any notice 
of redemption, or 

(iii) the payment to any Note Participant, any Beneficial Owner or any other person, 
other than the Depository, of any amount with respect to the Notes. 

The Paying Agent and Registrar shall make payments with respect to the Notes only to or upon the 
order of the Depository or its nominee, and all such payments shall be valid and effective fully to 
satisfy and discharge the obligations with respect to such Notes to the extent of the sum or sums so 
paid. No person other than the Depository shall receive an authenticated Note, except as provided in 
(e) below. 

(b) Upon receipt by the Paying Agent and Registrar of written notice from the Depository to the 
effect that the Depository is unable or unwilling to discharge its responsibilities, the Paying Agent 
and Registrar shall issue, transfer and exchange Notes requested by the Depository in appropriate 
amounts. Whenever the Depository requests the Paying Agent and Registrar to do so, the Paying 
Agent and Registrar will cooperate with the Depository in taking appropriate action after reasonable 
notice (i) to arrange, with the prior written consent of the City, for a substitute depository willing and 
able upon reasonable and customary terms to maintain custody of the Notes or (ii) to make available 
Notes registered in whatever name or names the Beneficial Owners transferring or exchanging such 
Notes shall designate. 

( c) If the City determines that it is desirable that certificates representing the Notes be delivered 
to the Note Participants and/or Beneficial Owners of the Notes and so notifies the Paying Agent and 
Registrar in writing, the Paying Agent and Registrar shall so notify the Depository, whereupon the 

10 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41
Page 192 of 341

Depository will notify the Note Participants of the availability through the Depository of note 
certificates representing the Notes. In such event, the Paying Agent and Registrar shall issue, transfer 
and exchange note certificates representing the Notes as requested by the Depository in appropriate 
amounts and in authorized denominations. 

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision of this ordinance to the contrary, so long as any Note is 
registered in the name of the Depository or any nominee thereof, all payments with respect to such 
Note and all notices with respect to such Note shall be made and given, respectively, to the 
Depository as provided in the Letter of Representations. 

( e) Registered ownership of the Notes may be transferred on the books of registration maintained 
by the Paying Agent and Registrar, and the Notes may be delivered in physical form to the following: 

(i) any successor securities depository or its nominee; or 

(ii) any person, upon (A) the resignation of the Depository from its functions as 
depository or (B) termination of the use of the Depository pursuant to this Section. 

(f) In the event of any partial redemption of a Note unless and until such partially redeemed 
Note has been replaced in accordance with the provisions of this Ordinance, the books and records of 
the Paying Agent and Registrar shall govern and establish the principal amount of such Note as is 
then outstanding and all of the Notes issued to the Depository or its nominee shall contain a legend to 
such effect. 

Iffor any reason the Depository resigns and is not replaced or upon termination by the City of book-

entry-only form, the City shall immediately provide a supply of note certificates for issuance upon subsequent 

transfers or in the event of partial redemption. In the event that such supply of certificates shall be insufficient 

to meet the requirements of the Paying Agent and Registrar for issuance of replacement note certificates upon 

transfer or partial redemption, the City agrees to order printed an additional supply of note certificates and to 

direct their execution by manual or facsimile signature of its then duly qualified and acting officers. In case 

any officer whose signature or facsimile thereof shall appear on any Note shall cease to be such officer before 

the delivery of such Note (including any note certificates delivered to the Paying Agent and Registrar for 

issuance upon transfer or partial redemption), such signature or such facsimile signature shall nevertheless be 

valid and sufficient for all purposes the same as if such officer or officers had remained in office until the 

delivery of such Note. The Notes shall not be valid and binding on the City until authenticated by the Paying 

Agent and Registrar. The Notes shall be delivered to the Paying Agent and Registrar for registration and 

authentication. Upon execution, registration and authentication of the Notes, they shall be delivered to the 

City's Treasurer, acting on behalf of the City, who shall deliver them to the Purchaser, upon receipt of the 

purchase price to be determined in the Designation (and such purchase price may include a placement agent 

11 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41
Page 193 of 341

fee or underwriter's discount, as applicable). Said initial purchasers shall have the right to direct the 

registration of the Notes and the denominations thereofwithin each maturity, subjectto the restrictions of this 

Ordinance. The Mayor or City Clerk (or anyone of them) are hereby authorized to execute and deliver a 

Note Purchase Agreement for and on behalf of the City. Such purchaser and its agents, representatives and 

counsel (including its bond counsel) are hereby authorized to take such actions on behalf of the City as are 

necessary to effectuate the closing of the issuance and sale of the Notes, including, without limitation, 

authorizing the release of the Notes at closing. 

Section 10. The City Clerk is hereby directed to make and certify a transcript of the proceedings of 

the City precedent to the issuance of said Notes which shall be delivered to the purchaser of said Notes. 

Section 11. The City hereby covenants and agrees to take all steps necessary for the completion of 

the improvements described in Section 1 hereof in such a manner that upon completion the City will be 

authorized to issue and sell its general obligation Various Purpose Bonds or other bonds to pay the costs of 

said improvements and hereby covenants and agrees to issue and sell its general obligation Various Purpose 

Bonds or other bonds in a sufficient amount and at such times as will enable it to take up and payoff the 

Notes herein ordered issued, both principal and interest, at or prior to maturity, to the extent not paid from 

other sources. The City reserves the right to issue additional bond anticipation notes for the purpose of paying 

further costs of the improvements described in Section 1 for the purpose of paying costs of further public 

improvements of the City and further reserves the right to issue such notes for purposes of paying or 

refunding the Notes herein authorized at or prior to maturity. 

Section 12. The proceeds of the Notes of this issue shall be used to pay for the Project and to pay 

issuance expenses for the Notes. The officers of the City (or anyone or more of them) are hereby authorized 

to take all actions deemed necessary in connection with the issuance of the Notes. 

Section 13. The holders of the Notes of this issue shall be subrogated to all rights of the holders of 

any claims which are paid from the proceeds of said Notes. 

Section 14. The City hereby covenants to the purchasers and holders of the Notes hereby authorized 

that it will make no use of the proceeds of said Note issue, including monies held in any sinking fund for the 

Notes, which would cause the Notes to be arbitrage bonds within the meaning of Sections 103(b) and 148 of 

the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and further covenants to comply with said 

Sections 1 03(b) and 148 and all applicable regulations thereunder throughout the term of said issue. The City 

12 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41
Page 194 of 341

hereby covenants and agrees to take all actions necessary under the Code to maintaill the tax exempt status (as 

to taxpayers generally) of interest payable on the Notes. As and to the extent not "deemed designated", the 

City hereby designates the Notes as its "qualified tax-exempt obligations" pursuant to Section 

265(b)(3)(8)(i)(III) of the Code and covenants and warrants that it does not reasonably expect to issue tax

exempt bonds or other tax -exempt obligations aggregating in principal amount more than $10,000,000 during 

calendar 2018, taking into consideration statutory exceptions for refunding issues. The Mayor and/or City 

Treasurer are hereby authorized to make any and all elections or allocations deemed necessary by them in 

connection with the tax-exempt status of interest on the Notes or other tax related qualification thereof. 

Section 15. If a Preliminary Official Statement is required, the Authorized Officers are authorized to 

approve and deem final a Preliminary Official Statement, as well as approve on behalf of the City a fmal 

Official Statement with any changes deemed appropriate by Authorized Officers. 

Section 16. In order to promote compliance with certam federal tax and securities laws relating to the 

Notes herein authorized (as well as other outstanding bonds) the policy and procedures attached hereto as Exhibit 

"A" (the ''Post-Issuance Compliance Policy and Procedures'') are hereby adopted and approved in all respects. 

To the extent that there is any inconsistency between the attached Post-Issuance Compliance Policy and 

Procedures and any similar policy or procedures previously adopted and approved, the Post-Issuance Compliance 

Policy and Procedures shall control. 

Section 17. lbis ordinance shall be published in pamphlet form and shall be in full force and effect 

from and after its passage as provided by law. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this _ day of _____ ---', 2018. 

Mayor 
Attest: 

City Clerk 

(SEAL) 

Approved as to form: ___ -=_:--________ _ 
City Attorney 

13 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41
Page 195 of 341

EXHIBIT "A" 

POLICY AND PROCEDURES 

[SEE ATTACHED] 

14 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41
Page 196 of 341

Policy and Procedures 
Federal Tax Law and Disclosure Requirements for 
Tax-exempt Bonds and/or Tax Advantaged Bonds 

ISSUER NAME: City of Norfolk. Nebraska 
COMPLIANCE OFFICER (BY TITLE): Finance Officer. City of Norfolk. Nebraska 

POLICY 

It is the policy of the Issuer identified above (the "Issuer") to comply with all Federal tax 
requirements and securities law continuing disclosure obligations for its obligations issued as tax
exempt bonds (or as tax credit, direct pay subsidy or other tax-advantaged bonds, as applicable) to 
ensure, as applicable ( a) that interest on its tax -exempt bonds remains exempt from Federal income 
tax, (b) that the direct payments or tax credits associated with its bonds issued as tax advantaged 
bonds are received in a timely manner and ( c) compliance with any continuing disclosure obligations 
of the Issuer with respect to its outstanding bonds. 

PROCEDURES 

Compliance Officer. Review of compliance with Federal tax requirements and securities law 
continuing disclosure obligations as generally outlined below shall be conducted by the Compliance 
Officer identified above (the "Compliance Officer"). To the extent more than one person has been 
delegated specific responsibilities, the Compliance Officer shall be responsible for ensuring 
coordination of all compliance review efforts. 

Training. The Compliance Officer shall evaluate and review educational resources regarding post
issuance compliance with Federal tax and securities laws, including periodic review of resources 
published for issuers oftax-exempt obligations by the Internal Revenue Service (either on its website 
at http://www.irs.gov/taxexemptbond. or elsewhere) and the Muuicipal Securities Rulemaking Board 
(either on its Electronic Municipal Market Access website ["EMMA"] at 
http://www.emma.msrb.org. or elsewhere). 

Compliance Review. A compliance review shall be conducted at least annually by or at the direction 
of the Compliance Officer. The review shall occur at the time the Issuer's annual audit takes place, 
uuless the Compliance Officer otherwise specifically determines a different time period or frequency 
of review would be more appropriate. 

Scope of Review. 

Document Review. At the compliance review, the following documents (the "Bond Documents") 
shall be reviewed for general compliance with covenants and agreements and applicable regulations 
with respect to each outstanding bond issue: 

( a) the resolution(s) and! or ordinance(s), as applicable, adopted by the goveruing body of the Issuer 
authorizing the issuance of its outstanding bonds, together with any documents setting the final 
rates and terms of such bonds (the "Authorizing Proceedings"), 

15 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41
Page 197 of 341

(b) the tax documentation associated with each bond issue, which may include some or all of the 
following (the "Tax Documents"): 

(i) covenants, certifications and expectations regarding Federal tax requirements which are 
described in the Authorizing Proceedings; 

(ii) Form 8038 series filed with the Internal Revenue Service; 

(iii}tax certificates, tax compliance agreements, tax regulatory agreement or similar documents; 

(iv}covenants, agreements, instructions or memoranda with respect to rebate or private use; 

(v) any reports from rebate analysts received as a result of prior compliance review or evaluation 
efforts; and 

(vi}any and all other agreements, certificates and documents contained in the transcript 
associated with the Authorizing Proceedings relating to federal tax matters. 

(c) the Issuer's continuing disclosure obligations, ifany, contained in the Authorizing Proceedings 
or in a separate agreement (the "Continuing Disclosure Obligations"), and 

(d) any communications or other materials received by the Issuer or its counsel, from bond counsel, 
the underwriter or placement agent or its counsel, the IRS, or any other material correspondence 
relating to the tax-exempt status of the Issuer's bonds or relating to the Issuer's Continuing 
Disclosure Obligations. 

Use and Timely Expenditure of Bond Proceeds. Expenditure of bond proceeds shall be reviewed by 
the Compliance Officer to ensure (a) such proceeds are spent for the purpose stated in the 
Authorizing Proceedings and as described in the Tax Documents and (b) that the proceeds, together 
with investment earnings on such proceeds, are spent within the timeframes described in the Tax 
Documents, and (c) that any mandatory redemptions from excess bond proceeds are timely made if 
required under the Authorizing Proceedings and Tax Documents. 

Arbitrage Yield Restrictions and Rebate Matters. The Tax Documents shall be reviewed by the 
Compliance Officer to ensure compliance with any applicable yield restriction requirements under 
Section l48(a} of the Intemal Revenue Code (the "Code") and timely calculation and payment of 
any rebate and the filing of any associated returns pursuant to Section 148(t) of the Code. A 
qualified rebate analyst shall be engaged as appropriate or as may be required under the Tax 
Documents. 

Use of Bond Financed Property. Expectations and covenants contained in the Bond Documents 
regarding private use shall be reviewed by the Compliance Officer to ensure compliance. Bond
fmanced properties shall be clearly identified (by mapping or other reasonable means). Prior to 
execution, the Compliance Officer (and bond counsel, if deemed appropriate by the Compliance 
Officer) shall review (a) all proposed leases, contracts related to operation or management of bond
fmanced property, sponsored research agreements, take-or-pay contracts or other agreements or 
arrangements or proposed uses which have the potential to give any entity any special legal 
entitlement to the bond-financed property, (b) all proposed agreements which would result in 

16 



4/16/2018 Enclosure 41
Page 198 of 341

disposal of any bond-financed property, and (c) all proposed uses of bond-financed property which 
were not anticipated at the time the bonds were issued. Such actions could be prohibited by the 
Authorizing Proceedings, the Tax Documents or Federal tax law. 

Continuing Disclosure. Compliance with the Continuing Disclosure Obligations with respect to 
each bond issue shall be evaluated (a) to ensure timely compliance with any annual disclosure 
requirement, and (b) to ensure that any material events have been properly disclosed as required by 
the Continuing Disclosure Obligation. 

Record Keeping. If not otherwise specified in the Bond Documents, all records related to each bond 
issue shall be kept for the life of the indebtedness associated with such bond issue (including all tax
exempt refundings) plus six (6) years. 

Incorporation of Tax Documents. The requirements, agreements and procedures set forth in the Tax 
Documents, now or hereafter in existence, are hereby incorporated into these procedures by this 
reference and are adopted as procedures of the Issuer with respect to the series of bonds to which 
such Tax Documents relate. 

Consultation Regarding Ouestions or Concerns. Any questions or concems which arise as a result of 
any review by the Compliance Officer shall be raised by the Compliance Officer with the Issuer's 
counselor with bond counsel to determine whether non-compliance exists and what measures should 
be taken with respect to any non-compliance. 

VCAP and Remedial Actions. The Issuer is aware of (a ) the Voluntary Closing Agreement Program 
(known as "VCAP") operated by the Internal Revenue Service which allows issuers under certain 
circumstances to voluntarily enter into a closing agreement in the event of certain non-compliance 
with Federal tax requirements and (b) the remedial actions available to issuers of certain bonds under 
Section 1.141-12 of the Income Tax Regulations for private use of bond financed property which 
was not expected at the time the bonds were issued. 

17 



Page 1

 Knife River Midwest, LLC

2220 Hawkeye Drive

Sioux City, IA  51105

 

ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNIT UNIT COST   TOTAL

Mobilization for Entire Project 1 L.S. $87,352.11 $87,352.11
Testing Requirements for Entire 

Project
1 L.S.

$26,914.09 $26,914.09

First Street from (Northwestern Avenue to Bluff Avenue)

1. Asphaltic Concrete Type SLX 1878 Ton $85.59 $160,738.02

2. Cold Milling (2") for Inlay 17090 S.Y. $2.37 $40,503.30

3.
Asphalt Oil for Tack (0.15 gal/S.Y.)

2564 Gal $3.18 $8,153.52

4. Barricades and Traffic Control 1 L.S. $4,608.32 $4,608.32

5. Concrete Pavement Repair 110.37 C.Y. $352.52 $38,907.63

6. Remove & Replace Inlet Throat 8 Each $1,410.07 $11,280.56

7. Saw 9" Concrete (full depth) 1788 L.F. $2.94 $5,256.72

8. Cross Stitching (Tie Bars) 333 Each $19.98 $6,653.34

9. 5" White (Dashed) Wet Reflective 

Themoplastic Pavement Marking, 

Grooved

5401 L.F.

$1.40 $7,561.40

10. 5" Yellow (Solid) Wet Reflective 

Themoplastic Pavement Marking, 

Grooved 6172 L.F. $1.40 $8,640.80

11. 5" White (Solid) Wet Reflective 

Themoplastic Pavement Marking, 

Grooved 86 L.F. $1.40 $120.40
Subtotal First Street $292,424.01  

Norfolk Avenue (from 9th Street to 14th Street less 13th Street Intersection)

1. Asphaltic Concrete Type SLX 1858 Ton $85.59 $159,026.22

2. Cold Milling (2") for Inlay 16879 S.Y. $2.49 $42,028.71

3.
Asphalt Oil for Tack (0.15 gal/S.Y.)

2532 Gal $3.18 $8,051.76

4. Barricades and Traffic Control 1 L.S. $4,455.02 $4,455.02

5. Concrete Pavement Repair 329.47 C.Y. $372.49 $122,724.28

6. Saw 11" Concrete (full depth) 3457 L.F. $3.23 $11,166.11

7. Cross Stitching (Tie Bars) 588 Each $19.98 $11,748.24

8. 5" White (Dashed) Wet Reflective 

Themoplastic Pavement Marking, 

Grooved 4136 L.F. $1.40 $5,790.40

9. 5" White (Solid) Wet Reflective 

Themoplastic Pavement Marking, 

Grooved 754 L.F. $1.40 $1,055.60

10. 5" Yellow (Dashed) Wet Reflective 

Themoplastic Pavement Marking, 

Grooved 103 L.F. $1.40 $144.20

11. 5" Yellow (Solid) Wet Reflective 

Themoplastic Pavement Marking, 

Grooved 103 L.F. $1.40 $144.20

12. Paint Arrows, Preformed 

Pavement Marking, Type 4 

Grooved 3 Each $470.02 $1,410.06

13. Replace Raised Island 1 Each $940.05 $940.05
Subtotal Norfolk Avenue $368,684.85

Benjamin Avenue (from Flood Control to Victory Road)

1. Asphaltic Concrete Type SLX 2111 Ton $85.53 $180,553.83

2. Cold Milling (2") for Inlay 19215 S.Y. $2.55 $48,998.25

3.
Asphalt Oil for Tack (0.15 gal/S.Y.)

2883 Gal $3.18 $9,167.94

4. Barricades and Traffic Control 1 L.S. $4,455.02 $4,455.02

5. Concrete Pavement Repair 148.63 C.Y. $373.67 $55,538.57

6. Saw 9" Concrete (full depth) 3052 L.F. $2.94 $8,972.88

7. Cross Stitching (Tie Bars) 1,364 Each $17.63 $24,047.32

8. 5" White (Dashed) Wet Reflective 

Themoplastic Pavement Marking, 

Grooved 6436 L.F. $1.40 $9,010.40

9. 5" Yellow (Solid) Wet Reflective 

Themoplastic Pavement Marking, 

Grooved 5331 L.F. $1.40 $7,463.40

10. 5" White (Solid) Wet Reflective 

Themoplastic Pavement Marking, 

Grooved 611 L.F. $1.40 $855.40
Subtotal Benjamin Avenue $349,063.01

McKinley Street ( 5th Street to TaHaZouka Park)

1. Asphaltic Concrete Type SLX 511 Ton $86.97 $44,441.67

2. Cold Milling (1") for Inlay 4649 S.Y. $1.81 $8,414.69

3.
Asphalt Oil for Tack (0.15 gal/S.Y.)

697 Gal $3.18 $2,216.46

4. Barricades and Traffic Control 1 L.S. $2,222.41 $2,222.41

5. Asphalt Repair (6") 114.3 S.Y. $78.27 $8,946.26

6. Saw 6" Asphalt 214 L.F. $4.72 $1,010.08
Subtotal McKinley Street $67,251.57

5th Street (Monroe Avenue to McKinley)

1. Asphaltic Concrete Type SLX 473 Ton $87.12 $41,207.76

2. Cold Milling (1") for Inlay 8947 S.Y. $1.81 $16,194.07

3.
Asphalt Oil for Tack (0.15 gal/S.Y.)

644 Gal $3.18 $2,047.92

4. Barricades and Traffic Control 1 L.S. $2,222.41 $2,222.41

5. Asphalt Repair (6") 695.1 S.Y. $78.24 $54,384.62

6. Saw 6" Asphalt 764 L.F. $4.72 $3,606.08

Subtotal 5th Street $119,662.86

Total Bid for Street Overlay 2018-1 $1,311,352.50 *

Alternate Bid Section for McKinley Street:

1. Asphaltic Concrete Type SPR 511 Ton $87.22 $44,569.42

Alternate Bid Section for 5th Street:

1. Asphaltic Concrete Type SPR 473 Ton $90.31 $42,716.63

*Different from submitted bid due to calculation error.

Street Overlay 2018-1

Bid Tabulation

April 9, 2018

S:\Depts\Engineering\Streets and Storm\Street Overlay 2018-1\Cost Estimates, Bid Tabs, Change Orders\StreetOverlay2018-1BidTab.xlsx\

bid tab

4/9/2018

4/16/2018 Enclosure 42
Page 199 of 341



 

!"#$%&'&()*+& ,((-,. 
/*(,(!*,. %&$"%0 

 

12 345 
 

!*06 "/ ("%/".78 (&9%,)7, 
 

 

 
21: 345 ;5<: 5=>5> 

 

)&$0&#9&% ?@8 A@BC 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 200 of 341



  

 
 

COMPREHENSIVE 

ANNUAL 

FINANCIAL REPORT 
 

of the 
 
 
 

 
 
 

for the year ended 
 

September 30, 2017 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 201 of 341



  

 
 

 
 
 

CITY OF  
NORFOLK, NEBRASKA 

 
 

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL  
FINANCIAL REPORT 

 
 

for the  
fiscal year  

ended   
September 30, 2017 

 
 
 

Prepared by: 
The Finance Division 

 
 
 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 202 of 341



  

 
 

 CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA 
 
 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 September 30, 2017 
  
 Page(s)  
  
 INTRODUCTORY SECTION 
 

Letter of Transmittal ....................................................................................................................  1-8 
Certificate of Achievement ..........................................................................................................  9-10 
Organization Chart .....................................................................................................................  11 
Listing of Officials .......................................................................................................................  12 
 

 FINANCIAL SECTION 
 
Independent Auditors' Report .....................................................................................................  13-15 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis ....................................................................................  16-30 
 

                                                    BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Statement of Net Position.......................................................................................................  31 
 Statement of Activities ............................................................................................................  32 
 

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Governmental Funds Financial Statements 
 Balance Sheet ........................................................................................................................  33 
 Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position ...................................  34 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances ................................  35 
 Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 
  Fund Balance to the Statement of Activities ......................................................................  36 
 

Proprietary Funds Financial Statements 
 Statement of Net Position.......................................................................................................  37 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Net Position ....................................  38 
 Statement of Cash Flows .......................................................................................................  39-40 
 

Fiduciary Funds Financial Statements 
 Statement of Net Position.......................................................................................................  41 
 Statement of Changes in Net Position……………………………………………………………………… ..  42 
 

Notes to Financial Statements ................................................................................................  43-69 
 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

 
Schedule of Changes in Firemen’s Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios……………………..                70 
Schedule of Firemen’s Contributions………………………….. ....................................................                  71 
Schedule of Investment Returns………………………….. ..........................................................                  72 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance 
  Budget and Actual, General Fund and Major Special Revenue Fund ...............................  73-74 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information Budgetary Reporting ........................................      75-76 
   

 
 
 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 203 of 341



  

 
 

 
!"#$ %& '%(&%)*+ ',-(./*. 

 
 #.-), %& !%'#,'#/ 

/01203405 67+ 879: 
  
                                                                                                                                                         ;<=0>?@ 
  

/A;;),B,'#.($ "'&%(B.#"%' 
 

CDE05F30F2<G 'DFHB<ID5 &JFK? !D34LFLF= &LF<FML<G /2<2030F2? 
 NOPOQRS TUSSV WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  XXYXZ 
 TVOVS[SQV \] ̂S_SQ̀Sab cdeSQfgV̀hSa OQf iUOQjSa gQ k̀Qf NOPOQRSa WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  XlYZm 

 
-JK=02 /Mn0KJG0? 
    TRUSf̀PS \] ̂S_SQ̀Sab cdeSQfgV̀hSa OQf iUOQjSa gQ k̀Qf NOPOQRS 
  ǸfjSV OQf oRV̀OPb p\Q[Oq\h TeSRgOP ̂S_SQ̀S k̀Qfa WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW            ZrYZs 
 TRUSf̀PS \] ̂S_SQ̀Sab cdeSQfgV̀hSa OQf iUOQjSa gQ k̀Qf NOPOQRS 
  ǸfjSV OQf oRV̀OPb iOegVOP th\qSRV k̀Qfa WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW              Zu 
 TRUSf̀PS \] ̂S_SQ̀Sab cdeSQfgV̀hSa OQf iUOQjSa gQ k̀Qf NOPOQRS 
  ǸfjSV OQf oRV̀OPb vSwV TSh_gRS k̀Qf WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  Zx 
,F20515L?0 &JFK !D34LFLF= y01<5230F2<G &LF<FML<G /Mn0KJG0? 
 TRUSf̀PS \] pSV t\agVg\Q WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  ZzYZX 
 TRUSf̀PSa \] ̂S_SQ̀Sab cdeSQaSa OQf iUOQjSa gQ pSV t\agVg\Q WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  ZZ 
 TRUSf̀PS \] iOaU kP\{a WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  ZlYlm 
 
&LKJML<5| &JFK? !D34LFLF= &LF<FML<G /2<2030F2?  
  i\[wgQgQj TVOVS[SQV \] pSV t\agVg\Q } c[eP\~SS ̂SVghS[SQV k̀Qfa WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW ����� lr
  i\[wgQgQj TVOVS[SQV \] iUOQjSa gQ pSV t\agVg\Q } c[eP\~SS ̂SVghS[SQV k̀Qf W ����� l�
  TVOVS[SQV \] iUOQjSa gQ oaaSVa OQf �gOwgPgVgSa Y ojSQR~ k̀Qf WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW ����� ls
 

/#.#"/#"!.) /,!#"%' 
 #<4G0 �  
   
pSV t\agVg\Q w~ i\[e\QSQVa WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  r luYlx
iUOQjSa gQ pSV t\agVg\Q WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  � lzYlX
k̀Qf NOPOQRSa \] �\_ShQ[SQVOP k̀Qfa WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  s lZYll
iUOQjSa gQ k̀Qf NOPOQRSa \] �\_ShQ[SQVOP k̀Qfa WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  u rmmYrmr

�\VOP igV~ �OdOwPS TOPSa WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  x rm�
TOPSa �Od ̂OVSa WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  z rms
pSV �OdOwPS TOPSa w~ ǸagQSaa iPOaag]gROVg\Qa WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  X rmu
oaaSaaSf OQf caVg[OVSf oRV̀OP �OP̀S \] �OdOwPS th\eShV~ WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  Z rmx
th\eShV~ �Od ̂OVSaYvghSRV OQf �_ShPOeegQj �\_ShQ[SQVa WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  l rmz
thgQRgeOP th\eShV~ �OdeO~Sha WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  rm rmX
th\eShV~ �Od �S_gSa OQf i\PPSRVg\Qa WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  rr rmZ
ÔVg\a \] �̀ VaVOQfgQj vSwV w~ �~eS r� rmlYrrm

ÔVg\a \] �SQShOP N\QfSf vSwV �̀ VaVOQfgQj WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  rs rrr
vghSRV OQf �_ShPOeegQj �\_ShQ[SQVOP oRVg_gVgSa vSwV WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  ru rr�
tPSfjSf ̂S_SQ̀S i\_ShOjS WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  rx rrs
vS[\jhOeUgR OQf cR\Q\[gR TVOVgaVgRa WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  rz rru
thgQRgeOP c[eP\~Sha WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  rX rrx
k̀PPY�g[S c�̀g_OPSQV igV~ �\_ShQ[SQVOP c[eP\~SSa w~ k̀QRVg\Q WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  rZ rrz
�eShOVgQj �QfgROV\ha w~ k̀QRVg\Q WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  rl rrX
iOegVOP oaaSV TVOVgaVgRa w~ k̀QRVg\Q WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW  �m rrZ
  
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 204 of 341



  

 
 

 
 CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA 
 
 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 September 30, 2017 
  
 Page(s)  
  
 
Government Auditing Standards 
 Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance 
 and other matters based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with  
 Government Auditing Standards ............................................................................................  119-120 
    Schedule of Findings and Responses  ...............................................................         121 
    Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings  ...............................................................         122 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 205 of 341



 

 

 

!"#$%&'(#%$) *+(#!%" 

 

 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 206 of 341



 
�����������������������������������	
�� 
 

� �

����������	�
����
��
��������������������

�����������������������������
���������
������� !�

 
 

March 28, 2018  
 
 
 
Honorable Mayor, City Council, 

and Citizens of Norfolk 

City of Norfolk, Nebraska 

 
The comprehensive annual financial report of the City of Norfolk for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2017 is hereby submitted.  State law requires cities to issue within six months of 
fiscal year end a set of audited financial statements.  This report fulfills this requirement for the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2017. 
 
Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data, and the completeness and fairness of the 
presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the City.  To the best of my knowledge and 
belief, the enclosed data are accurate in all material respects and are reported in a manner 
designed to present fairly the financial position and results of operations of the various funds of 
the City.  All disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain an understanding of the City's 
financial activities have been included. 
 
Management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information 
contained in this report, based upon a comprehensive framework of internal control established 
for this purpose.  Because the cost of internal control should not exceed anticipated benefits, the 
objective is to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial statements 
are free of any material misstatements.   
 
The City’s financial statements have been audited by Hayes & Associates, L.L.C. a firm of 
licensed certified public accountants.  The goal of the independent audit is to provide reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements of the City for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, 
are free of material misstatement.  The independent audit involved examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements; assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management; and evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation.  The independent auditor concluded, based upon the 
audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unmodified opinion that the City’s 
financial statements for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, are fairly presented in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  The independent auditor’s 
report is presented as the first component of the financial section of this report.   

 

1
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 207 of 341



 
GAAP requires management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to 
accompany the basic financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
(MD&A).  This letter of transmittal is designed to complement MD&A and should be read in 
conjunction with it.  The City’s MD&A can be found immediately following the report of the 
independent auditors. 
 
CITY PROFILE  

 
The City of Norfolk is located in Madison County, a prime agricultural region in northeast 
Nebraska, approximately 112 miles northwest of Omaha and 121 miles north of the state capital 
of Lincoln. 
 
The City was incorporated September 12, 1881, and utilizes the mayor and council form of 
government.  The Council is elected on a nonpartisan basis.  Council members serve four year 
staggered terms with four council members elected every two years.  The mayor serves a four-
year term.  The City is divided into four wards and each ward is represented by two council 
members with staggered terms. 
 
The City provides a full range of services.  These services include police and fire protection; the 
construction and maintenance of streets and infrastructure; recreational activities; a public 
library; a system of parks; planning, zoning, health, and housing; water and sewer utilities; off-
street parking facilities; and a solid waste transfer station.  In addition to general government 
activities, the governing body oversees the City's various employee retirement systems and 
these activities are included in the reporting entity.  The Community Development Agency 
created by the Mayor and Council to provide for redevelopment of blighted areas throughout the 
City is included because of the significance of its operational and financial relationships with 
the City.  However, the Norfolk Housing Agency does not meet the established criteria for 
inclusion in the reporting entity, and is excluded from the report.  The Agency issues its own 
financial statements which are available upon request from its office at 110 North Fourth Street.   
 
The Council is required to adopt a final budget by no later than September 20 of the prior fiscal 
year.  This annual budget serves as the foundation for the City’s financial planning and control.  
The budget is prepared by fund, and department.  The budget includes all funds of the City 
except fiduciary funds (Retirement Funds) and component units (Community Development 
Agency and City of Norfolk Facilities Corporation). 
 
The budget modification process depends on the type of modification being sought.  If a 
department or division head wishes to purchase unbudgeted machinery, tools or equipment, he 
can choose to do so by exchanging it for another item within the same account.  If an exchange 
is not possible and the item is not deferrable, the City Administrator must review and approve 
the request, or at his discretion, the Mayor and City Council.  Exchanges of budgetary authority 
between accounts is generally not allowed.  If any piece of equipment fails and was unforeseen 
at budget time, purchasing normally approves replacement up to $1,500.  Amounts over $1,500 
are approved by the City Administrator or the Mayor and City Council. 
 

 

2
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 208 of 341



 
LOCAL ECONOMY 
 
Sales tax receipts continue their slow growth pattern.  This year the City’s 1 ½ cent sales tax 
was up only 0.59% or 47,115 from the prior year and last year the sales tax was down 1.09% or 
$87,517 from the previous year.  Other than a spike in sales tax after the June 2014 hail storm, 
the City’s 1 ½ cent sales tax has had little growth since the fiscal year ended September 30, 
2000, right around the time internet sales started to significantly increase.  Despite the stagnant 
sales tax receipts, Norfolk continues to have low unemployment.  Madison County’s 
unemployment rate was 2.7% in December 2017, below the national average of 4.1%.  Real 
estate values are increasing.  For the fourth year in a row there is a significant increase in 
assessed valuation.  This comes after 4 years of little increase in assessed valuation.  Norfolk’s 
2017 assessed valuation increased 5.96% and the 2016 assessed valuation increased 4.86%, 
most of which was due to increased value of existing property.   
 
On January 8, 2018 Continental announced a $9.3 million expansion of the rubber mixing 
operations at its industrial hose plant in Norfolk.  Plans are to add more than 19,000 square feet 
and more than 30 jobs.  The expansion is designed to accommodate its North American 
manufacturing facilities by providing rubber for industrial hoses and whitewall tires for 
passenger cars.  Construction is expected to begin immediately and be completed by the end of 
the first quarter of 2019.  Partial funding has been offered from the State of Nebraska through 
the Nebraska Advantage Act, Community Development Block Grants, and Site and Building 
Development Fund.  The City has offered $180,000 from its LB 840 economic development 
program.   
 
Faith Regional Health Services started construction on a new 109,000 square foot medical 
office building south of Norfolk Avenue next to Faith Regional’s west campus.  The new 
building will be a multi-specialty physician center that will allow Faith Regional to move 
forward with its strategic plan to organize key service lines, such as women’s and children’s 
orthopedics, surgery, and the Faith Regional Health Services surgery center, while 
accommodating current services and supporting future growth and expansion.  Construction is 
expected to be finished in early 2019. 
 
Black Hills Energy finished construction of a 50 mile natural gas pipeline to Norfolk from the 
east, connecting to the Northern Natural Gas interstate pipeline near Bancroft.  This addresses 
one of the City’s biggest economic development roadblocks, a lack of natural gas capacity.  
With construction of the Black Hills pipeline, Norfolk is served by two different pipeline 
companies, one providing service from the west and the other from the east.  The City entered 
into a funding assistance agreement with Black Hills Energy to provide $5 million for 
construction of this pipeline when certain conditions are met.  $3.6 million is from the City’s 
LB 840 economic development program approved by Norfolk citizens at the May, 2010 primary 
election.  This program provides $400,000 of property tax annually for 10 years to be used for 
economic development and allows for bonds to be issued in anticipation of these tax receipts.  
The City issued a $2,365,000 economic development fund bond.  Bond proceeds, along with 
$1,235,000 of cash held in the Economic Development Fund, was disbursed to Black Hills 
Energy in May 2016 after construction of the pipeline commenced.  The other $1.4 million was 

3
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 209 of 341



 
grant proceeds from the State of Nebraska from its Site and Building Development Fund that 
was disbursed to Black Hills Energy in February 2018.   

 
The Norfolk area is experiencing a housing shortage.  A 2016 study found that Norfolk should 
have a target of adding 762 new housing units by 2021, including 444 owner and 318 rental 
housing units, to meet current demand and support future population growth.  A housing task 
force was formed years ago to address the local housing shortage.  The task force has discussed 
ideas to encourage speculative housing construction and the use of tax-increment financing to 
build streets, water, and sewer in the area.  The City’s Economic Development staff is also 
focusing on this issue, as it is difficult to recruit new businesses to the area if there is no supply 
of housing.  Efforts are seen coming to fruition with the approval of a number of 
Redevelopment Contracts which provide for using tax increment financing for housing. 
 
The City and Community Development Agency approved a Redevelopment Contract which 
provides for using tax increment financing for infrastructure development in the area located 
south of Benjamin Avenue and bordered by Meadow Ridge Development.  The redeveloper 
plans to construct single family attached and detached units for a total of 53 housing units.  The 
Redevelopment Contract provides for a maximum of $900,000 of tax increment financing 
bonds.  A number of houses have been constructed and others are currently under construction.  
Another Redevelopment Contract was recently approved for the Legacy Bend Housing 
Development in this same general area.  Legacy Bend will utilize tax increment financing to 
develop the area located south and west of the Meadow Ridge housing development.  Legacy 
Bend is an 8-phase project over multiple years consisting of approximately:  124 single family 
homes on larger lots, 51 single family homes on urban lots, 51 townhomes, and 224 living units 
in multiple dwelling units.   
 
The City and Community Development Agency also approved a Redevelopment Contract 
which provides for using tax increment financing for rehabilitation of Skyline Apartments.  The 
building has 92 apartments and common areas for disabled and senior residents.  Rehabilitation 
is currently in progress and includes many safety features, such as a new fire alarm system, 
installation of fire sprinklers and emergency lighting, and improvements to bring the building 
up to code.  The Redevelopment Contract provides for a maximum of $415,000 of tax 
increment financing bonds.  In addition, the City is providing $348,000 of reuse funds from 
previous grants for the rehabilitation.   
 
The old DeLay Bank Building in downtown Norfolk is currently under rehabilitation to provide 
8 apartments on the upper floor and commercial space on the first floor.  A maximum of 
$240,750 of tax increment financing bonds has been authorized for this project.  Another 
Redevelopment Agreement was approved for rehabilitation of the Ballantyne Buildings 
immediately west of the Delay Bank Building.  A total of 27,800 square feet will be 
rehabilitated to commercial office space and two residential apartments.  The Redevelopment 
Agreement provides for a maximum of $143,290 of tax increment financing bonds. 
 
 
 

4
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 210 of 341



 
A Redevelopment Agreement was approved for the construction of 18 single family residential 
homes comprised of 14 lakefront dwellings and 4 villas with associated improvements.  The 
project area is south of the Elkhorn River and east of Highway 81.  A maximum of $1.6 million 
of tax increment financing bonds are authorized for this project.  This agreement implements 
the first phase of the Medelmans Lake Redevelopment Plan which provides for construction of 
188 single family homes in multiple phases. 
 
A Redevelopment Agreement was approved for Phase I of the Fountain Point North 
Redevelopment Project at the southwest corner of 37th Street and Highway 275.  The project 
involves the construction of a 70-80,000 square foot medical office building and an 87 unit 
senior living facility with associated improvements.  The Redevelopment Agreement provides 
for a maximum of $3,970,000 of tax increment financing bonds.  The Fountain Point 
Redevelopment Plan provides for subsequent phases incorporating both commercial and 
residential development. 
 
In addition to the Redevelopment Agreements including residential development, a 
Redevelopment Agreement was approved for commercial property generally located on the 
northwest corner of 13th Street and Omaha Avenue.  The plan is to construct a 2,724 square foot 
building and a 10,050 square foot building for retail, restaurant, office, and medical tenants 
along with extensive concrete parking.  The Redevelopment Agreement provides for a 
maximum of $450,000 of tax increment financing bonds.   
 
Other economic indicators appear mainly favorable.  Norfolk’s population decreased from an 
estimated 24,366 in 2015 to an estimated 24,348 in 2016.  Madison County’s unemployment 
rate decreased .3% from 3.0% in December 2016 to 2.7% in December 2017.  Public school 
enrollment increased from 4,325 in September 2016 to 4,370 in September 2017.  The most 
recent assessed valuation which was released August 20, 2017, shows taxable property in 
Norfolk valued at $1,466,525,323, a 5.96% increase from the prior year.  
 
LONG-TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING AND MAJOR INITIATIVES 

 
The City’s long-term financial planning process starts with the Council selecting the City’s top 
priorities at a Council/Staff Retreat.  These priorities are incorporated into the capital 
improvement program (CIP), budget, and long-term financial plan (LTFP).  The LTFP monitors 
the effect of large capital projects, revenue and expenditure trends out ten years along with 
expected levy rates.   
 
The City’s maintenance level budget allows for 3.5% expenditure growth.  The LTFP shows 
expenditures growing about 3% in most of the next ten years; however, the City’s two largest 
revenue sources are projected to grow at a slower rate.   
 
The City’s largest revenue source is sales tax which is projected to grow at an annual rate of 
2.1% in the LTFP based on past history.  The City’s 1 ½ cent sales tax for fiscal year 2016-2017 
is up $47,115 or 0.59% from the prior fiscal year.  The City is budgeting a $189,059 or 2.40% 
increase in 1 ½ cent sales tax in the 2017-2018 budget.   
 

5
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 211 of 341



 
The City’s second largest revenue source is lease revenue from Nebraska Public Power District 
(NPPD) which pays 12% of system revenue to lease the City-owned electrical distribution 
system.  NPPD is making a major effort to hold down rate increases and based on NPPD rate 
projections, the LTFP shows no growth in NPPD lease revenue through fiscal year 2023-2024 
and 1% thereafter. 
 
Slow growth in the City’s two largest revenue sources, puts pressure on property tax which is 
the third largest general revenue source.  The City’s property tax levy rate for the 2016-2017 
fiscal year increased 2.2% to fund items that would have otherwise been left out of the budget.  
It funds certification that the flood control levee meets Federal Emergency Management 
Agency standards and increasing targeted ending fund balance growth to the goal of 3.5%.  The 
LTFP shows the City’s property tax rate going from .252065 in 2016-2017 to .400452 in 2026-
2027.  In 2016-2017 the City’s property tax levy rate is 4th lowest of the 30 first class cities in 
Nebraska and would have moved to 14th highest with the projected 2026-2027 levy rate.   
  
The City annually prepares a ten-year CIP.  This program outlines capital needs for the next ten 
years and identifies potential funding sources.  These projects are prioritized in the categories of 
urgent, necessary, desirable or deferrable.  The CIP is prepared so that capital items do not 
exceed funding sources provided in the revenue and expenditure trends.  The CIP can change 
from year to year as the revenue and expenditure trends change.  The Council determines its top 
goals and works with City staff to develop strategies to achieve these goals.  An action plan is 
created and specifics are incorporated into the budget to carry out the action plan.  The City also 
developed Water and Sewer Master Plans.  These plans were updated several years ago by 
Black and Veatch and now the City has hired Black and Veatch to do a wastewater rate study.  
The study will be done in three phases and will determine sewer rate increases needed to fund 
forthcoming sewer projects.  Phase 1 will evaluate the current year wastewater revenues 
compared to current expenditures, phase 2 will develop a five year financial plan for the City’s 
wastewater utility, and phase 3 will conduct a cost of service analysis. 
 
One of the Mayor and Council goals is a library expansion.  A half-cent sales tax increase was 
approved at the November 2014 general election.  The sales tax increase went into effect on 
April 1, 2015 and will be in effect for 36 months to provide funding for an $8.7 million library 
expansion and renovation.  The City also was awarded a $750,000 grant from the State of 
Nebraska Civic and Community Center Financing Fund for the library expansion and 
renovation.  The project includes a 2,500 square feet addition, expanded parking, drive-up 
access to the book drop, improvements to the children’s and teen’s areas, expanded meeting 
rooms, and updated work spaces for the Library and Information Services staff.  Construction is 
currently in progress and is anticipated to be completed in the summer of 2018. 
 
Economic development continues to be a priority of the Mayor and Council.  Increasing the 
capacity of natural gas flowing to Norfolk had been a goal for a number of years.  As explained 
earlier, Black Hills Energy constructed an eight inch natural gas pipeline from Bancroft to 
Norfolk.  To support economic development, plans to extend water and sewer lines to industrial 
areas are currently in process.  The Mayor and Council have hired a consultant to do an 
annexation study.  This is a four step plan to evaluate the expansion of the corporate limit that 
includes input from public and private stakeholders.  The Mayor and Council also want to 

6
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 212 of 341



 
increase area planning efforts and resources including  industrial site assessment and analysis. 
Lobbying efforts continue for state and federal funding for infrastructure projects. 
 
Another of the Mayor and Council goals is parks and recreation.  The Council desires adding 
more recreation trails and have the additional trails connect existing trails.  A trail advisory 
board helps identify, promote, and seek funding for new and expanding trails in and around 
Norfolk.  The City was awarded a grant from the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission for the 
Highway 275 underpass trail.  This project is estimated to be $345,617, with $297,808 funded 
by grants, and construction is anticipated in 2019.  The City will soon begin construction of a 
5,115 feet long trail in Johnson Park and along the north fork of the Elkhorn River.  In addition 
to trails the Mayor and Council desire adding more soccer fields and providing funding 
specifically for tree projects.  They support efforts for an indoor recreation space for the whole 
community and support fundraising efforts to build a new skate park.   
 
Street maintenance continues to be a goal of the Mayor and Council.  Reconstruction of the 
Norfolk Avenue bridge over the North Fork of the Elkhorn River started last spring.  This is a 
$5.7 million project that includes a trail under the bridge, a water main, and a new roadway 
section from First Street to Cottonwood Street.  The new roadway section has five lanes with 
landscaping, decorative lighting and roadway lighting to tie in with the downtown business 
district.  The project has been completed, except for the trail that will be finished this spring.  
Staff will look into potential funding sources for street improvement, hiring seasonal help for 
streets, and identify streets for upgrade or repair.  Studying costs to expand Benjamin Avenue 
into five lanes and holding public open houses to explain the 1 to 6 year street plan are also 
goals. 
  
RELEVANT FINANCIAL POLICIES 

 
The City’s important financial policies are included in the City’s budget document.  During the 
current year, two of these policies were particularly relevant.  The City has a policy that bond 
refundings for interest rate savings are not normally undertaken unless the present value of the 
interest rate savings is at least 4% of the refunded principal.  During the year the City called the 
Series 2011 Building Bonds because the interest rate savings was more than 4% of the refunded 
principal.  This refunding reduces debt service payments by $141,714 over the next 15 years 
and the City obtains an economic gain of $115,380. 
 
In 1988 the City Council adopted a policy that requires a minimum budgeted General Fund 
ending balance of $1 million.  If adjusted for inflation this would be more than $2 million.  Over 
the last several years, the City has been increasing General Fund ending balance to bring it up to 
a more appropriate level. 
 

AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

 
CERTIFICATE OF ACHIEVEMENT.  The Government Finance Officers Association of the 
United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in 
Financial Reporting to the City of Norfolk for its comprehensive annual financial report for the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2016.  This was the twenty-ninth consecutive year that the 

7
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 213 of 341



 
government has achieved this prestigious award.  In order to be awarded a Certificate of 
Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized 
comprehensive annual financial report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted 
accounting principles and applicable legal requirements. 
 
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only.  We believe that our current 
comprehensive annual financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement 
Program’s requirements and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for 
another certificate. 
 
DISTINGUISHED BUDGET PRESENTATION AWARD.  In addition, the City has also 
received the GFOA’s Distinguished Budget Presentation Award for the last twenty-five years, 
the most recent for the 2017-2018 budget.  In order to qualify for the Distinguished Budget 
Presentation Award, the City’s budget document was judged proficient as a policy document, a 
financial plan, an operations guide, and a communications device.   
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS.  The timely preparation of this comprehensive annual financial 
report was made possible by the dedicated service of the entire staff of the Finance Division.  
Each member of the division has my sincere appreciation for the contributions made in the 
preparation of this report.  I also thank the Mayor and City Council for their interest and support 
in planning and conducting the financial operation of the City in a responsible and progressive 
manner. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

CITY OF NORFOLK 

 
Randy Gates, CPA 
Finance Officer 
 
 

 
 
 

8
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 214 of 341



  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a 

Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Norfolk, Nebraska for its 

comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2016. 

 

In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a governmental unit must publish an easily readable and 

efficiently organized comprehensive annual financial report, whose contents conform to program standards.  

Such reports must satisfy both U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal 

requirements. 

 

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only.  We believe our current report continues to 

conform to Certificate of Achievement requirements, and we are submitting to GFOA to determine its   

eligibility for another certificate. 

9
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 215 of 341



10

Government Finance Officers Association 

Certificate of 
Achievement 

for Excellence 
in Financial 
Reporting 

Presented to 

City of Norfolk 

Nebraska 

for its Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report 

for the Fiscal Year Ended 

September 30, 2016 

Executive Director/CEO 

Government Finance Officers Association 

Certificate of 
Achievement 

for Excellence 
in Financial 
Reporting 

Presented to 

City of Norfolk 

Nebraska 

for its Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report 

for the Fiscal Year Ended 

September 30, 2016 

Executive Director/CEO 

Government Finance Officers Association 

Certificate of 
Achievement 

for Excellence 
in Financial 
Reporting 

Presented to 

City of Norfolk 

Nebraska 

for its Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report 

for the Fiscal Year Ended 

September 30, 2016 

Executive Director/CEO 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 216 of 341

Government Finance Officers Association 

Certificate of 
Achievement 

for Excellence 
in Financial 
Reporting 

Presented to 

City of Norfolk 

Nebraska 

for its Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report 

for the Fiscal Year Ended 

September 30, 2016 

Executive Director/CEO 



11

City of Norfolk, Nebraska 
Organizational Chart 

II CITIZENS 
II OF 

NORFOLK 

I 

MAYOR 
& 

CITY 
COUNCIL 

I 
II CITY 
I ~ ADMINISTRATOR 

II PUBLIC IIPLANNING I 
11 WORKS 

fFINANCE I II HUMAN II INFORMATION 
I' SYSTEMS 

I WATER& 
SEWER 

MAINTENANCE 

I WATER 
- POLLUTION 

CONTROL 

I 

tSOLID 
~~ASTE 
MGMT. 

liENGINEERING I- I S=~ 

II STORM WATER I 
11 MANAGEMENT 

TENANCE 

I~, PARK 
MAINTENANCE I CITY 

- IDGHWAY 
ALLOCATION 

FUND 

1/ 

IrcITy 
11CLERK 

SPECIAL 
ASSESS· 
MENTS 

II DEBT 
I' SERVICE 

I' RESOURCES 

IILffiRARY ~~RECREATION 

IrHOUSING ~~COMMUNICATIONS -I 

II PUBLIC II CITY 
I' SAFETY I' ATTORNEY 

H FIRE I 

~ • REGION 11 
EMERGENCY 

MANAGEMENT 

IlECONOMIC 
II DEV. 

SPECIALIZED 
NARCOTICS 

ABUSE 
REDUCTION 

EFFORT 

Irm
i~ FUND 

II WIRELESS 
I~ 911 FUND 

II, RISK 
'-- MANAGEMENT 

I 
II VEIDCLE I 
I' PARKING 

City of Norfolk, Nebraska 
Organizational Chart 

II CITIZENS 
:1 OF I NORFOLK 

I 

MAYOR 
& 

CITY 
COUNCIL 

I 
II CITY 
I , ADMINISTRATOR 

II PUBLIC 
I I WORKS 

IIPLANNING I fFINANCE I II HUMAN II INFORMATION 
II SYSTEMS 

II PUBLIC II CITY 
I' SAFETY I 11 ATTORNEY "---_ .. Il ECONOMIC 

I WATER& 
SEWER 

MAINTENANCE 

III WATER 
_ POLLUTION 

II CONTROL 

I 

tSOLID 
j~ASTE 
MGMT. 

liENGINEERING 1-111 S=~ 
II TENANCE 

II STORM WATER I 
11 MANAGEMENT 

II. PARK 
MAINTENANCE 

III CITY 
- HIGHWAY 

ALLOCATION 

IF FUND 

IrcITy 
11CLERK 

SPECIAL 
ASSESS· 
MENTS 

IrDEiIT 
I' SERVICE 

I' RESOURCES 

Iji:iBRARY l~RECREATION 

II HOUSING ~L~COMMUNICATIONS I 

h~ FIRE J 

~ • REGION 11 
EMERGENCY 

MANAGEMENT 

H 1POLICE J 

II DEV. 

SPECIALIZED 
NARCOTICS 

ABUSE 
REDUCTION 

EFFORT 

1f9ll 
i~ FUND 

II WIRELESS 
~, 911 FUND 

II, RISK 
'-- MANAGEMENT 

I 
II VEHICLE 
11 PARKING 

City of Norfolk, Nebraska 
Organizational Chart 

II CITIZENS 
:1 OF I NORFOLK 

I 

MAYOR 
& 

CITY 
COUNCIL 

I 

I 
II CITY 
I' ADMINISTRATOR 

II PUBLIC II! LANNING I f,FINANCE I II HUMAN II INFORMATION 
II SYSTEMS I I WORKS 

I WATER& 
SEWER 

MAINTENANCE 

III WATER 
- POLLUTION 

II CONTROL 

I 
'SOLID 
j~ASTE 
MGMT. 

11ENGINEERING I-I II S~~ 
II TENANCE 

I~ STORM WATER I jl MANAGEMENT 

h, PARK I MAINTENANCE 
Irl CITY 

- IDGHWAY 
ALLOCATION 

Ircrry 
11CLERK 

SPECIAL 
ASSESS· 
MENTS 

II DEBT 
I 1 SERVICE 

IF F_U_ND _______ • 

I' RESOURCES "----.. 
IILffiRARY l~RECREATION 

l[HOuSING J~COMMUNICATIONS I 

II PUBLIC II CITY 
I' SAFETY I 11 ATTORNEY 

r-~ FIRE I 

~ • REGION 11 
EMERGENCY 

MANAGEMENT 

Il ECONOMIC 
II DEV. 

SPECIALIZED 
NARCOTICS 

ABUSE 
REDUCTION 

EFFORT 

1r9i'1 
;~ FUND 

II WIRELESS 
~~ 911 FUND 

II, RISK 
'-- MANAGEMENT 

I 
II VEIDCLE 
11 PARKING 4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 217 of 341

City of Norfolk, Nebraska 
Organizational Chart 

II CITIZENS 
:1 OF I NORFOLK 

I 

MAYOR 
& 

CITY 
COUNCIL 

I 

I 
II CITY 
I , ADMINISTRATOR 

II PUBLIC rPLANNING I fFINANCE I II HUMAN II INFORMATION 
I' RESOURCES I II SYSTEMS I I WORKS 

~ - IfF ---c I WATER & I WATER 
SEWER _ POLLUTION 

MAINTENANCE Il CONTROL 

I 

tSOLID 
j~ASTE 
MGMT. 

FGINEERIN~-I rFsTREET -C 

MAIN· 

II TENANCE 

II STORM WATER I 
11 MANAGEMENT _I 

SPECIAL 
ASSESS· 
MENTS 

~ -
IroEiIT 
l' sEiViCE 

- Irr -
II, PARK I CITY 

I MAINTENANCE - HIGHWAY 
ALLOCATION 

L.... FUND 

r HOUSING J~COMMUNICATIONS I 

II PUBLIC II CITY 
I' SAFETY I I' ATTORNEY 

~ • REGION 11 
EMERGENCY 

MANAGEMENT 

I~ ECONOMIC 
II DEV. I 

SPECIALIZED 
NARCOTICS 

ABUSE 
REDUCTION 

EFFORT 

1r9i1 
i~ FUND 

II WIRELESS 
~, 911 FUND 

II, RISK 
'-- MANAGEMENT 

I 
II VEHICLE 
11 PARKING 



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-(./*.$
0123$45$671891:;<$=55191;<2$

>?@ABCD$EF$GHEI$

$

$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$"JKLM$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$'NOM$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$

$

P;Q47$$ $ $ R42S$P4T8818U$

V4W891<$PTXYT7$$ $ $ Z;7Q$0[$R;9\248$$

V4W891<$PTXYT7$$ $ $ V47TQ$Z7;8]W123$

V4W891<$PTXYT7$$ $ $ ;̂_T$̀;W22$

V4W891<$PTXYT7$ $ $ R1X$0;8UT$

V4W891<$PTXYT7$ $ $ aS;8T$V<;W2T8$

V4W891<$PTXYT7$ $ $ 1̂9\$65T1<$

V4W891<$PTXYT7$$ $ $ b4Y$PT771<<$

V4W891<$PTXYT7$ $ $ cS;d$PW77T8$

V13Q$edX181237;347fg9484X19$̂T_T<4:XT83$̂17T9347$e8dQ$V4<_18$

V13Q$e33478TQ$ $ $ V<183$a9SW\T1$

V13Q$V<T7\$ $ $ g<1h;YT3S$e[$̂T9\$

V13Q$6<;88T7$ $ $ i;<T71T$Z71XT2$

1̂7T9347$45$6WY<19$j47\2$ $ a3T_T$b;XT2$

1̂7T9347$45$6WY<19$a;5T3Q$ $ aS;8T$jT1d8T7$

1̀8;89T$=5519T7$ $ $ b;8dQ$Z;3T2$

1̀7T$VS1T5$ $ $ a9433$V47dT2$

k4W218U$̂17T9347$ $ $ Z;7Q$k1<\TX;88$

kWX;8$bT24W79T2$̂17T9347$$$ aST1<;$a9SW\T1$

l8547X;3148$aQ23TX2$P;8;UT7$$ R1X$P9mT8h1T$

01Y7;7Q$̂17T9347$$ $ $ RT2219;$VS;XYT7<;18$

=:T7;31482$P;8;UT7$ $ $ R1X$̂44<TQ$

b12\$P;8;UT7$ $ $ 0Q<T$0W33$

6;7\$n$oW1<d18U$P;183T8;89T$aW:T7183T8dT83$ 6;3$P728Q$

64<19T$VS1T5$ $ $ j1<<1;X$P1h8T7$

j;23Tp;3T7$6<;83$aW:T7183T8dT83$ c4dd$o4<18U$

j;3T7$;8d$aTpT7$̂17T9347$ $ T̂8812$j;332$

12
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 218 of 341



�

�

�

�������������	�
��

�

�

�

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 219 of 341



 !"#$#!"#!%&'(" %)*+,&*#$)*%&

-./.01234&5462407&
.8&9:4&;<9=&;.>/?<3&
;<9=&.8&!.08.3@A&!42017@1&

BCDEFG&EH&GIC&JKHLHMKLN&OGLGCPCHGQ&

R4&:1S4&1>T<94T&9:4&1??.6U1/=</V&8</1/?<13&7919464/97&.8&9:4&V.S40/64/913&1?9<S<9<47A&9:4&
2>7</477W9=U4&1?9<S<9<47A&41?:&61X.0&8>/TA&1/T&9:4&1VV04V194&0461</</V&8>/T&</8.0619<./&.8&;<9=&
.8&!.08.3@A&!42017@1&Y9:4&;<9=ZA&17&.8&1/T&8.0&9:4&=410&4/T4T&,4U946240&[\A&]\̂_A&1/T&9:4&043194T&
/.947&9.&9:4&8</1/?<13&7919464/97A&̀ :<?:&?.334?9<S43=&?.6U0<74&9:4&;<9=+7&217<?&8</1/?<13&
7919464/97&17&3<794T&</&9:4&91234&.8&?./94/97a&

bLHLcCPCHGdQ&BCQDEHQKeKNKGf&gEF&GIC&JKHLHMKLN&OGLGCPCHGQ&

51/1V464/9&<7&047U./7<234&8.0&9:4&U04U1019<./&1/T&81<0&U0474/919<./&.8&9:474&8</1/?<13&7919464/97&
</&1??.0T1/?4&̀<9:&1??.>/9</V&U0</?<U347&V4/40133=&1??4U94T&</&9:4&(/<94T&,91947&.8&'640<?1h&9:<7&
</?3>T47&9:4&T47<V/A&<6U3464/919<./A&1/T&61</94/1/?4&.8&</940/13&?./90.3&0434S1/9&9.&9:4&
U04U1019<./&1/T&81<0&U0474/919<./&.8&8</1/?<13&7919464/97&9:19&104&8044&80.6&61940<13&6<77919464/9A&
:̀49:40&T>4&9.&801>T&.0&400.0a&

ijkKGEFdQ&BCQDEHQKeKNKGf&

)>0&047U./7<2<3<9=&<7&9.&4lU0477&.U</<./7&./&9:474&8</1/?<13&7919464/97&2174T&./&.>0&1>T<9a&R4&
?./T>?94T&.>0&1>T<9&</&1??.0T1/?4&̀<9:&1>T<9</V&791/T10T7&V4/40133=&1??4U94T&</&9:4&(/<94T&
,91947&.8&'640<?1&1/T&9:4&791/T10T7&1UU3<?1234&9.&8</1/?<13&1>T<97&?./91</4T&</&mnopqrsprt&
uvwxtxry&zt{rw{qw|A&<77>4T&2=&9:4&;.6U90.3340&}4/4013&.8&9:4&(/<94T&,91947a&%:.74&791/T10T7&
04~><04&9:19&̀4&U31/&1/T&U408.06&9:4&1>T<9&9.&.291</&0417./1234&177>01/?4&12.>9&̀:49:40&9:4&
8</1/?<13&7919464/97&104&8044&80.6&61940<13&6<77919464/9a&

'/&1>T<9&</S.3S47&U408.06</V&U0.?4T>047&9.&.291</&1>T<9&4S<T4/?4&12.>9&9:4&16.>/97&1/T&
T<7?3.7>047&</&9:4&8</1/?<13&7919464/97a&%:4&U0.?4T>047&7434?94T&T4U4/T&./&9:4&1>T<9.0+7&
X>TV64/9A&</?3>T</V&9:4&17747764/9&.8&9:4&0<7@7&.8&61940<13&6<77919464/9&.8&9:4&8</1/?<13&
7919464/97A&̀:49:40&T>4&9.&801>T&.0&400.0a& /&61@</V&9:.74&0<7@&17747764/97A&9:4&1>T<9.0&?./7<T407&
</940/13&?./90.3&0434S1/9&9.&9:4&4/9<9=+7&U04U1019<./&1/T&81<0&U0474/919<./&.8&9:4&8</1/?<13&
7919464/97&</&.0T40&9.&T47<V/&1>T<9&U0.?4T>047&9:19&104&1UU0.U0<194&</&9:4&?<0?>6791/?47A&2>9&/.9&
8.0&9:4&U>0U.74&.8&4lU0477</V&1/&.U</<./&./&9:4&4884?9<S4/477&.8&9:4&4/9<9=+7&</940/13&?./90.3a&
'??.0T</V3=A&̀4&4lU0477&/.&7>?:&.U</<./a&&

�����������������
���������&������&&�&&����&��&����&��� &�¡���&¢��&&�&&£¤��� &�¥&¦���§&&�&&̈§�¢©ª��©¢§��

£¤��&«�����&&�&&ª��&����&¬�����® &�¡���&¢¢§&&�&&«�¡�̄�°&¬°¡±±� &²³&����ª&&&�&&̈ �́¢©ª¢¢©���ª4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 220 of 341



 

! "# ! 

$% &'()* &+,- )%.+'(/, /0&+'&*)%1 *2/ &334-34)&*/%/,, -5 &..-'%*)%1 3-+).)/, ',/( &%( *2/ 
4/&,-%&6+/%/,, -5 ,)1%)5).&%* &..-'%*)%1 /,*)7&*/, 7&(/ 68 7&%&1/7/%*9 &, :/++ &, /0&+'&*)%1 
*2/ -0/4&++ 34/,/%*&*)-% -5 *2/ 5)%&%.)&+ ,*&*/7/%*,; 
 
</ 6/+)/0/ *2&* *2/ &'()* /0)(/%./ :/ 2&0/ -6*&)%/( ), ,'55).)/%* &%( &334-34)&*/ *- 34-0)(/ & 
6&,), 5-4 -'4 &'()* -3)%)-%,; 
 
=>?@?A@B 
 
C% -'4 -3)%)-%9 *2/ 5)%&%.)&+ ,*&*/7/%*, 4/5/44/( *- &6-0/ 34/,/%* 5&)4+89 )% &++ 7&*/4)&+ 4/,3/.*,9 
*2/ 4/,3/.*)0/ 5)%&%.)&+ 3-,)*)-% -5 *2/ 1-0/4%7/%*&+ &.*)0)*)/,9 *2/ 6',)%/,,!*83/ &.*)0)*)/,9 /&.2 
7&D-4 5'%(9 &%( *2/ &114/1&*/ 4/7&)%)%1 5'%( )%5-47&*)-% -5 *2/ E)*89 &, -5 F/3*/76/4 GH9 IH"J9 
&%( *2/ 4/,3/.*)0/ .2&%1/, )% 5)%&%.)&+ 3-,)*)-%9 &%(9 :2/4/ &33+).&6+/9 .&,2 5+-:, *2/4/-5 5-4 *2/ 
8/&4 *2/% /%(/( )% &..-4(&%./ :)*2 &..-'%*)%1 34)%.)3+/, 1/%/4&++8 &../3*/( )% *2/ K%)*/( F*&*/, 
-5 $7/4).&; 
 
LMNO?PMQ RO>>SMTM@UVPW X@YAPTVU?A@ 
 
$..-'%*)%1 34)%.)3+/, 1/%/4&++8 &../3*/( )% *2/ K%)*/( F*&*/, -5 $7/4).& 4/Z')4/ *2&* *2/ 
7&%&1/7/%*[, (),.',,)-% &%( &%&+8,),9 7&D-4 5'%( 6'(1/*&48 .-73&4),-% )%5-47&*)-%9 &%( 
3/%,)-% 4/+&*/( ,.2/('+/,9 &, ,2-:% )% *2/ *&6+/ -5 .-%*/%*,9 6/ 34/,/%*/( *- ,'33+/7/%* *2/ 6&,). 
5)%&%.)&+ ,*&*/7/%*,;  F'.2 )%5-47&*)-%9 &+*2-'12 %-* & 3&4* -5 *2/ 6&,). 5)%&%.)&+ ,*&*/7/%*,9 ), 
4/Z')4/( 68 *2/ \-0/4%7/%*&+ $..-'%*)%1 F*&%(&4(, ]-&4(9 :2- .-%,)(/4, )* *- 6/ &% /,,/%*)&+ 
3&4* -5 5)%&%.)&+ 4/3-4*)%1 5-4 3+&.)%1 *2/ 6&,). 5)%&%.)&+ ,*&*/7/%*, )% &% &334-34)&*/ -3/4&*)-%&+9 
/.-%-7).9 -4 2),*-4).&+ .-%*/̂*; </ 2&0/ &33+)/( ./4*&)% +)7)*/( 34-./('4/, *- *2/ 4/Z')4/( 
,'33+/7/%*&48 )%5-47&*)-% )% &..-4(&%./ :)*2 &'()*)%1 ,*&%(&4(, 1/%/4&++8 &../3*/( )% *2/ 
K%)*/( F*&*/, -5 $7/4).&9 :2).2 .-%,),*/( -5 )%Z')4)/, -5 7&%&1/7/%* &6-'* *2/ 7/*2-(, -5 
34/3&4)%1 *2/ )%5-47&*)-% &%( .-73&4)%1 *2/ )%5-47&*)-% 5-4 .-%,),*/%.8 :)*2 7&%&1/7/%*[, 
4/,3-%,/, *- -'4 )%Z')4)/,9 *2/ 6&,). 5)%&%.)&+ ,*&*/7/%*,9 &%( -*2/4 _%-:+/(1/ :/ -6*&)%/( 
('4)%1 -'4 &'()* -5 *2/ 6&,). 5)%&%.)&+ ,*&*/7/%*,; </ (- %-* /̂34/,, &% -3)%)-% -4 34-0)(/ &%8 
&,,'4&%./ -% *2/ )%5-47&*)-% 6/.&',/ *2/ +)7)*/( 34-./('4/, (- %-* 34-0)(/ ', :)*2 ,'55).)/%* 
/0)(/%./ *- /̂34/,, &% -3)%)-% -4 34-0)(/ &%8 &,,'4&%./; 
 
=ÙMP X@YAPTVU?A@ 
 
a'4 &'()* :&, .-%('.*/( 5-4 *2/ 3'43-,/ -5 5-47)%1 -3)%)-%, -% *2/ 5)%&%.)&+ ,*&*/7/%*, *2&* 
.-++/.*)0/+8 .-734),/ *2/ E)*8[, 6&,). 5)%&%.)&+ ,*&*/7/%*,; b2/ &..-73&%8)%1 C%*4-('.*-48 
F/.*)-%9 \-0/4%7/%*&+ c-%!d&D-4 e'%(, E-76)%)%1 e)%&%.)&+ F*&*/7/%*,9 ]'(1/* F.2/('+/,9 
f%*/434),/ e'%( E-76)%)%1 g/3&4*7/%*&+ e)%&%.)&+ F.2/('+/,9 e)('.)&48 e'%( E-76)%)%1 
e)%&%.)&+ F*&*/7/%*,9 &%( F*&*),*).&+ F/.*)-% &4/ 34/,/%*/( 5-4 *2/ 3'43-,/ -5 &(()*)-%&+ &%&+8,), 
&%( &4/ %-* & 4/Z')4/( 3&4* -5 *2/ 6&,). 5)%&%.)&+ ,*&*/7/%*,;  
 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 221 of 341



 

! "# ! 

$%& '()&*+,&+-./ 0(+!1.2(* 34+56 7(,89+9+: 39+.+;9./ <-.-&,&+-6= >+-&*?*96& 34+5 
7(,89+9+: @&?.*-,&+-./ 39+.+;9./ <;%&54/&6= .+5 3954;9.*A 34+5 7(,89+9+: 39+.+;9./ 
<-.-&,&+-6 .*& -%& *&6?(+6989/9-A ,.+.:&,&+- .+5 B&*& 5&*9)&5 C*(, .+5 *&/.-& 59*&;-/A -( -%& 
4+5&*/A9+: .;;(4+-9+: .+5 (-%&* *&;(*56 46&5 -( ?*&?.*& -%& 8.69; C9+.+;9./ 6-.-&,&+-6D <4;% 
9+C(*,.-9(+ %.6 8&&+ 6482&;-&5 -( -%& .459-9+: ?*(;&54*&6 .??/9&5 9+ -%& .459- (C -%& 8.69; 
C9+.+;9./ 6-.-&,&+-6 .+5 ;&*-.9+ .559-9(+./ ?*(;&54*&6= 9+;/459+: ;(,?.*9+: .+5 *&;(+;9/9+: 64;% 
9+C(*,.-9(+ 59*&;-/A -( -%& 4+5&*/A9+: .;;(4+-9+: .+5 (-%&* *&;(*56 46&5 -( ?*&?.*& -%& 8.69; 
C9+.+;9./ 6-.-&,&+-6 (* -( -%& 8.69; C9+.+;9./ 6-.-&,&+-6 -%&,6&/)&6= .+5 (-%&* .559-9(+./ 
?*(;&54*&6 9+ .;;(*5.+;& B9-% .459-9+: 6-.+5.*56 :&+&*.//A .;;&?-&5 9+ -%& E+9-&5 <-.-&6 (C 
F,&*9;.D G+ (4* (?9+9(+= -%& ;(,89+9+: .+5 9+59)954./ +(+!,.2(* C4+5 C9+.+;9./ 6-.-&,&+-6 .*& 
C.9*/A 6-.-&5 9+ .// ,.-&*9./ *&6?&;-6 9+ *&/.-9(+ -( -%& 8.69; C9+.+;9./ 6-.-&,&+-6 .6 . B%(/&D 
 
$%& G+-*(54;-(*A <&;-9(+= H45:&- <;%&54/&6= .+5 <-.-96-9;./ <&;-9(+ %.)& +(- 8&&+ 6482&;-&5 -( 
-%& .459-9+: ?*(;&54*&6 .??/9&5 9+ -%& .459- (C -%& 8.69; C9+.+;9./ 6-.-&,&+-6 .+5= .;;(*59+:/A= B& 
5( +(- &I?*&66 .+ (?9+9(+ (* ?*()95& .+A .664*.+;& (+ -%&,D 
 
JKLMN OMPQNKRST OMUVRNMW XY Z[\]̂_̀ ]_a bcdeae_f gah_dĥdi 
 
G+ .;;(*5.+;& B9-% jklmnopmoq rstuquov wqxotxnty= B& %.)& ./6( 9664&5 (4* *&?(*- 5.-&5 1.*;% 
z{= z|"{= (+ (4* ;(+695&*.-9(+ (C -%& 79-A}6 9+-&*+./ ;(+-*(/ ()&* C9+.+;9./ *&?(*-9+: .+5 (+ (4* 
-&6-6 (C 9-6 ;(,?/9.+;& B9-% ;&*-.9+ ?*()969(+6 (C /.B6= *&:4/.-9(+6= ;(+-*.;-6= .+5 :*.+- 
.:*&&,&+-6 .+5 (-%&* ,.--&*6D $%& ?4*?(6& (C -%.- *&?(*- 96 -( 5&6;*98& -%& 6;(?& (C (4* -&6-9+: (C 
9+-&*+./ ;(+-*(/ ()&* C9+.+;9./ *&?(*-9+: .+5 ;(,?/9.+;& .+5 -%& *&64/-6 (C -%.- -&6-9+:= .+5 +(- -( 
?*()95& .+ (?9+9(+ (+ 9+-&*+./ ;(+-*(/ ()&* C9+.+;9./ *&?(*-9+: (* (+ ;(,?/9.+;&D $%.- *&?(*- 96 
.+ 9+-&:*./ ?.*- (C .+ .459- ?&*C(*,&5 9+ .;;(*5.+;& B9-% jklmnopmoq rstuquov wqxotxnty 9+ 
;(+695&*9+: 79-A}6 9+-&*+./ ;(+-*(/ ()&* C9+.+;9./ *&?(*-9+: .+5 ;(,?/9.+;&D 
 
 
 
~.A&6 � F66(;9.-&6= �D�D7D 
�,.%.= 0&8*.6�. 
1.*;% z{= z|"{ 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 222 of 341



 

 

 
 

Management Discussion and Analysis 

 
September 30, 2017 

 
This discussion and analysis of the City of Norfolk’s financial performance provides an 
overview of the City’s financial activities for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2017.  
We encourage the readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with 
the additional information furnished in our letter of transmittal on page 1 and the City’s 
financial statements that follow this report. 
 
Financial Highlights: 
 

� The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City of Norfolk exceeded 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources at September 30, 2017, by 
$129,159,061.  Of this amount, $23,865,692 is unrestricted and may be used to 
meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

 
� The City’s net position increased by $8,939,025 during the year.  Of this amount, 

the net position of Governmental Activities increased $6,279,325 and the net 
position of Business Activities increased $2,659,700. 

 
� Bonds payable decreased $3,446,078. Outstanding revenue bonds total 

$5,700,000, general obligation bonds $14,606,376, and special assessment bonds 
$905,000 backed by the City’s full faith and credit.  Bond anticipation notes 
remained the same at $2,250,000.  The City received a $93,600 good faith deposit 
for revenue bonds that closed in November 2017. 

 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
In addition to the Management Discussion and Analysis, this annual report consists of a 
series of financial statements.  The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of 
Activities provide information about the activities of the City as a whole and present a 
longer-term view of the City’s finances.  Fund financial statements tell how these 
services were financed in the short term, as well as what remains for future spending.  
Fund financial statements also report the City’s operations in more detail than the 
government-wide statements by providing information about the City’s most significant 
funds.  The remaining statements provide financial information about activities for which 
the City acts solely as a trustee or agent for the benefit of those outside of the 
government.  An additional part of the basic financial statements are the Notes to the 
Financial Statements.  This report also contains other supplementary information in 
addition to the basic financial statements. 
 
 

16
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 223 of 341



 

REPORTING THE CITY AS A WHOLE 
 
The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities 

 
The government-wide statements report information about the City as a whole using 
accounting methods similar to those used by private-sector companies.  The Statement of 
Net Position includes all of the government’s assets and deferred outflows of resources 
and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources.  All of the current year’s revenues and 
expenses are accounted for in the Statement of Activities, regardless of when cash is 
received or paid. 
 
One of the most important questions asked about the City’s finances is “Is the City of 

Norfolk in a better financial position at the end of this fiscal year, compared to last 

year?”  The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities report information 
about the City as a whole and about its activities in a way that helps answer this question.  
These statements include all assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and 
deferred inflows of resources using the accrual basis of accounting, which is very similar 
to the method of accounting used by most private-sector companies.  These two 
statements report the City’s net position, which is the difference between assets and 
deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, as one 
way to measure the City’s financial health, or financial position.  Over time, increases or 
decreases in the City’s net position are one indicator of whether its financial health is 
improving or deteriorating.  Additional factors, such as changes in the City’s property tax 
base and sales tax collections and condition of the City’s infrastructure, are also 
important in making this determination. 
 
In the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, the City is divided into 
two kinds of activities: 
 

� Governmental Activities – Most of the City’s basic services are reported here, 
such as Police, Fire, Public Works, Parks and General Administration.  Sales tax, 
revenue from lease of the City’s electrical distribution system, property tax and 
state and federal grants finance most of these activities. 

 
� Business Type Activities – The City charges fees to customers to cover the cost 

of these services.  Included here are the City Water, Sewer, and Solid Waste 
funds. 
 

 
REPORTING THE CITY’S MOST SIGNIFICANT FUNDS 

 

Fund Financial Statements 
 
The fund financial statements provide detailed information about the most significant 
funds – not the City as a whole.  Some funds are required to be established by State law 
or by bond requirements.  The City Council also established funds to control and manage 

17
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 224 of 341



 

money for particular purposes (such as construction projects) and to show that it is 
properly using certain revenues (such as grant revenues).  The City has the following 
types of funds: 
 

� Governmental Funds – Most of the City’s basic services are included in 
Governmental Funds, which focus on how money moves into and out of these 
funds and the balances left at year-end that are available for spending.  These 
funds are reported using the “modified accrual basis” of accounting, which 
measures cash and all other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash.  
The Governmental Fund Statements provide a detailed short-term view of the 
City’s general governmental operations and basic services it provides.  
Governmental Fund information helps determine whether there are more or fewer 
financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance City programs.  
We describe the relationship between Governmental Activities (reported in the 
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and Governmental 
Funds in a reconciliation following each Governmental Fund financial statement. 

 
� Proprietary Funds – When the City charges customers for the service it 

provides, these services are generally reported in Proprietary Funds.  Proprietary 
Funds are reported using the accrual basis of accounting, the same basis reported 
in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities.  The major 
difference between the Proprietary Funds report and the Business Type Activities 
we report in the government-wide statements is the detail and additional 
information, such as cash flows, provided in the Proprietary Funds report. 

 
 

THE CITY AS TRUSTEE 

 

Reporting the City’s Fiduciary Responsibilities 
 
Fiduciary Funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside 
the City government.  The City is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in 
these funds are used for their intended purposes.  All of the City’s fiduciary activities are 
reported in a separate Statement of Fiduciary Net Position and a Statement of Changes in 
Fiduciary Net Position.  We exclude these activities from the City’s government-wide 
financial statements because the City cannot use these assets to finance its operations. 
 
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the 
data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes can be 
found behind the Fiduciary Funds statements. 
 

 

THE CITY AS A WHOLE 
 
As stated earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s 
financial position.  The largest part of the City’s net position reflects its investment in 

18
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 225 of 341



 

capital assets (land, buildings and improvements, and equipment), less any related debt 
used to acquire those assets that are still outstanding.  The City uses these capital assets to 
provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future 
spending.  Although the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related 
debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided 
from the other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate 
these liabilities. 
 

For the year ended September 30, 2017, net position was as follows: 
 

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Current and Other Assets 34,086,664$           33,857,813$   12,041,364$     12,708,087$   46,128,028$     46,565,900$      

Capital Assets 67,081,351             60,860,148     46,731,377       44,099,084     113,812,728     104,959,232      

   Total Assets 101,168,015           94,717,961     58,772,741       56,807,171     159,940,756     151,525,132      

Deferred Outflows of Resources 51,790                    79,258            -                    9,646              51,790              88,904               

Long-Term Liabilities 19,743,462             22,349,444     6,130,352         6,919,951       25,873,814       29,269,395        

Other Liabilities 4,072,021               1,296,526       887,650            801,827          4,959,671         2,098,353          

   Total Liabilities 23,815,483             23,645,970     7,018,002         7,721,778       30,833,485       31,367,748        

Deferred Inflows of Resources -                          26,252            -                    -                  -                    26,252               

Net Position:

Net Investment in Capital Assets 50,736,098             40,610,264     41,031,377       37,513,730     91,767,475       78,123,994        

Restricted 11,684,267             13,693,880     1,841,627         2,609,219       13,525,894       16,303,099        

Unrestricted 14,983,957             16,820,853     8,881,735         8,972,090       23,865,692       25,792,943        

   Total Net Position 77,404,322$           71,124,997$   51,754,739$     49,095,039$   129,159,061$   120,220,036$    

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total

City of Norfolk's Net Position

 
A portion of net position (10%) represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used.  The remaining balance is unrestricted net position 
of $23,865,692 and may be used to meet the City’s ongoing obligations to its citizens and 
creditors. 
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City has positive balances in all three categories 
of net position, both for the City as a whole as well as for the separate Governmental and 
Business-Type Activities.  The same situation held true for the prior fiscal year. 
 
The biggest change in net position is the $13,643,481 increase in net investment in capital 
assets.  The Governmental Activities increased $10,125,834, going from $40,610,264 last 
year to $50,736,098 this year.  The increase is primarily due to the Norfolk Avenue 
bridge project and the library expansion and renovation project currently in progress.   
 
Total revenue reported in fiscal year 2017 was $40,428,446.  The following table breaks 
down revenues collected for General Governmental Activities and Business-Type 
Activities: 

19
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 226 of 341



 

!"#$ !"#% !"#$ !"#% !"#$ !"#%

&'(')*'+,

-./0.12 &'(')*'+,

341.0'+ 5/. +'.(67'+ !8%#98:$;<        !8;:;8$9=<     :8;>!8#=:<     >8=:;8"$><     ##8::>8#!!<     #"8>>%8>;!<      

?@'.1A6)0 0.1)A+ 1)B 7/)A.6C*A6/)+ =8#9:8%>9          ;8$""89>:       D                  #8==9              =8#9:8%>9         ;8$"!8";=          

31@6A1E 0.1)A+ 1)B 7/)A.6C*A6/)+ :>"8"!>             #8%9%89!!       D                  !=;8;=:          :>"8"!>            #8>::8>$#          

F/A1E -./0.12 &'(')*'+ $8$998%>%          $8$9"8>%9       :8;>!8#=:       >8$;$8>$!       #$8#;$8>;9       #%8=>>8$;$        

G')'.1E &'(')*'+,

-./@'.AH A1I'+ ;8$%98;!"          ;8=>"89:;       D                  D                  ;8$%98;!"         ;8=>"89:;          

J1E'+ A1I'+ #"8%$$8%#=        #"8%#=8$:;     D                  D                  #"8%$$8%#=       #"8%#=8$:;        

?A4'. A1I'+ !":8!!#             !";8;$#          D                  D                  !":8!!#            !";8;$#             

?77*@1A6/) 1)B 5.1)746+' A1I'+ !8$"98#%=          !8%>"8#>:       D                  D                  !8$"98#%=         !8%>"8#>:          

K)A'.'+A !":8%!#             #"$8"">          %=8=#>            !$8!$>            !$=8";:            #;=8!>%             

G')'.1E 6)A'.0/('.)2')A1E 

.'(')*'+ ;:>8#:=             ;$!8#>%          D                  D                  ;:>8#:=            ;$!8#>%             

L')/ .'(')*'+ 9>=8$#$             99!8=:;          D                  D                  9>=8$#$            99!8=:;             

G')'.1E .'(')*' 5./2 'E'7A.671E B6+A.6C*A6/) 

+H+A'2 E'1+'MN+' /5 @./@'.AH =89"98:#:          =89:%8>9>       D                  >!8"!!            =89"98:#:         =8%$>8>>"          

&'(')*' 5./2 +1E' /5 *)71@6A1E6O'B @./@'.AH 9%8!#:               #$8":$            D                  D                  9%8!#:              #$8":$               

P6+7'EE1)'/*+ :!8;=9               #":8%!!          !#8>9:            #>8:==            ##=8!"=            #!>89%%             

F/A1E G')'.1E &'(')*'+ !;8!"=8;;=        !!8$;=8!#"     >%8!$$            #!>8!==          !;8!:"8%##       !!8>%!8=9=        

F/A1E &'(')*'+ ;"8:%"8"!"        ;"8=>98"$9     :8=%>8=!%       >8>%%8##%       ="8=!>8==%       ;:8;9#8#:#        

QI@')+'+,

G')'.1E G/('.)2')A ;8;##8;>9          !8=%!8>>$       D                  D                  ;8;##8;>9         !8=%!8>>$          

-*CE67 J15'AH #"8#9!8$>:        #"8#;;8:;;     D                  D                  #"8#9!8$>:       #"8#;;8:;;        

-*CE67 R/.S+ =8:=:89!9          98=:=8%!!       D                  D                  =8:=:89!9         98=:=8%!!          

-*CE67 T6C.1.H #8=$>8;$#          #8=%#8;=:       D                  D                  #8=$>8;$#         #8=%#8;=:          

-1.S+8 &'7.'1A6/) 1)B -*CE67 

-./@'.AH !8:$"8"%=          ;8;9=8%#!       D                  D                  !8:$"8"%=         ;8;9=8%#!          

3/22*)6AH K2@./('2')A 1)B 

U'('E/@2')A #8";98>%#          =8!#$8>"$       D                  D                  #8";98>%#         =8!#$8>"$          

U'CA J'.(67' ;!;8;>!             =9=8:""          D                  D                  ;!;8;>!            =9=8:""             

R1A'. JH+A'2 D                    D                  !8!%:8#%=       !8!:=8:9>       !8!%:8#%=         !8!:=8:9>          

J'V'. JH+A'2 D                    D                  ;8#%>89##       ;8!:;89;#       ;8#%>89##         ;8!:;89;#          

J/E6B R1+A' D                    D                  #8>;"8;%:       #8$%;8!>;       #8>;"8;%:         #8$%;8!>;          

F/A1E QI@')+'+ !=8!!#8;$$        !$89>"8##"     $8!%>8"==       $8;9#8$$!       ;#8=>:8=!#       ;=8:;#8>>!        

K)7.'1+' WU'7.'1+'X 6) Y'A -/+6A6/) C'5/.' F.1)+5'.+ %8$;>8%=;          !8:"=8:%9       !8!""8;>!       #89#=8;==       >8:;:8"!9         =8=#:8;":          

F.1)+5'.+ W=9:8;#>X            W#";8$%;X         =9:8;#>          #";8$%;          D                    D                    

K)7.'1+' WU'7.'1+'X 6) Y'A -/+6A6/) %8!$:8;!9          !8>"#8!"!       !8%9:8$""       #8%#>8#"$       >8:;:8"!9         =8=#:8;":          

Y'A -/+6A6/) D Z'06))6)0 $#8#!=8::$        %>8;!;8$:9     =:8":98";:     =$8=$%8:;!     #!"8!!"8";%     ##98>""8$!$      

Y'A -/+6A6/) D Q)B6)0 $$8="=8;!!<      $#8#!=8::$<   9#8$9=8$;:<   =:8":98";:<   #!:8#9:8"%#<   #!"8!!"8";%<    

36AH /5 Y/.5/ES[+ 341)0'+ 6) Y'A -/+6A6/)

Z*+6)'++DFH@'

\7A6(6A6'+ F/A1E

G')'.1E G/('.)2')A1E

\7A6(6A6'+

20
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 227 of 341



 

 
Program revenues totaled $17,137,835.  Of this total $9,382,149 was program revenues 
from Business-Type Activities and $7,755,686 was program revenues from General 
Governmental Activities.  Program revenues from General Governmental Activities 
remained relatively the same, increasing just $4,821, while program revenues from 
Business-Type Activities increased $644,277.  General Governmental Activities capital 
grants and contributions decreased $676,494 due to a $375,000 capital grant received 
from the State of Nebraska in the prior year for the library expansion and renovation and 
also from assessments in the prior year for four paving districts.  This was offset by an 
increase in operating grants and contributions and charges for services.  Operating grants 
and contributions increased due to an increase in highway allocation funds and 
Community Development Block Grant funds.  Program revenues from Business-Type 
Activities consist primarily of charges for services.  About 99% of Business-Type 
Activities program revenues is use fees for water, sewer, and solid waste.  Water and 
sewer rates increased 9% and 8%, respectively, effective October 1, 2016 and sewer rates 
increased 6% effective September 1, 2017.  This increased water and sewer use fees 
$305,229 and $393,617, respectively.  The increase in use fees is partially offset by a 
decrease in grants and contributions.   
 
The following chart breaks down Program Revenues for General Governmental 
Activities by source: 
 
 

34%

53%

13%

Program Revenues
General Governmental

Charges for services

Operating grants and contributions

Capital grants and contributions

     
General revenues for Governmental Activities increased $470,124 or 2.07% going from 
$22,734,210 last year to $23,204,334 in the current year.  The largest general revenue 
source is sales tax, which increased $62,821 or 0.59%.  As discussed in the letter of 
transmittal there has been slow growth in the City’s sales tax since the fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2000.  The second largest general revenue source, electrical distribution 

21
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 228 of 341



 

system lease/use of property, decreased $90,939 or 1.98%.  The primary source is lease 
revenue from NPPD which pays 12% of system revenue to lease the City-owned 
electrical distribution system.  As discussed in the letter of transmittal NPPD is making a 
major effort to hold down rate increases.  A small amount of the decrease is rental 
income that was reclassified to program revenues in the current year.  Property taxes 
increased $284,727 or 8.18% because the City is allowing its property tax asking to 
increase for any increase in assessed valuation to offset inflation during the years when 
the property tax asking remained constant.  Also, the property tax levy was increased 
slightly to fund items that would have otherwise been left out of the budget.  Interest 
income increased $102,613 going from $107,008 last year to $209,621 this year due to 
rising interest rates on investments.   
 
The following chart breaks down General Revenues for General Governmental Activities 
by source: 
     

16%

47%
20%

17%

General Revenues
General Governmental

Property taxes

Sales taxes

Use of property

Other revenue

               
Total expenses decreased $3,442,461 or 9.9% going from $34,931,882 last year to 
$31,489,421 this year.  Expenses in Governmental Activities decreased $3,358,733 or 
12.2% and expenses in Business-Type Activities decreased $83,728 or 1.1%. 
 
The biggest decrease in expenses was in community improvement and development 
which went from $4,217,807 last year to $1,035,861 this year, a decrease of $3,181,946.  
As discussed in the letter of transmittal, in the prior year $3.6 million was paid to Black 
Hills Energy for construction of a natural gas pipeline.  The lack of natural gas capacity 
to Norfolk prompted City officials to enter into a funding assistance agreement with 
Black Hills Energy to provide $3.6 million of funding from the City’s LB 840 economic 
development program to construct a natural gas pipeline to serve new and existing 
businesses in Norfolk.  This was partially offset by an increase in expenses related to a 
Community Revitalization Grant received.  The grant was used for a water main along 
Madison Avenue from 1st Street to 7th Street. 
 

22
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 229 of 341



 

General Government increased $848,498 going from $2,462,887 last year to $3,311,385 
this year.  This increase is primarily due to a $1,091,725 increase in group benefit claims 
in the Internal Service Fund and the corresponding decrease in operating results included 
in general government expense.   
 
Public works decreased $545,097 or 9.9%.  In the prior year there was street concrete 
improvements of about $200,000 on East Benjamin Avenue and at the intersection of 
Pasewalk Avenue and 13th Street.  There was also roof repairs to the Street Division 
building in the prior year for $56,188.  The City changed its capitalization threshold in 
the prior year from $500 to $5,000.  This resulted in a one-time loss on disposal of capital 
assets for public works of $104,209.   
 
Parks, recreation and public property decreased $384,548 or 11.5% going from 
$3,354,612 last year to $2,970,064 this year.  The change in capitalization threshold in 
the prior year resulted in a one-time loss on disposal of capital assets for parks, recreation 
and public property of $294,914 in the prior year.   
 
Expenses for Business-Type Activities decreased $83,728 or 1.1% going from 
$7,351,772 last year to $7,268,044 this year.  Similar to the decrease in expenses in 
public works and parks, recreation and public property, Business-Type Activities 
expenses decreased because of the change in capitalization threshold and the one-time 
loss on disposal of capital assets in the prior year.  Expenses in the Water Division 
decreased $25,794 and expenses in the Sewer Division decreased $125,020.  These 
decreases were partially offset by an increase in expenses in the Solid Waste Division due 
to an increase in personnel costs.  In January 2016 the City started hauling garbage from 
the Transfer Station to the landfill instead of contracting out this service.  Additional 
employees were hired to drive the trucks, causing an increase in personnel costs.   
 
The following table shows the activities included within each program level: 
 

Program Level Activity 

General Government ................................................................Administration, Support Services, Planning and Zoning 
Public Safety .............................................................................Emergency Medical Services, Police, Fire, Prevention and Codes, 

Emergency Management 
Public Works .............................................................................Engineering, Streets, Drainage 
Public Library ............................................................................Operation of Public Library  
Parks, Recreation, and Public Property ................................Parks, Recreation 
Community Improvement and Development ............................Housing, Economic Development 
Debt Service ..............................................................................Payment of Interest 
Water System ............................................................................Operation of Water Treatment Plant and Distribution System 
Sewer System ............................................................................Operation of the Waste Water Treatment Plant and Collection 

System 
Solid Waste ...............................................................................Operation of Transfer Station 

 

Governmental Activities 

 
To aid in the understanding of the Statement of Activities, some additional explanation is 
given.  Of particular interest is the format that is significantly different than a typical 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Balance.  Please note that the 
expenses are listed in the first column, with revenues from that particular program 

23
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 230 of 341



 

reported to the right.  The result is a Net (Expense) Revenue calculation.  This format 
highlights the respective financial burden that each of the functions place on the 
taxpayers.   
 

The following chart shows the relationship of program expense to program revenue for 
governmental activities in a graphical format.  As would be expected, expenses exceed 
revenues for all governmental activities.  For example, public safety had expenses of 
$10,152,789 and total program revenues of only $1,764,403 comprised of $1,175,687 of 
charges for services, $428,767 of operating grants and contributions, and $159,949 of 
capital grants and contributions.  The net cost of public safety was $8,388,386 which 
must be funded by general revenues.  
   
 

 -

 500,000

 1,000,000

 1,500,000

 2,000,000

 2,500,000

 3,000,000

 3,500,000

 4,000,000

 4,500,000

 5,000,000

 5,500,000

 6,000,000

 6,500,000

 7,000,000

 7,500,000

 8,000,000

 8,500,000

 9,000,000

 9,500,000

 10,000,000

 10,500,000

 11,000,000

General
Government

Public Safety Public Works Public Library Parks,
Recreation and
Public Property

Community
Improvement

and
Development

Debt Service

Expenses and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities

Expenses

Program revenues

 
 Some of the individual line item revenues reported for each function are: 

 
General Government…………………………... Fees 
Public Safety…………………………………... Permits, State Revenue, Federal Grants, State Grants, Ambulance 

Fees and Other Charges for  Service, Contributions 
Public Works…………………………………... Special Assessments, State Revenue, Charges for Services, Federal 

Grants, Rent 
Public Library…………………………………. Service Charges, Fees 
Parks, Recreation and Public Property………… Rent, Fees, Contributions 
Community Improvements and Development…  Federal and State Grants, Contributions 

 

24
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 231 of 341



 

!"#$%&##'()*& +,-$.$-$&# 
 
/012341156784 9:;2<2;241 34; 8=12;2=3 23:>4?14@ ABCDEFCGHH ?::=03;23I J=> KHL =J ;M4 
I>=N;M 23 ;M4 O2;7P1 34; 8=12;2=3Q   
 
6M4 O2;7 =84>?;41 ;M>44 /012341156784 9:;2<2;241 23:R0@23I N?;4>C 14N4> ?3@ 1=R2@ N?1;4Q  
91 :?3 S4 1443 S7 ;M4 J=RR=N23I :M?>;C >4<43041 4T:44@4@ 4T843141 23 ?RR ;M>44 @2<212=31 
@0>23I ;M4 74?>Q  U?;4> V2<212=3 >4<43041 4T:44@4@ 4T843141 S7 AGDECKWKQ  U?;4> >?;41 
?>4 14; ;= J03@ ;M4 O2;7P1 U?;4> X?1;4> YR?3 NM2:M 23:R0@41 ?S=0; ABH Z2RR2=3 =J 
2Z8>=<4Z43;1 ;M>=0IM BHBHQ  6M4 R?1; N?;4> >?;4 23:>4?14 N?1 4JJ4:;2<4 [:;=S4> WC BHWDQ  
6M4>4 N4>4 ;N= 14N4> >?;4 23:>4?141 ;M21 J21:?R 74?>C ;M4 J2>1; N?1 4JJ4:;2<4 [:;=S4> WC 
BHWD ?3@ ;M4 14:=3@ N?1 4JJ4:;2<4 \48;4ZS4> WC BHWGQ  \4N4> >?;41 23:>4?14@ ;= J03@ 
<?>2=01 14N4> Z?23 4T;4312=31 ;= 4T8?3@ ;M4 14N4> 171;4ZQ  6M4 O2;7 M?1 M2>4@ /R?:] ̂ 
_4?;:M ;= @= ? N?1;4N?;4> >?;4 1;0@7 ;= @4;4>Z234 J0;0>4 14N4> >?;4 23:>4?141 344@4@ ;= 
J03@ J=>;M:=Z23I 14N4> 8>=̀4:;1Q  a3 J21:?R 74?> BHWG \4N4> V2<212=3 >4<43041 4T:44@4@ 
4T843141 S7 AWCWbcCDbcQ  \=R2@ U?1;4 V2<212=3 >4<43041 4T:44@4@ 4T843141 S7 
AWDcCWHbQ            
                                      

 d

 effgfff

 hgfffgfff

 hgeffgfff

 igfffgfff

 igeffgfff

 jgfffgfff

 jgeffgfff

 kgfffgfff

 kgeffgfff

 egfffgfff

lmnop qorop qstuv lmwno

xyzo{wow

|ps}pm~ po�o{�ow

�������� ��� ������� �������� �������������� ����������

 

25
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 232 of 341



 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS 

 
As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance 
with finance-related legal requirements.  The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to 
provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources.  
Such information is useful in assessing financing requirements.  Unassigned fund balance 
may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at 
the end of a fiscal year.  The City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $22,697,726.  The combined Governmental Fund balance decreased 
$1,794,684 from the prior year.   
 
The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the City.  During the year, 
expenditures exceeded revenues in the General Fund by $134,353 decreasing fund 
balance from $8,951,037 last year to $8,816,684 this year.  As discussed in the letter of 
transmittal, the City’s two largest General Fund revenue sources have not kept pace with 
inflation.  The City’s 1 ½ cent sales tax was up just $47,115 from the prior year, while 
NPPD lease revenue was down $51,929 from the prior year.  Expenses increased 
normally with inflation, and as a result, the General Fund had a decrease in fund balance 
this year.   
 
The City Highway Allocation Fund decreased almost $1.4 million going from $4,315,636 
last year to $2,922,144 this year.  Reconstruction of the Norfolk Avenue bridge started in 
the spring of 2017.  This project is expected to be in excess of $5 million including street 
improvements from First Street to Cottonwood Street, a trail under the bridge, and a 
waterline crossing the river.  Highway allocation receipts had been being accumulated to 
fund this project.  
 
The Capital Construction Fund had a decrease in fund balance of $746,047.  As discussed 
in the letter of transmittal, construction is in progress on the library expansion and 
renovation.  Construction started in April 2017 and before the fiscal year ended most of 
the expansion was complete.  Work is now being done to renovate the existing space.  
This is funded with a half-cent sales tax from April 1, 2015 to March 31, 2018.  The 
decrease in fund balance is due to spending sales tax on the library project.  This is 
partially offset by an increase in keno lottery proceeds to be used on future park and 
recreation projects.   
 
The Debt Service Fund increased $479,792 going from $4,013,919 last year to 
$4,493,711 this year.  Approximately half of the increase is occupation taxes.  
Occupation taxes on prepared food and beverages and lodging were enacted in fiscal year 
2011 to pay debt service on a bond issue to fund recreation facilities.  The occupation tax 
receipts have been better than anticipated.  The City is accumulating the occupation tax 
receipts until the bonds can be called.  The other half of the increase in fund balance is 
property taxes and special assessment collections to be used on future debt service.   
 
The remaining two major funds are the Community Development Block Grant Fund and 
the Special Assessments Fund.  The Community Development Block Grant Fund 

26
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 233 of 341



 

decreased $70,838 primarily due to expending program income on downpayment 
assistance. The Special Assessments Fund saw little activity this year.  It decreased 
$20,508 due to interest paid on the outstanding bond anticipation notes.   
 
Governmental nonmajor funds increased $90,762 going from $2,038,244 last year to 
$2,129,006 this year.  Five nonmajor funds had an increase in fund balance and four 
nonmajor funds had a decrease in fund balance.  The increases ranged from $1,912 to 
$66,296 and the decreases ranged from $11,020 to $47,258.  The largest decrease was in 
the Vehicle Parking Fund primarily due to improvements to the handrails along the 
sidewalks and parking lot repairs. 
 
 
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 

 
The General Fund budget was not amended during the year and included approximately 
$22.6 million of revenue and $24.8 million of expenditures resulting in a budgeted 
decrease in fund balance of $2.2 million.  Actual fund balance decreased $47,549 because 
revenues exceeded budget by $.7 million and expenditures were under budget by $1.5 
million.  This combined with beginning fund balance exceeding budget by $.5 million, 
resulted in an ending fund balance of about $2.7 million more than budgeted.   
 
The largest amount of revenues over budget was in intergovernmental revenue which 
exceeded budget by $227,659.  The excess is primarily due to receipts from the State of 
Nebraska for property tax credit and homestead exemption.  These receipts are not 
budgeted in intergovernmental revenue as they are budgeted as part of property taxes.    
Taxes exceeded budget by $180,989 due to sales tax being more than budgeted.  The City 
budgets conservatively and budgets sales tax for the last 12 months of actuals with no 
increase.  On a cash basis there was a 1.43% increase in actual sales tax receipts from 
fiscal year 2016 to fiscal year 2017.  Licenses and permits exceeded budget by $73,282 
due to an increase in construction activity, and miscellaneous revenue exceeded budget 
by $74,937 primarily due to an increase in purchasing card rebates and the sale of City 
property.  Most other revenue categories exceeded budget since the City normally 
budgets conservatively.  Two revenue categories were under budget by a total of $39,360 
due to cable franchise tax, telecommunications occupation tax, and keno revenue being 
under budget.  
 
Expenditures in all categories were under budget resulting in $1,554,221 less 
expenditures than budgeted.  Public works had the largest amount of under budget 
expenditures followed by public safety and then parks and recreation.  The City always 
budgets conservatively and expenditures are normally under budget.  Capital outlays are 
prioritized and lower priority items are often not purchased. 
 
Transfers in exceed budget by $50,043 primarily due to an unbudgeted transfer from the 
City Highway Allocation Fund for additional street maintenance.  Transfers out were 
$46,908 over budget due to sales tax for the library expansion and renovation being more 
than budgeted.  This sales tax is transferred to the Capital Construction Fund.   
 

27
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 234 of 341



 

CAPITAL ASSETS 

 
The City’s investment in capital assets, including land, buildings and improvements, 
equipment, streets, water and sewer systems, drainage systems and other infrastructure 
represents the value of the resources utilized to provide services to our citizens.  The 
investment in capital assets as of September 30, 2017, was $91,767,475 (net of 
accumulated depreciation and outstanding financings).  The gross additions to capital 
assets for the last two years follows: 
 
 

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Land 677,396$         40,657$            -$                -$               677,396$         40,657$           

Buildings and improvements 424,950           727,437            525,513          21,459           950,463           748,896           

Water distribution and sewage system -                   -                    2,050,089       347,112         2,050,089        347,112           

Equipment, furniture and fixtures 758,824           1,193,655         677,429          422,182         1,436,253        1,615,837        

Infrastructure 357,457           1,252,956         -                  -                 357,457           1,252,956        

Construction in progress 9,463,084        5,180,147         2,639,705       1,419,980      12,102,789      6,600,127        

Total Gross Additions 11,681,711$    8,394,852$       5,892,736$     2,210,733$    17,574,447$    10,605,585$    

Total

Business-typeGovernmental

Activities Activities

 
 

Gross additions to capital assets for Governmental Activities were $11,681,711 compared 
to $8,394,852 of additions in the prior year.  Two projects make up almost two-thirds of 
the additions.  Construction on the library expansion and renovation project started in the 
spring of 2017 and is expected to be completed in the summer of 2018.  Total project 
costs exceed $8 million and is funded with sales tax and a $750,000 grant from the State 
of Nebraska.  The Norfolk Avenue bridge and roadway project is approximately a $5.7 
million project, with most of the construction occurring in fiscal year 2017.  Other 
significant additions in the current year include:  land for storm water detention pond, 
firetruck, dump truck, three police cruisers, four defibrillators, and Embrace Park 
playground equipment.  Significant additions to construction in progress include: street 
microsurfacing and armor coating. 
 
Total gross additions to capital assets for Business-Type activities were $5,892,736 
compared to $2,210,733 in the prior year.  The largest projects in the current year were 
the southwest sanitary sewer interceptor, currently in construction in progress, a sewer 
line extending sewer service to industrial sites northeast of the City, and a water main 
along Madison Avenue from 1st Street to 7th Street.  Other significant additions include:  
engineering for the Omaha Avenue lift station and force main, wastewater treatment plant 
trickling filter distributors, water pollution control influent pump, and transfer station 
trailer.   
 
See Note 5 to the financial statements for more information on the City’s Capital Assets.   
 
 

28
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 235 of 341



 

DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

 
At year-end the City had $21,211,376 of bonded debt outstanding, net of original issue 
discounts/premiums.  This is a decrease of $3,446,078 from the prior year.  During the 
year the City issued $1,520,000 of refunding building bonds to refund bonds used to 
finance the purchase of a building to be used as the City administration office. This 
refunding reduces debt service payments by $141,714 over the next 15 years and the City 
obtains an economic gain of $115,380.  The refunding bonds have interest rates ranging 
from 1.19% to 3.24%, whereas the refunded bonds had interest rates ranging from 1.95% 
to 4.25%.   
 
Moody’s rated the City’s general obligation bond issue dated December 22, 2010 Aa3.  
When the City refunded this bond issue in January 2016, Moody’s reaffirmed the Aa3 
rating.  The ratio of general bonded debt to assessed real property value for the City has 
increased from .29% in 2008 to .87% currently due to the $16.4 million recreation bond 
issue in fiscal year 2010-2011.  Total debt per capita was $692.92 in 2008 compared to 
$1,103.27 in 2016, the most recent date per capita information is available.  The debt 
coverage ratio for the City’s enterprise bonds is 3.45.   
 
The City has no legal debt limit.  Debt service payments are exempt from both the lid and 
levy limits under Nebraska law.  More detailed information on debt administration is 
provided in Note 6 of the financial statements. 
 

 

ECONOMIC FACTORS 

 
Effective April 1, 2015 the sales tax rate increased one-half percent, bringing the 
combined city and state sales tax rate to 7 ½ percent.  The one-half percent rate increase 
will be in effect until March 31, 2018 and along with a $750,000 grant from the State’s 
Civic and Community Center Financing Fund will provide funding for a $8.7 million 
library expansion and renovation.   
 
Sewer rates increased 6% effective September 1, 2017.  The City has hired Black & 
Veatch to do a wastewater rate study to determine future sewer rate increases needed to 
fund forthcoming sewer expansions to promote economic development.    
 
The City was awarded several grants during the year.  One of the grants is a $350,000 
Downtown Revitalization Grant that will be used partially to create a public square in the 
parking lot at 3rd Street and Norfolk Ave.  Approximately $77,000 of the grant will be for 
commercial rehabilitation in the City’s downtown façade and signage program.  The City 
was also awarded a $350,000 Comprehensive Development Grant.  This grant will be 
used for street, sidewalk, and infrastructure improvements along Braasch Avenue from 1st 
Street to 5th Street.  The Nebraska Game and Parks Commission awarded the City a 
federal grant to construct a trail under Highway 275 to connect with the existing Levee 
trail.  The total project is estimated to be $345,617 with $47,808 from the City, $47,808 

29
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 236 of 341



 

from the Lower Elkhorn Natural Resources District, and $250,000 from the Game and 
Parks Commission. 
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the unassigned fund balance in the General Fund 
was $8,287,695.  The City has appropriated $1,857,571 of this amount for spending in 
the 2017-2018 fiscal year budget.  This action was taken as a precaution, given that the 
City budgets conservatively.   
 
 
CONTACTING THE CITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

 
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors 
and creditors with a general overview of the City’s finances and to demonstrate the City’s 
accountability for the money it receives.  If you have questions about this report or need 
additional financial information, contact the Finance Department at 402-844-2000. 

30
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 237 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

September 30, 2017

With Summarized Financial Information as of September 30, 2016

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities 2017 2016

ASSETS

Cash and Equity in Pooled Investment Account 28,556,086$          8,359,799$             36,915,885$      36,311,712$        
Receivables (Net, where applicable, of allowance for

uncollectibles) 
Accounts 188,132                 1,543,185               1,731,317          1,492,966            
Taxes 2,113,907              -                          2,113,907          2,133,339            
Accrued Interest 78,706                   29,499                    108,205             43,044                 

Special Assessments 251,335                 2,183                      253,518             446,189               
Notes Receivable 1,043,945              -                          1,043,945          1,047,824            
Due from Other Governmental Agencies 1,775,784              -                          1,775,784          2,127,802            

Inventories 38,328                   218,042                  256,370             264,822               

Prepaid Assets 40,441                   -                          40,441               37,845                 
Restricted Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents -                         1,888,656               1,888,656          2,660,357            

Land 8,881,409              3,166,864               12,048,273        11,370,877          
Construction in Progress 11,917,174            3,109,012               15,026,186        6,876,382            
Infrastructure, Property and Equipment, Net
  of Accumulated Depreciation 46,282,768            40,455,501             86,738,269        86,711,973          

     Total Assets 101,168,015          58,772,741             159,940,756      151,525,132        

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred Loss on Refunding 26,123                   -                          26,123               42,908                 

Deferred Outflow of Resources Related to Pensions 25,667                   -                          25,667               45,996                 

     Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 51,790                   -                          51,790               88,904                 

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 3,961,505              840,621                  4,802,126          1,921,825            
Unearned Revenue 2,449                     -                          2,449                 1,220                   
Accrued Interest Payable 108,067                 -                          108,067             124,170               
Payables from Restricted Assets:

Accrued Revenue Bond Interest -                         47,029                    47,029               51,138                 
Revenue Bonds - Current -                         290,000                  290,000             895,000               

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Due within one year:

General Obligation Bonds 1,910,000              -                          1,910,000          2,205,000            
Various Purpose Bonds 245,000                 -                          245,000             245,000               
Bond Anticipation Notes 2,250,000              -                          2,250,000          -                       
Compensated Absences and Benefits 929,629                 145,127                  1,074,756          1,052,804            

Due in more than one year:
   Good Faith Deposit - Revenue Bonds -                         93,600                    93,600               -                       

Revenue Bonds Payable -                         5,410,000               5,410,000          5,700,000            
General Obligation Bonds 12,696,376            -                          12,696,376        14,707,454          
Various Purpose Bonds 660,000                 -                          660,000             905,000               
Bond Anticipation Notes -                         -                          -                     2,250,000            
Compensated Absences and Benefits 1,035,707              191,625                  1,227,332          1,279,887            
Net Pension Liability 16,750                   -                          16,750               29,250                 

  Total Liabilities 23,815,483            7,018,002               30,833,485        31,367,748          

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions -                         -                          -                     26,252                 

     Total Deferred Outflows of Resources -                         -                          -                     26,252                 

NET POSITION

   Net Investment in Capital Assets 50,736,098            41,031,377             91,767,475        78,123,994          
Restricted for:

Debt Service 2,575,381              1,141,670               3,717,051          4,248,863            
Future Capital Assets -                         699,957                  699,957             670,645               
Road Projects 2,922,144              -                          2,922,144          4,315,636            
Community Programs & Services 6,186,742              -                          6,186,742          7,067,955            

Unrestricted 14,983,957            8,881,735               23,865,692        25,792,943          
       Total Net Position 77,404,322$          51,754,739$           129,159,061$    120,220,036$      

Totals

Primary Government

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

31
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 238 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

With Summarized Financial Information for the Year Ended September 30, 2016

Operating Capital

Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-Type

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities 2017 2016

Primary Government:

Governmental Activities:

General Government 3,311,385$   675,443$      -$                -$                (2,635,942)$    (2,635,942)$    (1,902,454)$    

Public Safety 10,152,789   1,175,687     428,767          159,949          (8,388,386)      (8,388,386)      (8,439,991)      

Public Works 4,949,525     141,147        3,137,014       231,214          (1,440,150)      (1,440,150)      (1,318,039)      

Public Library 1,478,371     27,119          6,249              5,000              (1,440,003)      (1,440,003)      (1,051,048)      

Parks, Recreation and Public Property 2,970,064     493,930        608                 583,865          (1,891,661)      (1,891,661)      (2,797,013)      

Community Improvement and Development 1,035,861     102,647        587,047          -                  (346,167)         (346,167)         (3,865,800)      

Debt Service 323,382        -                -                  -                  (323,382)         (323,382)         (454,900)         
   Total Governmental Activities 24,221,377   2,615,973     4,159,685       980,028          (16,465,691)    (16,465,691)    (19,829,245)    

  Business-Type Activities:
Water Division 2,269,164     3,034,477     -                  -                  765,313            765,313          454,052          

Sewer Division 3,168,511     4,353,195     -                  -                  1,184,684         1,184,684       785,852          

Solid Waste Division 1,830,369     1,994,477     -                  -                  164,108            164,108          146,196          

Total Business-Type Activities: 7,268,044     9,382,149     -                  -                  2,114,105         2,114,105       1,386,100       

Total Primary Government 31,489,421$ 11,998,122$ 4,159,685$     980,028$        (16,465,691)    2,114,105         (14,351,586)    (18,443,145)    

3,765,320        -                    3,765,320       3,480,593       

10,677,614      -                    10,677,614     10,614,793     

209,221           -                    209,221          203,371          

2,705,164        -                    2,705,164       2,680,189       

209,621           64,418              274,039          134,286          

    General Intergovernmental Revenues Unrestricted 398,194           -                    398,194          372,186          

    Unrestricted Keno Revenue 584,717           -                    584,717          552,493          

    General Revenue from Electrical Distribution System Lease 4,505,919        -                    4,505,919       4,678,880       

   Revenue from Sale of Uncapitalized Property 56,219             -                    56,219            17,097            

92,345             21,859              114,204          128,566          

(459,318)         459,318            -                  -                  
22,745,016      545,595            23,290,611     22,862,454     

6,279,325        2,659,700         8,939,025       4,419,309       

Net Position - Beginning 71,124,997      49,095,039       120,220,036   115,800,727   

77,404,322$    51,754,739$     129,159,061$ 120,220,036$ Net Position - Ending

Interfund Transfers

         Change in Net Position

      Total General Revenues and Transfers

   Miscellaneous

   Interest 

General Revenues:

   Property Taxes

   Other Taxes

   Occupation and Franchise Taxes

Net (Expense) Revenue

Totals

   Sales Taxes

Program Revenues and Changes in Net Assets

See Accompaning Notes to Financial Statements

32
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 239 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

BALANCE SHEET

Governmental Funds

September 30, 2017

City Community Other Total

Highway Development Debt Special Capital Governmental Governmental

General Allocation Block Grant Service Assessments Construction Funds Funds

Assets

Cash and Equity in Pooled Investment Account 5,224,674$       3,609,785$       898,334$         4,231,945$      351,456$         7,007,125$     2,003,328$       23,326,647$      

Cash at County Treasurer 345,368            -                    -                   94,816             -                   -                  61,851              502,035             

Receivables (Net, where applicable, of allowance

for uncollectibles) 

Accounts 186,304            192                   -                   -                   -                   1,429              207                   188,132             

Taxes 1,880,420         -                    -                   175,384           -                   -                  58,103              2,113,907          

Accrued Interest 14,054              13,544              2,043               10,220             973                  19,995            4,566                65,395               

Special Assessments 39,524              -                    -                   211,811           -                   -                  -                    251,335             

Notes Receivable -                    -                    1,020,083        -                   -                   -                  23,862              1,043,945          

Due from Other Governmental Agencies 1,452,249         260,479            33,571             -                   -                   9,261              20,224              1,775,784          

Inventories 12,244              -                    -                   -                   -                   -                  -                    12,244               

Prepaid Assets 22,491              -                    -                   -                   -                   -                  17,950              40,441               

   Total Assets 9,177,328         3,884,000         1,954,031        4,724,176        352,429           7,037,810       2,190,091         29,319,865        

Liabilities

Accounts Payable 300,524            961,856            38,710             4,425               956                  1,698,340       22,338              3,027,149          

Unearned  Revenue 518                   -                    -                   -                   -                   -                  1,931                2,449                 

Bond Anticipation Notes -                    -                    -                   -                   2,250,000        -                  -                    2,250,000          

   Total Liabilities 301,042            961,856            38,710             4,425               2,250,956        1,698,340       24,269              5,279,598          

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Unavailable Revenue-Property Taxes 20,078              -                    -                   14,229             -                   -                  12,954              47,261               

Unavailable Revenue-Loan Repayments -                    -                    1,020,083        -                   -                   -                  23,862              1,043,945          

Unavailable Revenue-Special Assessments 39,524              -                    -                   211,811           -                   -                  -                    251,335             

   Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 59,602              -                    1,020,083        226,040           -                   -                  36,816              1,342,541          

Fund Balances (Deficits)

Non Spendable 34,735              -                    -                   -                   -                   -                  17,950              52,685               

Restricted 480,485            2,922,144         895,238           2,683,448        -                   2,699,964       2,111,056         11,792,335        

Committed -                    -                    -                   1,810,263        -                   -                  -                    1,810,263          

Assigned 13,770              -                    -                   -                   -                   2,639,506       -                    2,653,276          

Unassigned 8,287,694         -                    -                   -                   (1,898,527)       -                  -                    6,389,167          

   Total Fund Balances (Deficits) 8,816,684         2,922,144         895,238           4,493,711        (1,898,527)       5,339,470       2,129,006         22,697,726        

       Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Equity 9,177,328$       3,884,000$       1,954,031$      4,724,176$      352,429$         7,037,810$     2,190,091$       29,319,865$      

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

33
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 240 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

September 30, 2017

Total Fund Balance - Governmental Funds (page 33)  $    22,697,726 

Infrastructure, property, and equipment used in governmental activities are not financial resources 

and, therefore, are not reported in the funds        67,081,351 

Internal service fund is used by management to fund and maintain the City's health insurance 

provided to user departments and is included in the statement of net position.           3,806,359 

Unavailable revenues  that provide current financial resources for governmental activities          1,342,541 

Donated land held for resale is not reported in the funds since a sales contract has not been 

established               26,084 

Accrued expenses from the balance sheet that require current financial resources for governmental 

activities            (108,067)

Deferred outflows are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.               51,790 

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in 

the funds       (17,493,462)

Total Net Position - Governmental Activities (page 31)  $    77,404,322 

 Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net Position are different because: 

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

34
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 241 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

City Community Other Total

Highway Development Debt Special Capital Governmental Governmental

General Allocation Block Grant Service Assessments Construction Funds Funds

Revenue:

Taxes 13,307,669$   -$              -$                 664,222$        -$               -$                  463,440$           14,435,331$      

Special Assessments 1,119             -                -                   193,743         -                 -                    -                    194,862             

Licenses and Permits 367,889         -                -                   -                 -                 -                    -                    367,889             

Intergovernmental Revenue 641,920         3,091,172     369,284           63,132           -                 296,539            450,482             4,912,529          

Nongovernmental Grants -                 -                -                   -                 -                 -                    50,000               50,000               

Charges for Services 2,089,143       -                -                   -                 -                 -                    -                    2,089,143          

Keno Revenue 584,717         -                -                   -                 -                 -                    -                    584,717             

Occupation and Franchise Taxes 644,526         -                -                   1,844,651       -                 -                    215,988             2,705,165          

Contributions 21,108           -                -                   -                 -                 415,391            -                    436,499             

Payments in Lieu of Taxes 141,326         -                -                   42,995           -                 -                    24,900               209,221             

Parking Fees and Rentals 4,513,709       -                -                   -                 -                 -                    21,845               4,535,554          

Loan Repayments -                 -                67,327             -                 -                 -                    4,174                 71,501               

Interest 27,979           31,513          5,069               52,238           2,227             46,762              13,354               179,142             

Miscellaneous 180,957         -                70                    -                 -                 -                    9,091                 190,118             

Total Revenue 22,522,062     3,122,685     441,750           2,860,981       2,227             758,692            1,253,274          30,961,671        

Current Expenditures:

Public Safety 9,557,821       -                -                   -                 -                 242,290            187,083             9,987,194          

Public Works 3,213,237       4,056,177     255,297           -                 1,000             774,313            201,943             8,501,967          

Public Library 1,420,416       -                -                   -                 -                 3,717,035         -                    5,137,451          

Parks, Recreation and Public Property 2,005,741       -                -                   36,894           585                511,735            -                    2,554,955          

Community Improvement and Development 488,536         -                257,291           -                 -                 -                    345,489             1,091,316          

General Government 2,598,268       -                -                   7,280             -                 7,000                -                    2,612,548          

Debt Service:

Debt Service -                 -                -                   3,978,667       21,150           -                    403,607             4,403,424          

Total Expenditures 19,284,019     4,056,177     512,588           4,022,841       22,735           5,252,373         1,138,122          34,288,855        

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures 3,238,043       (933,492)       (70,838)            (1,161,860)     (20,508)          (4,493,681)        115,152             (3,327,184)        

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Issuance of Debt -                 -                -                   1,520,000       -                 -                    -                    1,520,000          

Transfers In 685,043         -                -                   121,652         -                 3,747,634         200,652             4,754,981          

Transfers Out (4,057,439)     (460,000)       -                   -                 -                 -                    (225,042)           (4,742,481)        

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (3,372,396)     (460,000)       -                   1,641,652       -                 3,747,634         (24,390)             1,532,500          

Net Change in Fund Balance (134,353)        (1,393,492)    (70,838)            479,792         (20,508)          (746,047)           90,762               (1,794,684)        

Fund Balances Beginning of Year 8,951,037       4,315,636     966,076           4,013,919       (1,878,019)     6,085,517         2,038,244          24,492,410        

Fund Balances End of Year 8,816,684$     2,922,144     895,238$         4,493,711$     (1,898,527)$   5,339,470$       2,129,006$        22,697,726$      

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

35
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 242 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES

IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (page 35)  $      (1,794,684)

Governmental funds report capital outlay, including infrastructure, as expenditures.  However, in the 

statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as 

depreciation expense.  Capital outlays exceeded depreciation expense in the current year as follows:

Expenditures for capital assets  $    9,573,505 

Depreciation expense       (3,328,967)            6,244,538 

Governmental funds report the proceeds from the sale of capital assets as revenue whereas the statement of 

activities reports the gain on the sale of capital assets.  This is the effect on the change in net position on the 

statement of activities.                 35,917 

Revenues reported in the funds that are not available to provide current financial resources (256,550)            

Capital contributions reported in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources and 

are not reported as revenues in the funds.                 10,900 

Accrued interest expense that does not require current financial resources                 16,103 

Long-term accrual of compensated absences is not reported in the governmental funds as it does not 

consume current financial resources.  The net change in the long-term compensated absences for the year 

was:                 42,404 

Pension expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current financial 

resources.                 18,423 

Internal service fund is used by management to fund the City's group health insurance provided to user 

departments and is included in the statement of net position.  The net revenue of the internal service fund is 

reported with governmental activities.             (581,665)

The issuance of indebtedness provides current financial resources to the governmental funds without 

affecting net assets.  The statement of activities does not reflect the proceeds from the issuance of long-term 

debt.  The proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt for the year was:          (1,520,000)

The effect of bond premiums and deferred refunding charges when new debt is issued, whereas, these 

amounts are deferred and amortized in the statement of activities               103,939 

The repayment of the principal of bonded long-term debt consumes the current financial resources of 

governmental funds without affecting the net position.  The statement of activities does not reflect the 

payment of principal on bonded long-term debt.  The principal paid on bonded long-term debt during the 

current year was:            3,960,000 

Change in net position of governmental activities (page 32)  $        6,279,325 

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

36
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 243 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Proprietary Funds

September 30, 2017

Business Type Governmental

Activities Activities

Combined Internal

Utilities Service

ASSETS

Current Assets:

   Cash and Equity in Pooled Investment Account 8,359,799$         4,727,405$         

   Receivables (Net, where applicable, of allowance for

      uncollectibles) 

      Accounts 1,543,185           -                      

      Accrued Interest 29,499                13,310                

      Special Assessments 2,183                  -                      

   Restricted Cash

       Cash and Cash Equivalents 337,029              -                      

   Inventories 218,042              -                      

        Total Current Assets 10,489,737         4,740,715           

Noncurrent Assets:

   Restricted Assets:

      Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,551,627           -                      

   Capital Assets:

      Land 3,166,864           -                      

      Construction in Progress 3,109,012           -                      

      Infrastructure, Property and Equipment, Net

         of Accumulated Depreciation 40,455,501         -                      

            Total Noncurrent Assets 48,283,004         -                      

            Total Assets 58,772,741         4,740,715           

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities:

   Accounts Payable 840,621              934,356              

   Accrued Wages and Compensated Absences 145,127              -                      

Payables from Restricted Assets:

      Accrued Revenue Bond Interest 47,029                -                      

      Revenue Bonds - Current 290,000              -                      

         Total Current Liabilities 1,322,777           934,356              

Noncurrent Liabilities:

    Due in more than one year:

      Good Faith Deposit - Revenue Bonds 93,600                -                      

      Revenue Bonds Payable 5,410,000           -                      

      Compensated Absences and Benefits, Long-Term 191,625              -                      

         Total Noncurrent Liabilities 5,695,225           -                      

         Total Liabilities 7,018,002           934,356              

NET POSITION

   Net Investment in Capital Assets 41,031,377         -                      

   Restricted for:

      Debt Service 1,141,670           -                      

      Future Capital Assets 699,957              -                      

   Unrestricted 8,881,735           3,806,359           

         Total Net Position 51,754,739$       3,806,359$         

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

37
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 244 of 341



                                 

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

 

Business Type Governmental

Activities Activities

Combined Internal

Utilities Service

Operating Revenues:

Charges for Services 9,276,922$            3,130,550$            

 Rental Income 100,536                 -                        

Miscellaneous Income 21,859                   -                        
      Total Operating Revenue 9,399,317              3,130,550              

Operating Expenses:

Payroll and Related Taxes and Benefits 2,245,658              -                        

Purchased Services 835,255                 -                        

General and Administration 900,222                 3,742,694              

Repairs and Maintenance 1,194,414              -                        

Utilities 631,047                 -                        

Depreciation and Amortization 1,297,665              -                        
      Total Operating Expenses 7,104,261              3,742,694              

      Operating Income 2,295,056              (612,144)               

Non-Operating Income (Expense):

Interest Income 64,418                   30,479                   

Gain (Loss) on Disposal of Capital Assets 3,712                     -                        

Interfund Transfer Out (12,500)                 

Interest Expense (163,783)               -                        
      Total Non-Operating Income (Expenses) (108,153)               30,479                   

         Income before Contributions 2,186,903              (581,665)               

Capital Contributions 472,797                 -                        

Change in Net Position 2,659,700              (581,665)               

Net Position - Beginning 49,095,039            4,388,024              

Net Position - Ending 51,754,739$          3,806,359$            

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

38
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 245 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

 

Business Type Governmental

Activities Activities

Combined Internal

Utilities Service

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Cash Received from Customers 9,186,926$            3,130,550$            

Cash Paid to Suppliers for Goods and Services (3,461,745)            (3,082,214)            

Cash Paid to Employees for Services (2,233,857)            -                        

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 3,491,324              48,336                   

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING 

ACTIVITIES:

Acquisition and Construction of Capital Assets (3,456,694)            -                        

Good Faith Deposit on Bond Sale 93,600                   -                        

Transfers In (Out) (12,500)                 -                        

Principal Paid on Notes and Bonds (895,000)               -                        

Interest Paid on Notes and Bonds (167,892)               -                        
Net Cash Provided (Used) for Capital and Related Financing 

Activities (4,438,486)            -                        

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Interest and Dividends on Investments 47,614                   22,472                   

     Net Cash Provided for Investing Activities 47,614                   22,472                   

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (899,548)               70,808                   

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 11,148,003            4,656,597              

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 10,248,455$          4,727,405$            

(Continued)

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

39
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 246 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

 

Business Type Governmental

Activities Activities

Combined Internal

Utilities Service

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net

Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Operating Income 2,295,056$            (612,144)$             

Adjustments to Reconcile Net Operating Income to Net Cash Provided 

by Operating Activities:

Depreciation and Amortization 1,297,665              -                        

(Increase) Decrease in Assets:

Accounts Receivable (212,391)               -                        

Prepaid Assets 2,870                     -                        

Increase (Decrease) in Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 96,323                   660,480                 

Accrued Compensated Absences 11,801                   -                        

Total Adjustments 1,196,268              660,480                 
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 3,491,324              48,336                   

Supplemental Schedule of Noncash Capital and Related Financing Activities:

Developers Contribution of Distribution System 472,797                 -                        

Accounts Payable Exchanged for Capital Assets 381,978                 -                        

Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents to the Balance Sheet:

Cash and Equity in Pooled Investment Account 8,359,799              4,727,405              

Restricted Cash - Current 337,029                 -                        

Restricted Cash - Noncurrent 1,551,627              -                        
10,248,455$          4,727,405$            

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

40
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 247 of 341



 

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

Fiduciary Funds

September 30, 2017

 Pension

 Trust Funds Agency Fund

Employee Community

Retirement Development

Funds Agency

ASSETS

   Current Assets:

      Cash -$               530,209$            

      Cash at County Treasurer -                 10,260                

      Guaranteed Insurance Contracts Managed by Trustee 14,885,657     -                      

      Open Ended Mutual Funds Managed by Trustee 31,666,699     -                      

Contributions Receivable 29,249            -                      

         Total Current Assets 46,581,605     540,469              

LIABILITIES

   Current Liabilities:

      Due to Bondholders -                 540,469              

        Total Current Liabilities -                 540,469              

NET POSITION

Restricted for Pensions 46,581,605$   -$                    

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements
41

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 248 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

Fiduciary Funds

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

Pension

Trust Funds

Employee

Retirement

Funds

ADDITIONS

   Contributions:

      Employer 955,250$          

      Employee 1,103,412         

Total Contributions 2,058,662         

   Investment Income:

      Interest, Dividends and Market Gain 4,696,817         

         Total Additions 6,755,479         

DEDUCTIONS

   Pension Benefits 691,859            

   Contribution Refunds 1,860,791         

   Administrative Costs 4,560               

Total Deductions 2,557,210         

Net Increase 4,198,269         

Net Position -- Beginning of Period 42,383,336       

Net Position -- End of Period 46,581,605$     

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

42
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 249 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$D$E$FGHHIJK$AL$FMN@MLMOI@B$IOOAG@BM@N$PAQMOMCF$
$
RS2$ !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$'2:(63*6$!3$6$9%)!"!76)$3T:U!V!3!%5$%&$"S2$3"6"2$%&$'2:(63*6$)%76"2U$!5$W6U!3%5$ %T5"#X$$
RS2$ !"#$%92(6"23$T5U2($"S2$86#%(Y7%T57!)$&%(8$%&$Z%V2(5825"$[!"S$"S2$86#%($65U$7%T57!)$828:2(3$2)27"2U$
%5$6$5%596("!365$:63!3X$$RS2$ !"#$6U8!5!3"2(3$"S2$&%))%[!5Z$9(%Z(683$63$6T"S%(!\2U$:#$!"3$7S6("2(]$$̂252(6)$
%̂V2(5825"+$_T:)!7$̀!:(6(#+$_T:)!7$a%(*3+$_T:)!7$06&2"#+$_6(*3+$.27(26"!%5+$65U$_T:)!7$_(%92("#+$ %88T5!"#$
b89(%V2825"$65U$c2V2)%9825"X$$b"$6)3%$9(%V!U23$8T5!7!96)$T"!)!"#$32(V!723$!57)TU!5Z]$[6"2(+$32[2($65U$3%)!U$
[63"2X$
$
RS2$ !"#d3$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3$6(2$9(296(2U$!5$677%(U6572$[!"S$eX0X$Z252(6))#$67729"2U$677%T5"!5Z$9(!57!9)23$
f̂//_gX$$RS2$̂%V2(5825"6)$/77%T5"!5Z$0"65U6(U3$-%6(U$!3$(239%53!:)2$&%($23"6:)!3S!5Z$̂//_$&%($3"6"2$65U$
)%76)$Z%V2(5825"3$"S(%TZS$!"3$9(%5%T572825"3$f0"6"2825"3$65U$b5"2(9(2"6"!%53gX$$RS2$8%(2$3!Z5!&!765"$
677%T5"!5Z$9%)!7!23$23"6:)!3S2U$!5$̂//_$65U$T32U$:#$"S2$ !"#$6(2$U!37T332U$:2)%[X$
$
Ih$Jijklmnop$Comnmq$
$
4%($&!5657!6)$(29%("!5Z$9T(9%323+$"S2$ !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$'2:(63*6+$S63$!57)TU2U$6))$&T5U3+$%(Z65!\6"!%53+$
6Z257!23+$:%6(U3+$7%88!33!%53$65U$6T"S%(!"!23X$$RS2$677%8965#!5Z$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3$9(2325"$"S2$
Z%V2(5825"$65U$!"3$7%89%525"$T5!"3+$25"!"!23$&%($[S!7S$"S2$Z%V2(5825"$!3$7%53!U2(2U$"%$:2$&!5657!6))#$
677%T5"6:)2X$$-)25U2U$7%89%525"$T5!"3$6(2+$!5$3T:3"6572+$96("$%&$"S2$9(!86(#$Z%V2(5825"d3$%92(6"!%53+$
2V25$"S%TZS$"S2#$6(2$)2Z6))#$3296(6"2$25"!"!23X$$RST3+$:)25U2U$7%89%525"$T5!"3$6(2$699(%9(!6"2)#$
9(2325"2U$63$&T5U3$%&$"S2$9(!86(#$Z%V2(5825"X$$/5#$U!37(2"2)#$9(2325"2U$7%89%525"$T5!"3$6(2$(29%("2U$!5$
6$3296(6"2$7%)T85$!5$"S2$Z%V2(5825"Y[!U2$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3$"%$289S63!\2$"S6"$!"$!3$)2Z6))#$3296(6"2$
&(%8$"S2$Z%V2(5825"X$$

$
rsiotit$Okujkoiom$Gonmv$
$
 %88T5!"#$c2V2)%9825"$/Z257#$f c/g$
RS2$ c/$!3$!57)TU2U$!5$"S2$ !"#d3$(29%("!5Z$25"!"#$63$6$:)25U2U$7%89%525"$T5!"$:276T32$%&$"S2$3!Z5!&!76572$
%&$!"3$%92(6"!%56)$65U$&!5657!6)$(2)6"!%53S!93$[!"S$"S2$ !"#X$
$
RS2$W6#%($65U$ %T57!)$"%$9(%V!U2$&%($(2U2V2)%9825"$%&$V6(!%T3$:)!ZS"2U$6(263$[!"S!5$"S2$ !"#$7(26"2U$"S2$
 c/X$$W28:2(3$%&$"S2$ c/$7%53!3"$%&$"S2$W6#%($65U$ !"#$ %T57!)$[!"S$"S2$W6#%($32(V!5Z$63$ S6!(865X$$
w&&!72(3$%&$"S2$ c/$6(2$6)3%$%&&!72(3$%&$"S2$ !"#X$$/)"S%TZS$!"$!3$)2Z6))#$3296(6"2$&(%8$"S2$ !"#+$"S2$ c/$!3$
(29%("2U$63$!&$!"$[2(2$96("$%&$"S2$9(!86(#$Z%V2(5825"$:276T32$!"3$3%)2$9T(9%32$!3$"%$9(%V!U2$(2U2V2)%9825"$
%&$V6(!%T3$6(263$[!"S!5$"S2$ !"#X$$RS2$ !"#$S63$%92(6"!%56)$(239%53!:!)!"#$&%($"S2$ c/X$$RS2$ c/$U%23$5%"$
!33T2$3296(6"2$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3X$
$
 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*$467!)!"!23$ %(9%(6"!%5$f'4 g$
b5$=<>>$"S2$ !"#$7(26"2U$"S2$ !"#$%&$'%(&%)*$467!)!"!23$ %(9%(6"!%5+$6$5%"Y&%(Y9(%&!"$7%(9%(6"!%5$T5U2($"S2$
)6[3$%&$"S2$0"6"2$%&$'2:(63*6+$&%($"S2$9T(9%32$%&$633!3"!5Z$65U$9(%8%"!5Z$"S2$U2V2)%9825"$%&$9T:)!7$
&67!)!"!23$"%$:2$T32U$:#$"S2$ !"#$!5$"S2$&T("S2(6572$%&$!"3$Z%V2(5825"6)$&T57"!%53X$$RS2$Z%V2(5!5Z$:%U#$!3$$
699%!5"2U$:#$"S2$ !"#d3$Z%V2(5!5Z$:%U#X$$RS2$'4 $9(%V!U23$32(V!723$25"!(2)#$"%$"S2$ !"#X$$RS2$32(V!723$
9(%V!U2U$:#$"S2$'4 $6(2$3%$!5"2("[!52U$[!"S$"S2$ !"#$"S6"$!"$!3$!5$3T:3"6572$"S2$3682$63$"S2$ !"#$65U$!3$
(29%("2U$63$96("$%&$"S2$ !"#$65U$:)25U2U$!5$"S2$ !"#d3$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3X$$RS2$'4 $U%23$5%"$!33T2$
3296(6"2$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3X$
$
xknom$yiomzli${$@klm|i}vm$@i~l}v�}$Fksnt$�}vmi$Ok}snmnko$�@@F�O�$
$
RS2$ !"#+$!5$7%5�T57"!%5$[!"S$"[25"#Y&%T($%"S2($7!"!23$65U$7%T5"!23$!5$'%("S263"$'2:(63*6+$S63$7(26"2U$"S2$
''0a X$$RS2$''0a d3$-%6(U$!3$7%89%32U$%&$6$828:2($&(%8$267S$%&$"S2$96("!7!96"!5Z$7!"!23$65U$
7%T5"!23X$$RS2$9T(9%32$%&$"S2$''0a $!3$"%$9(%V!U2$3%)!U$[63"2$8656Z2825"$:#$82653$%&$:T!)U!5Z$65U$
%92(6"!5Z$6$3%)!U$[63"2$U!39%36)$&67!)!"#+$7%88%5)#$(2&2((2U$"%$63$6$)65U&!))X$$RS2$''0a $)65U&!))$:2Z65$
%92(6"!%5$%5$w7"%:2($;<+$>���X$$RS2$ !"#$U%23$5%"$S6V2$65$2�T!"#$!5"2(23"$!5$"S2$''0a X$$RS2$''0a $
!33T23$!"3$%[5$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3+$[S!7S$6(2$6V6!)6:)2$T9%5$(2�T23"$&(%8$!"3$%&&!723$6"$;<�$'%("S$4!&"S$
0"(22"$!5$'%(&%)*$'2:(63*6X$

43
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 250 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$D$E$FGHHIJK$AL$FMN@MLMOI@B$IOOAG@BM@N$PAQMOMCF$ROA@BM@GCST$
$
JUVWXUY$CZX[X[U\$
$
'%(&%)*$]%̂3!5_$/_257#$
à2$'%(&%)*$]%̂3!5_$/_257#$!3$_%b2(52c$:#$6$32b25$828:2($:%6(c$da!7a$!3$699%!5"2c$:#$"a2$e6#%($65c$
 !"#$ %̂57!)f$$̀a2$8!33!%5$%&$"a2$'%(&%)*$]%̂3!5_$/_257#$!3$"%$9(%b!c2$c2725"+$36&2$65c$ĝ6)!"#$a%̂3!5_$"%$
'%(&%)*h3$)%d$"%$8%c2(6"2i!57%82$&68!)!23$65c$"%$633!3"$!5$9(%b!c!5_$!89(%b2c$a%̂3!5_$!5$6$(239%53!:)2$
d6#$d!"a$3%7!6)$6d6(25233$65c$7%88 5̂!"#$522c3$6$7%53"65"$_%6)$65c$7%88!"825"f$$j5$6cc!"!%5$"%$%d5!5_$
65c$%92(6"!5_$"a2$1253!5_"%5$/96("825"3+$e26c%d$.!c_2$,3"6"23$kflf+$"a2#$6)3%$%&&2($027"!%5$m$.25"6)$
/33!3"6572$l(%_(68$65c$.%#6)$n6*3$,3"6"2$(25"i"%i%d5$a%823f$$̀a2$'%(&%)*$]%̂3!5_$/_257#$!33̂23$!"3$
%d5$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3+$da!7a$6(2$6b6!)6:)2$̂9%5$(2ĝ23"$&(%8$!"3$%&&!723$6"$><m$'%("a$4%̂("a$0"(22"$!5$
'%(&%)*$'2:(63*6f$$$
$
'%(&%)*$/!(9%("$/̂"a%(!"#$
à2$'%(&%)*$/!(9%("$/̂"a%(!"#$!3$_%b2(52c$:#$6$&!b2$828:2($:%6(cf$$̀a2$68%̂5"$%&$9(%92("#$"6o$"a6"$"a2$
/!(9%("$/̂"a%(!"#$765$)2b#$8 3̂"$:2$699(%b2c$:#$"a2$e6#%($65c$ !"#$ %̂57!)f$$̀a2$'%(&%)*$/!(9%("$/̂"a%(!"#$
!33̂23$!"3$%d5$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3+$da!7a$6(2$6b6!)6:)2$̂9%5$(2ĝ23"$&(%8$!"3$%&&!723$6"$p><<$0%̂"a$>;"a$
0"(22"$!5$'%(&%)*$'2:(63*6f$$

$
qr$qW\[s$L[ZWZs[WV$FXWXUtUZX\ENuvUwZtUZXEx[YU$FXWXUtUZX\$

$
à2$ !"#h3$:63!7$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3$!57)̂c2$:%"a$_%b2(5825"id!c2$y(29%("!5_$"a2$ !"#$63$6$da%)2z$65c$
&̂5c$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3$y(29%("!5_$"a2$ !"#h3$86{%($&̂5c3zf$$-%"a$"a2$_%b2(5825"id!c2$65c$&̂5c$&!5657!6)$
3"6"2825"3$76"2_%(!|2$9(!86(!)#$67"!b!"!23$63$2!"a2($_%b2(5825"6)$%($:̂3!5233i"#92f$$̀a2$ !"#h3$_252(6)+$
3927!6)$(2b25̂2+$c2:"$32(b!72+$769!"6)$9(%{27"3$65c$!5"2(56)$32(b!72$&̂5c3$6(2$7)633!&!2c$63$_%b2(5825"6)$
67"!b!"!23f$
$
j5$"a2$_%b2(5825"id!c2$0"6"2825"$%&$'2"$l%3!"!%5+$:%"a$"a2$_%b2(5825"6)$65c$:̂3!5233$"#92$67"!b!"!23$
7%)̂853$y6z$6(2$9(2325"2c$%5$6$7%53%)!c6"2c$:63!3$:#$7%)̂85+$65c$y:z$6(2$(29%("2c$%5$6$&̂))$677(̂6)$:63!3$
%&$677%̂5"!5_$̂3!5_$"a2$27%5%8!7$(23%̂(723$8263̂(2825"$&%7̂3+$da!7a$(27%_5!|23$6))$)%5_i"2(8$6332"3$
65c$(272!b6:)23$63$d2))$63$)%5_i"2(8$c2:"$%:)!_6"!%53f$$̀a2$ !"#h3$52"$9%3!"!%5$!3$(29%("2c$!5$"a(22$96("3}$
52"$!5b23"825"$!5$769!"6)$6332"3+$(23"(!7"2c$52"$9%3!"!%5+$65c$̂5(23"(!7"2c$52"$9%3!"!%5f$$̀a2$ !"#$&!(3"$̂323$
(23"(!7"2c$(23%̂(723$"%$&!56572$ĝ6)!&#!5_$67"!b!"!23f$
$
à2$_%b2(5825"id!c2$0"6"2825"$%&$/7"!b!"!23$(29%("3$:%"a$"a2$_(%33$65c$52"$7%3"$%&$267a$%&$"a2$ !"#h3$
&̂57"!%53$y9̂:)!7$36&2"#+$9̂:)!7$d%(*3+$96(*3+$(27(26"!%5$65c$9̂:)!7$9(%92("#+$7%88̂ 5!"#$!89(%b2825"$65c$
c2b2)%9825"+$_252(6)$_%b2(5825"+$2"7fz$65c$:̂3!5233i"#92$67"!b!"!23f$$̀a2$&̂57"!%53$6(2$6)3%$3̂99%("2c$:#$
_252(6)$_%b2(5825"$2o925323$y!57)̂c!5_$c29(27!6"!%5z$:#$(2)6"2c$9(%_(68$(2b25̂2+$%92(6"!5_$_(65"3+$65c$
769!"6)$_(65"3f$$l(%_(68$(2b25̂2$8 3̂"$:2$c!(27")#$633%7!6"2c$d!"a$"a2$&̂57"!%5$%($6$:̂3!5233i"#92$67"!b!"#f$$
n92(6"!5_$_(65"3$!57)̂c2$%92(6"!5_i3927!&!7$65c$c!37(2"!%56(#$y2!"a2($%92(6"!5_$%($769!"6)z$_(65"3$da!)2$"a2$
769!"6)$_(65"3$7%)̂85$(2&)27"3$769!"6)$3927!&!7$_(65"3f$

$ $ $
à2$ !"#$c%23$5%"$6))%76"2$!5c!(27"$7%3"3f$$
$
/3$6$_252(6)$(̂)2+$"a2$2&&27"$%&$!5"2(&̂5c$67"!b!"#$a63$:225$2)!8!56"2c$&(%8$"a2$_%b2(5825"id!c2$&!5657!6)$
3"6"2825"3f$$,o729"!%53$"%$"a!3$_252(6)$(̂)2$6(2$!5"2(&̂5c$32(b!723$9(%b!c2c$65c$%"a2($7a6(_23$:2"d225$
"a2$_%b2(5825"h3$7%8:!52c$̂"!)!"!23$&̂57"!%5$65c$b6(!%̂3$%"a2($&̂57"!%53$%&$"a2$_%b2(5825"f$
$
à!3$_%b2(5825"id!c2$&%7̂3$!3$8%(2$%5$"a2$3̂3"6!56:!)!"#$%&$"a2$ !"#$63$65$25"!"#$65c$"a2$7a65_2$!5$"a2$
 !"#h3$52"$9%3!"!%5$(23̂)"!5_$&(%8$"a2$7̂((25"$#26($67"!b!"!23f$

$

$

$

$

44
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 251 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$D$E$FGHHIJK$AL$FMN@MLMOI@B$IOOAG@BM@N$PAQMOMCF$ROA@BM@GCST$

$
OU$LVWX$IYYZVW[\W]$
$

_̂2$677%̀5"3$%&$"_2$ !"#$6(2$%(a65!b2c$%5$"_2$:63!3$%&$&̀5c3+$267_$%&$d_!7_$!3$7%53!c2(2c$"%$:2$6$
3296(6"2$677%̀5"!5a$25"!"#e$$̂_2$%92(6"!%53$%&$267_$&̀5c$6(2$677%̀5"2c$&%($:#$6$3296(6"2$32"$%&$32)&f
:6)657!5a$677%̀5"3$"_6"$7%89(!32$!"3$6332"3+$)!6:!)!"!23+$&̀5c$2g̀!"#+$(2h25̀23$%($(272!9"3+$65c$2i925c!"̀(23$
%($2i925323+$63$699(%9(!6"2e$$j%h2(5825"$(23%̀(723$6(2$6))%76"2c$"%+$65c$677%̀5"2c$&%(+$!5$!5c!h!c̀6)$
&̀5c3$:632c$%5$"_2$9̀(9%32$&%($d_!7_$"_2#$6(2$"%$:2$3925"$65c$"_2$82653$:#$d_!7_$3925c!5a$67"!h!"!23$6(2$
7%5"(%))2ce$
$
_̂2$289_63!3$!5$&̀5c$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3$!3$%5$"_2$86k%($&̀5c3$!5$2!"_2($"_2$a%h2(5825"6)$%($:̀3!5233f
"#92$67"!h!"!23$76"2a%(!23e$$j/0-$'%e$;l$32"3$&%("_$8!5!8 8̀$7(!"2(!6$&%($"_2$c2"2(8!56"!%5$%&$86k%($&̀5c3e$$
_̂2$ !"#$765$2)27"!h2)#$6cc$&̀5c3+$63$86k%($&̀5c3+$d_!7_$_6h2$6$3927!&!7$7%88̀ 5!"#$&%7̀3e$$̂_2$5%5f86k%($
&̀5c3$6(2$7%8:!52c$!5"%$6$3!5a)2$7%)̀85$!5$"_2$&̀5c$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3e$
$
_̂2$ !"#$(29%("3$"_2$&%))%d!5a$86k%($a%h2(5825"6)$&̀5c3m$
$
NZnopWqoW[rs$LVWX$Btuov$w$̂_2$a%h2(5825"6)$&̀5c$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3$6(2$(29%("2c$̀3!5a$"_2$7̀((25"$$
&!5657!6)$(23%̀(723$8263̀(2825"$&%7̀3e$$̂_!3$82653$"_6"$"_2$&%7̀3$%&$"_2$a%h2(5825"6)$&̀5c3x$
8263̀(2825"$!3$̀9%5$"_2$c2"2(8!56"!%5$%&$&!5657!6)$9%3!"!%5$65c$7_65a23$!5$&!5657!6)$9%3!"!%5$y3%̀(723+$
3̀23$65c$:6)65723$%&$&!5657!6)$(23%̀(723z$(6"_2($"_65$̀9%5$52"$!57%82e$$̂_2$&%))%d!5a$!3$6$c237(!9"!%5$%&$
"_2$86k%($a%h2(5825"6)$&̀5c3$%&$"_2$ !"#m$
$
>z$j252(6)$4̀5c$w$̂_2$j252(6)$4̀5c$!3$"_2$a252(6)$%92(6"!5a$&̀5c$%&$"_2$ !"#e$${"$!3$̀32c$"%$677%̀5"$
 !"#$%%# &'$'(&$%#")*!+"()*#),()-.#./!*)#")0+&")1#.!#2)#$((!+'.)1# !"#&'#$'!./)"# +'13##4/)#*!+"()*#
! #")5)'+)#&'(%+1)#-"!-)".6#.$,)*7#*.$.)#$%%!($.&!'*7#(/$"8)*# !"#*)"5&()*7# &')*#$'1# ))*7#%&()'*)*#
$'1#-)"9&.*7#$*#:)%%#$*#*.$.)#$'1# )1)"$%#8"$'.*3##4/)#),-)'1&.+")*#! #./)#;)')"$%#<+'1#")%$.)#.!#
8)')"$%#$19&'&*."$.&!'7#-$"=*7#")(")$.&!'#$'1#-+2%&(#-"!-)".67#-+2%&(#*$ ).67#-+2%&(#:!"=*7#/!+*&'87#
-+2%&(#%&2"$"&)*#$'1#-%$''&'87#-)"9&.*#$'1#/)$%./3#

#
>?#@-)(&$%#A)5)'+)#<+'1#

#
BCDE#FCGHIJE#KLLMNJDCMO#PQOR#S#4!#$((!+'.# !"#./)#T&.6U*#*/$")#! #9!.!"#5)/&(%)# +)%#.$,#
")5)'+)*#./$.#$")#%)8$%%6#")*."&(.)1#.!#*.")).#),-)'1&.+")*3#
#
BMVVQOCDE#WXYXLMZVXOD#[LMN\#]̂JOD#PQOR#_#4!#$((!+'.# !"#5$"&!+*#(!99+'&.6#1)5)%!-9)'.#
8"$'.*#$'1#")%$.)1#-"!8"$9#&'(!9)3##4/)#+*)#! #./)*)# +'1*#&*#")*."&(.)1#.!#(!99+'&.6#$'1#
)(!'!9&(#1)5)%!-9)'.#$(.&5&.&)*7#$*#1) &')1#&'#./)#8"$'.#$8"))9)'.*3###

#
?̀#a)2.#@)"5&()#<+'1#S#4/)#a)2.#@)"5&()#<+'1#&*#+*)1#.!#$((!+'.# !"#./)#$((+9+%$.&!'#! #")*!+"()*#
 !"#./)#-$69)'.#! #8)')"$%#!2%&8$.&!'#2!'17#-"&'(&-$%#$'1#&'.)")*.# "!9#8!5)"'9)'.$%#")*!+"()*7#
$'1#*-)(&$%#$**)**9)'.#2!'1#-"&'(&-$%#$'1#&'.)")*.# "!9#*-)(&$%#$**)**9)'.#%)5&)*#:/)'#./)#
8!5)"'9)'.#&*#!2%&8$.)1#&'#*!9)#9$'')"# !"#./)#-$69)'.3#
#

b?#T$-&.$%#c"!d)(.#<+'1##
#

eZXNCJL#KffXffVXOD#PQOR#_#4!#$((!+'.# !"#./)#(!'*."+(.&!'#! #&' "$*."+(.+")#($-&.$%#$**).*#
 &'$'()1#./"!+8/#./)#(")$.&!'#! #*-)(&$%#$**)**9)'.#1&*."&(.*3###
#
BJZCDJL#BMOfD̂QNDCMO#PQOR#S#4!#$((!+'.# !"#./)#$(0+&*&.&!'#! #($-&.$%#$**).*# &'$'()1#-"&9$"&%6#
:&./#."$'* )"*# "!9#./)#;)')"$%#<+'1#$'1#2!'1#-"!())1*3#

#
ghijhklmnho#pqrs#tojlu#S#4/)# !(+*#! #-"!-"&).$"6# +'1#9)$*+")9)'.#&*#+-!'#1).)"9&'$.&!'#! #!-)"$.&'8#
&'(!9)7#(/$'8)*#&'#').#-!*&.&!'7# &'$'(&$%#-!*&.&!'7#$'1#($*/# %!:*3##v-)"$.&'8#")5)'+)*#$'1#),-)'*)*#$")##

45
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 252 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$D$E$FGHHIJK$AL$FMN@MLMOI@B$IOOAG@BM@N$PAQMOMCF$ROA@BM@GCST$
$
U!3"!5VW!3X2U$&(%8$5%5Y%92(6"!5V$(2Z25W23$65U$2[925323\$$]92(6"!5V$(2Z25W23$65U$2[925323$V252(6))#$
(23W)"$&(%8$9(%Z!U!5V$32(Z!723$65U$9(%UW7!5V$65U$U2)!Z2(!5V$V%%U3$!5$7%5527"!%5$̂!"X$6$9(%9(!2"6(#$&W5U_3$
9(!57!96)$%5V%!5V$%92(6"!%53\$$/))$(2Z25W23$65U$2[925323$5%"$822"!5V$"X!3$U2&!5!"!%5$6(2$(29%("2U$63$5%5Y
%92(6"!5V$(2Z25W23$65U$2[925323\$$̀X2$9(!57!96)$%92(6"!5V$(2Z25W23$%&$25"2(9(!32$&W5U3$6(2$7X6(V23$"%$
7W3"%82(3$&%($32(Z!723\$$]92(6"!5V$2[925323$7%53!3"$%&$7%3"$%&$36)23$65U$32(Z!723+$6U8!5!3"(6"!Z2$
2[925323$65U$U29(27!6"!%5$%5$769!"6)$6332"3\$$̀X2$a\0\$V252(6))#$67729"2U$677%W5"!5V$9(!57!9)23$W32U$6(2$
"X%32$699)!76:)2$"%$3!8!)6($:W3!523323$!5$"X2$9(!Z6"2$327"%(\$
$
>b$,5"2(9(!32$4W5U3$c$,5"2(9(!32$4W5U3$6(2$W32U$"%$677%W5"$&%($%92(6"!%53$d6b$"X6"$6(2$&!56572U$65U$
%92(6"2U$!5$6$86552($3!8!)6($"%$9(!Z6"2$:W3!5233$25"2(9(!323$c$̂X2(2$"X2$!5"25"$%&$"X2$V%Z2(5!5V$
:%U#$!3$"X6"$"X2$7%3"3$d2[925323+$!57)WU!5V$U29(27!6"!%5b$%&$9(%Z!U!5V$V%%U3$%($32(Z!723$"%$"X2$
V252(6)$9W:)!7$%5$6$7%5"!5W!5V$:63!3$3X%W)U$:2$&!56572U$%($(27%Z2(2U$9(!86(!)#$"X(%WVX$W32($
7X6(V23e$%($d:b$̂X2(2$"X2$V%Z2(5!5V$:%U#$X63$U27!U2U$"X6"$92(!%U!7$U2"2(8!56"!%5$%&$(2Z25W23$
26(52U+$2[925323$!57W((2U+$65Uf%($52"$!57%82$!3$699(%9(!6"2$&%($769!"6)$86!5"256572+$9W:)!7$
9%)!7#+$8656V2825"$7%5"(%)+$677%W5"6:!)!"#+$%($%"X2($9W(9%323\$$̀X2$ !"#$!57)WU23$"X2$&%))%̂ !5V$
W"!)!"!23$̂!"X!5$!"3$7%8:!52U$W"!)!"!23$&W5Ug$
$
h6"2($i!Z!3!%5$c$̀X2$̂6"2($U!Z!3!%5$677%W5"3$&%($"X2$%92(6"!%5$%&$6$8W5!7!96))#$%̂ 52U$̂6"2($
3#3"28+$̂X!7X$9(%Z!U23$32(Z!723$"%$"X2$(23!U25"3$%&$"X2$ !"#\$
$
02̂ 2($i!Z!3!%5$c$̀X2$32̂ 2($U!Z!3!%5$677%W5"3$&%($"X2$%92(6"!%5$%&$6$8W5!7!96))#$%̂52U$32̂6V2$
7%))27"!%5+$̂X!7X$9(%Z!U23$32(Z!723$"%$"X2$(23!U25"3$%&$"X2$ !"#\$
$
0%)!U$h63"2$j656V2825"$i!Z!3!%5$c$̀X2$3%)!U$̂63"2$8656V2825"$U!Z!3!%5$677%W5"3$&%($"X2$
%92(6"!%53$%&$"X2$ !"#_3$3%)!U$̂63"2$"(653&2($3"6"!%5\$

$
=b$k5"2(56)$02(Z!72$4W5U$c$̀X2$k5"2(56)$02(Z!72$4W5U$!3$W32U$"%$677%W5"$&%($"X2$%92(6"!%53$"X6"$
9(%Z!U2$32(Z!723$"%$%"X2($U296("825"3$%($6V257!23$%&$"X2$V%Z2(5825"+$%($"%$%"X2($V%Z2(5825"3+$
%5$6$7%3"Y(2!8:W(32825"$:63!3\$

$
X̀2$ !"#_3$!5"2(56)$32(Z!72$&W5U$!3$9(2325"2U$!5$"X2$9(%9(!2"6(#$&W5U$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3\$$$$$$
-276W32$"X2$9(!57!96)$W32($%&$"X2$!5"2(56)$32(Z!72$!3$"X2$ !"#_3$V%Z2(5825"6)$67"!Z!"!23+$"X2$
&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"$%&$"X2$!5"2(56)$32(Z!72$&W5U$!3$7%53%)!U6"2U$!5"%$"X2$V%Z2(5825"6)$7%)W85$
X̂25$9(2325"2U$!5$"X2$V%Z2(5825"Ŷ!U2$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3\$$̀%$"X2$2["25"$9%33!:)2+$"X2$7%3"$%&$
"X!3$32(Z!72$!3$(29%("2U$!5$"X2$699(%9(!6"2$&W57"!%56)$67"!Z!"#\$
$
$$$$$l(%W9$k53W(6572$4W5UY$̀X2$l(%W9$k53W(6572$4W5U$!3$W32U$"%$677%W5"$&%($"X2$677W8W)6"!%5$%&$$$
$$$$$(23%W(723$W32U$"%$&W5U$7)6!83$W5U2($"X2$ !"#_3$32)&Y!53W(2U$X26)"X$65U$U25"6)$9)653\$

$
Lmnopmqrs$Lotn$Bsuvw$x$̀X232$&W5U3$677%W5"$&%($6332"3$X2)U$:#$"X2$V%Z2(5825"$!5$6$"(W3"223$76967!"#$
%($63$65$6V25"$%5$:2X6)&$%&$%"X2(3\$$̀(W3"$&W5U3$677%W5"$&%($6332"3$X2)U$:#$"X2$V%Z2(5825"$W5U2($"X2$
"2(83$%&$6$&%(86)$"(W3"$6V(22825"\$$4!UW7!6(#$&W5U3$6(2$5%"$(2&)27"2U$!5$"X2$V%Z2(5825"Ŷ!U2$&!5657!6)$
3"6"2825"3$:276W32$"X2$(23%W(723$%&$"X232$&W5U3$6(2$5%"$6Z6!)6:)2$"%$3W99%("$"X2$ !"#_3$%̂ 5$9(%V(683\$

$
>b$y253!%5$̀(W3"$4W5U3$c$̀X2$y253!%5$̀(W3"$4W5U3$(29(2325"$"X2$(23%W(723$677W8W)6"2U$&%($
9253!%5$:252&!"$96#825"3$"%$zW6)!&!2U$ !"#$289)%#223\$$̀X232$&W5U3$6(2$677%W5"2U$&%($%5$"X2$&)%̂$
%&$27%5%8!7$(23%W(723$8263W(2825"$&%7W3$65U$W32$"X2$677(W6)$:63!3$%&$677%W5"!5V+$3%$"X6"$
(2Z25W23$6(2$(27%(U2U$̂X25$26(52U$65U$2[925323$6(2$(27%(U2U$6"$"X2$"!82$)!6:!)!"!23$6(2$
!57W((2U\$$̀X2$ !"#$!57)WU23$"X2$&!(2&!VX"2(+$9%)!72$65U$7!Z!)!65$(2"!(2825"$&W5U3$!5$!"3$7%8:!52U$
(2"!(2825"$&W5U\$

$

$
$
$

46
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 253 of 341



City of Norfolk, NEBRASKA 

Notes to Financial Statements 

 September 30, 2017   

 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2) Agency Fund – The Community Development Agency Fund is used to account for the resources 
for payment of principal and interest on tax increment financing bonds issued by the Community 
Development Agency of the City of Norfolk.  These bonds were issued to provide the long-term 
financing for the redevelopment of various blight and substandard areas around the City of 
Norfolk.  These bonds are payable only from real estate taxes on certain property located within 
these plan areas and do not constitute general obligations of the Agency or the City. 

 
D. Basis of Accounting  
 

Basis of accounting refers to the point at which revenues and expenditures or expenses are recognized in 
the accounts and reported in the financial statements.  It relates to the timing of the measurements made, 
regardless of the measurement focus applied. 

 
Accrual basis of accounting is used for all activities in the government-wide financial statements and for 
the proprietary and fiduciary activities in the fund financial statements.  Revenues are recognized when 
earned and expenses are recognized when incurred. 

 
Modified accrual basis of accounting is used by all governmental funds in the fund financial statements.  
Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible to accrual  
(i.e., when they become both measurable and available).  “Measurable” means the amount of the 
transaction can be determined and “available” means collectible within the current period or soon enough 
thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period.  The government considers property taxes as 
available if they are collected within 60 days after year-end. The City considers sales and use taxes and 
gasoline taxes as available when in the hands of the State of Nebraska, the intermediary collecting 
government.  The City normally collects these taxes within 30 days of year-end.  
 
Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred.  An exception to this general rule is 
that principal and interest on general obligation debt, if any, is recognized when due. 
 
Budgetary basis of accounting is used by the general fund and all major special revenue funds in the 
required supplementary information section of the comprehensive annual financial report.  Under the 
budgetary basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when received and expenditures are recognized 
when paid. 

 
Those revenues susceptible to accrual are taxes, assessments, and intergovernmental revenues.  
Licenses, fines and permits are not susceptible to accrual because generally they are not measurable until 
received in cash. 
 
The Agency Fund is custodial in nature and does not involve the measurement of results of operations. 
 

E. Budgets 
  

The budgetary comparison and related disclosures are reported as Required Supplementary Information.   
 
F. Assets, Liabilities and Fund Equity 

 
1. Pooled Investment Account – The City maintains a commingled pool of cash and investments for all 

funds, except the Community Development Agency.  This pool is under the management of the City 
Treasurer.  Each of the applicable City funds reports its undistributed interest in the principal balance 
of this pooled investment account, which is recorded at cost.  Interest income received is allocated to 
each fund based on its proportionate interest in the pool.  

 
 
 

47
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 254 of 341



City of Norfolk, NEBRASKA 

Notes to Financial Statements 

 September 30, 2017   

 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

 2. Short-Term Interfund Receivables/Payables – During the course of its operations, the City has 
numerous transactions between funds to finance operations, provide services, construct assets, and 
service debt.  To the extent that certain transactions between funds have not been paid or received as 
of September 30, 2017, balances of interfund amounts payable or receivable have been recorded.  
Any residual balances outstanding between governmental activities and business-type activities are 
reported in the government-wide financial statements as interfund balances. 

 
3. Advances to Other Funds – Noncurrent portions of long-term interfund loan receivables are reported 

as advances. 
 

4. Proprietary Fund Types – Contributions of capital assets are treated as revenue and capital assets.        
Contributions and grants received for operating purposes are included in revenues when earned. 

 
5. Governmental Fund Types – Contributions and grants for both capital and operating purposes are 

included in revenues when earned. 
                    

6. Estimated Unbilled Enterprise Revenue – Within the City’s enterprise fund, an estimated amount has 
been recorded for services rendered but not yet billed as of the close of the year involved.  The 
receivable was arrived at by taking the cycle billings the City sent the customer in October and 
November and prorating the amount of days applicable to the current year. 

 
7. Inventories – Purchases of materials and supplies are recorded as expenditures as incurred except 

for items (e.g. fuel and certain office supplies) held in central storage for the use of several of the 
City’s funds.  Inventories held in central storage are valued at cost, which approximates market, using 
the first-in/first-out (FIFO) method are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when 
purchased.   

 
8. Restricted Assets - Proceeds from debt and funds set aside for payment of enterprise fund revenue 

bonds are classified as restricted assets since their use is limited by applicable bond indentures. 
 

9. Property and Equipment – Assets with an initial individual cost of $5,000 or more are considered 
capital assets.  Property and equipment are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if 
actual historical cost is not available.  Contributed assets, donated works of art and similar items, and 
capital assets received in a service concession arrangement are reported at their acquisition value as 
of the date received.  Additions, improvements, and other capital outlays that significantly extend the 
useful life of an asset are capitalized.  Other costs incurred for repairs and maintenance are expensed 
as incurred.  Infrastructure has been capitalized using historical or estimated cost beginning in 1980 
as required by GASB 34.  Depreciation on all assets is provided on the straight-line basis over the 
following estimated lives: 

 

Buildings 40 – 50 Years 

Utility Plant 20 – 100 Years 

Machinery & Equipment 3 – 25 Years 

Infrastructure 30 – 100 Years 

 

10. Accrued Compensated Absences - These amounts represent the unpaid vacation costs and related 
employee benefits as of the end of the period.  All compensated amounts for governmental and 
proprietary fund types are accrued as liabilities on the government-wide statement for governmental 
funds and applicable enterprise funds respectively and are not recorded as expenditures of the 
current reporting period for governmental fund types because they do not represent amounts that are 
expected to be liquidated with expendable available financial resources.  Other long term obligations 
are recognized as fund liability when amounts are due and payable rather than when amounts are 
expected to be liquidated with expendable available financial resources.  A liability is recognized for  

48
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 255 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$D$E$FGHHIJK$AL$FMN@MLMOI@B$IOOAG@BM@N$PAQMOMCF$ROA@BM@GCST$
$

"U6"$9%("!%5$%&$677V8V)6"!5W$3!7*)26X2$:252&!"3$!5$YU!7U$"U2$289)%#22$:27%823$X23"2Z$6&"2($"Y25"#$
#26(3$%&$32(X!72[$$\U2$7%892536"2Z$6:32572$)!6:!)!"#$U63$:225$7%89V"2Z$:632Z$%5$(6"23$%&$96#$!5$
2&&27"$6"$029"28:2($;<+$=<>?[$$\U2$7%892536"2Z$6:32572$)!6:!)!"#$6""(!:V"6:)2$"%$W%X2(5825"6)$
67"!X!"!23$Y!))$:2$96!Z$9(!86(!)#$:#$"U2$]252(6)$4V5Z[$
$

>>[$̂%5W_\2(8$̀:)!W6"!%53$a$̂%5W_"2(8$Z2:"$!3$(27%W5!b2Z$63$6$)!6:!)!"#$%&$6$W%X2(5825"6)$&V5Z$YU25$
ZV2+%($YU25$(23%V(723$U6X2$:225$677V8V)6"2Z$!5$"U2$Z2:"$32(X!72$&V5Z$&%($96#825"$26()#$!5$"U2$
&%))%Y!5W$#26([$$̀"U2($)%5W_"2(8$%:)!W6"!%53$c2[W[$7%892536"2Z$6:325723+$7)6!83$65Z$dVZW825"3+$2"7[e$
6(2$(27%W5!b2Z$63$&V5Z$)!6:!)!"!23$YU25$68%V5"3$6(2$ZV2$65Z$96#6:)2[$$-%5Z$/5"!7!96"!%5$'%"23$6(2$
(27%W5!b2Z$63$&V5Z$)!6:!)!"!23$9(!%($"%$"U2$)%5W$"2(8$&!5657!5W$:2!5W$!33V2Z[$$\U2$(286!5!5W$9%("!%5$%&$
3V7U$%:)!W6"!%53$!3$(29%("2Z$!5$"U2$W%X2(5825"_Y!Z2$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"[$$̂%5W_"2(8$)!6:!)!"!23$
2f927"2Z$"%$:2$&!56572Z$&(%8$9(%9(!2"6(#$&V5Z$%92(6"!%53$6(2$677%V5"2Z$&%($!5$"U2$7%8:!52Z$V"!)!"#$
&V5Z[$

$
>=[$'2"$g%3!"!%5h4V5Z$-6)65723$a$\U2$W%X2(5825"_Y!Z2$65Z$:V3!5233_"#92$67"!X!"!23$&V5Z$&!5657!6)$$
3"6"2825"3$V"!)!b2$6$52"$9%3!"!%5$9(2325"6"!%5[$$'2"$9%3!"!%5$!3$76"2W%(!b2Z$63$52"$!5X23"825"$!5$769!"6)$
6332"3+$(23"(!7"2Z$65Z$V5(23"(!7"2Z[$

$
ijk$lmnjokpjmk$qm$rstqksu$voojko_$\U!3$76"2W%(#$W(%V93$6))$769!"6)$6332"3+$!57)VZ!5W$w5&(63"(V7"V(2+$!5"%$
%52$7%89%525"$%&$52"$9%3!"!%5[$$/77V8V)6"2Z$Z29(27!6"!%5$65Z$%V"3"65Z!5W$:6)65723$%&$Z2:"$"U6"$6(2$
6""(!:V"6:)2$"%$"U2$67xV!3!"!%5+$7%53"(V7"!%5+$%($!89(%X2825"$%&$"U232$6332"3$(2ZV72$"U2$:6)6572$!5$"U!3$
76"2W%(#[$$$
$
yjokzq{kj|$ijk$}~oqkq~m�$\U!3$76"2W%(#$(29(2325"3$52"$9%3!"!%5$%&$"U2$ !"#$Y!"U$2f"2(56)$(23"(!7"!%53$
!89%32Z$:#$7(2Z!"%(3+$W(65"%(3+$7%5"(!:V"%(3+$%($)6Y3+$%($(2WV)6"!%53$%&$%"U2($W%X2(5825"3$65Z$
(23"(!7"!%53$!89%32Z$:#$)6Y$"U(%VWU$7%53"!"V"!%56)$9(%X!3!%53$%($256:)!5W$)2W!3)6"!%5[$$$

$$$$
$$$�mzjokzq{kj|$ijk$}~oqkq~m$a$\U!3$76"2W%(#$(29(2325"3$52"$9%3!"!%5$%&$"U2$ !"#$5%"$(23"(!7"2Z$&%($65#$$
$$$$9V(9%32[$$$$
$
$w5$=<>>$"U2$ !"#$%&$'%(&%)*$!89)2825"2Z$]/0-$��$3"65Z6(Z3$&%($"U2$7)633!&!76"!%5$%&$&V5Z$:6)65723$!5$
]%X2(5825"6)$&V5Z[$$\U2$&V5Z$:6)65723$%&$W%X2(5825"6)$&V5Z3$6(2$Z2&!52Z$63$&%))%Y3�$
$
$i~m�otjm|s�uj$�$68%V5"3$"U6"$7655%"$:2$3925"$2!"U2($:276V32$"U2#$6(2$!5$5%5_3925Z6:)2$&%(8+$3V7U$
63$!5X25"%(#$%($9(296!Z$!"283$%($:276V32$"U2#$6(2$)2W6))#$%($7%5"(67"V6))#$(2xV!(2Z$"%$:2$86!5"6!52Z$
!5"67"[$
$
$yjokzq{kj|$�$68%V5"3$"U6"$765$:2$3925"$%5)#$&%($3927!&!7$9V(9%323$:276V32$%&$7%53"!"V"!%56)$
9(%X!3!%53$%($256:)!5W$)2W!3)6"!%5$%($:276V32$%&$7%53"(6!5"3$"U6"$6(2$2f"2(56))#$!89%32Z$:#$7(2Z!"%(3+$
W(65"%(3+$7%5"(!:V"%(3+$%($)6Y3$%($(2WV)6"!%53$%&$%"U2($W%X2(5825"3�$
$
$r~ppqkkj|$�$68%V5"3$"U6"$765$:2$V32Z$%5)#$&%($3927!&!7$9V(9%323$9V(3V65"$"%$%(Z!565723$6Z%9"2Z$:#$
&%(86)$67"!%5$%&$"U2$�6#%($65Z$ %V57!)[$$/825Z825"3$%($8%Z!&!76"!%53$%&$"U2$7%88!"825"3$8V3"$6)3%$
:2$699(%X2Z$:#$%(Z!565723$6Z%9"2Z$:#$"U2$�6#%($65Z$ %V57!)�$$$$$
$
$vooq�mj|$�$68%V5"3$"U6"$Z%$5%"$822"$"U2$7(!"2(!6$"%$:2$7)633!&!2Z$63$(23"(!7"2Z$%($7%88!""2Z$:V"$6(2$
!5"25Z2Z$"%$:2$V32Z$&%($3927!&!7$9V(9%323$63$Z2"2(8!52Z$:#$"U2$ !"#�3$4!56572$̀&&!72($%($U!3$%($U2($$
Z23!W522[$$.23%)V"!%5$=<>>_�;$6Z%9"2Z$:#$"U2$�6#%($65Z$ %V57!)$%5$̀7"%:2($;>+$=<>>$6V"U%(!b23$"U2$
 !"#�3$4!56572$̀&&!72($%($U!3$%($U2($Z23!W522$"%$Z2"2(8!52$633!W52Z$68%V5"3[$$]252(6)$4V5Z$68%V5"3$$
$"U6"$6(2$257V8:2(2Z$:#$Z296("825"3$6(2$7)633!&!2Z$63$633!W52Z[$
$
$�msooq�mj|$�6))$%"U2($68%V5"3$(286!5!5W$6&"2($6))%76"!%5$"%$"U2$5%5_3925Z6:)2+$(23"(!7"2Z+$7%88!""2Z$
65Z$633!W52Z$&V5Z$:6)65723[$$\U232$68%V5"3$765$:2$V32Z$&%($65#$9V(9%32[$$\U2$]252(6)$4V5Z$!3$"U2$
%5)#$&V5Z$"U6"$(29%("3$6$9%3!"!X2$V5633!W52Z$&V5Z$:6)6572[$$w5$W%X2(5825"6)$&V5Z3$%"U2($"U65$"U2$$

49
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 256 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$D$E$FGHHIJK$AL$FMN@MLMOI@B$IOOAG@BM@N$PAQMOMCF$ROA@BM@GCST$
$
$U252(6)$4V5W+$!&$2X925W!"V(23$!57V((2W$&%($3927!&!7$9V(9%323$2X722W$"Y2$68%V5"3$"Y6"$6(2$(23"(!7"2W+$$
$7%88!""2W$%($633!Z52W$"%$"Y232$9V(9%323+$!"$86#$:2$5272336(#$"%$(29%("$6$52Z6"![2$V5633!Z52W$&V5W$
:6)6572$!5$"Y6"$&V5W\$$]Y25$65$2X925W!"V(2$!3$!57V((2W$&%($̂Y!7Y$:%"Y$(23"(!7"2W$65W$V5(23"(!7"2W$&V5W$
:6)6572$!3$6[6!)6:)2+$"Y2$ !"#$7%53!W2(3$(23"(!7"2W$&V5W3$"%$Y6[2$:225$3925"$&!(3"\$$]Y25$"Y2$ !"#$
!57V(3$65$2X925W!"V(2$&%($65$V5(23"(!7"2W$68%V5"+$7%88!""2W$68%V5"3$6(2$(2WV72W$&!(3"+$&%))%̂2W$:#$
633!Z52W$68%V5"3$65W$"Y25$V5633!Z52W$68%V5"3$&%($9V(9%323$!5$̂Y!7Y$65#$%&$"Y%32$V5(23"(!7"2W$
&V5W$:6)6572$7)633!&!76"!%53$7%V)W$:2$V32W\$

$
>;\$$-%5W$_(28!V8à!37%V5"3$b$-%5W$9(28!V83̀W!37%V5"3$6(2$W2&2((2W$65W$68%("!c2W$%[2($"Y2$"2(8$$
$$$$$$%&$"Y2$:%5W3$V3!5Z$"Y2$3"(6!ZY"d)!52$82"Y%W+$̂Y!7Y$699(%X!86"23$"Y2$2&&27"![2$!5"2(23"$82"Y%W\$$

$$
>e\$_(%92("#$f6X23$b$.26)$23"6"2$"6X23$6(2$)2[!2W$%5$g7"%:2($>h$%&$267Y$#26($65W$86#$:2$96!W$!5$"̂%$$
2iV6)$!53"6))825"3\$$fY232$"6X23$6(2$WV2$a2728:2($;>\$$fY2$&!(3"$65W$327%5W$Y6)&$%&$"Y2$"6X23$
:27%823$W2)!5iV25"$%5$"Y2$&%))%̂ !5Z$j6#$>$65W$029"28:2($>+$(23927"![2)#\$$.26)$23"6"2$"6X23$
7%))27"2W$̂!"Y!5$k<$W6#3$6&"2($#26(d25W$6(2$(27%Z5!c2W$63$(2[25V23$!5$677%(W6572$̂!"Y$"Y2$(2[25V2$
(27%Z5!"!%5$9%)!7#$W237(!:2W$!5$'%"2$>\a\$$.26)$23"6"2$"6X23$:27%82$6$)!25$6Z6!53"$"Y2$9(%92("#$%5$"Y2$
)2[#$W6"2\$$_2(3%56)$9(%92("#$"6X23$6(2$)2[!2W$%5$g7"%:2($>h$%&$267Y$#26($65W$6(2$WV2$'%[28:2($>$%&$
267Y$#26($65W$86#$:2$96!W$!5$"̂%$2iV6)$!53"6))825"3\$$fY2$&!(3"$65W$327%5W$Y6)&$%&$"Y2$"6X23$:27%82$
W2)!5iV25"$%5$a2728:2($>$65W$lV)#$>+$(23927"![2)#\$$j%"%($[2Y!7)2$"6X23$6(2$WV2$̂Y25$65$699)!76"!%5$
!3$86W2$&%($(2Z!3"(6"!%5$%&$6$8%"%($[2Y!7)2\$

$
>h\$m5"2(&V5W$f(65367"!%53$b$m5"2(&V5W$32([!723$9(%[!W2W$65W$V32W$6(2$677%V5"2W$&%($63$(2[25V23+$
2X925W!"V(23$%($2X925323\$$f(65367"!%53$"Y6"$7%53"!"V"2$(2!8:V(32825"3$"%$6$&V5W$&%($
2X925W!"V(23̀2X925323$!5!"!6))#$86W2$&(%8$!"$"Y6"$6(2$9(%92()#$699)!76:)2$"%$65%"Y2($&V5W$6(2$(27%(W2W$
63$2X925W!"V(23̀2X925323$!5$"Y2$(2!8:V(3!5Z$&V5W$65W$63$(2WV7"!%53$%&$2X925W!"V(23̀2X925323$!5$"Y2$
&V5W$"Y6"$!3$(2!8:V(32W\$$/))$%"Y2($"(65367"!%53+$2X729"$!5"2(&V5W$32([!723$9(%[!W2W$65W$V32W$
"(65367"!%53$65W$(2!8:V(32825"3+$6(2$(29%("2W$63$"(653&2(3\$$$
$

>k\$,57V8:(65723$b$,57V8:(6572$677%V5"!5Z+$V5W2($̂Y!7Y$9V(7Y632$%(W2(3+$7%5"(67"3+$65W$%"Y2($
7%88!"825"3$&%($"Y2$2X925W!"V(2$%&$8%5!23$6(2$(27%(W2W$!5$%(W2($"%$(232([2$"Y6"$9%("!%5$%&$"Y2$
699)!76:)2$699(%9(!6"!%5+$!3$289)%#2W$:#$"Y2$ !"#$!5$!"3$Z%[2(5825"6)$&V5W3n$"Y2$3V:32iV25"$#26(o3$
699(%9(!6"!%5$9(%[!W23$6V"Y%(!"#$"%$7%89)2"2$"Y232$"(65367"!%53$63$2X925W!"V(23\$$,57V8:(65723$6"$
#26(d25W$W%$5%"$7%53"!"V"2$2X925W!"V(23$%($)!6:!)!"!23\$$022$'%"2$><$&%($7V((25"$#26($257V8:(65723\$

$
Np$Qqrstuvv$Ovwxyz{$Owx|x$

$
fY2$ !"#$!3$5%"$7V((25")#$(239%53!:)2$&%($65#$)65W&!))$7)%3V(2$%($9%3"d7)%3V(2$76(2$7%3"3\$

$
}p$$$F|q|{~{r|$wt$Oqx�$Lvw�x$

$
/3$W237(!:2W$!5$'%"2$=\/\+$"Y2$ !"#$86!5"6!53$6$763Y$65W$!5[23"825"$9%%)$&%($6))$&V5W3$2X729"$"Y2$
 %88V5!"#$a2[2)%9825"$/Z257#\$$fY2$&V5W3$V32$"Y2!($2iV!"#$!5$"Y2$9%%)2W$!5[23"825"$677%V5"$63$6$
W2865W$W29%3!"$677%V5"$65W+$&%($9V(9%323$%&$"Y2$3"6"2825"3$%&$763Y$&)%̂ 3+$"Y2$!5"2(23"$!5$"Y2$9%%)2W$
!5[23"825"$677%V5"$!3$7%53!W2(2W$763Y\$$.23"(!7"2W$763Y$7%53!3"3$%&$2iV!"#$!5$"Y2$9%%)2W$!5[23"825"$
677%V5"$"Y6"$!3$6)3%$7%53!W2(2W$763Y$&%($"Y2$0"6"2825"$%&$ 63Y$4)%̂ 3\$
$

Mp$$$J{�{r|$I��wyr|ur�$Pzwrwyr�{~{r|x�$
$
Isw�|uwr$wt$@{�$I��wyr|ur�$Pzwrwyr�{~{r|x$
$
aV(!5Z$"Y2$#26(+$"Y2$ !"#$6W%9"2W$U/0-$0"6"2825"$'%\$?e$���������$���������$���$��������������$
�������$�����$�����$����$�������$������$$fY!3$0"6"2825"$!89(%[23$"Y2$V32&V)5233$%&$!5&%(86"!%5$$
6:%V"$9%3"289)%#825"$:252&!"3$%"Y2($"Y65$9253!%53\$$fY2$ !"#$6W%9"2W$U/0-$0"6"2825"$'%\$??$���$
���������$������� ����$$fY!3$0"6"2825"$(2iV!(23$W!37)%3V(23$W237(!:!5Z$65#$"6X$6:6"2825"3+$"Y2$$

50
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 257 of 341



City of Norfolk, NEBRASKA 

Notes to Financial Statements 

 September 30, 2017   

 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
dollar amount of taxes abated, and commitments made by the government as part of the tax 
abatement agreement.  The City adopted GASB Statement No. 78 Pensions Provided through 
Certain Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Plans.  The primary objective of this Statement is to 
address a practice issue regarding the scope and applicability of Statement No. 68 Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Pensions.  The City adopted GASB Statement No. 80 Blending Requirements 
for Certain Component Units-an amendment of GASB Statement No. 14.  This Statement clarifies the 
financial statement presentation requirements for certain component units.  The City also adopted 
GASB Statement No. 82 Pension Issues-an amendment of GASB Statement No. 67, No. 68 and No. 
73.  This Statement addresses the presentation of payroll-related measures, the selection of 
assumptions, and the classification of payments made by employers to satisfy employee contribution 
requirements.  The adoption of these standards did not have a significant impact on the financial 
statements.  See Note 14 for information about tax abatements that impact the City. 
 
New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted 
 
In June 2015, GASB issued Statement No. 75 Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions.  This Statement improves accounting and financial 
reporting for postemployment benefits other than pensions.  In March 2016, GASB issued Statement 
No. 81 Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements.  This Statement improves accounting and financial 
reporting for irrevocable split-interest agreements by providing recognition and measurement 
guidance for situations in which a government is a beneficiary of the agreement.  In March 2017, 
GASB issued Statement No. 85 Omnibus 2017.  The objective of this Statement is to address 
practice issues that have been identified during implementation and application of certain GASB 
Statements, such as blending component units, goodwill, fair value measurement and application, 
and postemployment benefits.  In May 2017, GASB issued Statement No. 86 Certain Debt 
Extinguishment Issues.  The primary objective of this Statement is to improve consistency in 
accounting and financial reporting for in-substance defeasance of debt by providing guidance for 
transactions in which cash and other monetary assets acquired with only existing resources are 
placed in an irrevocable trust for the purpose of extinguishing debt.  These Statements are effective 
for the City’s year ending September 30, 2018. 
 

NOTE 2 - CASH AND EQUITY IN POOLED INVESTMENT ACCOUNT 

 
A. Cash and Pooled Investments: 

    
At September 30, 2017, the City's cash and pooled investments consisted of the following: 

 

 

Cash, principally in interest bearing accounts (at cost) 6,724,881$       

Money Market Account (at cost) 4,581,177         

Certicates of Deposit (Cost = Fair Value) 25,500,000       

United States Treasury (Cost, which approximates Fair Value) 1,998,483         

38,804,541$      
 

      The City maintains a cash and investment pool for all funds, except the Community Development 
Agency.  This pool is under management of the City Treasurer.  Each of the applicable City funds 
reports its undistributed interest in the pooled investment account.  A separate bank account is used 
to track program income in the Community Development Block Grant Fund.  Statutes authorize the 
City to invest City funds in direct obligations of the U.S. Government, selected Federal Agency 
securities, certain state and local obligations of the State of Nebraska, collateralized bank certificates 
of deposit and certain other high-grade investments.  City policy is to limit these investments to U.S. 
Treasury obligations and fully collateralized bank certificates of deposit with maximum maturities of 
approximately one year.  At September 30, 2017 and throughout the year, the City's bank deposits,  

51
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 258 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$D$E$FGHI$G@J$CKLMBN$M@$OAAPCJ$M@QCHBRC@B$GFFAL@BSFA@BM@LCJT$
$
$$!57)UV!5W$72("!&!76"23$%&$V29%3!"+$X2(2$25"!(2)#$7%Y2(2V$:#$&2V2(6)$V29%3!"$!53U(6572$%($:#$7%))6"2(6)$
Z2)V$!5$[%!5"$7U3"%V#$!5$"Z2$ !"#\3$5682$6"$"Z!(V$96("#$:65*3$67"!5W$63$"Z2$ !"#\3$6W25"$]!5$8%3"$76323$
42V2(6)$.232(Y2$-65*3̂_$$$̀Z2$ !"#a3$6W25"$!5$"Z2$ !"#a3$5682$Z2)V$b_0_$̀(263U(#$%:)!W6"!%53$!5$
3U&&!7!25"$68%U5"3$"%$&U))#$7%))6"2(6)!c2$"Z2$7!"#a3$!5"2(23"$:26(!5W$677%U5"3$65V$7%))6"2(6)!c2V$
72("!&!76"23$%&$V29%3!"3_$

$
$ $$/"$029"28:2($;<+$=<>?+$"Z2$ !"#$Z6V$"Z2$&%))%X!5W$b0$̀(263U(#$d:)!W6"!%53e$
$

fg$hijklmin$opqrsktruvlw xktmirtn yult

fg$hijklmin$zutj {|{}|~�}� }�������{�$$$$ $
$
��$ M����������$R������$��$B�������$
$

/5$!53U(6572$7%8965#$6V8!5!3"2(3$"Z2$ !"#a3$�253!%5$̀(U3"$4U5V3_$$4%($!5Y23"825"$9U(9%323+$
72("6!5$9253!%5$6332"3$6(2$9%%)2V$X!"Z$"Z2$W252(6)$6332"3$%&$"Z2$!53U(6572$7%8965#$65V$!5Y23"2V$!5$
WU6(65"22V$!53U(6572$677%U5"3_$$

$
b5V2($"Z!3$6((65W2825"+$"Z2$!53U(6572$7%8965#$WU6(65"223$"Z2$ !"#$6$8!5!8U8$(6"2$%&$(2"U(5_$$�&$
"Z2$(6"2$%&$(2"U(5$%5$"Z2$W252(6)$6332"3$%&$"Z2$!53U(6572$7%8965#$2�722V3$"Z2$WU6(65"22V$(6"2$%&$
(2"U(5+$"Z2$ !"#\3$!5Y23"825"3$6(2$7(2V!"2V$X!"Z$"Z2$67"U6)$(6"2$%&$(2"U(5_$$̀Z232$WU6(65"22V$
!53U(6572$7%5"(67"3$6(2$5%"$86(*2"6:)2_$$/5#$X!"ZV(6X6)3$&(%8$"Z232$677%U5"3$6(2$6"$7%3"$9)U3$
677U8U)6"2V$26(5!5W3$65V$"Z232$!53U(6572$7%5"(67"3$6(2$Y6)U2V$%5$"Z6"$:63!3_$$/"$029"28:2($;<+$
=<>?+$�>�+���+��?$X63$Z2)V$!5$"Z232$WU6(65"22V$!53U(6572$7%5"(67"3_$$̀Z2$%"Z2($9253!%5$6332"3$$
6(2$!5Y23"2V$!5$%925�25V2V$8U"U6)$&U5V3+$XZ!7Z$6(2$3"6"2V$6"$&6!($Y6)U2+$65V+$6"$029"28:2($;<+$
=<>?+$68%U5"2V$"%$�;>+���+���_$

$
F�$ ����� ¡���$G������$
$
$ Z̀2$&%))%X!5W$37Z2VU)2$V2"6!)3$"Z2$(23"(!7"2V$6332"3$6"$029"28:2($;<+$=<>?e$
$

C����¢� ��$
£���

O�������$�¤$�������$�¤��$¤�� ���¡���
$$$-%5V$(232(Y2$677%U5" ��>+��;�$$$$$$$$$$
$$$.2Y25U2$:%5V$677%U5" =�?+?>�$$$$$$$$$$$$
$$$d92(6"!%5$65V$86!5"256572$677%U5" �;�+<<<$$$$$$$$$$$$

>+>��+���$$$$$$$$$

O�������$�¤$�����$�����������
$$$�89(%Y2825"$65V$2�"253!%5$677%U5" ���+��?$$$$$$$$$$$$

>+���+����$$$$$$$ $
$
$.23"(!7"2V$763Z$!3$(27%(V2V$6"$7%3"+$XZ!7Z$699(%�!86"23$&6!($Y6)U2+$65V$7%53!3"3$%&$2¥U!"#$!5$"Z2$
9%%)2V$!5Y23"825"$677%U5"$!5$"Z2$&%(8$%&$!5"2(23"$:26(!5W$677%U5"3$Z2)V$:#$"Z2$ !"#\3$6W25"$!5$"Z2$
 !"#\3$5682_$
$
$$$¦§̈©ª©«̈$¬̈©$¬®«̄°$$$̀Z2$ !"#a3$!5Y23"825"$9%)!7#$&%($%92(6"!5W$&U5V3$!3$)!8!"2V$"%$72("!&!76"23$%&$
V29%3!"$X!"Z$6$86"U(!"#$%&$>$#26($%($)233_$$$
$$$$
$$$±²§³©§̈ª̈®²§$²́$±ª©µ®̈$¬®«̄°$$$$̀Z2$ !"#a3$!5Y23"825"$9%)!7#$9)6723$5%$)!8!"3$%5$"Z2$68%U5"3$"Z6"$
86#$:2$!5Y23"2V$!5$65#$%52$!33U2(_$

52
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 259 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$D$E$FCGCHIJKLCM$
$

.272!N6:)23$6"$029"28:2($;<+$=<>?+$6(2$52"$%&$6))%O6572$&%($P57%))27"6:)2Q$$RS2$6))%O6572$&%($
P57%))27"6:)2$!5$"S2$T252(6)$4P5U$O63$V=W>+<<<$6"$029"28:2($;<+$=<>?Q$

$
@ABC$X$E$H@BCFYZ@[$FCGCHIJKLCM$J@[$\J]JKLCM$
$

/3$%&$029"28:2($;<+$=<>?+$"S2(2$O2(2$5%$3S%("̂"2(8$!5"2(&P5U$:%((%O!5_3Q$
$ $
/3$%&$029"28:2($;<+$=<>?+$"S2(2$O2(2$5%$)%5_̂"2(8$6UN65723Q$

$
@ABC$̀$a$GJ\HBJL$JMMCBM$
$

/$3P886(#$%&$7S65_23$!5$769!"6)$6332"3$!3$63$&%))%O3b$
$

Kcdcefg Kcdcefg
Afhijgk$lm Mgnhgojgk$Dpm
qplr Jssthtieu [gdghtieu qplv

wixgkeogehcd$Jfhtxthtguy
 69!"6)$6332"3$5%"$:2!5_$U29(27!6"2Ub
z65U W+=<{+<>;V$$$$$$$$$ |??+;}|V$$$$$ ^V$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ W+WW>+{<}V$$$$$$$$$
 %53"(P7"!%5$!5$~(%_(233 {+�|=+=}?$$$$$$$$$$$ }+{|;+<W{$$$$ =+><W+=<?$$$$ >>+}>?+>?{$$$$$$$$$
R%"6)$769!"6)$6332"3$5%"$:2!5_$U29(27!6"2U >=+?||+;><$$$$$$$$$ ><+>{<+{W<$$ =+><W+=<?$$$$ =<+?}W+�W;$$$$$$$$$

 69!"6)$6332"3$:2!5_$U29(27!6"2Ub
-P!)U!5_3$65U$!89(%N2825"3 ==+?;{+}W{$$$$$$$$$ {={+}�<$$$$$$$ ^$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ =;+>�}+};{$$$$$$$$$
,�P!9825"+$&P(5!"P(2$65U$&!�"P(23 >=+{W�+={=$$$$$$$$$ ?�W+W={$$$$$$$ =}?+<�;$$$$$$$ >=+}{?+<>;$$$$$$$$$
�5&(63"(P7"P(2 �>+|}W+W??$$$$$$$$$ ;�?+{�?$$$$$$$ ^$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ �=+<�|+;;{$$$$$$$$$
R%"6)$769!"6)$6332"3$:2!5_$U29(27!6"2U W|+}>}+><;$$$$$$$$$ >+�{>+=;>$$$$ =}?+<�;$$$$$$$ WW+>|;+=W>$$$$$$$$$

z233b$/77P8P)6"2U$�29(27!6"!%5$&%(b
-P!)U!5_3$65U$!89(%N2825"3 ?+�<?+}��$$$$$$$$$$$ ??{+���$$$$$$$ ^$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ W+=W=+�><$$$$$$$$$$$
,�P!9825"+$&P(5!"P(2$65U$&!�"P(23 ?+|??+�W;$$$$$$$$$$$ ?|W+}�W$$$$$$$ =?;+?>}$$$$$$$ W+>?=+W==$$$$$$$$$$$
�5&(63"(P7"P(2 =;+|;}+?=?$$$$$$$$$ >+?W�+{�{$$$$ ^$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ =�+{=�+>W>$$$$$$$$$
R%"6)$677P8P)6"2U$U29(27!6"!%5 ;W+W=�+=|�$$$$$$$$$ ;+;=W+}|?$$$$ =?;+?>}$$$$$$$ {>+WW<+�>;$$$$$$$$$

R%"6)$769!"6)$6332"3$:2!5_$U29(27!6"2U+$52" {W+<};+W;W$$$$$$$$$ �>+?W?+?;|�$$$ =;+;;{$$$$$$$$$ {|+=W=+?|W$$$$$$$$$

T%N2(5825"6)$67"!N!"!23$769!"6)$6332"3+$52" |<+W|<+>{WV$$$$$$$ W+;�=+?{{V$$ =+>;>+�{>V$$ |?+<W>+;�>V$$$$$$$

$
$

 %53"(P7"!%5$!5$9(%_(233$6"$029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$&%($"S2$_%N2(5825"6)$67"!N!"!23$7%53!3"2U$%&$7%3"3$633%7!6"2U$
O!"S$-(!U_2$~(%�27"3+$0"(22"$�89(%N2825"3+$R(6!)$~(%�27"3+$z!:(6(#$.25%N6"!%53+$.6U!%$.29)672825"+$$~6N!5_$
�!3"(!7"3$65U$,8:(672$~6(*$�89(%N2825"3Q$$$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

53
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 260 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$D$E$FGHIBGJ$GKKCBK$LFA@BI@MCNO$
$

PQRQSTU PQRQSTU
ATVWXUY$Z[ KU\VU]XUY$̂_[
_̀Za GbbcVcWSd NURUVcWSd _̀Ze

PfdcSUddEBg\U$GTVchcVcUdi
 69!"6)$6332"3$5%"$:2!5j$k29(27!6"2kl
m65k ;+>nn+onpq$$$$$$$$$ rq$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ rq$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ ;+>nn+onpq$$$$$$$$$
 %53"(s7"!%5$!5$t(%j(233 =+;>p+<ou$$$$$$$$$$$ =+n;v+?<u$$$$ >+opp+??o$$$$ ;+><v+<>=$$$$$$$$$$$
w%"6)$769!"6)$6332"3$5%"$:2!5j$k29(27!6"2k u+po<+vpv$$$$$$$$$$$ =+n;v+?<u$$$$ >+opp+??o$$$$ n+=?u+o?n$$$$$$$$$$$

 69!"6)$6332"3$:2!5j$k29(27!6"2kl
-s!)k!5j3$65k$!89(%x2825"3 =n+;>o+u>o$$$$$$$$$ u=u+u>;$$$$$$$ ==o+ou>$$$$$$$ =n+n>u+>o<$$$$$$$$$
,ys!9825"+$&s(5!"s(2$65k$&!z"s(23 ;;+>vu+?p?$$$$$$$$$ n??+p=v$$$$$$$ ;?+;<o$$$$$$$$$ ;;+o;u+ono$$$$$$$$$
{5&(63"(s7"s(2 n+no>+pu?$$$$$$$$$$$ =+<u<+<ov$$$$ r$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ o+?;>+upn$$$$$$$$$$$
w%"6)$769!"6)$6332"3$:2!5j$k29(27!6"2k nn+>vu+?==$$$$$$$$$ ;+=u;+<;>$$$$ =nn+>uv$$$$$$$ nv+>o=+uvp$$$$$$$$$

m233l$/77s8s)6"2k$|29(27!6"!%5$&%(l
-s!)k!5j3$65k$!89(%x2825"3 >v+=p=+npu$$$$$$$$$ upv+?pn$$$$$$$ ==?+?<;$$$$$$$ >v+unp+noo$$$$$$$$$
,ys!9825"+$&s(5!"s(2$65k$&!z"s(23 u+?<v+>u?$$$$$$$$$$$ pu>+<op$$$$$$$ ==+>pv$$$$$$$$$ n+>;o+<v=$$$$$$$$$$$
{5&(63"(s7"s(2 =+n=u+?ou$$$$$$$$$$$ ;vo+u=o$$$$$$$ r$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ ;+<=p+;>;$$$$$$$$$$$
w%"6)$677s8s)6"2k$k29(27!6"!%5 =?+u??+uo?$$$$$$$$$ >+;vv+;uo$$$$ =pv+ou=$$$$$$$ =o+?=?+<v;$$$$$$$$$

w%"6)$769!"6)$6332"3$:2!5j$k29(27!6"2k+$52" ;o+n>o+>;u$$$$$$$$$ >+ou;+n?;$$$$ >n+;<?$$$$$$$$$ p<+puu+u<>$$$$$$$$$

-s3!5233r"#92$67"!x!"!23$769!"6)$6332"3+$52" pp+<vv+<opq$$$$$$$ p+pv;+;?oq$$ >+on>+<ouq$$ pn+?;>+;??q$$$$$$$

$
$

 %53"(s7"!%5$!5$9(%j(233$6"$029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$7%53!3"2k$%&$7%3"3$633%7!6"2k$}!"~$"~2$ %88s5!76"!%5$
w%}2(+$'%("~263"${5ks3"(!6)$=<�$�6"2($�6!5+$0%s"~}23"$065!"6(#$02}2($m!52+$�}#$=?u$m!&"$0"6"!%5$s9j(6k2$65k$
�0$�}#$o>$02}2($02(x!72$,z"253!%5�$ $ $ $ $
$ $$$$$$$$ $ $ $
|29(27!6"!%5$2z92532$}63$7~6(j2k$"%$&s57"!%53�9(%j(683$%&$"~2$9(!86(#$j%x2(5825"$63$&%))%}3l$
$
�%x2(5825"6)$/7"!x!"!23l
$$$�252(6)$�%x2(5825" >p=+<;=q$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
$$$ts:)!7$06&2"# upu+>p>$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
$$$ts:)!7$�%(*3 >+no;+;>v$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
$$$t6(*3+$.27(26"!%5$65k$ts:)!7$t(%92("# ovu+?;=$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
$$$ts:)!7$m!:(6(# n<+<nn$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
$$$ %88s5!"#${89(%x2825"$65k$|2x2)%9825" =+n??$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
w%"6)$k29(27!6"!%5$2z92532$r$j%x2(5825"6)$67"!x!"!23 ;+;=o+vn?q$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$

-s3!5233rw#92$/7"!x!"!23l
$$$0%)!k$�63"2$�656j2825" >;<+;=uq$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
$$$�6"2( n<<+up?$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
$$$02}2( nno+pon$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
w%"6)$k29(27!6"!%5$2z92532$r$:s3!5233r"#92$67"!x!"!23 >+;vv+;uoq$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ $

$

$

54
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 261 of 341



City of Norfolk, NEBRASKA 

Notes to Financial Statements 

 September 30, 2017   

 

NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 

Reconciliation of Invested in Capital Assets:

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities

Land 8,881,409$                  3,166,864$                  

Construction in Progress 11,917,174                  3,109,012                    

Capital Assets (Net of Accumulated Depreciation) 46,282,768                  40,455,501                  

Deferred Refunding on Early Retirement of Debt 26,123                         -                                   

Less:     General Obligation Bonds Payable 13,216,376                  -                                   

              Various Purpose Bonds Payable 905,000                       -                                   

              Bond Anticipation Notes 2,250,000                    -                                   

              Revenue Bonds Payable -                                   5,700,000                    

50,736,098$                41,031,377$                

 
 

NOTE 6 - BONDS PAYABLE AND OTHER LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 

 
Changes in bonds payable and other long-term obligations for the period ended September 30, 2017 
were as follows:  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  Balance 
October 1, 

2016 

 
Additions 

 
Retirements 

Balance 
September 

30, 2017 

Due Within 
One Year 

Governmental Activities:      

   General obligation bonds      

      (excluding special assess-      

      ment bonds) .89% to 3.80%,      

      Various maturities through       

        2031 $16,545,000  $1,520,000          $3,715,000 $14,350,000 $ 1,910,000 
       Bond Issuance Premium/Discount 367,454 - 111,078 256,376 - 

Total General Obligation Bonds  
 
  Special assessment bonds, 

16,912,454 1,520,000 3,826,078 14,606,376 1,910,000 

      with City commitment, .89%       

      to 2.20%, various maturities      

      through 2026 1,150,000 - 245,000 905,000 245,000 

      
  Bond Anticipation Notes       
     .94%  maturity on  
      November 1, 2017 

2,250,000 - - 2,250,000 2,250,000 

      

   Accrued compensated absences 2,007,741 870,186 912,591 1,965,336 929,629 

      

   Total Governmental Activities $22,320,195  $2,390,186 $4,983,669 $19,726,712 $ 5,334,629 

55
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 262 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$D$E$FA@GH$IJKJFLC$J@G$ABMCN$LA@OEBCNP$AFLQOJBQA@H$RSA@BQ@TCGU$
$

-V3!5233$W#92$/7"!X!"!23Y$ FZ[Z\]̂$
A]_̀âb$cd$
efcD$

$
Jggh_h̀\i$

$
N̂ _hb̂j \̂_i$

FZ[Z\]̂$
Ĥk_̂jâb$
lfd$efcm$

Gn̂$oh_ph\$
A\̂$K̂Zb$

$ $ $ $ $ $

$$$.2X25V2$-%5q3+$>r<st$"%$$$$$$$$$$$
$$$$$$ur<st+$X6(!%V3$86"V(!"!23$

$ $ $ $ $

$$$$$$"v(%Vwv$=<;;$ x$y+szs+<<<$ x$$$$$$$$$$$$${$ x$$|zs+<<<$x$s+?<<+<<<$ x$$$=z<+<<<$

$ $ $ $ $ $

$ $ $ $ $ $

$$/77(V2q$ %892536"2q$6:325723$ ;=u+zs>$ >s=+<>u$ >u<+=>;$ ;;y+?s=$ >us+>=?$

$ $ $ $ $ $

$$$W%"6)$-V3!5233$W#92$/7"!X!"!23$ x$y+z>z+zs>$x$$>s=+<>u$x$>+<;s+=>;$x$y+<;y+?s=$ x$$u;s+>=?$

$ $ $ $ $ $

$$$$$$$$$}(65q$W%"6)$ x=z+=u<+>uy$x=+su=+=<<$x$y+<>|+||=$x=s+?y;+uyu$ x$s+?yz+?sy$

$
$
/55V6)$q2:"$32(X!72$(2~V!(2825"3$63$%&$029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$&%($w252(6)$%:)!w6"!%5$65q$25"2(9(!32$
&V5q$q2:"+$!3$63$&%))%�3Y$

4!376)
�26($
,5q!5w �(!57!96) �5"2(23" �(!57!96) �5"2(23" �(!57!96) �5"2(23"

=<>| >+z><+<<<x$$$$ ;u?+>>sx$$$$ =us+<<<x$$$$$ >;+ss=x$$ =z<+<<<x$$$$ >sz+<;ux$$$$$
=<>z >+||<+<<<$$$$$$ =z?+u>;$$$$$$ =us+<<<$$$$$$$ ><+??s$$$$ =z<+<<<$$$$$$ >ss+<;u$$$$$$$
=<=< >+|zs+<<<$$$$$$ =uu+<y;$$$$$$ |s+<<<$$$$$$$$$ ?+=su$$$$$$ ;<<+<<<$$$$$$ >s<+=>y$$$$$$$
=<=> >+z><+<<<$$$$$$ >||+yy>$$$$$$ |s+<<<$$$$$$$$$ s+zss$$$$$$ ;<s+<<<$$$$$$ >uu+u=>$$$$$$$
=<== >+ys<+<<<$$$$$$ >;y+u|>$$$$$$ z<+<<<$$$$$$$$$ u+u?z$$$$$$ ;><+<<<$$$$$$ >;?+?;<$$$$$$$
=<=; >+yy<+<<<$$$$$$ ><=+?uu$$$$$$ ;s+<<<$$$$$$$$$ =+?ys$$$$$$ ;=<+<<<$$$$$$ >;<+=uu$$$$$$$
=<=u >+?=<+<<<$$$$$$ y|+u<|$$$$$$$$ u<+<<<$$$$$$$$$ =+=<|$$$$$$ ;;<+<<<$$$$$$ >=>+z<;$$$$$$$
=<=s =us+<<<$$$$$$$$$ u?+|=<$$$$$$$$ u<+<<<$$$$$$$$$ >+s;=$$$$$$ ;u<+<<<$$$$$$ >>=+y=u$$$$$$$
=<=y =ss+<<<$$$$$$$$$ u>+s?;$$$$$$$$ u<+<<<$$$$$$$$$ ?zy$$$$$$$$$ ;u<+<<<$$$$$$ ><=+y>>$$$$$$$
=<=? =y<+<<<$$$$$$$$$ ;u+?|;$$$$$$$$ {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ ;ss+<<<$$$$$$ z>+z>>$$$$$$$$$
=<=| =ys+<<<$$$$$$$$$ =?+us=$$$$$$$$ {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ ;ys+<<<$$$$$$ |<+u;<$$$$$$$$$
=<=z =|<+<<<$$$$$$$$$ >z+sys$$$$$$$$ {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ ;|<+<<<$$$$$$ y|+>?;$$$$$$$$$
=<;< =y<+<<<$$$$$$$$$ >>+uyu$$$$$$$$ {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ ;z<+<<<$$$$$$ ss+>>s$$$$$$$$$
=<;> >y<+<<<$$$$$$$$$ s+<|u$$$$$$$$$$ {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ u<<+<<<$$$$$$ u>+;>;$$$$$$$$$
=<;= {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ sys+<<<$$$$$$ =u+=s>$$$$$$$$$
=<;; {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ {$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ u=<+<<<$$$$$$ ?+>u<$$$$$$$$$$$

>u+;s<+<<<x$$ >+s?=+y=yx$ z<s+<<<x$$$$$ uz+;>yx$$ s+?<<+<<<x$ >+s|=+>s<x$$

}%X2(5825"6)$/7"!X!"!23 -V3!5233$W#92$/7"!X!"!23
,5"2(9(!32
4V5q

}252(6)
�:)!w6"!%5$�2:"

�6(!%V3
�V(9%32$-%5q3

$
$
-%5q$/5"!7!96"!%5$5%"23$!5"2(23"$96#825"$!5$=<>|$�!))$:2$x><+s?s$65q$"v2$9(!57!96)$96#825"$�!))$:2$x=+=s<+<<<r$

56
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 263 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$D$E$FA@GH$IJKJFLC$J@G$ABMCN$LA@OEBCNP$AFLQOJBQA@H$RSA@BQ@TCGU$
$
V252(6)$%:)!W6"!%5$:%5X3$65X$%"Y2($W252(6)$)%5WZ"2(8$%:)!W6"!%53$(29(2325"$!5X2:"2X5233$327[(2X$:#$"Y2$&[))$
&6!"Y$65X$7(2X!"$%&$"Y2$ !"#\$$0927!6)$633233825"$:%5X3$(29(2325"$!5X2:"2X5233$3[99%("2X$:#$"Y2$&[))$&6!"Y$65X$
7(2X!"$%&$"Y2$ !"#$65X$6(2$96#6:)2$&(%8$"Y2$7%))27"!%5$%&$3927!6)$633233825"$(272!]6:)23\$$̂Y2$ !"#$Y63$5%$)2W6)$
X2:"$)!8!"_$"Y2(2&%(2+$6$7%89["6"!%5$%&$"Y2$)2W6)$X2:"$86(W!5$!3$5%"$(2̀[!(2X\$$
$
.2]25[2$:%5X3$6(2$"Y2$%:)!W6"!%5$%&$"Y2$,5"2(9(!32$4[5X$65X$6(2$96#6:)2$3%)2)#$&(%8$"Y2$(2]25[23$%&$"Y6"$
&[5X\$$̂Y2$ !"#$Y63$9)2XW2X$&["[(2$["!)!"#$7[3"%82($(2]25[23$"%$(296#$ab\?$8!))!%5$!5$]6(!%[3$c6"2($65X$02d2($
:%5X3$!33[2X$!5$e2728:2($=<>>$65X$e2728:2($=<>=\$$̂Y2$:%5X3$6(2$96!X$3%)2)#$&(%8$["!)!"#$(2]25[23$65X$6(2$
96#6:)2$"Y(%[WY$=<;;\$$/55[6)$9(!57!96)$65X$!5"2(23"$96#825"3$%5$"Y2$:%5X3$6(2$2f927"2X$"%$(2̀[!(2$)233$"Y65$
bg$%&$W(%33$(2]25[23\$$̂Y2$"%"6)$9(!57!96)$65X$!5"2(23"$(286!5!5W$"%$:2$96!X$%5$"Y2$:%5X3$!3$a?+=h=+>b<\$$
i(!57!96)$65X$!5"2(23"$&%($"Y2$7[((25"$#26($65X$"%"6)$7[3"%82($52"$(2]25[23$d2(2$a>+<j=+hk;$65X$a;+jb?+>;k+$
(23927"!]2)#\$$$
$
l5$'%]28:2($=+$=<><$"Y2$]%"2(3$%&$ !"#$%&$'%(&%)*$699(%]2X$"Y2$!33[6572$%&$a>j\m$8!))!%5$W252(6)$%:)!W6"!%5$
:%5X3$"%$&[5X$:632:6))+$&%%":6))+$65X$3d!88!5W$!89(%]2825"3$6"$n2"2(653$o28%(!6)$i6(*$65X$̂6ZY6Zp%[*6$
i6(*\$$̂%$96#$X2:"$32(]!72$%5$"Y2$:%5X3+$"Y2$ %[57!)$96332X$65$%(X!56572$"%$2567"$6$=g$%77[96"!%5$"6f$%5$
9(296(2X$&%%X$65X$:2]2(6W23$65X$6$mg$%77[96"!%5$"6f$%5$)%XW!5W$2&&27"!]2$42:([6(#$>+$=<>>\$l5$q65[6(#$>=+$
=<>j$"Y2$ !"#$76))2X$"Y2$6:%]2$:%5X3+$65X$96!X$%&&$"Y2$:%5X3$d!"Y$"Y2$)%5W23"$86"[(!"#$d!"Y$a=$8!))!%5$%&$
677[8[)6"2X$%77[96"!%5$"6f$(2]25[23$65X$!33[2X$ak+m=<+<<<$%&$(2&[5X!5W$:%5X3\$$̂Y2$"%"6)$9(!57!96)$65X$
!5"2(23"$(286!5!5W$"%$:2$96!X$%5$"Y2$:%5X3$!3$a><+;>m+h;h\$$i(!57!96)$65X$!5"2(23"$96!X$&%($"Y2$7[((25"$#26($65X$
"%"6)$%77[96"!%5$"6f$(2]25[23$d2(2$a>+bh=+;?b$65X$a>+hmm+jb>$(23927"!]2)#\$
$
Ŷ2$ !"#$%&$'%(&%)*$467!)!"!23$ %(9%(6"!%5$r'4 s$!33[2X$a>+k<<+<<<$%&$:[!)X!5W$:%5X3$%5$029"28:2($;<+$=<>>$
"%$9[(7Y632$6$:[!)X!5W$"%$:2$[32X$63$"Y2$ !"#$6X8!5!3"(6"!%5$%&&!72\$$̂Y2$ !"#$Y63$25"2(2X$!5"%$6$t2632$
i[(7Y632$/W(22825"$d!"Y$"Y2$'4 \$$̂Y2$"2(83$%&$"Y2$6W(22825"$(2̀[!(2$"Y2$ !"#$"%$86*2$)2632$96#825"3$"%$
"Y2$'4 $!5$65$68%[5"$2̀[6)$"%$X2:"$32(]!72$%5$"Y2$:%5X3$[5"!)$029"28:2($>b+$=<;>+$"Y2$X6"2$%&$&!56)$86"[(!"#$
%&$"Y2$:%5X3\$$u9%5$&!56)$96#825"$%&$6))$)2632Z9[(7Y632$%:)!W6"!%53$"Y2$:[!)X!5W$d!))$:2$7%5]2#2X$"%$"Y2$ !"#\$$
l5$q65[6(#$><+$=<>?$"Y2$ !"#$%&$'%(&%)*$76))2X$"Y2$6:%]2$:%5X3$65X$!33[2X$a>+b=<+<<<$%&$(2&[5X!5W$:%5X3\$$
Ŷ2$(2&[5X!5W$:%5X3$Y6]2$6$86"[(!"#$%&$029"28:2($>b+$=<;>$65X$!5"2(23"$(6"23$(65W!5W$&(%8$>\>kg$"%$;\=mg+$
dY2(263$"Y2$02(!23$=<>>$-%5X3$Y6X$!5"2(23"$(6"23$(65W!5W$&(%8$>\kbg$"%$m\=bg\$$̂Y!3$(2X[723$X2:"$32(]!72$
96#825"3$:#$a>m>+?>m$%]2($"Y2$52f"$>b$#26(3$65X$"Y2$ !"#$%:"6!53$65$27%5%8!7$W6!5$%&$a>>b+;h<\$$i(!57!96)$
65X$!5"2(23"$96!X$&%($"Y2$7[((25"$#26($!3$a>+j;>+jb=+$dY!7Y$!57)[X23$a>+b><+<<<$%&$9(!57!96)$96!X$X[(!5W$"Y2$
(2&[5X!5W\$$
$
Ŷ2$ !"#$%&$'%(&%)*$!33[2X$a=+;jb+<<<$%&$27%5%8!7$X2]2)%9825"$:%5X3$%5$q[52$m+$=<>m$"%$9(%]!X2$&[5X!5W$&%($
7%53"([7"!%5$%&$6$56"[(6)$W63$9!92)!52$"%$'%(&%)*$&(%8$"Y2$263"+$7%5527"!5W$"%$"Y2$'%("Y2(5$'6"[(6)$V63$
!5"2(3"6"2$526($-657(%&"\$$̂Y2$:%5X3$d!))$:2$96!X$&(%8$9(%92("#$"6f$7%))27"2X$&(%8$"Y2$ !"#v3$t-$hm<$27%5%8!7$
X2]2)%9825"$9(%W(68$699(%]2X$:#$'%(&%)*v3$7!"!p253$6"$"Y2$o6#$=<><$9(!86(#$2)27"!%5\$$̂Y2$"%"6)$9(!57!96)$65X$
!5"2(23"$(286!5!5W$"%$:2$96!X$%5$"Y2$:%5X3$!3$a>+b>>+;h<\$$i(!57!96)$65X$!5"2(23"$&%($"Y2$7[((25"$#26($65X$
9(%92("#$"6f$(2]25[2$d2(2$a;h=+bk<$65X$a;hm+j?k$(23927"!]2)#\$
$
l5$q[)#$>?+$=<>b$"Y2$ !"#$!33[2X$a=+=b<+<<<$3927!6)$633233825"$:%5X$65"!7!96"!%5$5%"2$d!"Y$6$86"[(!"#$%&$
'%]28:2($>+$=<>?$65X$65$!5"2(23"$(6"2$%&$\kmg\$$̂Y!3$:%5X$65"!7!96"!%5$5%"2$d63$"%$96#$&%($!89(%]2825"3$&%($
02d2($e!3"(!7"$w=m?\$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

57
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 264 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$D$E$BFG@HICFH$
$
JK2$&%))%L!5M$!3$6$3N886(#$%&$"(653&2(3$:2"L225$&N5O3P$
$

'%586Q%(
R252(6)  S/4 R%T2(5825"6) 02L2( J%"6)

J(653&2(3$!5P
R252(6) UV$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ WX<+<<<V$ ==Y+<W;V$$$$$$$$ UV$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ XZY+<W;V$$$$$$$$$$
[2:"$02(T!72 >=>+XY=$$$$$$$$$ U$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ U$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ U$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ >=>+XY=$$$$$$$$$$$$
 69!"6)$ %53"(N7"!%5 ;+?;Y+>;W$$$$$$ U$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ U$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ >=+Y<<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ ;+?W?+X;W$$$$$$$$$
'%586Q%($R%T2(5825"6) =<<+XY=$$$$$$$$$ U$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ U$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ U$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ =<<+XY=$$$$$$$$$$$$
J%"6) W+<Y?+W;ZV$$$$ WX<+<<<V$ ==Y+<W;V$$$$$$$$ >=+Y<<V$$$$$$$$$$$$$ W+?YW+\Z>V$$$$$$$

R%T2(5825"6)$4N5O3 ](%9(!2"6(#$4N5O3
J(653&2(3$%N"P

$
$
J(653&2(3$6(2$N32O$"%P$
>̂$_%T2$(2T25N23$&(%8$"K2$&N5O$"K6"$3"6"N"2$%($:NOM2"$(2̀N!(23$"%$7%))27"$"K28$"%$"K2$&N5O$"K6"$
3"6"N"2$%($:NOM2"$(2̀N!(23$"%$2a925O$"K28$̂
$
=̂$J%$N32$36)23$"6a$(2T25N23$7%))27"2O$!5$"K2$M252(6)$&N5O$&%($9(%92("#$"6a$(2)!2&$!5$"K2$O2:"$32(T!72$
&N5O$63$L2))$63$"%$&N5O$769!"6)$7%53"(N7"!%5̂$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

58
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 265 of 341



City of Norfolk, NEBRASKA 

Notes to Financial Statements 

 September 30, 2017   

 

NOTE 8 – NET POSITION/FUND BALANCES 
 
The following schedule reflects all Fund Balances as presented in the Fund Level Statements: 
 

City Community Other

Highway Development Debt Capital Special Governmental

General Allocation Block Grant Service Construction Assessments Funds Total

Nonspendable:

Fuel Inventory 12,244$        -$                 -$                    -$                 -$                    -$                       -$                       12,244$           

Prepaid Items 22,491          -                   -                      -                   -                     -                         17,950               40,441             

Restricted For:

Road Projects -                   2,922,144     -                      -                   -                     -                         -                         2,922,144        

Storm Water -                   -                   -                      -                   -                     -                         98,964               98,964             

Vehicle Parking -                   -                   -                      -                   -                     -                         60,684               60,684             

Hazardous Materials 29,970          -                   -                      -                   -                     -                         -                         29,970             

W W II Memorial 6,154            -                   -                      -                   -                     -                         -                         6,154               

Library Renovations 444,361        -                   -                      -                   2,518,564       -                         -                         2,962,925        

Grant Programs -                   -                   895,238           -                   -                     -                         266,276             1,161,514        

911 Operations -                   -                   -                      -                   -                     -                         345,796             345,796           

Recreation Projects -                   -                   -                      -                   43,430            -                         -                         43,430             

Drug Enforcement -                   -                   -                      -                   -                     -                         195,250             195,250           

Community Betterment -                   -                   -                      -                   137,970          -                         1,144,086           1,282,056        

Debt Service -                   -                   -                      2,683,448     -                     -                         -                         2,683,448        

Committed For:

2010  & 2016 Bond Debt 

Service -                   -                   -                      1,810,263     -                     -                         -                         1,810,263        

Assigned to:

Public Improvements 13,770          -                   -                      -                   -                     -                         -                         13,770             

Capital Improvements -                   -                   -                      -                   628,302          -                         -                         628,302           

Community Betterment -                   -                   -                      -                   1,534,748       -                         -                         1,534,748        

Council Priority Projects -                   -                   -                      -                   476,456          -                         -                         476,456           

Unassigned: 8,287,694     -                   -                      -                   -                     (1,898,527)          -                         6,389,167        

Total 8,816,684$   2,922,144$   895,238$         4,493,711$   5,339,470$     (1,898,527)$        2,129,006$         22,697,726$    

 
 
NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE PENSION PLANS 
 

The City has three single-employer retirement systems covering City employees.  The City and 
covered employees make contributions to these retirement plans.  Employees are allowed to invest 
their participant account balances in certain stock and/or bond mutual funds as well as guaranteed 
insurance accounts.  Participants in the Civilian Employee Retirement System can direct their entire 
account balance to mutual funds.  Participants in the Police and Firemen's Retirement Systems can 
only direct a portion of their accounts into these funds.  Nonemployee directed investments are 
directed by the City Council, whose policy is to direct them to guaranteed insurance accounts.  All of 
these funds are invested through Ameritas Life Insurance Corporation.  All investments are valued 
at market or contract value as more fully discussed in note 2. B. to these statements.  Forfeitures of 
non-vested employer contributions are used to pay for administrative costs.  If forfeitures are 
insufficient, costs are financed through investment earnings.  The financial statements are prepared 
using the accrual basis of accounting.  Plan member contributions are recognized in the period in 
which the contributions are withheld from pay and due to the plan.  Employer contributions to each 
plan are recognized when due.  Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in  

 

 

 

 

59
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 266 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$D$E$CFGHAICC$GC@JKA@$GHL@J$MNA@BK@OCPQ$
$
677%(R6572$S!"T$"T2$"2(83$%&$267T$9)65U$$VW:)!7)#$!33W2R$&!5657!6)$(29%("3$6(2$5%"$6X6!)6:)2$&%($65#$
%&$"T2$9253!%5$9)653$5%($6(2$"T2#$!57)WR2R$!5$"T2$(29%("$%&$6$9W:)!7$289)%#22$(2"!(2825"$3#3"28$%($
65%"T2($Y%X2(5825"U$
$
ZT2$4!(2825[3$.2"!(2825"$0#3"28$T63$8!5!8W8$:252&!"$YW6(65"223$&%($96("!7!965"3$289)%#2R$9(!%($
"%$\65W6(#$>+$>]̂_U$$̀ !"T$%5)#$>$67"!X2$9)65$828:2($65R$?$!567"!X2$828:2(3$289)%#2R$9(!%($"%$
\65W6(#$>+$>]̂_+$!"$S%W)R$:2$8!3)26R!5Y$"%$(29%("$"T2$25"!(2$9)65$63$6$R2&!52R$:252&!"$9)65U$$
ZT2(2&%(2+$"T2$9%("!%5$%&$"T2$9)65$&%($828:2(3$289)%#2R$9(!%($"%$\65W6(#$>+$>]̂_$T6X!5Y$8!5!8W8$
:252&!"$YW6(65"223$!3$(29%("2R$63$6$R2&!52R$:252&!"$9)65$65R$"T2$9%("!%5$&%($828:2(3$289)%#2R$%5$
%($6&"2($\65W6(#$>+$>]̂_$!3$(29%("2R$63$6$R2&!52R$7%5"(!:W"!%5$9)65U$$$
$
Pabcdae$Nfdghcijgcfd$Gadkcfd$Glmdk$

$
ZT2$ !"#$%&$'%(&%)*n3$ !X!)!65$,89)%#22$.2"!(2825"$0#3"28$!3$6$R2&!52R$7%5"(!:W"!%5$9)65+$ST!7T$
7%X2(3$3W:3"65"!6))#$6))$(2YW)6($289)%#223$S%(*!5Y$Y(26"2($"T65$>+<<<$T%W(3$92($#26(U$$V)65$
9(%X!3!%53+$!57)WR!5Y$7%5"(!:W"!%5$(2oW!(2825"3+$6(2$23"6:)!3T2R$65R$6825R2R$:#$ !"#$%(R!565723U$$
V6("!7!96"!%5$!5$"T!3$9)65$!3$X%)W5"6(#$65R$289)%#223$86#$7%5"(!:W"2$6$92(725"6Y2$%&$"%"6)$
7%892536"!%5$W9$"%$"T2$p.0$6))%S2R$86q!8W8U$$ZT2$ !"#$7%5"(!:W"23$65$68%W5"$W9$"%$?r$%&$"T2$
289)%#22[3$7%892536"!%5+$9W(3W65"$"%$9)65$9(%X!3!%53$63$23"6:)!3T2R$:#$ !"#$%(R!56572U$$,89)%#22$
7%5"(!:W"!%53$"%"6)2R$ŝ<̂+><t+$65R$"T2$ !"#$(27%Y5!u2R$9253!%5$2q92532$%&$sv><+;_tU$

$
ZT2$V%)!72$.2"!(2825"$0#3"28+$6$3!5Y)2$289)%#2($R2&!52R$7%5"(!:W"!%5$9)65+$7%X2(3$6))$(2YW)6($
W5!&%(82R$289)%#223$%&$"T2$'%(&%)*$V%)!72$w!X!3!%5+$63$(2oW!(2R$:#$0"6"2$3"6"W"23$65R$ !"#$
%(R!565723U$$0"6"2$3"6"W"23$(2oW!(2$9%)!72$%&&!72(3$7%5"(!:W"2$?r$%&$7%892536"!%5$"%$"T2$9)65U$$ZT2$
 !"#$86"7T23$289)%#22$7%5"(!:W"!%53+$W9$"%$?r$%&$7%892536"!%5U$$,89)%#22$7%5"(!:W"!%53$"%"6)2R$
s>?_+]vv+$65R$"T2$ !"#$(27%Y5!u2R$9253!%5$2q92532$%&$s>?_+]vvU$
$
ZT2$4!(2825[3$.2"!(2825"$0#3"28$7%X2(3$6))$(2YW)6($W5!&%(82R$289)%#223$%&$"T2$'%(&%)*$4!(2$
w!X!3!%5+$63$(2oW!(2R$:#$0"6"2$3"6"W"23$65R$ !"#$%(R!565723U$$ZT2$4!(2825n3$.2"!(2825"$V)65$S63$
7T65Y2R+$2&&27"!X2$\65W6(#$>+$>]̂_+$&(%8$6$3!5Y)2$289)%#2($R2&!52R$:252&!"$9)65$"%$6$3!5Y)2$
289)%#2($R2&!52R$7%5"(!:W"!%5$9)65$!5$ST!7T$"T2$ !"#$7%5"(!:W"23$"S!72$"T2$289)%#223n$7%5"(!:W"!%5+$
ST!7T$!3$t$>x=r$%&$:632$96#U$$,89)%#22$7%5"(!:W"!%53$"%"6)2R$s>>v+;;;+$65R$"T2$ !"#$(27%Y5!u2R$
9253!%5$2q92532$%&$s=;<+ttvU$
$
,89)%#223$6(2$&W))#$X23"2R$!5$"T2$68%W5"3$"T2#$7%5"(!:W"2$"%$"T2$9)65+$"%Y2"T2($S!"T$"T2$(2)6"2R$
26(5!5Y3U$$V6("!7!965"3$:27%82$&W))#$X23"2R$!5$289)%#2($7%5"(!:W"!%53$65R$(2)6"2R$26(5!5Y3$6&"2($
32X25$#26(3$%&$32(X!72U$$'%5X23"2R$ !"#$7%5"(!:W"!%53$6(2$&%(&2!"2R$W9%5$"2(8!56"!%5$%&$289)%#825"U$$
0W7T$&%(&2!"W(23$765$:2$W32R$"%$96#$"T2$9253!%5$9)65[3$6R8!5!3"(6"!X2$2q925323U$$'%$&%(&2!"W(23$
S2(2$W32R$RW(!5Y$"T2$7W((25"$#26($"%$(2RW72$"T2$ !"#[3$9253!%5$2q92532U$$ W((25"$828:2(3T!9$!3$
7%89(!32R$%&$"T2$&%))%S!5Yy$
$

$ $ $ $ $  !X!)!65$ V%)!72$ 4!(2$
$ $ $ z23"2R$!567"!X2$9)65$828:2(3$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$_>$ >̂$ v$
$ $ $ /7"!X2$9)65$828:2(3y$
$ $ $ $ '%5{X23"2R$ $$><$ _$ $̂ $
$ $ $ $ V6("!6))#$X23"2R$ =;$ t$ v$
$ $ $ $ 4W))#$X23"2R$ $ ><<$ $ =]$ $=>$
$
$ $ $ $ $$$$$$$$$$$$Z%"6)$828:2(3T!9$ $ >?_$ $ v?$ $;]$

$
$
$
$
$

60
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 267 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$D$E$CFGHAICC$GC@JKA@$GHL@J$MNA@BK@OCPQ$
$
PRSTURV$WRURSTX$GRUYTZU$G[\U$
$
4%($96("!7!965"3$!5$"]2$4!(2825̂3$.2"!(2825"$0#3"28$289)%#2_$9(!%($"%$̀65a6(#$>+$>bcd+$(2"!(2825"$
:252&!"3$3]6))$5%"$:2$)233$"]65$e<f$%&$&!56)$26(5!5g3+$63$_2&!52_h$$-276a32$%&$"]2$8!5!8a8$:252&!"$
ga6(65"223$&%($96("!7!965"3$289)%#2_$9(!%($"%$̀65a6(#$>+$>bcd+$"]!3$9%("!%5$%&$"]2$4!(2825̂3$
.2"!(2825"$0#3"28$!3$(29%("2_$63$6$_2&!52_$:252&!"$9)65h$

$
i6("!7!965"3$6(2$&a))#$j23"2_$!5$"]2$68%a5"3$"]2#$7%5"(!:a"2$"%$"]2$9)65+$"%g2"]2($k!"]$"]2$(2)6"2_$
26(5!5g3h$$i6("!7!965"3$:27%82$&a))#$j23"2_$!5$289)%#2($7%5"(!:a"!%53$65_$(2)6"2_$26(5!5g3$6&"2($32j25$
#26(3$%&$32(j!72h$$ a((25"$828:2(3]!9$!3$7%89(!32_$%&$"]2$&%))%k!5gl$

$
/7"!j2$9)65$828:2(3l$

$$ $ $ $$

$$$$$4a))#$j23"2_$ $ >$ $ $$ $

$ $ $ $ $$ $m567"!j2$9)65$828:2(3$%($:252&!7!6(!23$$$ $ $ $$ $
$$$$$7a((25")#$(272!j!5g$:252&!"3$ $ e$

$
$ $$ $

$ $ $ $ $$ $
m567"!j2$9)65$828:2(3$25"!")2_$"%$ $ $ $ $$ $
$$$$$:a"$5%"$#2"$(272!j!5g$:252&!"3$ $ =$ $ $$ $

$ $ $ $ $$ $
$$$$n%"6)$67"!j2$65_$!567"!j2$96("!7!965"3$$ c$ $ $$ $

$
0"6"2$3"6"a"23$(2oa!(2$6$(2"!(2825"$7%88!""22$:2$23"6:)!3]2_$&%($"]2$4!(2825̂3$.2"!(2825"$0#3"28$"%$
3a92(j!32$"]2$g252(6)$%92(6"!%53$%&$"]2$.2"!(2825"$0#3"28h$$n]2$7%88!""22$7%53!3"3$%&$3!p$828:2(3+$
%&$k]!7]$&%a($828:2(3$6(2$32)27"2_$:#$96!_$&!(2&!g]"2(3$65_$"k%$828:2(3$6(2$_23!g56"2_$:#$"]2$ !"#$
 %a57!)h$$n]2$ !"#$ %a57!)$]63$_23!g56"2_$"]2$qa865$.23%a(72$r!(27"%($65_$4!56572$s&&!72($63$2pt
%&&!7!%$828:2(3h$n]2$(2"!(2825"$7%88!""22$!3$(239%53!:)2$&%($23"6:)!3]!5g$65_$6825_!5g$!5j23"825"$
9%)!7!23$(2)6"2_$"%$!5j23"825"$%9"!%53$%&&2(2_$"%$289)%#223$!5$"]2$9)65h$$$
$
'2"$9253!%5$)!6:!)!"#$k63$8263a(2_$63$%&$029"28:2($;<+$=<>?+$65_$"]2$"%"6)$9253!%5$)!6:!)!"#$a32_$"%$
76)7a)6"2$"]2$52"$9253!%5$)!6:!)!"#$k63$_2"2(8!52_$:#$65$67"a6(!6)$j6)a6"!%5$63$%&$"]6"$_6"2h$$n]2$
67"a6(!6)$j6)a2$%&$6332"3$!3$86(*2"$%($7%5"(67"$j6)a2$63$8%(2$&a))#$_!37a332_$!5$5%"2$=h$-h$"%$"]232$
3"6"2825"3h$$n]2$ !"#$a323$"]2$25"(#$6g2$67"a6(!6)$82"]%_$&%($(29%("!5g$65_$_!37)%3a(2$9a(9%323h$$$
/5#$67"a6(!6)$g6!53$%($)%3323$6(2$68%("!u2_+$63$6$)2j2)$92(725"6g2$%&$9(%v27"2_$96#(%))+$%j2($"]2$&a"a(2$
k%(*!5g$76(22(3$%&$7%j2(2_$96("!7!965"3$a3!5g$7)%32_$68%("!u6"!%5$92(!%_3h$n]2$ !"#$655a6))#$
7%5"(!:a"23$67"a6(!6))#$_2"2(8!52_$68%a5"3$!5$6__!"!%5$"%$"]2$86"7]!5g$7%5"(!:a"!%53h$$0!g5!&!765"$
67"a6(!6)$633a89"!%53$!57)a_2$6$wf$(2"a(5$%5$9)65$6332"3$65_$df$655a6)$36)6(#$!57(26323+$;f$%&$
k]!7]$!3$633a82_$"%$:2$_a2$"%$!5&)6"!%5$65_$>f$633a82_$"%$:2$_a2$"%$82(!"$96#$!57(26323h$$x%("6)!"#$
(6"23$6(2$:632_$%5$"]2$>bbd$y(%a9$/55a!"#$x%("6)!"#t0"6"!7$n6:)2h$$$
$
n]2$)%5gt"2(8$2p927"2_$(6"2$%&$(2"a(5$%5$9253!%5$9)65$!5j23"825"3$!3$_2"2(8!52_$a3!5g$6$82"]%_$!5$
k]!7]$:23"t23"!86"2$(65g23$%&$2p927"2_$&a"a(2$(6"23$%&$(2"a(5$6(2$_2j2)%92_$&%($267]$86v%($6332"$
7)633$:632_$%5$963"$92(&%(86572h$$n]232$(65g23$6(2$7%8:!52_$"%$9(%_a72$"]2$)%5gt"2(8$2p927"2_$
(6"2$%&$(2"a(5$:#$k2!g]"!5g$"]2$2p927"2_$&a"a(2$(6"23$%&$(2"a(5$:#$"]2$6332"$6))%76"!%5$92(725"6g2h$$$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

61
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 268 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$D$E$CFGHAICC$GC@JKA@$GHL@J$MNA@BK@OCPQ$
$
,R927"2S$(26)$(6"23$%&$(2"T(5$6(2$S2"2(8!52S$:#$3T:"(67"!5U$2R927"2S$!5&)6"!%5$&(%8$2R927"2S$(6"23$%&$
(2"T(5V$$,R927"2S$(26)$(6"23$%&$(2"T(5$&%($267W$86X%($6332"$7)633$65S$6332"$6))%76"!%5$63$%&$029"28:2($
;<+$=<>?$6(2$63$3T886(!Y2S$!5$"W2$&%))%Z!5U$"6:)2[$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

\W2$S!37%T5"$(6"2$T32S$"%$8263T(2$"W2$"%"6)$9253!%5$)!6:!)!"#$Z63$]̂ V$$\W2$9(%X27"!%5$%&$763W$&)%Z3$
T32S$"%$S2"2(8!52$"W2$S!37%T5"$(6"2$633T823$"W2$9)65$828:2(3$65S$"W2$ !"#$86*2$7%5"(!:T"!%53$63$
S2"6!)2S$26()!2($!5$"W!3$327"!%5$65S$"W2$ !"#$86*23$65#$67"T6(!6)$(2_T!(2S$7%5"(!:T"!%53V$$-632S$%5$
"W%32$633T89"!%53+$"W2$4!(2825̀3$.2"!(2825"$0#3"28$52"$9%3!"!%5$Z63$9(%X27"2S$"%$:2$6a6!)6:)2$"%$
86*2$6))$9(%X27"2S$&T"T(2$:252&!"$96#825"3$%&$7T((25"$9)65$828:2(3V$$\W2(2&%(2+$"W2$)%5Ub"2(8$
2R927"2S$(6"2$%&$(2"T(5$%5$9253!%5$9)65$!5a23"825"3$Z63$699)!2S$"%$6))$92(!%S3$%&$9(%X27"2S$:252&!"$
96#825"3$"%$S2"2(8!52$"W2$"%"6)$9253!%5$)!6:!)!"#V$$\W2(2$Z63$5%$7W65U2$!5$"W2$S!37%T5"$(6"2$&(%8$"W2$
9(!%($#26(V$
$
4%($"W2$#26($25S2S$029"28:2($;<+$=<>?+$"W2$655T6)$8%52#bZ2!UW"2S$(6"2$%&$(2"T(5$%5$9253!%5$9)65$
!5a23"825"3+$52"$%&$9253!%5$9)65$!5a23"825"$2R92532+$Z63$?V;=̂ V$$\W2$8%52#bZ2!UW"2S$(6"2$%&$
(2"T(5$2R9(23323$!5a23"825"$92(&%(86572+$52"$%&$!5a23"825"$2R92532+$6SXT3"2S$&%($"W2$7W65U!5U$
68%T5"3$67"T6))#$!5a23"2SV$$

 W65U23$!5$"W2$52"$9253!%5$)!6:!)!"#$6(2$63$&%))%Z3[$

$ $ $
$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$c)65$&!ST7!6(#$52"$9%3!"!%5$63$6$92(725"6U2$%&$"W2$"%"6)$9253!%5$)!6:!)!"#$$$$$$dd̂ $
$

/332"$ )633$
/332"$
/))%76"!%5$

e%5Ub\2(8$,R927"2S$
.26)$.6"2$%&$.2"T(5$

fT6(65"22S$g5a23"825"$
/77%T5"$ ];̂ $ =V]ĥ $

i%823"!7$2_T!"#$ =>̂ $ ]V<ĥ $

g5"2(56"!%56)$2_T!"#$ =̂ $ j<Vk<̂ l$

4!R2S$!57%82$ >̂ $ ]V>;̂ $

.26)$23"6"2$ =̂ $ kV;=̂ $

-6)6572$&T5S3$ m̂ $ hV;;̂ $

\6(U2"$S6"2$&T5S3$ ;̂ $ ;Vdm̂ $

\%"6)$
c253!%5$
e!6:!)!"#$

c)65$
4!ST7!6(#$'2"$
c%3!"!%5$

'2"$
c253!%5$
e!6:!)!"#$

-6)65723$6"$><n>n>]$ o$$;+;>=+d;=$ o$$;+=m;+]m;$$$ o$$$=d+=kd$

 W65U23$&%($"W2$#26([$ $$ $$ $

02(a!72$7%3"$ h?+<;m$ h?+<;m$

g5"2(23"$ =<>+<k>$ =<>+<k>$
i!&&2(25723$:2"Z225$2R927"2S$65S$
$$$$67"T6)$2R92(!2572$ j;d+=<<l$ j;d+=<<l$

 %5"(!:T"!%53b289)%#2($ ;d+=mk$ j;d+=mkl$

 %5"(!:T"!%53b289)%#22$ h+<>m$ jh+<>ml$

'2"$!5a23"825"$!57%82$ $$ >m?+>??$$ j>m?+>??l$$
-252&!"$96#825"3+$!57)TS!5U$(2&T5S3$%&$
$$$$$289)%#22$7%5"(!:T"!%53$ jdmd+>]?l$$ jdmd+>]?l$$ b$ $

/S8!5!3"(6"!a2$2R92532$ $$ j><>l$$ ><>$$

'2"$7W65U23$ j??<+=mml$$ j?h?+?mdl$$ j>=+kddl$$

-6)65723$6"$dn;<n>?$ o$$=+hk=+]kk$$ o$$=+h=h+mdk$$ o$$$>]+?h<$$

62
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 269 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$D$E$CFGHAICC$GC@JKA@$GHL@J$MNA@BK@OCPQ$
$

RS2$&%))%T!5U$(29(2325"3$"S2$52"$9253!%5$)!6:!)!"#$%&$"S2$ !"#+$76)7V)6"2W$V3!5U$"S2$W!37%V5"$(6"2$%&$XY+$
63$T2))$63$TS6"$"S2$ !"#Z3$52"$9253!%5$)!6:!)!"#$T%V)W$:2$!&$!"$T2(2$76)7V)6"2W$V3!5U$6$W!37%V5"$(6"2$"S6"$
!3$>[92(725"6U2[9%!5"$)%T2($\]Y $̂%($>[92(725"6U2[9%!5"$S!US2($\?Y $̂"S65$"S2$7V((25"$(6"2_$
$
$ >Y$  V((25"$ >Y$
$ 2̀7(2632$ !̀37%V5"$ a57(2632$
$ $$$$$\]Y $̂ $ .6"2$\XY $̂ $$$$\?Y $̂ $
$
 !"#Z3$52"$9253!%5$)!6:!)!"#$\6332"̂$ b]]+cd]$ b>X+?]<$ \b>?+X>]̂$
$
4%($"S2$7V((25"$#26(+$"S2$ !"#$(27%U5!e2W$9253!%5$2f92532$%&$b=<+gX>h$$RS2$ !"#$(29%("2W$W2&2((2W$
%V"&)%T3$%&$(23%V(723$65W$W2&2((2W$!5&)%T3$%&$(23%V(723$(2)6"2W$"%$9253!%53$&(%8$"S2$&%))%T!5U$
3%V(723_$$$
$ $ $ $ 2̀&2((2W$iV"&)%T3$ $
$ $ $ $ $%&$.23%V(723$ $ $
'2"$W!&&2(2572$:2"T225$9(%j27"2W$65W$
$ 67"V6)$26(5!5U3$%5$9253!%5$9)65$!5k23"825"3$ b$=]+XX?$ $ $

$
/8%V5"3$(29%("2W$63$W2&2((2W$%V"&)%T3$%&$(23%V(723$65W$W2&2((2W$!5&)%T3$%&$(23%V(723$(2)6"2W$"%$
9253!%53$T!))$:2$(27%U5!e2W$!5$9253!%5$2f92532$63$&%))%T3_$
$
$ $ l26($25W2W$029"28:2($;<_$
$ $ =<>g$ $ b$$g+X<]$$$$$$
$ $ =<>c$ $ g+X<]$$$
$ $ =<=<$ $ $$]+Xg]$
$ $ =<=>$ $ =+??;$ $$
$
mV)"!#26($"(25W$!5&%(86"!%5$%&$"S2$4!(2825Z3$.2"!(2825"$0#3"28$!3$9(2325"2W$63$.2nV!(2W$
0V99)2825"6(#$a5&%(86"!%5$&%))%T!5U$"S2$'%"23$"%$"S2$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3h$
$

@ABC$op$q$NAFFKBFC@BJ$L@P$NA@BK@rC@NKCJ$

$
RS2$ !"#$S63$(272!k2W$&!5657!6)$633!3"6572$&(%8$&2W2(6)+$3"6"2$65W$)%76)$U%k2(5825"6)$6U257!23$!5$"S2$
&%(8$%&$U(65"3h$$RS2$W!3:V(32825"3$%&$&V5W3$(272!k2W$V5W2($"S232$9(%U(683$U252(6))#$(2nV!(2$
7%89)!6572$T!"S$"2(83$65W$7%5W!"!%53$3927!&!2W$!5$"S2$U(65"$6U(22825"3$65W$"S2$0!5U)2$/VW!"$/7"+$65W$
6(2$3V:j27"$"%$6VW!"$:#$"S2$U(65"%($6U257!23h$$/5#$W!36))%T2W$7)6!83$(23V)"!5U$&(%8$3V7S$6VW!"3$7%V)W$
:27%82$6$)!6:!)!"#$%&$"S2$s252(6)$4V5W$%($%"S2($699)!76:)2$&V5W3+$S%T2k2(+$3V7S$W!36))%T2W$7)6!83+$!&$
65#+$6(2$5%"$2f927"2W$"%$S6k2$6$86"2(!6))#$6Wk2(32$2&&27"$%5$"S2$ !"#t3$&!5657!6)$9%3!"!%5$6"$029"28:2($
;<+$=<>?h$
$
RS2$7!"#$S63$25"2(2W$!5"%$k6(!%V3$7%5"(67"3$&%($3"(22"$65W$%"S2($769!"6)$!89(%k2825"3h$$RS2$(286!5!5U$
7%88!"825"$V5W2($"S232$7%5"(67"3$!3$bg+X?d+?=;h$$b><=+X>g$T!))$:2$96!W$&(%8$"S2$s252(6)$4V5W+$
b=+g]?+c=d$T!))$:2$96!W$&(%8$"S2$ !"#$u!UST6#$/))%76"!%5$4V5W+$b>c+]c]$T!))$:2$96!W$&(%8$ %88V5!"#$$
2̀k2)%9825"$-)%7*$s(65"$4V5W+$bdc+]>X$T!))$:2$96!W$&(%8$0"%(8$v6"2($m656U2825"$4V5W+$65W$
b]+Xd]+<?<$T!))$:2$96!W$&(%8$ 69!"6)$ %53"(V7"!%5$4V5Wh$$RS2$ !"#$6)3%$25"2(2W$!5"%$k6(!%V3$7%5"(67"3$
&%($,5"2(9(!32$4V5W$a89(%k2825"$w(%j27"3h$$RS2$(286!5!5U$7%88!"825"$V5W2($"S232$7%5"(67"3$!3$
699(%f!86"2)#$b>+c?=+dX=h$$b>X>+;gg$T!))$:2$96!W$:#$"S2$v6"2($̀!k!3!%5$65W$b>+g>>+<?d$T!))$:2$96!W$:#$
"S2$02T2($̀!k!3!%5h$$

$
$
$
$
$

63
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 270 of 341



City of Norfolk, NEBRASKA 

Notes to Financial Statements 

 September 30, 2017   

 

NOTE 10 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) 
 
In May 2011 the City entered into a Loan Agreement with the Norfolk Housing Agency (the Agency) in 
conjunction with the Agency issuing $675,000 of Revenue and Refunding Bonds to refund existing 
debt and pay costs of improvements on the Kensington building.  The debt is expected to be paid with 
revenues of the Agency; however, the City has agreed to lend to the Agency a sum of up to 
$1,092,000 if the Agency’s revenues are insufficient to pay principal and interest on the bonds. The 
maximum amount the Agency can draw in any fiscal year is $53,850.  Any amounts drawn by the 
Agency are due on September 30, 2031, the date of final maturity of the bonds. 
 
As discussed in Note1 encumbrance accounting is utilized to the extent necessary to assure effective 
budgetary control and accountability and to facilitate effective cash planning and control.  At year end 
the amount of encumbrances expected to be honored upon performance by the vendor in the next 
year were as follows: 
 
 General Fund                               $13,770 
 

NOTE 11 - INDIVIDUAL FUND DISCLOSURES 
 
Certain information concerning individual funds is as follows: 

  
A. The following fund had a deficit balance as of September 30, 2017: 

 
Capital Project Fund     Special Assessment                   ($1,898,527) 
 

B. The City maintains the following insurance coverage on the water and sewage treatment and 
solid waste facilities of the Enterprise Fund: 

 
  Fire and extended coverage with a $25,000 deductible on various water and sewage 

treatment and solid waste facilities.  Scheduled values for related buildings and contents 
were $61,762,788.  

 
The City carries a blanket limit of 103.1 million. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

64
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 271 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$DD$E$F@GFHFGIJK$LI@G$GFMNKAMIOCM$PNA@BF@ICGQ$
$
RS2$ !"#$9(%T!U23$V6"2(+$32V2(+$65U$3%)!U$V63"2$8656W2825"$32(T!723$X"(653&2($3"6"!%5Y$
"S(%ZWS$"S2$,5"2(9(!32$4Z5U[$$RS232$32(T!723$6(2$&!56572U$"S(%ZWS$Z32($7S6(W23[$$02W825"$
!5&%(86"!%5$&%($"S2$,5"2(9(!32$4Z5U$!3$63$&%))%V3\$$
$

 ]'̂ ,'0,̂ $0R/R,_,'R$]4$',R$̀]0aRa]'

0%)!U$b63"2
b6"2( 02V2( _656W2825"
!̂T!3%5 !̂T!3!%5 !̂T!3!%5 R%"6)3

/332"3\
$$$ Z((25"$6332"3 c+dec+ce=f$$$$ ;+e>c+gggf$$$$$$ gee+>cdf$$$$$$$$$ ><+heg+?;?f$$$$$
$$$.23"(!7"2U$6332"3 >gc+<<?$$$$$$$$$ >+;cd+d=<$$$$$$$$ i$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ >+cc>+d=?$$$$$$$$$
$$$ 69!"6)$6332"3 =c+gg;+eg=$$$$ >g+hdc+>=?$$$$$$ >+=?=+;ce$$$$$$$$ hd+?;>+;??$$$$$$$
$$$$$$R%"6)$6332"3 ;>+e?h+he>$$$$ =h+d;?+?hd$$$$$$ =+=d<+c>h$$$$$$$$ ce+??=+?h>$$$$$$$

j!6:!)!"!23\
$$$ Z((25"$)!6:!)!"!23 >dc+>>h$$$$$$$$$ >+<;>+<dc$$$$$$$$ >=d+cge$$$$$$$$$$$ >+;==+???$$$$$$$$$
$$$'%57Z((25"$)!6:!)!"!23 ;hd+;>?$$$$$$$$$ c+;<h+>hc$$$$$$$$ hh+?d;$$$$$$$$$$$$$ c+dgc+==c$$$$$$$$$
$$$$$$R%"6)$)!6:!)!"!23 c>>+h;>$$$$$$$$$ d+;;c+=><$$$$$$$$ >?>+;d>$$$$$$$$$$$ ?+<>e+<<=$$$$$$$$$
'2"$̀%3!"!%5
$$$'2"$a5T23"825"$!5$ 69!"6)$/332"3 =c+dgg+>h=$$$$ >h+<cg+e??$$$$$$ >+=?=+;ce$$$$$$$$ h>+<;>+;??$$$$$$$
$$$.23"(!7"2U$ =><+?c?$$$$$$$$$ >+d;<+e?<$$$$$$$$ i$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ >+eh>+d=?$$$$$$$$$
$$$k5(23"(!7"2U c+hc;+>c>$$$$$$ =+d>>+?eg$$$$$$$$ e>d+?gc$$$$$$$$$$$ e+ee>+?;c$$$$$$$$$
R%"6)$'2"$̀%3!"!%5 ;>+;d;+<c<f$$ >e+;<=+c;df$$$$ =+<eg+>c;f$$$$$$ c>+?ch+?;gf$$$$$

$
$
 ]'̂ ,'0,̂ $0R/R,_,'R$]4$.,l,'k,0+$,m̀ ,'0,0$/'̂ $ n/'o,0$a'$',R$̀]0aRa]'

0%)!U$b63"2
b6"2( 02V2( _656W2825"
!̂T!3!%5 !̂T!3!%5 !̂T!3!%5 R%"6)3

$$$]92(6"!5W$(2T25Z23 ;+<ch+=d?f$$$$ h+;hg+dc<f$$$$$$ >+ggc+h<<f$$$$$$ g+;gg+;>?f$$$$$$$
$$$̂29(27!6"!%5$65U$68%("!p6"!%5 d<<+ch?$$$$$$$$$ ce<+;>=$$$$$$$$$$$ >>d+e<d$$$$$$$$$$$ >+=g?+ddc$$$$$$$$$
$$$]"S2($%92(6"!5W$2q925323 >+dd<+dde$$$$$$ =+h;=+;dc$$$$$$$$ >+?>;+cd;$$$$$$$$ c+e<d+cgd$$$$$$$$$
$$$$$$]92(6"!5W$a57%82 ?g;+<c=$$$$$$$$$ >+;;d+g?;$$$$$$$$ >dc+<;>$$$$$$$$$$$ =+=gc+<cd$$$$$$$$$
'%5%92(6"!5W$(2T25Z23$X2q925323Y\
$$$a5"2(23"$%5$:%5U3$65U$%"S2($U2:" X?+ghgY$$$$$$$$$$$$ X>cc+e;hY$$$$$$$$$ i$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ X>d;+?e;Y$$$$$$$$$$$
$$$a5"2(23"$!57%82 =e+g;;$$$$$$$$$$$ ;=+d>?$$$$$$$$$$$$$ =+ede$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ dh+h>e$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
$$o6!5$Xj%33Y$%5$U!39%36)$%&$769!"6)$6332"3 Xg?gY$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ h+dg>$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ i$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ ;+?>=$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
$$$a5"2(&Z5U$"(653&2(3$%Z" i$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ X>=+c<<Y$$$$$$$$$$$ i$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ X>=+c<<Y$$$$$$$$$$$$$
$$$ %5"(!:Z"!%53 h?=+?g?$$$$$$$$$ i$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ i$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ h?=+?g?$$$$$$$$$$$$
$$$ S65W2$!5$52"$9%3!"!%5 >+=ec+ech$$$$$$ >+=<c+gh?$$$$$$$$ >d?+egg$$$$$$$$$$$ =+dcg+?<<$$$$$$$$$
-2W!55!5W$52"$9%3!"!%5 ;<+<??+>gd$$$$ >?+<gd+ceg$$$$$$ >+g=>+=ch$$$$$$$$ hg+<gc+<;g$$$$$$$
,5U!5W$52"$9%3!"!%5 ;>+;d;+<c<f$$ >e+;<=+c;df$$$$ =+<eg+>c;f$$$$$$ c>+?ch+?;gf$$$$$

$
$
$
$
$

65
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 272 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$DD$E$F@GFHFGIJK$LI@G$GFMNKAMIOCM$PNA@BF@ICGQ$
$
 R'S,'0,S$0T/T,U,'T$R4$ /0V$4WRX0

0%)!Y$X63"2
X6"2( 02Z2( U656[2825"
S!\!3!%5 S!\!3!%5 S!\!3!%5 T%"6)3

'2"$763]$9(%\!Y2Y$̂_32Ỳ$:#a
$$$R92(6"!5[$67"!\!"!23 >+==?+;b=c$$$$ >+b?d+=eec$$$$$$ =ff+gffc$$$$$$$$$ ;+eb>+;=ec$$$$$$$
$$$ 69!"6)$65Y$(2)6"2Y$&!5657!5[$67"!\!"!23 d̂fb+>gg̀$$$$$$$$ ;̂+?fd+?e;̀$$$$$$ ĝ;+d??̀$$$$$$$$$$$ ê+e;f+efg̀$$$$$$$$
$$$h5\23"!5[$67"!\!"!23 =>+edd$$$$$$$$$$$ =e+db=$$$$$$$$$$$$$ >+dg?$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ e?+g>e$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
$$$'2"$!57(2632$̂Y27(2632̀ gdb+gf>$$$$$$$$$ >̂+?fd+b<?̀$$$$$$ ==g+g?f$$$$$$$$$$$ f̂bb+def̀$$$$$$$$$$$
-2[!55!5[$763]$65Y$763]$2i_!\6)25"3 e+;??+??b$$$$$$ g+=;;+<<e$$$$$$$$ d;?+==<$$$$$$$$$$$ >>+>ef+<<;$$$$$$$
,5Y!5[$763]$65Y$763]$2i_!\6)25"3 d+<;?+eg<c$$$$ e+ee?+<b?c$$$$$$ ?g;+fbfc$$$$$$$$$ ><+=ef+eddc$$$$$

$

4!(2825j3 4!(2825j3
S2&!52Y S2&!52Y
 %5"(!:_"!%5 -252&!" k%)!72  !\!)!65
.2"!(2825" .2"!(2825" .2"!(2825" .2"!(2825"
4_5Y 4_5Y 4_5Y 4_5Y T%"6)

/00,T0a
l_6(65"22Y$h53_(6572$ %5"(67"3 f=f+b<?c$$$$$$ >+df;+?=gc$$$ =+d<d+=;;c$$$ b+bg?+?b>c$$$$$ >e+ffd+gd?c$$$$$
R925$,5Y2Y$U_"_6)$4_5Y3 d+e;f+>d?$$$$$ be=+>gf$$$$$$$$ ?+>b=+;g<$$$$$ >f+>=;+=g;$$$$$ ;>+gbd+bef$$$$$$$
$$$$$T%"6)$/332"3 g+=g?+<ge$$$$$ =+d=d+fbe$$$$$ b+gb?+db;$$$$$ =f+<b>+<de$$$$$ eg+df>+g<d$$$$$$$

',T$kR0hThR'a
V2)Y$!5$T(_3"$&%($k253!%5$-252&!"3 g+=g?+<ge$$$$$ =+d=d+fbe$$$$$ b+gb?+db;$$$$$ =f+<b>+<de$$$$$ eg+df>+g<d$$$$$$$
$$$$$T%"6)$'2"$k%3!"!%5 g+=g?+<gec$$$ =+d=d+fbec$$$ b+gb?+db;c$$$ =f+<b>+<dec$$$ eg+df>+g<dc$$$$$

h5Y!\!Y_6)$4_5Y$h5&%(86"!%5$&%($"]2$,89)%#22$.2"!(2825"$4_5Y3$&%))%Z3a

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

66
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 273 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$DD$E$F@GFHFGIJK$LI@G$GFMNKAMIOCM$PNA@BF@ICGQ$
$

4!(2825R3 4!(2825R3
S2&!52T S2&!52T
 %5"(!:U"!%5 -252&!" V%)!72  !W!)!65
.2"!(2825" .2"!(2825" .2"!(2825" .2"!(2825"
4U5T 4U5T 4U5T 4U5T X%"6)

/SSYXYZ'0
$$ %5"(!:U"!%53[
$$$$$,89)%#2( =;<+\\]$̂$$$$$ ;_+=̀a$̂$$$$$$$ >?a+_]]$̂$$$$$ ]><+;a\$̂$$$$$$$ _]]+=]<$̂$$$$$$$$$
$$$$$,89)%#22 >>]+;;;$$$$$$$$ ]+<>̀$$$$$$$$$$$$ >?a+_]]$$$$$$$$ <̀̀+><\$$$$$$$$$$ >+><;+a>=$$$$$$$$$

$$$$$$$$X%"6)$ %5"(!:U"!%53 ;a]+__̀$$$$$$$$ aa+;<=$$$$$$$$$$ ;a_+_><$$$$$$$$ >+;>̀+a]=$$$$$$$ =+<]̀+\\=$$$$$$$$$

$$Y5W23"825"$Y57%82[
$$$$$Y5"2(23"+$S!W!T25T3$65T$b6(*2"$

c6!53 ?̀>+><a$$$$$$$$ >̀?+>??$$$$$$$$ >+<<]+]>̀$$$$$ =+?=;+<>̀$$$$$$$ a+\_\+̀>?$$$$$$$$$
$$$$$$$$X%"6)$/TT!"!%53 >+>=?+><=$$$$$ =;>+a?_$$$$$$$$ >+;]]+a=̀$$$$$ a+<a>+a?<$$$$$$$ \+?]]+a?_$$$$$$$$$

S,Sd XYZ'3
$$V253!%5$-252&!"3 ><+<<<$$$$$$$$$$ a?+\;]$$$$$$$$$$ >a+a<<$$$$$$$$$$ \>_+̀=a$$$$$$$$$$ \_>+̀]_$$$$$$$$$$$$
$$/T8!5!3"(6"!%5 >+=?<$$$$$$$$$$$$ ><>$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ ?̀?$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ =+;>=$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ a+]\<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
$$ %5"(!:U"!%5$.2&U5T3 ;>=+>a<$$$$$$$$ _a>+];=$$$$$$$$ ><_+];<$$$$$$$$ a_?+]̀`$$$$$$$$$$ >+̀\<+?_<$$$$$$$$$

$$$$$$$$X%"6)$S2TU7"!%53 ;=;+a><$$$$$$$$ _̀_+=\̀$$$$$$$$ >=a+̀<?$$$$$$$$ >+>>_+?=a$$$$$$$ =+]]?+=<_$$$$$$$$$

$$$$$ e65f2$!5$'2"$V%3!"!%5 <̀;+\_=$$$$$$$$ g?]?+?̀_h$$$$$$$ >+=;<+\=>$$$$$ =+_=>+?a\$$$$$$$ a+>_̀+=?<$$$$$$$$$

'2"$V%3!"!%5i-2f!55!5f$%&$V2(!%T ]+a\;+;?=$$$$$ ;+=̀;+\̀;$$$$$ +̀a\\+_?=$$$$$ =]+>\_+;<̀$$$$$ a=+;̀;+;;]$$$$$$$

'2"$V%3!"!%5i,5T$%&$V2(!%T \+=\?+<\a$̂$$ =+]=]+̀_a$̂$$ _+\_?+]_;$̂$$ =̀+<_>+<]a$̂$$ a\+]̀>+\<]$̂$$$$

$
@ABC$Dj$E$OFMk$lJ@JmClC@B$
$

Xe2$ !"#$!3$2n9%32T$"%$W6(!%U3$(!3*3$%&$)%33$(2)6"2T$"%$"%("3o$"e2&"$%&+$T686f2$"%+$65T$T23"(U7"!%5$%&$
6332"3o$2((%(3$65T$%8!33!%53o$!5pU(!23$"%$289)%#223o$56"U(6)$T!363"2(3o$65T$f(%U9$e26)"e$65T$T25"6)$
7)6!83q$$Xe(%Ufe$65$!5"2()%76)$6f(22825"+$"e2$ !"#$96("!7!96"23$!5$"e2$r26fU2$/33%7!6"!%5$%&$.!3*$
b656f2825"$gr/.bh+$6$9U:)!7$25"!"#$(!3*$9%%)$&%(82T$U5T2($"e2$Y5"2(f%W2(5825"6)$.!3*$
b656f2825"$/7"+$stuv$wtxv$yz{zv$027"!%53$aaia;<>$2"$32|+$"%$7%W2($"e2$(!3*$%&$)%33$2n729"$&%($
e26)"e$65T$T25"6)$7%W2(6f2+$}e!7e$!3$96("!6))#$32)&i!53U(2Tq$$Xe2$ !"#$96#3$65$655U6)$9(28!U8$
7%5"(!:U"!%5$"%$r/.b$&%($!"3$!53U(6572$7%W2(6f2$828:2(3e!9$!5$"e2$!53U(6572$9%%)q$$r/.b$
9U(7e6323$(2!53U(6572$"e(%Ufe$7%882(7!6)$7%8965!23$&%($7)6!83$!5$2n7233$%&$̂;]<+<<<$!5$"e2$
655U6)$6ff(2f6"2$&%($9(%92("#+$%($!5$2n7233$%&$̂;<<+<<<$92($3!5f)2$)%33$&%($)!6:!)!"#q$$$~%(*2(3$
 %892536"!%5$(2!53U(6572$7%W2(3$7)6!83$!5$2n7233$%&$̂?]<+<<<$&%($6$3!5f)2$)%33$%($65$655U6)$
6ff(2f6"2$)%3323$%&$̂]$8!))!%5q$$$Xe2$(2"25"!%53$822"$"e2$67"U6(!6))#$T2"2(8!52T$(2|U!(2825"3$%&$
(2TU7!5f$"e2$(!3*$%&$633233825"3$%W2($9(28!U83q$$Xe2$9%)!7#$92(!%T$!3$Z7"%:2($>+$=<>\$"%$
029"28:2($;<+$=<>?q$$Xe2$"2(83$%&$7%W2(6f2$T!T$5%"$7e65f2$3U:3"65"!6))#$!5$"e2$7U((25"$&!376)$#26($
&(%8$"e2$9(!%($&!376)$#26($65T$32"")2T$7)6!83$e6W2$5%"$2n722T2T$"e!3$7%W2(6f2$!5$65#$%&$"e2$963"$
"e(22$&!376)$#26(3q$$c(%U9$e26)"e$65T$T25"6)$7%W2(6f2$9(%W!T2T$:#$"e2$ !"#$!3$677%U5"2T$&%($!5$"e2$
Y5"2(56)$02(W!72$4U5T+$}e!7e$!3$U32T$"%$677U8U)6"2$(23%U(723$"%$&U5T$7)6!83$U5T2($"e2$ !"#�3$32)&i
!53U(2T$e26)"e$65T$T25"6)$9)653q$$ !"#$7%5"(!:U"!%53$"%$&U5T$"e!3$7%W2(6f2$6(2$(29%("2T$:#$"e2$$

67
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 274 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$DE$F$GHIJ$KL@LMCKC@B$NOA@BH@PCQR$
$
(23927"!S2$&T5U3$63$2V925U!"T(23$65U$3W%X5$63$(2S25T2$!5$"W2$Y5"2(56)$02(S!72$4T5UZ$$[W2$
289)%#223\$3W6(2$!3$6)3%$3W%X5$63$(2S25T2$!5$"W2$!5"2(56)$32(S!72$&T5UZ$$[W2$ !"#$9T(7W6323$
(2!53T(6572$"%$9(%"27"$6]6!53"$)6(]2$)%3323Z$$[W!3$(2!53T(6572$96#3$&%($!5U!S!UT6)$7)6!83$!5$2V7233$%&$
_̂<+<<<$65U$)!8!"3$ !"#$96#825"3$&%($7)6!83$UT(!5]$"W2$#26($"%$6$86V!8T8$%&$̂`̀a+̀̀ Z̀$$[W2$
029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$7)6!83$)!6:!)!"#$%&$̂aab+=_b$!3$!57)TU2U$!5$677%T5"3$65U$7%5"(67"3$96#6:)2$&%($
"W2$Y5"2(56)$02(S!72$4T5UZ$$[W!3$7)6!83$)!6:!)!"#$!3$:632U$%5$"W2$(2cT!(2825"3$%&$d%S2(5825"6)$
/77%T5"!5]$0"65U6(U3$-%6(U$0"6"2825"$'%Z$><$XW!7W$(2cT!(23$"W6"$"W2$)!6:!)!"#$&%($7)6!83$:2$
(29%("2U$!&$!5&%(86"!%5$9(!%($"%$"W2$!33T6572$%&$"W2$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3$!5U!76"23$"W6"$!"$!3$9(%:6:)2$
"W6"$6$)!6:!)!"#$W63$:225$!57T((2U$6"$"W2$U6"2$%&$&!5657!6)$3"6"2825"3$65U$"W2$68%T5"$%&$)%33$765$:2$
(263%56:)#$23"!86"2UZ$$[W!3$7)6!83$)!6:!)!"#$!57)TU23$677(T6)3$&%($7)6!83$!57T((2U$:T"$5%"$96!U$65U$$
7)6!83$!57T((2U$:T"$5%"$(29%("2UZ$$ W65]23$!5$"W2$7)6!83$)!6:!)!"#$68%T5"$&%($"W2$#26($25U!5]$
029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$65U$"W2$#26($25U!5]$029"28:2($;<+$=<>e$6(2f$$$
$

$
$

$$ $
-2]!55!5]$

$  )6!83$g$ W65]23$
!5$,3"!86"23$

$  )6!8$
h6#825"3$

$ $
,5U!5]$

$$$$$$$$$$=<>e$ $$ _̂;a+=_=$ $ =̂+<b?+>=b$ $ =̂+;_>+_ab$ $ =̂;;+?̀=$
$$$$$$$$$$=<>?$ $$ =̂;;+?̀=$ $ ;̂+<?b+ae?$ $ =̂+b=b+b<_$ $ âab+=_b$

$
@ABC$Di$j$GCkLBCQ$lLGBm$BGL@ILOBHA@I$
$

/3$U!37T332U$!5$'%"2$>Z$/Z+$"W2$ !"#+$6)%5]$X!"W$"X25"#n&%T($%"W2($7!"!23$65U$7%T5"!23$!5$'%("W263"$
'2:(63*6+$7(26"2U$"W2$'%("W263"$'2:(63*6$0%)!U$o63"2$ %6)!"!%5$p''0o qZ$$o63"2$&(%8$"W2$ !"#\3$
"(653&2($3"6"!%5$!3$"6*25$"%$"W2$''0o Z$$rT(!5]$"W2$#26(+$"W2$ !"#$96!U$"W2$''0o $̂?e;+b;>$!5$
]6(:6]2$&223$65U$6"$029"28:2($;<+$=<>?+$̂è+a;e$X63$UT2$"%$"W2$''0o Z$$[W2$ !"#$9(%S!U23$
6U8!5!3"(6"!S2$32(S!723$&%($"W2$''0o Z$$rT(!5]$"W2$#26($̂;̀+>bb$X63$(272!S2U$&(%8$"W2$''0o $
&%($6U8!5!3"(6"!S2$32(S!723Z$$[W2$ !"#$X63$(2!8:T(32U$:#$"W2$''0o $̂><+aa?$&%($''0o $
2V925323$96!U$:#$"W2$ !"#$65U$6"$029"28:2($;<+$=<>?+$̂;+_?_$X63$UT2$&(%8$"W2$''0o Z$
$
[W2$'%(&%)*$s%T3!5]$/]257#$!3$&T))#$3"6&&2U$X!"W$ !"#$%&$'%(&%)*$289)%#223Z$Y5$"W2$7T((25"$#26($"W2$
 !"#$X63$(2!8:T(32U$̂><=+eb?$&%($6$9%("!%5$%&$289)%#223\$36)6(!23Z$$[W2$s%T3!5]$/]257#$8656]23$
U!&&2(25"$9(%92("!23$65U$"W2$ !"#$9(%S!U23$6U8!5!3"(6"!S2$32(S!723Z$$rT(!5]$"W2$#26($̂>_+̀b;$X63$
(272!S2U$&(%8$"W2$s%T3!5]$/]257#Z$$$

$
@ABC$Dt$j$BLu$LvLBCKC@BI$
$

[W2$0"6"2$%&$'2:(63*6$25"2(3$!5"%$"6V$6:6"2825"$6](22825"3$X!"W$:T3!523323$T5U2($"W2$'2:(63*6$
/US65"6]2$/7"$65U$"W2$,89)%#825"$65U$Y5S23"825"$d(%X"W$/7"Z$$[W232$67"3$6))%X$&%($(2&T5U3$%&$
36)23$"6V$96!U$%5$2cT!9825"$%($%"W2($"6V6:)2$9(%92("#$9T(7W632U$!5$7%5527"!%5$X!"W$6UU!5]$6$72("6!5$
5T8:2($%&$w%:3$65U$U%))6($68%T5"$!5S23"825"Z$$4%($"W2$&!376)$#26($25U!5]$029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$"W2$
 !"#\3$36)23$"6V$(2S25T23$X2(2$(2UT72U$:#$̂_>+e;̀$T5U2($"W232$"6V$6:6"2825"$6](22825"3Z$
$

@ABC$Dx$j$IPvICyPC@B$CzC@BI$
$

{5$'%S28:2($>+$=<>?$"W2$ !"#$%&$'%(&%)*$!33T2U$̂ +̀==<+<<<$%&$ %8:!52U$|"!)!"#$.2S25T2$65U$
.2&T5U!5]$-%5U3$"%$(2&T5U$"W2$02(!23$=<>>-$65U$02(!23$=<>=$|"!)!"#$.2S25T2$-%5U3Z$$[W2$ !"#$
T32U$763W$%5$W65U$!5$"W2$o6"2($4T5U$"%$96#$̂=̀b+?_<$%&$9(!57!96)$+$UT(!5]$"W2$(2&T5U!5]Z$$[W2$52X$
:%5U3$W6S2$6$86"T(!"#$%&$r2728:2($>_+$=<;?$65U$!5"2(23"$(6"23$(65]!5]$&(%8$=Z<<}$"%$;Z=<}+$
XW2(263$"W2$02(!23$=<>>-$65U$02(!23$=<>=$-%5U3$W6U$6$86"T(!"#$%&$r2728:2($>_+$=<;>$65U$
r2728:2($>_+$=<;=$65U$!5"2(23"$(6"23$(65]!5]$&(%8$>Z<_}$"%$bZ<_}Z$$[W!3$(2UT723$U2:"$32(S!72$
96#825"3$:#$̂_̀>+>aa$%S2($"W2$52V"$&!&"225$#26(3+$65U$"W2$ !"#$%:"6!53$65$27%5%8!7$]6!5$%&$
b̂_e+>_bZ$$$
$
$

68
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 275 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

'%"23$"%$4!5657!6)$0"6"2825"3$

$ 029"28:2($;<+$=<>?$ $ $

$

@ABC$DE$F$GHIGCJHC@B$CKC@BG$LMA@BN@HCOP$
$
Q5$'%R28:2($?+$=<>?$"S2$ !"#$%&$'%(&%)*$!33T2U$V>+W=<+<<<$%&$-%5U$/5"!7!96"!%5$'%"23$"%$(2&T5U$
!5"2(!8$&!5657!5X$%&$02Y2($Z!3"(!7"$=[?\$$]5"2(23"$(6"2$!3$>\̂_̀ $Y!"S$6$86"T(!"#$%&$'%R28:2($>+$=<>_\$

$
$

$$

69
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 276 of 341



�

�
�����������		
�������������������

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 277 of 341



2017 2016 2015 2014

Total pension liability

Service cost 57,038$        27,285$        66,451$        84,332$          

Interest 201,041        243,025        76,781          230,999          

Differences between expected and actual experience (39,200)        63,779          (89,509)        (39,513)          

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (989,167)      (96,645)        (564,501)      (106,171)        

Net change in total pension liability (770,288)      237,444        (510,778)      194,429          

Total pension liability-beginning 3,312,932     3,075,488     3,586,266     3,416,619       

Total pension liability-ending (a) 2,542,644$   3,312,932$   3,075,488$   3,586,266$     

Plan fiduciary net position

Contributions-employer 39,284$        48,190$        51,220$        66,996$          

Contributions-member 5,018            9,095            10,812          17,044            

Net investment income 187,177        228,466        62,180          217,060          

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (989,167)      (96,645)        (564,501)      (106,171)        

Administrative expense (101)             (829)             (490)             (500)               

Net change in plan fiduciary net position (757,789)      188,277        (440,779)      194,429          

Plan fiduciary net position-beginning 3,283,683     3,095,406     3,536,185     3,341,756       

Plan fiduciary net position-ending (b) 2,525,894$   3,283,683$   3,095,406$   3,536,185$     

Firemen's net pension liability (asset)-ending (a) - (b) 16,750$        29,249$        (19,918)$      50,081$          

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total 99% 99% 101% 99%

    pension liability

Covered-employee payroll 77,194$        139,920$      166,340$      262,224$        

City's net pension liability (asset) as a percentage of 22% 21% (12%) 19%

    covered-employee payroll

This schedule is being built prospectively until it contains ten years of data.

Data for fiscal years 2008 to 2013 are unavailable.

City of Norfolk, NEBRASKA

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN FIREMEN'S NET PENSION LIABLITY AND RELATED RATIOS

LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS

Required Supplementary Information

September 30, 2017

70
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 278 of 341



2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Actuarially determined contribution 29,249     -                29,596      32,906      39,593      26,382      18,604      14,794      8,750        -                

Contributions in relation to the actuarially 

    determined contribution 29,249     30,000       29,596      32,906      39,593      26,382      18,604      14,794      8,750        -                

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$             (30,000)$   -$              -$             -$             -$              -$              -$             -$              -$              

Covered-employee payroll 77,194$   139,920$   166,340$  262,224$  258,540$  252,300$  351,108$  366,036$  365,988$  355,752$  

Contributions as a percentage of covered- 38% 21% 18% 13% 15% 10% 5% 4% 2% 0%

    employee payroll

Notes to Schedule

Valuation date:

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which

 contributions are reported

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry age

Amortization method Level percentage of payroll, closed

Inflation 3%

Salary increases 4%, including inflation

Investment rate of return 6%, net of pension plan expense, including inflation

Prior to the 10-1-2012 actuarial valuation, the investment

rate of return was 7%, except for the 10-1-2010 actuarial

valuation which was 6%

Withdrawal Advanced Pension Table Handbook, Turnover Scale W-70

Mortality 1994 Group Annuity Mortality-Static

City of Norfolk, NEBRASKA

Required Supplementary Information

September 30, 2017

SCHEDULE OF FIREMEN'S CONTRIBUTIONS
LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS

71
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 279 of 341



2017 2016 2015 2014

Annual money-weighted rate of return,

   net of investment expense 7.32% 7.32% 1.90% 6.56%

This schedule is being built prospectively until it contains ten years of data.

Data for fiscal years 2008 to 2013 are unavailable.

City of Norfolk, NEBRASKA

SCHEDULE OF FIRE INVESTMENT RETURNS

LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS

Required Supplementary Information

September 30, 2017

72
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 280 of 341



Variance with

Budgeted Final Budget

Original & Positiv e

Final Actual (Negativ e)

Revenue:

Taxes 13,154,005$   13,334,994$    180,989$        

Special Assessments -                  1,119               1,119              

Licenses and Permits 284,505          357,787           73,282            

Intergovernmental Revenue 406,269          633,928           227,659          

Charges for Services 2,053,459       2,067,155        13,696            

Occupation and Franchise Taxes 682,800          648,518           (34,282)           

Payments in Lieu of Taxes 125,000          141,326           16,326            

Contributions 1,500              21,104             19,604            

Loan Repayments -                  -                   -                  

Rental Income 4,517,238       4,554,859        37,621            

Proceeds from Sale of Real Estate -                      

Interest 11,000            19,875             8,875              

Keno Revenue 587,000          581,922           (5,078)             

Miscellaneous 108,000          182,937           74,937            

Total Revenue 21,930,776     22,545,524      614,748          

Current Expenditures:

Public Safety 9,973,387       9,526,265        447,122          

Public Works 3,689,919       3,179,021        510,898          

Public Library 1,572,207       1,419,269        152,938          

Parks, Recreation and Public Property 2,383,992       2,006,065        377,927          

Communtiy Improvement and Development 503,295          489,088           14,207            

General Government 2,652,098       2,600,969        51,129            

   Total Expenditures 20,774,898     19,220,677      1,554,221       

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over Expenditures 1,155,878       3,324,847        2,168,969       

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Transfers In 635,000          685,043           50,043            

Transfers Out (4,010,531)      (4,057,439)       (46,908)           

Total other Financing Sources (Uses) (3,375,531)      (3,372,396)       3,135              

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues and Other Financing   

Sources Over Expenditures and Other Financing Uses (2,219,653)$    (47,549)$          2,172,104$     

Fund Balances-Beginning of Year 5,617,591        

Fund Balances- End of Year 5,570,042$      

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

  AND ACTUAL, GENERAL FUND - BUDGETARY BASIS

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE, BUDGET

General Fund

73
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 281 of 341



SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE, BUDGET

Community Development Block Grant Fund

Variance with Variance with

Budgeted Final Budget Budgeted Final Budget

Original & Positive Original & Positive

Final Actual (Negative) Final Actual (Negative)

Revenue:

Intergovernmental Revenue 2,870,000$     3,077,342$     207,342$            1,415,000$     532,647$        (882,353)$           

Loan Repayments -                  -                  -                      20,900            67,327            46,427                

Interest 6,300              22,757            16,457                1,300              4,023              2,723                  

Miscellaneous -                  -                  -                      -                  69                   69                       

Total Revenue 2,876,300       3,100,099       223,799              1,437,200       604,066          (833,134)             

Current Expenditures:

Public Works 6,570,000       3,234,963       3,335,037           241,000          379,663          (138,663)             

Communtiy Improvement and Development -                  -                  -                      2,084,382       201,778          1,882,604           

   Total Expenditures 6,570,000       3,234,963       3,335,037           2,325,382       581,441          1,743,941           

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over Expenditures (3,693,700)      (134,864)         3,558,836           (888,182)         22,625            910,807              

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Transfers Out (415,000)         (460,000)         (45,000)               -                  -                  -                      

Total other Financing Sources (Uses) (415,000)         (460,000)         (45,000)               -                  -                  -                      

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues and Other Financing   
Sources Over Expenditures and Other Financing Uses (4,108,700)$    (594,864)$       3,513,836$         (888,182)$       22,625$          910,807$            

Fund Balances-Beginning of Year 4,204,649       875,709          

Fund Balances- End of Year 3,609,785$     898,334$        

City Highway Allocation Fund

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

  AND ACTUAL,  MAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS - BUDGETARY BASIS

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

74
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 282 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

.234!(25$0466)2728"9(#$:8&%(79"!%8$$

$ 026"27;2($<=+$>=?@$ $ $

$

$

ABCDEFG$
$
HI2$ !"#$&%))%JK$"I2K2$6(%L254(2K$!8$2K"9;)!KI!8M$"I2$;45M2"9(#$59"9$(2&)2L"25$!8$"I2$&!898L!9)$K"9"2728"KN$
$
?O$/"$%($9(%485$P9#$?+$"I2$ !"#QK$5269("728"$985$5!R!K!%8$I295K$6(269(2$985$K4;7!"$;45M2"$
(2342K"K$&%($"I2$&%))%J!8M$&!KL9)$#29($"%$"I2$ !"#$/57!8!K"(9"%($JI%$"I28$(2R!2JK$"I2$(2342K"K$J!"I$
"I2$5269("728"$985$5!R!K!%8$I295KO$

$
>O$/&"2($"I!K$(2R!2J$6(%L2KK$I9K$;228$L%76)2"25+$"I2$ !"#$/57!8!K"(9"%($6(2K28"K$"I2K2$;45M2"$
(2342K"K$"%$"I2$P9#%($985$ !"#$ %48L!)$9)%8M$J!"I$I!K$(2L%772859"!%8K$9K$"%$JI9"$LI98M2K+$!&$
98#$KI%4)5$;2$7952O$$HI2K2$;45M2"$(2342K"K$985$(2L%772859"!%8K$9(2$(2R!2J25$54(!8M$J%(*$
K2KK!%8K$%&$"I2$ !"#$ %48L!)$9"$722"!8MK$%628$"%$"I2$64;)!LO$

$
<O$/$64;)!L$I29(!8M$%8$"I2$;45M2"$!K$"I28$L%854L"25$9"$9$ !"#$ %48L!)$722"!8M$"%$%;"9!8$L!"!S28$
L%7728"KO$

$
TO$U(!%($"%$VL"%;2($?+$"I2$ !"#$ %48L!)$)2M9))#$289L"K$"I2$28K4!8M$&!KL9)$#29(QK$;45M2"$&%($9))$&485K+$
2WL26"$X!54L!9(#$X485K+$"I2$ %7748!"#$Y2R2)%6728"$/M28L#$985$ !"#$%&$'%(&%)*$X9L!)!"!2K$
 %(6%(9"!%8$Z'X [$"I(%4MI$"I2$69KK9M2$%&$98$%(5!898L2+$JI!LI$2K"9;)!KI2K$"I2$)2M9)$)2R2)$%&$
L%8"(%)$Z"I2$)2R2)$%8$JI!LI$2W6285!"4(2K$79#$8%"$)2M9))#$2WL225$966(%6(!9"!%8K[$9"$"I2$"%"9)$
M%R2(8728"9)$&485$)2R2)O$$

$
U(%6%K25$2W6285!"4(2K+$JI!LI$9(2$2W62L"25$"%$2WL225$"I2$&485QK$"%"9)$966(%6(!9"!%8+$(234!(2$
97285728"$;#$"I2$ !"#$ %48L!)O$$HI2$)2M9)$)2R2)$%&$;45M2"9(#$L%8"(%)$!K$9"$"I2$"%"9)$M%R2(8728"9)$
&485$)2R2)O$$,W6285!"4(2K$!8$2WL2KK$%&$"I2$97%48"$;45M2"25$J!"I!8$!85!R!549)$&485K$5%$8%"$(234!(2$
97285728"$;#$"I2$ !"#$ %48L!)O$
$
/66(%6(!9"!%8K$)96K2$9"$#29(\285O$$,8L47;(98L2K$%4"K"985!8M$9"$#29(\285$9(2$(26%("25$9K$
9KK!M825$&485$;9)98L2$985$M282(9))#$9(2$(2\966(%6(!9"25$!8$"I2$82W"$&!KL9)$#29(O$

$
]O$X%(79)$;45M2"9(#$!8"2M(9"!%8$!K$276)%#25$9K$9$7989M2728"$L%8"(%)$52R!L2$54(!8M$"I2$#29($&%($9))$

%̂R2(8728"9)$985$U(%6(!2"9(#$X485KO$
$
_O$HI2$;45M2"K$95%6"25$9(2$K"9"25$%8$9$L9KI$;9K!KO$$-45M2"9(#$L%769(!K%8K$9(2$6(2K28"25$!8$"I2$
&!898L!9)$K"9"2728"K$&%($"I2$M%R2(8728"9)$&485K$985$9(2$%8$"I!K$;45M2"9(#$;9K!K+$JI!LI$!K$8%"$!8$
9LL%(598L2$J!"I$̀O0O$M282(9))#$9LL26"25$9LL%48"!8M$6(!8L!6)2KO$

$
@O$HI2(2$J2(2$8%$;45M2"$97285728"K$54(!8M$"I2$#29(O$

$
$
Aabcdefgh$ijkegjl$
$

HI2$98849)$966(%6(!9"25$;45M2"$95%6"25$;#$"I2$ !"#$!K$6(269(25$%8$9$L9KI$;9K!K$985+$"I2(2&%(2+$"I2$
;45M2"9(#$;9K!K$5!&&2(K$&(%7$"I9"$4K25$"%$6(2K28"$"I2$&!898L!9)$K"9"2728"K$!8$9LL%(598L2$J!"I$̀O0O$
M282(9))#$9LL26"25$9LL%48"!8M$6(!8L!6)2K$Ẑ//U[O$$04LI$5!&&2(28L2K$985$"I2!($2&&2L"$%8$"I2$(2K62L"!R2$
&485K$(26%("25$%62(9"!%8K$9(2$K4779(!S25$9K$&%))%JKN$

75
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 283 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-./01/$

.234!(25$0466)2728"9(#$:8&%(79"!%8$$

$ 026"27;2($<=+$>=?@$ $ $

$

$

 !"#$  %7748!"#
A!BCD9#$ E2F2)%6728"

G282(9) /))%H9"!%8$ -)%H*$G(98"

,IH2JJ$K52&!H!28H#L$%&$(2F2842J$
985$%"C2($&!898H!9)$J%4(H2J$%F2($

2I6285!"4(2J$985$%"C2($&!898H!9)$
4J2J+$%8$9$;45B2"9(#$;9J!J KM@+NMOLP$$$$$$$$$$ KNOM+QRMLP$$$$$$$$ >>+R>NP$$$$$$$$$$$$$
-9J!J$5!&&2(28H2JS

T%$95U4J"$(2F2842J$&(%7$

(2H%B8!"!%8$%8$9$H9JC$;9J!J K><+MR>L$$$$$$$$$$$$ >>+NQR$$$$$$$$$$$$$ K?R>+<?RL$$$$$$$$$$$$

T%$95U4J"$"%"9)$2I6285!"4(2J$&(%7$

9$(2H%B8!"!%8$%8$9$H9JC$;9J!J KR<+<M>L$$$$$$$$$$$$ KQ>?+>?ML$$$$$$$$$$ RQ+QN>$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$

KE2&!H!28H#L$%&$(2F2842J$985$

%"C2($&!898H!9)$J%4(H2J$%F2($
2I6285!"4(2J$985$%"C2($&!898H!9)$

4J2J+$%8$9$G//V$;9J!J K?<M+<N<LP$$$$$$$$ K?+<O<+MO>LP$$$$$ K@=+Q<OLP$$$$$$$$$$$$ $
$

$
$
$ $ T%"9)$
$ $ G%F2(8728"9)$
$ $ W485J$
,I6285!"4(2J$985$%"C2($&!898H!8B$ $
$ 4J2J+$%8$9$;45B2"9(#$;9J!J$ KP<R+QR@+R>ML$
-9J!J$E!&&2(28H2JS$ $
$ T%$95U4J"$"%"9)$2I6285!"4(2J$$ $
$ $$$&(%7$(2H%B8!"!%8$%8$9$H9JC$ $
$ $$$-9J!J$ KP>+?R<+@?ML$$
$ $ $
,I6285!"4(2J$985$%"C2($&!898H!8B$ $
$ 4J2J+$%8$9$G//V$;9J!J$ KP<O+=<?+<<QL$

$
TC2$&%))%D!8B$JHC254)2$527%8J"(9"2J$"C2$ !"#XJ$)2B9)$H%76)!98H2$"%$"C2$;45B2"$
$
$ $ $ $ Y9(!98H2$
$ $ $ $ ZF2($K[852(L$
W485$ $$$$$$$$$-45B2"$ /H"49)$ -45B2"$
$G%F2(8728"9)$W485J$,I6285!"4(2J$PM@+N@R+NM<$$$P<R+QR@+R>M$PK?=+@=Q+O?OL$

$
$
$

76
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 284 of 341



 

 
 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

 

 

 

 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 285 of 341



 

GOVERNMENTAL  NONMAJOR  FUNDS 
 

 

 

VEHICLE PARKING FUND –  This fund is used to account for the revenues and expenditures of 
Parking District No. 1.  This is a special taxing district, encompassing the downtown area, created 
for the purpose of providing and maintaining off-street parking lots for employees and customers of 
the downtown businesses.  This fund also is involved with downtown promotions and 
beautification. 

 

911 FUND –  This fund is used to account for proceeds from a $1.00 per month surcharge on each 
local exchange access telephone line which physically terminates within the City of Norfolk's 
designated 911 telephone service area.  These funds are used for the provision of 911 emergency 
telephone services to various emergency response agencies in the City of Norfolk's 911 telephone 
service area.  This service area covers parts of four (4) counties and receives emergency phone 
calls for the provision of law enforcement, fire, and rescue services. 

 
SNARE FUND –  This fund is used to account for the contributions from member cities, counties and 

Nebraska State Patrol to address the drug problem in a ten county area in Northeast Nebraska. 
 
REGION 11 EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT FUND –  This fund is used to account for revenue 

received for emergency management in Antelope County, Pierce County, Madison County and the 
City of Norfolk.  These governments contribute to the fund based upon population.  This fund also 
accounts for emergency management grants received for the area. 

 
STORM WATER MANAGEMENT –  This fund is used to account for revenue to implement the Storm 

Water Management Plan required by the Nebraska Legislature in 2006  The Nebraska Department 
of Environmental Quality (NDEQ) grants funds according to population size and there must be a 
20% match from the community. 

 
WIRELESS 911 FUND –  This fund was created pursuant to an agreement with the Nebraska Public 

Service Commission to track receipts from the State for wireless 911 taxes.  The funds are used 
for equipment, software, maintenance, and any other expenditure necessary for the provision of 
wireless 911 service. 

 
LB840 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND –  This fund is used to account for receipts from the levy 

of property taxes on real and personal property for the LB 840 economic development program.  
LB 840 was the legislative bill approved by the Nebraska Legislature in 1991 adopting the Local 
Option Municipal Economic Development Act.  This Act authorizes cities to spend local sales or 
property tax revenue for economic development including offering incentives to attract business. 

 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT OPERATING FUND –  This fund was created to account for the 

operations of the Economic Development Fund.  Madison County and the City of Norfolk both 
contribute $100,000 to fund personnel costs, travel, and other necessary operating expenses 
relating to economic development. 

 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AGENCY FUND –  This fund is used to account for the construction 
of fixed assets financed by the issuance of tax increment financing bonds by the Community 
Development Agency of the City of Norfolk.   

 
 
 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 286 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

Governmental Nonmajor Funds

September 30, 2017

 

 Vehicle Storm Water

Parking 911 SNARE Region 11 Management

Assets

Cash and Equity in Pooled Investment Account 60,057$        8,745$       195,072$  246,085$    109,910$        

Cash at County Treasurer 6,939            -            -           -              -                  

Receivables (Net, where applicable, of allowance

for uncollectibles) 

Accounts 45                 -            162           -              -                  

Taxes 5,634            41,972       -           -              -                  

Accrued Interest 217               156            546           608             346                 

Notes Receivable 23,262          -            -           -              -                  

Due from Other Governmental Agencies -                -            -           20,224        -                  

Prepaid Assets -                3,223         1,400        -              1,090              

   Total Assets 96,154          54,096       197,180    266,917      111,346          

Liabilities

Accounts Payable 7,495            128            530           641             11,292            

Unearned Revenue -                -            -           -              -                  

   Total Liabilities 7,495            128            530           641             11,292            

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Unavailable Revenue-Property Taxes 4,713            -            -           -              -                  

Unavailable Revenue-Loan Repayments 23,262          -            -           -              -                  

   Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 27,975          -            -           -              -                  

Fund Balances 

Non Spendable -                3,223         1,400        -              1,090              

Restricted 60,684          50,745       195,250    266,276      98,964            

Total Fund Balances 60,684          53,968       196,650    266,276      100,054          

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Equity 96,154$        54,096$     197,180$  266,917$    111,346$        

Special Revenue Funds

77
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 287 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

Governmental Nonmajor Funds

Special Revenue Funds

Total

LB 840 Economic Community Governmental

Wireless Economic Development Development Nonmajor

911 Development Operating Agency Funds

294,857$          452,103$        258,450$          378,049$              2,003,328$                   

-                   54,912            -                   -                       61,851                          

-                   -                  -                   -                       207                               

-                   10,497            -                   -                       58,103                          

739                   1,182              772                   -                       4,566                            

-                   600                 -                   -                       23,862                          

-                   -                  -                   -                       20,224                          

12,237              -                  -                   -                       17,950                          

307,833            519,294          259,222            378,049                2,190,091                     

545                   -                  1,707                -                       22,338                          

-                   1,931              -                   -                       1,931                            

545                   1,931              1,707                -                       24,269                          

-                   8,241              -                   -                       12,954                          

-                   600                 -                   -                       23,862                          

-                   8,841              -                   -                       36,816                          

12,237              -                  -                   -                       17,950                          

295,051            508,522          257,515            378,049                2,111,056                     

307,288            508,522          257,515            378,049                2,129,006                     

307,833$          519,294$        259,222$          378,049$              2,190,091$                   

September 30, 2017

Capital Projects

78
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 288 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

Governmental Nonmajor Funds

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

 

 Vehicle Storm Water

Parking 911 SNARE Region 11 Management

Revenue:

Taxes 78,761$        -$       -$         -$            -$                

Intergovernmental Revenue 5,418            -            6,000        118,412      38,342            

Occupation & Franchise Taxes -                215,988     -           -              -                  

Payments in Lieu of Taxes -                -            -           -              -                  

Nongovernmental Grants -                -            -           -              -                  

Rental Income 21,845          -            -           -              -                  

Loan Repayments 4,174            -            -           -              -                  

Interest 1,118            431            1,454        1,439          791                 

Miscellaneous 8                   -            9,083        -              -                  

Total Revenue 111,324        216,419     16,537      119,851      39,133            

Expenditures:

Public Safety -                7,439         47,765      101,741      -                  

Public Works 137,565        -            -           -              64,378            

Community Improvement and  Development -                -            -           -              -                  

Debt Service 21,017          -            -           -              -                  

   Total Expenditures 158,582        7,439         47,765      101,741      64,378            

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over Expenditures (47,258)         208,980     (31,228)    18,110        (25,245)           

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Transfers In -                -            -           39,502        7,668              

Transfers Out -                (220,000)   -           -              -                  

Total other Financing Sources (Uses) -                (220,000)   -           39,502        7,668              

Net Change in Fund Balance (47,258)         (11,020)     (31,228)    57,612        (17,577)           

Fund Balances - Beginning of Year 107,942        64,988       227,878    208,664      117,631          

Fund Balances - End of Year 60,684$        53,968$     196,650$  266,276$    100,054$        

Special Revenue Funds

79
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 289 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (CONTINUED)

Governmental Nonmajor Funds

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

Total

LB 840 Economic Community Governmental

Wireless Economic Development Development Nonmajor

911 Development Operating Agency Funds

-$                 384,679$        -$                 -$                     463,440$                   

92,266              36,562            153,482            -                       450,482                     

-                   -                  -                   -                       215,988                     

-                   24,900            -                   -                       24,900                       

-                   -                  50,000              -                       50,000                       

-                   -                  -                   -                       21,845                       

-                   -                  -                   -                       4,174                         

1,735                2,745              1,729                1,912                    13,354                       

-                   -                  -                   -                       9,091                         

94,001              448,886          205,211            1,912                    1,253,274                     

30,138              -                  -                   -                       187,083                     

-                   -                  -                   -                       201,943                     

-                   -                  345,489            -                       345,489                     

-                   382,590          -                   -                       403,607                     

30,138              382,590          345,489            -                       1,138,122                     

63,863              66,296            (140,278)          1,912                    115,152                        

-                   -                  153,482            -                       200,652                     

(5,042)              -                  -                   -                       (225,042)                    

(5,042)              -                  153,482            -                       (24,390)                         

58,821              66,296            13,204              1,912                    90,762                          

248,467            442,226          244,311            376,137                2,038,244                  

307,288$          508,522$        257,515$          378,049$              2,129,006$                   

Special Revenue Funds Capital Projects

80
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 290 of 341



SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE, BUDGET

Variance with Variance with Variance with

Budgeted Final Budget Budgeted Final Budget Budgeted Final Budget

Original & Positive Original & Positive Original & Positive

Final Actual (Negative) Final Actual (Negative) Final Actual (Negative)

Revenue:

Taxes 80,453$     78,119$    (2,334)$           -$           -$         -$                   -$           -$           -$                 

Intergovernmental Revenue 300            5,418        5,118              46,900       32,400     (14,500)              -             -             -                   

Occupation and Franchise Taxes -             -            -                  -             -           -                     225,000     219,898     (5,102)              

Loan Repayments 5,006         4,175        (831)                -             -           -                     -             -             -                   

Rental Income 33,000       21,823      (11,177)           -             -           -                     -             -             -                   

Interest 987            1,013        26                   -             907          907                    40              297            257                  

Miscellaneous -             8               8                     -             9,083       9,083                 -             -             -                   

Total Revenue 119,746     110,556    (9,190)             46,900       42,390     (4,510)                225,040     220,195     (4,845)              

Current Expenditures:

Public Safety -             -            -                  76,827       48,821     28,006               8,088         10,177       (2,089)              

Public Works 161,875     131,749    30,126            -             -           -                     -             -             -                   

Debt Service 21,018       21,018      -                  -             -           -                     -             -             -                   

   Total Expenditures 182,893     152,767    30,126            76,827       48,821     28,006               8,088         10,177       (2,089)              

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures (63,147)      (42,211)     20,936            (29,927)      (6,431)      23,496               216,952     210,018     (6,934)              

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Transfers Out -             -            -                  -             -           -                     (220,000)    (220,000)    -                   

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -             -            -                  -             -           -                     (220,000)    (220,000)    -                   

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues and Other

Financing Sources Over Expenditures and
Other Financing Uses (63,147)$    (42,211)$   20,936$          (29,927)$    (6,431)$    23,496$             (3,048)$      (9,982)$      (6,934)$            

Fund Balances-Beginning of Year 109,207    201,503   18,727       

Fund Balances- End of Year 66,996$    195,072$ 8,745$       

Vehicle Parking 911SNARE

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

  AND ACTUAL, NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS - BUDGETARY BASIS

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

81
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 291 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE, BUDGET

  AND ACTUAL, NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS - BUDGETARY BASIS (CONTINUED)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

Variance with Variance with

Budgeted Final Budget Budgeted Final Budget

Original & Positive Original & Positive

Final Actual (Negative) Final Actual (Negative)

Revenue:

Intergovernmental Revenue 124,254$ 115,254$ (9,000)$            46,296$   38,342$   (7,954)$           

Interest 600          1,057       457                  200          578          378                 

Total Revenue 124,854   116,311   (8,543)              46,496     38,920     (7,576)             

Current Expenditures:

Public Safety 143,540   107,992   35,548             -           -           -                  

Public Works -           -           -                   153,413   53,606     99,807            

   Total Expenditures 143,540   107,992   35,548             153,413   53,606     99,807            

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures (18,686)    8,319       27,005             (106,917)  (14,686)    92,231            

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Transfers In 39,502     39,502     -                   9,259       7,668       (1,591)             

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 39,502     39,502     -                   9,259       7,668       (1,591)             

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues and Other

Financing Sources Over Expenditures and
Other Financing Uses 20,816$   47,821$   27,005$           (97,658)$  (7,018)$    90,640$          

Fund Balances-Beginning of Year 198,264   116,928   

Fund Balances- End of Year 246,085$ 109,910$ 

REGION 11 Storm Water Management

82
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 292 of 341



SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE, BUDGET

Variance with Variance with Variance with

Budgeted Final Budget Budgeted Final Budget Budgeted Final Budget

Original & Positive Original & Positive Original & Positive

Final Actual (Negative) Final Actual (Negative) Final Actual (Negative)

Revenue:

Taxes -$            -$             -$                 400,100$     383,789$     (16,311)$           -$             -$             -$                 

Intergovernmental Revenue 90,886        92,266         1,380               1,300           36,562         35,262              153,482       153,482       -                   

Payments in Lieu of Taxes -              -               -                   27,000         24,900         (2,100)               -               -               -                   

Nongovernmental Grants -              -               -                   -               -               -                    50,000         50,000         -                   

Interest 700             1,277           577                  1,975           2,951           976                   700              1,243           543                  

Total Revenue 91,586        93,543         1,957               430,375       448,202       17,827              204,182       204,725       543                  

Current Expenditures:

Public Safety 34,484        45,850         (11,366)            -               -               -                    -               -               -                   

Communtiy Improvement and Development -              -               -                   -               -               -                    390,041       351,738       38,303             

Debt Service -              -               -                   382,590       382,590       -                    -               -               -                   

   Total Expenditures 34,484        45,850         (11,366)            382,590       382,590       -                    390,041       351,738       38,303             

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over Expenditures 57,102        47,693         (9,409)              47,785         65,612         17,827              (185,859)      (147,013)      38,846             

Other Financing Sources:

Transfers In -              -               -                   -               -               -                    153,482       153,482       -                   

Total Other Financing Sources -              -               -                   -               -               -                    153,482       153,482       -                   

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues and Other

Financing Sources over Expenditures and
Other Financing Uses 57,102$      47,693$       (9,409)$            47,785$       65,612$       17,827$            (32,377)$      6,469$         38,846$           

Fund Balances-Beginning of Year 247,164       441,403       251,981       

Fund Balances- End of Year 294,857$     507,015$     258,450$     

Economic Development Operating

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

  AND ACTUAL, NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS - BUDGETARY BASIS (CONTINUED)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

Wireless 911 LB 840 Economic Development

83
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 293 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE, BUDGET

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

Variance with Variance with

Budgeted Final Budget Budgeted Final Budget

Original & Positive Original & Positive

Final Actual (Negative) Final Actual (Negative)

Revenue:

Intergovernmental Revenue 1,146,898$   428,961$        (717,937)$      -$             -$             -$                 

Contributions 135,500        415,349          279,849         -               -               -                   

Interest 9,700            33,950            24,250           926              1,643            717                  

Miscellaneous -                -                  -                 -               29,200          29,200             

Total Revenue 1,292,098     878,260          (413,838)        926              30,843          29,917             

Expenditures:

Public Safety 716,305        341,936          374,369         -               -               -                   

Public Works 1,821,750     377,903          1,443,847      2,823,340    -               2,823,340        

Public Library 5,274,000     2,570,117       2,703,883      -               -               -                   

Parks, Recreation and Public Property 1,558,660     597,015          961,645         224,000       285               223,715           

Communtiy Improvement and Development 150,000        -                  150,000         -               -               -                   

General Government -                38,899            (38,899)          -               -               -                   

Debt Service -                -                  -                 44,250         21,150          23,100             

   Total Expenditures 9,520,715     3,925,870       5,594,845      3,091,590    21,435          3,070,155        

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures (8,228,617)    (3,047,610)      5,181,007      (3,090,664)   9,408            3,100,072        

Other Financing Sources:

Proceeds from Debt Financing 1,585,000     -                  (1,585,000)     3,080,000    -               (3,080,000)       

Transfers In 3,675,133     3,747,634       72,501           -               -               -                   

Total Other Financing Sources 5,260,133     3,747,634       (1,512,499)     3,080,000    -               (3,080,000)       

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues and Other Financing Sources  
Over Expenditures and Other Financing Uses (2,968,484)$  700,024$        3,668,508$    (10,664)$      9,408$          20,072$           

Fund Balances-Beginning of Year 6,307,101       342,048        

Fund Balances- End of Year 7,007,125$     351,456$      

  AND ACTUAL, CAPITAL PROJECT FUNDS - BUDGETARY BASIS

Capital Construction Special Assessments

84
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 294 of 341



For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

Variance with

Budgeted Final Budget

Original & Positive

Final Actual (Negative)

Revenue:

Taxes 690,676$         662,687$        (27,989)$                 

Special Assessments 68,554             193,743          125,189                  

Intergovernmental Revenue -                  63,132            63,132                    

Occupation and Franchise Taxes 1,804,000        1,838,678       34,678                    

Payments in Lieu of Taxes 40,000             42,995            2,995                      

Interest 30,103             46,275            16,172                    

Total Revenue 2,633,333        2,847,510       214,177                  

Current Expenditures:

Parks, Recreation and Public Property 36,080             36,791            (711)                        

General Government -                  6,000              (6,000)                     

Debt Service 2,508,994        3,978,667       (1,469,673)              

   Total Expenditures 2,545,074        4,021,458       (1,476,384)              

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures 88,259             (1,173,948)      (1,262,207)              

Other Financing Sources:

Proceeds from Debt Financing -                  1,520,000       1,520,000               

Transfers In 133,155           121,652          (11,503)                   

Total Other Financing Sources 133,155           1,641,652       1,508,497               

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues and Other Financing Sources  
Over Expenditures and Other Financing Uses 221,414$         467,704$        246,290$                

Fund Balances-Beginning of Year 3,859,057       

Fund Balances- End of Year 4,326,761$     

  AND ACTUAL, DEBT SERVICE FUND - BUDGETARY BASIS

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE, BUDGET

Debt service

85
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 295 of 341



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BUSINESS TYPE ACTIVITIES 
 

 

 
 
Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner 
similar to private business enterprises, where the intent of the government is that the cost of providing 
goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily 
through user charges; or where the government has decided that periodic determination of net income 
is appropriate for accountability purposes. 
 

 

 
 
COMBINED UTILITY FUND - This fund is used to account for the operations of the City's water and 

sewer utilities and the solid waste transfer station. 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 296 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

COMBINING DEPARTMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NET POSITION

COMBINED UTILITIES

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

Solid Waste

Water Sewer Management

ASSETS Division Division Division Totals

Current Assets:

   Cash and Equity in Pooled

      Investment Account $4,824,484 $2,771,417 $763,898 $8,359,799

   Receivables:

      Accounts 610,440 710,399 222,346 1,543,185

      Special Assessments 2,183  -    -                   2,183

      Interest 12,464 15,123 1,912 29,499

  Restricted Cash:

      Cash & Cash Equivalents 17,969 319,060 -                   337,029

   Inventories:

      Fiber Optic System Held for Resale 218,042 -                    -                   218,042

         Total Current Assets 5,685,582 3,815,999 988,156 10,489,737

Noncurrent Assets:

   Restricted Assets:

      Restricted Cash 195,007 1,356,620  -    1,551,627

Property, Plant and Equipment:

   Land 2,353,977 760,603 52,284 3,166,864

   Water and Pollution Control Plant 9,636,308 16,073,929 968,819 26,679,056

   Water Distribution and Sewage System 22,677,022 12,882,272 -                   35,559,294

   Equipment 1,897,093 3,682,186 1,364,965 6,944,244

   Construction in Progress 82,976 3,026,036 -                   3,109,012

36,647,376 36,425,026 2,386,068 75,458,470

   Less Accumulated Depreciation 10,653,484 16,959,899 1,113,710 28,727,093

   Total Property, Plant and Equipment (Net of

      Accumulated Depreciation) 25,993,892       19,465,127       1,272,358        46,731,377        

      Total Noncurrent Assets 26,188,899       20,821,747       1,272,358        48,283,004        

      Total Assets 31,874,481       24,637,746       2,260,514        58,772,741        

(Continued)

86
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 297 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

COMBINING DEPARTMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NET POSITION (Continued)

COMBINED UTILITIES

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

Solid Waste

LIABILITIES AND Water Sewer Management

EQUITY Division Division Division Totals

Current Liabilities:

   Accounts and Contracts Payable $91,161 $654,841 $94,619 $840,621

   Accrued Compensated Absences 55,984 57,164 31,979 145,127

   Payables from Restricted Assets:

      Accrued Interest Payable 2,219 44,810 -                   47,029

      Revenue Bonds - Current 15,750 274,250 -                   290,000

      Total Current Liabilities 165,114 1,031,065 126,598 1,322,777

Noncurrent Liabilities:

   Good Faith Deposit - Revenue Bonds -       93,600 -                   93,600

   Revenue Bonds 279,000 5,131,000 -                   5,410,000

   Accrued Compensated Absences 67,317 79,545 44,763 191,625

      Total Noncurrent Liabilities 346,317 5,304,145 44,763 5,695,225

      Total Liabilities 511,431 6,335,210 171,361 7,018,002

Net Position

Net Investment in Capital Assets 25,699,142       14,059,877       1,272,358        41,031,377        

Restricted for:

Debt Service 210,757            930,913            -                   1,141,670          

Future Capital Assets -                   699,957            -                   699,957             

Unrestricted 5,453,151         2,611,789         816,795           8,881,735          

Total Net Position 31,363,050$     18,302,536$     2,089,153$      51,754,739$      

87
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 298 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA       

COMBINING DEPARTMENTAL SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

COMBINED UTILITIES

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

Solid Waste

Water Sewer Management

Division Division Division Totals

Operating Revenues:

User Charges $2,941,641 $4,340,804 $1,994,477 $9,276,922

Rental Income 92,836                7,700                    -                   100,536            

Miscellaneous Income 19,790 1,146 923 21,859

Total Operating Revenues 3,054,267 4,349,650 1,995,400 9,399,317

Operating Expenses:

Payroll and Related Taxes and Benefits 835,539 875,780 534,339 2,245,658

Utilities 237,784 364,095 29,168 631,047

Repairs and Maintenance 275,627 758,027 160,760 1,194,414

Purchased Services -                     -                        835,255 835,255

General and Administration 311,718 434,463 154,041 900,222

Depreciation and Amortization 600,547 580,312 116,806 1,297,665

Total Operating Expenses 2,261,215 3,012,677 1,830,369 7,104,261

Operating Income 793,052 1,336,973 165,031 2,295,056

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):

Interest on Bonds and Other Debt (7,949) (155,834) -                   (163,783)

Interest Income 28,933 32,617 2,868               64,418

Interfund Transfers Out -                     (12,500)                 -                   (12,500)

Gain (Loss) on Disposal of Capital Assets (979)                   4,691 -                   3,712

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 20,005 (131,026) 2,868 (108,153)

            Income before Capital Contributions 813,057 1,205,947 167,899 2,186,903

Capital Contributions 472,797  -       -                   472,797

Change in Net Position 1,285,854 1,205,947 167,899 2,659,700

Net Position - Beginning of Period 30,077,196 17,096,589 1,921,254 49,095,039

Net Position - End of Period $31,363,050 $18,302,536 $2,089,153 $51,754,739

88
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 299 of 341



 

  Solid Waste  

Water Sewer Management

Division Division Division Totals

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Cash Received from Customers 2,965,301$    4,226,767$     1,994,858$         9,186,926$    

Cash Paid to Suppliers for Goods and Services (908,194)        (1,377,333)      (1,176,218)          (3,461,745)     

Cash Paid to Employees for Services (829,715)        (874,190)         (529,952)             (2,233,857)     

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 1,227,392      1,975,244       288,688              3,491,324      

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING 

ACTIVITIES:

Acquisition and Construction of Capital Assets (440,461)        (2,952,656)      (63,577)               (3,456,694)     

Good Faith Deposit on Bond Sale -                 93,600            -                      93,600           

Transfers In (Out) -                 (12,500)           -                      (12,500)          

Principal Paid on Notes and Bonds (140,250) (754,750) -                      (895,000)        

Interest Paid on Notes and Bonds (8,455)            (159,437)         -                      (167,892)        

Activities (589,166)        (3,785,743)      (63,577)               (4,438,486)     

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Interest and Dividends on Investments 21,455           24,592            1,567                  47,614           

Net Cash Provided (Used) for Investing Activities 21,455           24,592            1,567                  47,614           

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 659,681         (1,785,907)      226,678              (899,548)        

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 4,377,779      6,233,004       537,220              11,148,003    

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 5,037,460$    4,447,097$     763,898$            10,248,455$  

(Continued)

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

COMBINING DEPARTMENTAL SCHEDULE OF CASH FLOWS

Combined Utilities

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

89
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 300 of 341



 

  Solid Waste  

Water Sewer Management

Division Division Division Totals

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net

Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Operating Income 793,052$       1,336,973$     165,031$            2,295,056$    

Adjustments to Reconcile Net Operating Income to Net Cash 

Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation and Amortization 600,547         580,312          116,806              1,297,665      

(Increase) Decrease in Assets:

Accounts Receivable (88,966)          (122,883)         (542)                    (212,391)        

Prepaid Assets 1,435             1,435              -                      2,870             

Increase (Decrease) in Liabilities:

Accounts and Contracts Payable (84,500)          177,817          3,006                  96,323           

Accrued Compensated Absences 5,824             1,590              4,387                  11,801           

Total Adjustments 434,340         638,271          123,657              1,196,268      

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 1,227,392$    1,975,244$     288,688$            3,491,324$    

Supplemental Schedule of Noncash Capital and Related 

Financing Activities:

Developers Contribution of Distribution System 472,797$       -$                    -$                    472,797$       

Accounts Payable Exchanged for Capital Assets 11,586$         364,844$        5,548$                381,978$       

Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents to the Balance 

Sheet:

Cash and Equity in Pooled Investment Account 4,824,484$    2,771,417$     763,898$            8,359,799$    

Restricted Cash - Current 17,969           319,060          -                      337,029         

Restricted Cash - Noncurrent 195,007         1,356,620       -                      1,551,627      

5,037,460$    4,447,097$     763,898$            10,248,455$  

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

COMBINING DEPARTMENTAL SCHEDULE OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

Combined Utilities

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

90
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 301 of 341



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FIDUCIARY  FUNDS 
 

 

 
 
Trust Funds are used to account for assets held by the City in a trustee capacity.  Agency Funds 
are used to account for assets held by the City as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other 
governments and/or other funds. 
 

 

 
 
PENSION TRUST FUNDS: 

 
FIREMEN'S RETIREMENT FUND - This fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources for 

pension benefit payments to qualified firefighters. 
 
POLICE RETIREMENT FUND - This fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources for 

pension benefit payments to qualified police officers.   
 
CIVILIAN RETIREMENT FUND - This fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources for 

pension benefit payments to qualified employees of the City. 
 
AGENCY FUND: 
 
 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AGENCY FUND – This fund is used to account for the accumulation 

of resources for payment of principal and interest on tax increment financing bonds issued by the 
Community Development Agency of the City of Norfolk.  These bonds were issued to provide the 
long-term financing for the redevelopment of the Southwest Norfolk Redevelopment Plan area and 
the Meadow Ridge Housing Development area.  These bonds are payable only from real estate 
taxes on certain property located within these plan areas and do not constitute general obligations 
of the Agency or the City. 

 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 302 of 341



Firemen's Firemen's Police Civilian

Defined Contribution Defined Benefit Retirement Retirement

Retirement Fund Retirement Fund Fund Fund Total

ASSETS

   Guaranteed Insurance Contracts 828,907$                  1,583,726$         2,505,233$     9,967,791$       14,885,657$   

   Open Ended Mutual Funds 5,438,157                 912,919              7,192,360       18,123,263       31,666,699     

   Contributions Receivable -                            29,249                -                 -                    29,249            

      Total Assets 6,267,064                 2,525,894           9,697,593       28,091,054       46,581,605     

NET POSITION

Restricted for Pensions 6,267,064                 2,525,894           9,697,593       28,091,054       46,581,605     
      Total Net Position 6,267,064$               2,525,894$         9,697,593$     28,091,054$     46,581,605$   

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Employee Retirement Funds

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

91
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 303 of 341



Firemen's Firemen's Police Civilian

Defined Contribution Defined Benefit Retirement Retirement

Retirement Fund Retirement Fund Fund Fund Total

ADDITIONS

   Contributions:

      Employer 230,665$                  39,284$              174,955$        510,346$          955,250$        

      Employee 115,333              5,018            174,955    808,106      1,103,412       

   Total Contributions 345,998              44,302          349,910    1,318,452   2,058,662       

   Investment Income:

      Interest, Dividends & Market Gains 781,104                    187,177              1,005,518       2,723,018         4,696,817       

         Total Additions 1,127,102                 231,479              1,355,428       4,041,470         6,755,479       

DEDUCTIONS

   Pension Benefits -                            57,635                14,400            619,824            691,859          

   Contribution Refunds 322,140                    931,532              109,530          497,589            1,860,791       

   Administration 1,270                        101                     877                 2,312                4,560              

      Total Deductions 323,410                    989,268              124,807          1,119,725         2,557,210       

         Change in Net Position 803,692                    (757,789)             1,230,621       2,921,745         4,198,269       

Net Position -- Beginning of Period 5,463,372                 3,283,683           8,466,972       25,169,309       42,383,336     

Net Position -- End of Period 6,267,064$               2,525,894$         9,697,593$     28,091,054$     46,581,605$   

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

Employee Retirement Funds

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION

92
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 304 of 341



Balance   Balance   

September 30, Additions Deductions September 30,

2016 2017

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Assets

Cash 532,272$            39,937$     42,000$       530,209$            

Cash at County Treasurer 10,263 10,260 10,263 10,260                

Total Assets 542,535$            50,197$     52,263$       540,469$            

Liabilities

Due to Bondholders 542,535$            50,197$     52,263$       540,469$            

Total Liabilities 542,535$            50,197$     52,263$       540,469$            

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES - AGENCY FUND

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

Fiduciary Funds

For the Year Ended September 30, 2017

93
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 305 of 341



 

STATISTICAL SECTION 

 

 

 

 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 306 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK NEBRASKA

STATISTICAL SECTION
(Unaudited)

This part of the City of Norfolk's Comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a 

context for understanding the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and  required

supplementary information says about the City's overall financial health.   This information has not been 

audited by the independent auditor.

Contents Table

Financial Trends

          These tables contain trend information that may assist the reader in assessing the City's 1-4

          current financial performance by placing it in historical perspective.

Revenue Capacity 

            These tables contain information that may assist the reader in assessing the City's most 5-11

            significant local revenue sources, property tax and sales tax.

Debt Capacity

           These tables present information that may assist the reader in analyzing the affordability of 12-15

           the City's current levels of outstanding debt and the City's ability to issue additional debt in 

           the future.

Economic & Demographic Information 16-17

            These tables offer economic and demographic indicators to assist the reader in understanding

            the environment within which the government's financial activities take place.

Operating Information 18-20

            These tables contain service and infrastructure indicators that can inform one's understanding

            how the information in the City's financial statements relates to the services the City provides

            and the activities it performs.

Source:

Unless otherwise noted the information in these tables is derived from the annual financial report for the 

revelant year.  

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 307 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
NET POSITION BY COMPONENT

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(accrual basis of accounting)

TABLE 1   

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Governmental Activities

    Net Investment in Capital Assets 50,736,098$      40,610,264$      39,859,311$      39,846,176$      38,561,536$      

    Restricted for:

          Debt Service 2,575,381          2,310,289          2,056,725          1,718,817          1,556,817          

          Road Projects 2,922,144          4,315,636          3,038,500          1,587,443          2,655,276          

          Community Programs and Services 6,186,742          7,067,955          5,475,708          3,284,448          2,654,437          

    Unrestricted 14,983,957        16,820,853        17,893,551        16,711,180        15,527,684        

Total Governmental Activities Net Position 77,404,322$      71,124,997$      68,323,795$      63,148,064$      60,955,750$      

Business-Type Activities

    Net Investment in Capital Assets 41,031,377$      37,513,730$      37,014,955$      36,984,047$      33,609,113$      

    Restricted 1,841,627          2,609,219          2,480,450          2,545,137          2,732,672          

    Unrestricted 8,881,735          8,972,087          7,981,527          6,344,841          7,773,246          

Total Business-Type Activities Net Position 51,754,739$      49,095,036$      47,476,932$      45,874,025$      44,115,031$      

Primary Government:

    Net Investment in Capital Assets 91,767,475$      78,123,994$      76,874,266$      76,830,223$      72,170,649$      

    Restricted 13,525,894        16,303,099        13,051,383        9,135,845          9,599,202          

    Unrestricted 23,865,692        25,792,940        25,875,078        23,056,021        23,300,930        

Total Primary Government Net Position 129,159,061$    120,220,033$    115,800,727$    109,022,089$    105,070,781$    

Fiscal Year

94
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 308 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
NET POSITION BY COMPONENT

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(accrual basis of accounting)

TABLE 1 (CONT.) 

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Governmental Activities

    Net Investment in Capital Assets 37,538,073$      36,664,204$      36,774,090$      36,650,941$      35,777,924$      

    Restricted for:

          Debt Service 1,117,646          504,468             1,193,594          1,218,131          1,255,485          

          Road Projects 2,761,835          2,787,524          -                     -                     -                     

          Community Programs and Services 2,469,929          1,869,768          -                     -                     -                     

    Unrestricted 14,750,599        13,682,990        14,066,386        14,205,078        13,841,116        

Total Governmental Activities Net Position 58,638,082$      55,508,954$      52,034,070$      52,074,150$      50,874,525$      

Business-Type Activities

    Net Investment in Capital Assets 33,789,528$      33,161,053$      29,797,795$      28,504,434$      28,220,779$      

    Restricted 2,233,386          1,723,206          2,570,858          2,513,381          2,479,789          

    Unrestricted 6,559,493          5,251,421          6,555,425          6,831,206          6,545,033          

Total Business-Type Activities Net Position 42,582,407$      40,135,680$      38,924,078$      37,849,021$      37,245,601$      

Primary Government:

    Net Investment in Capital Assets 71,327,601$      69,825,257$      66,571,885$      65,155,375$      63,998,703$      

    Restricted 8,582,796          6,884,966          2,570,858          2,513,381          2,479,789          

    Unrestricted 21,310,092        18,934,411        20,621,811        21,036,284        20,386,149        

Total Primary Government Net Position 101,220,489$    95,644,634$      89,764,554$      88,705,040$      86,864,641$      

Fiscal Year

95
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 309 of 341



TABLE 2

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Expenses

Governmental Activities

     General Government 3,311,385$       2,462,887$       2,622,419$       2,552,931$       1,851,020$       2,434,382$       1,660,197$       2,940,797$       2,363,397$       1,984,006$      

      Public Safety 10,152,789       10,133,933       9,111,824         8,912,927         8,750,908         8,507,028         8,473,093         8,137,286         7,841,533         7,638,269        

      Public Works 4,949,525         5,494,622         5,279,551         7,114,441         6,282,178         5,426,164         6,877,940         5,477,606         5,664,242         4,513,410        

      Public Library 1,478,371         1,461,349         1,386,198         1,409,728         1,308,791         1,258,780         1,203,191         1,163,623         1,173,863         1,123,880        

      Parks, Recreation and Public Property 2,970,064         3,354,612         2,927,345         2,674,471         3,012,478         2,176,083         1,468,214         1,599,713         1,604,612         1,383,166        

      Community Improvement & Development 1,035,861         4,217,807         1,213,129         994,906            1,199,963         825,295            686,717            1,287,249         999,898            543,549           

      Debt Service 323,382            454,900            673,579            626,377            673,495            699,623            565,025            218,415            272,480            296,199           

Total Governmental Activities Expenses 24,221,377       27,580,110       23,214,045       24,285,781       23,078,833       21,327,355       20,934,377       20,824,689       19,920,025       17,482,479      

Business-Type Activities

      Water Division 2,269,164         2,294,958         2,102,160         2,386,409         2,448,790         2,078,471         1,990,118         1,977,520         1,877,440         1,925,737        

      Sewer Division 3,168,511         3,293,531         3,075,988         2,770,537         2,999,679         2,709,764         2,644,975         2,696,190         2,529,041         2,691,318        

      Solid Waste Division 1,830,369         1,763,283         1,763,897         1,739,883         1,593,608         1,659,361         1,649,899         1,668,167         1,579,945         1,672,295        

Total Business-Type Activities 7,268,044         7,351,772         6,942,045         6,896,829         7,042,077         6,447,596         6,284,992         6,341,877         5,986,426         6,289,350        

Total Primary Government Expenses 31,489,421$     34,931,882$     30,156,090$     31,182,610$     30,120,910$     27,774,951$     27,219,369$     27,166,566$     25,906,451$     23,771,829$    

Program Revenues

Governmental Activities:

      Charges for Services

         General Government 675,443$          550,560$          493,501$          514,625$          544,417$          484,150$          482,968$          386,342$          431,612$          366,850$         

         Public Safety 1,175,687         1,104,698         1,110,300         1,098,611         1,013,391         965,103            978,401            922,686            991,781            1,149,353        

         Public Works 141,147            100,707            110,592            124,738            113,369            182,375            109,797            122,459            132,948            125,042           

         Public Library 27,119              29,056              30,326              28,627              25,820              27,149              26,970              24,134              25,588              28,091             

         Parks, Recreation and Public Property 493,930            495,207            462,350            446,982            445,399            471,172            113,352            139,042            145,293            149,314           

         Community Improvement and Development 102,647            113,526            98,601              80,000              120,000            120,000            120,000            115,146            84,000              61,000             

      Operating Grants & Contributions 4,159,685         3,700,589         4,148,833         3,894,437         3,602,142         3,285,816         3,315,948         3,124,585         2,849,515         2,805,130        

      Capital Grants & Contributions 980,028            1,656,522         458,660            531,933            880,045            530,453            1,723,050         337,404            1,942,912         757,509           

Total Governmental Activities Program Revenues 7,755,686         7,750,865         6,913,163         6,719,953         6,744,583         6,066,218         6,870,486         5,171,798         6,603,649         5,442,289        

Business-Type Activities:

      Charges for Services:

          Water Division 3,034,477         2,636,412         2,496,043         2,578,265         2,900,045         3,201,639         2,615,148         2,487,553         2,210,112         2,243,427        

          Sewer Division 4,353,195         3,947,187         3,518,523         3,755,613         3,740,332         3,562,527         3,120,580         2,838,860         2,343,513         2,320,624        

          Solid Waste 1,994,477         1,909,479         1,975,181         1,772,489         1,634,893         1,716,396         1,731,288         1,759,703         1,699,431         1,742,372        

      Operating Grants & Contributions -               1,445                81,487              -               125,708            23,545              15,544              -               -               -               

      Capital Grants & Contributions -               243,349            340,886            422,145            99,172              263,456            -                   263,880            144,210            175,807           

Total Business-Type Activities Program Revenues 9,382,149         8,737,872         8,412,120         8,528,512         8,500,150         8,767,563         7,482,560         7,349,996         6,397,266         6,482,230        

Total Primary Government Program Revenues 17,137,835$     16,488,737$     15,325,283$     15,248,465$     15,244,733$     14,833,781$     14,353,046$     12,521,794$     13,000,915$     11,924,519$    

Net (Expense)/Revenue

Governmental Activities (16,465,691)$   (19,829,245)$   (16,300,882)$   (17,565,828)$   (16,334,250)$   (15,261,137)$   (14,063,891)$   (15,652,891)$   (13,316,376)$   (12,040,190)$   

Business-Type Activities 2,114,105         1,386,100         1,470,075         1,631,683         1,458,073         2,319,967         1,197,568         1,008,119         410,840            192,880           

Total Primary Government Net Expense (14,351,586)$   (18,443,145)$   (14,830,807)$   (15,934,145)$   (14,876,177)$   (12,941,170)$   (12,866,323)$   (14,644,772)$   (12,905,536)$   (11,847,310)$   

(Continued)

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(accrual basis of accounting)

Fiscal Year

96
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 310 of 341



TABLE 2 (CONT.)

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

General Revenues and Other Changes In 

     Net Positions

Governmental Activities:

      Taxes:

           Property Tax 3,765,320$       3,480,593$       3,428,471$       3,097,189$       3,117,062$       3,129,497$       3,097,588$       2,694,271$       1,944,230$       1,694,912$      

           Sales Tax 10,677,614       10,614,793       9,358,568         8,035,671         7,081,725         7,629,397         7,072,877         6,919,663         6,760,144         6,750,098        

           Other Taxes 209,221            203,371            202,868            184,689            176,215            270,292            254,665            240,021            199,591            199,225           

           Occupation and Franchise Taxes 2,705,164         2,680,189         2,764,650         2,781,028         2,653,429         2,514,570         2,030,762         971,022            873,472            883,195           

       Interest 209,621            107,008            58,091              49,656              56,716              123,026            99,146              106,069            251,126            430,171           

       General Intergovernmental Revenues Unrestricted 398,194            372,186            365,627            276,969            394,575            124,392            295,309            289,270            260,190            282,997           

       Unrestricted Keno Revenues 584,717            552,493            611,740            572,632            547,095            494,447            432,584            359,060            428,302            29,141             

       General Revenue from Electrical Distribution System Lease/Use of Property4,505,919         4,596,858         4,620,527         4,677,788         4,578,545         4,471,873         4,186,984         3,822,961         3,418,900         3,270,414        

       Revenue from Sale of Uncapitalized Property 56,219              17,097              74,113              42,511              55,625              14,162              17,747              57,219              44,059              9,985               

       Gain on Sale of Assets -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   8,170               

       Miscellaneous 92,345              109,622            55,506              40,009              57,054              32,379              51,113              153,345            363,181            47,709             

       Interfund Transfers (459,318)          (103,763)          (13,467)            -                   (66,125)            (158,646)          -                   -                   (27,194)            -                   

Total Govermental Activities 22,745,016       22,630,447       21,526,694       19,758,142       18,651,916       18,645,389       17,538,775       15,612,901       14,516,001       13,606,017      

Business Type of Activities:

       Interest 64,418              27,278              11,899              13,699              8,428                18,008              14,034              66,938              165,386            286,953           

        Use of Property -                   82,022              84,919              81,422              -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

        Miscellaneous 21,859              18,944              22,547              32,190              -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

       Interfund Transfers 459,318            103,763            13,467              -                   66,125 158,646            -                   -                   27,194              -                   

Total Business-Type Activities 545,595            232,007            132,832            127,311            74,553              176,654            14,034              66,938              192,580            286,953           

Total Primary Government 23,290,611$     22,862,454$     21,659,526$     19,885,453$     18,726,469$     18,822,043$     17,552,809$     15,679,839$     14,708,581$     13,892,970$    

Change in Net Position

Governmental Activities 6,279,325$       2,801,202$       5,225,812$       2,192,314$       2,317,666$       3,384,252$       3,474,884$       (39,990)$          1,199,625$       1,565,827$      

Business-Type Activities 2,659,700         1,618,107         1,602,907         1,758,994         1,532,626         2,496,621         1,211,602         1,075,057         603,420            479,833           

Total Primary Government 8,939,025$       4,419,309$       6,828,719$       3,951,308$       3,850,292$       5,880,873$       4,686,486$       1,035,067$       1,803,045$       2,045,660$      

Fiscal Year

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(accrual basis of accounting)

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

97
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 311 of 341



City of Norfolk, Nebraska
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(modified accrual basis of accounting)

TABLE 3    

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

General Fund

     Reserved -$               -$               -$               -$                -$                

     Non Spendable 34,735            41,535 22,742            37,154            27,097            

     Restricted 480,485          488,920 476,210          38,291            38,785            

     Committed -                 -                 -                 31,144            141,536          

     Unreserved -                 -                 -                 -                  -                  

     Assigned 13,770            -                 31,941            10,044            138,401          

     Unassigned 8,287,694       8,420,582 8,816,995       8,003,963       7,151,157       

Total General Fund 8,816,684$     8,951,037$     9,347,888$     8,120,596$     7,496,976$     

All Other Governmental Funds

      Reserved -$               -$               -$               -$                -$                

      Non Spendable 17,950            16,687            15,128            9,762              8,916              

      Restricted 11,311,850     13,329,130     12,604,917     9,088,635       7,136,685       

      Committed 1,810,263       1,579,460       2,836,617       2,952,632       1,973,057       

      Unreserved, Reported in:

           Special Revenue Funds -                 -                 -                 -                  -                  

           Capital Project Funds -                 -                 -                 -                  -                  

       Assigned 2,639,506       2,494,115       2,697,595       1,353,826       1,464,474       

       Unassigned (1,898,527)     (1,878,019)     (1,120,538)     (44,361)           (43,090)           

Total All Other Governmental Funds 13,881,042$   15,541,373$   17,033,719$   13,360,494$   10,540,042$   

Total Governmental Funds

     Reserved -$               -$               -$               -$                -$                

     Non Spendable 52,685            58,222            37,870            46,916            36,013            

     Restricted 11,792,335     13,818,050     13,081,127     9,126,926       7,175,470       

     Committed 1,810,263       1,579,460       2,836,617       2,983,776       2,114,593       

     Unreserved -                 -                 -                 -                  -                  

     Assigned 2,653,276       2,494,115       2,729,536       1,363,870       1,602,875       

     Unassigned 6,389,167       6,542,563       7,696,457       7,959,602       7,108,067       

Total Governmental Fund 22,697,726$   24,492,410$   26,381,607$   21,481,090$   18,037,018$   

Fiscal Year

98
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 312 of 341



City of Norfolk, Nebraska
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(modified accrual basis of accounting)

TABLE 3 (CONT.)   

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

General Fund

     Reserved -$               -$                120,187$         132,221$         225,910$      

     Non Spendable 42,528            51,342            -                   -                  -                

     Restricted 111,041          205,522          -                   -                  -                

     Committed 196,394          192,587          -                   -                  -                

     Unreserved -                 -                  5,989,588        5,568,550        5,322,046     

     Assigned 1,934,062       1,848,271       -                   -                  -                

     Unassigned 5,438,679       5,008,200       -                   -                  -                

Total General Fund 7,722,704$     7,305,922$     6,109,775        5,700,771        5,547,956     

All Other Governmental Funds

      Reserved -$               -$                1,943,994$      1,609,878$      2,107,669$   

      Non Spendable 8,561              9,505              -                   -                  -                

      Restricted 6,974,935       15,196,509     -                   -                  -                

      Committed 1,436,837       809,108          -                   -                  -                

      Unreserved, Reported in:

           Special Revenue Funds -                 -                  2,817,380        3,400,398        3,521,157     

           Capital Project Funds -                 -                  737,259           540,066           (1,591,264)    

       Assigned 1,220,280       717,619          -                   -                  -                

       Unassigned (300)               (269,619)         -                   -                  -                

Total All Other Governmental Funds 9,640,313$     16,463,122$   5,498,633$      5,550,342$      4,037,562$   

Total Governmental Funds

     Reserved -$               -$                2,064,181$      1,742,099$      2,333,579$   

     Non Spendable 51,089            60,847            -                   -                  -                

     Restricted 7,085,976       15,402,031     -                   -                  -                

     Committed 1,633,231       1,001,695       -                   -                  -                

     Unreserved -                 -                  9,544,227        9,509,014        7,251,939     

     Assigned 3,154,342       2,565,890       -                   -                  -                

     Unassigned 5,438,379       4,738,581       -                   -                  -                

Total Governmental Fund 17,363,017$   23,769,044$   11,608,408$    11,251,113$    9,585,518$   

Fiscal Year

99
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 313 of 341



City of Norfolk, Nebraska

Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(modified accrual basis of accounting)

TABLE 4   

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Revenues

Taxes 14,435,331$      14,154,637$      12,803,574$      11,118,944$      10,142,968$      

Special Assessments 194,862             478,529             184,987             200,654             289,216             

Licenses & Permits 367,889             271,234             321,575             271,175             244,733             

Intergovernmental Revenue 4,912,529          4,910,812          4,347,275          4,079,487          4,330,390          

Nongovernmental Grants 50,000               50,000               -                     -                     -                     

Keno Revenue 584,717             552,493             611,740             572,632             547,095             

Charges for Services 2,089,143          1,980,265          1,841,576          1,890,616          1,865,085          

Occupation & FrancIise Taxes 2,705,165          2,680,188          2,764,651          2,781,029          2,653,429          

Contributions 436,499             17,661               204,577             559,517             54,942               

Payments in Lieu of Taxes 209,221             203,371             202,867             184,689             176,215             

Parking Fees and Rentals 4,535,554          4,596,859          4,620,528          4,681,679          4,584,494          

Loan Repayments 71,501               156,428             570,883             104,783             78,073               

Interest 179,142             94,744               51,653               49,655               54,192               

Miscellaneous 190,118             147,949             314,105             124,215             138,377             

Total Revenue 30,961,671        30,295,170        28,839,991        26,619,075        25,159,209        

Expenditures

General Government 2,612,548          2,473,293          2,575,062          2,698,982          2,543,757          

Public Safety 9,987,194          10,209,750        10,019,243        8,967,532          9,138,087          

Public Works 8,501,967          7,181,786          5,766,816          6,597,380          5,658,796          

Public Library 5,137,451          1,718,799          1,334,676          1,355,079          1,288,130          

Parks, Recreation & Public Property 2,554,955          2,785,403          2,314,769          2,816,830          2,661,914          

Community Improvement & Development 1,091,316          4,449,547          1,265,759          1,031,844          1,322,343          

Debt Service

      Principal Retirement 3,960,000          13,535,000        1,695,000          2,620,000          1,453,810          

      Interest 443,424             595,287             667,145             649,134             677,052             

Capital Outlay -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Expenditure 34,288,855        42,948,865        25,638,470        26,736,781        24,743,889        

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues (3,327,184)         (12,653,695)       3,201,521          (117,706)            415,320             

      over expenditures

OtIer Financing Sources (Uses)

Insurance Proceeds -                     20,885               218,996             141,778             308,069             

Issuance of Debt -                     870,000             1,480,000          2,625,000          -                     

Premium on Bonds -                     453,613             -                     -                     -                     

Bonds Refunded 1,520,000          9,420,000          -                     795,000             -                     

Transfers In 4,754,981          4,825,719          2,765,647          2,171,879          2,272,954          

Transfers Out (4,742,481)         (4,825,719)         (2,765,647)         (2,171,879)         (2,322,342)         

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1,532,500          10,764,498        1,698,996          3,561,778          258,681             

Net Change in Fund Balances (1,794,684)$       (1,889,197)$       4,900,517$        3,444,072$        674,001$           

Debt Service as a Percentage of 17.82% 37.92% 11.14% 13.77% 9.72%

       Noncapital Expenditures

Fiscal Year

100
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 314 of 341



City of Norfolk, Nebraska

Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(modified accrual basis of accounting)

TABLE 4 (CONT.)   

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Revenues

Taxes 10,758,892$      10,178,587$       9,613,934$        9,027,255$       8,765,893$       

Special Assessments 325,136             472,266              151,392             685,607            82,426              

Licenses & Permits 224,947             201,651              233,786             323,800            430,258            

Intergovernmental Revenue 3,619,939          4,414,712           3,846,761          3,805,003         3,743,612         

Nongovernmental Grants -                     -                      -                     -                   -                   

Keno Revenue 494,447             432,584              359,060             428,302            29,141              

Charges for Services 1,863,308          1,464,667           1,330,223          1,374,689         1,358,621         

Occupation & FrancIise Taxes 2,621,917          2,138,542           1,093,679          667,778            686,840            

Contributions 35,293               54,228                72,234               81,360              100,005            

Payments in Lieu of Taxes 162,944             146,885              117,364             82,402              74,697              

Parking Fees and Rentals 4,474,023          4,204,014           3,830,046          3,422,615         3,272,094         

Loan Repayments 557,448             136,519              82,419               120,700            289,700            

Interest 114,312             90,235                71,269               186,036            338,732            

Miscellaneous 84,580               105,741              232,156             434,854            112,561            

Total Revenue 25,337,186        24,040,631         21,034,323        20,640,401       19,284,580       

Expenditures

General Government 2,491,369          4,263,408           2,419,970          2,580,140         2,409,948         

Public Safety 8,194,543          8,238,009           7,974,899          7,475,999         7,367,551         

Public Works 5,353,264          5,588,853           4,853,161          5,585,140         4,789,513         

Public Library 1,204,614          1,329,905           1,485,872          1,139,770         1,097,450         

Parks, Recreation & Public Property 11,655,476        8,267,527           1,519,769          1,828,716         1,392,253         

Community Improvement & Development 963,266             794,940              1,560,058          976,102            805,175            

Debt Service

      Principal Retirement 1,928,649          1,179,881           870,714             773,690            755,714            

      Interest 442,032             442,032              234,421             275,001            304,002            

Capital Outlay -                     -                      159,664             370,248            829,727            

Total Expenditure 32,233,213        30,104,555         21,078,528        21,004,806       19,751,333       

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues (6,896,027)         (6,063,924)          (44,205)              (364,405)          (466,753)          

      over expenditures

OtIer Financing Sources (Uses)

Insurance Proceeds -                     -                      -                     -                   -                   

Issuance of Debt 490,000             20,305,000         401,500             2,030,000         -                   

Premium on Bonds -                     49,560                -                     -                   -                   

Bonds Refunded -                     (2,130,000)          -                     -                   -                   

Transfers In 1,832,789          1,919,961           2,068,596          1,840,990         1,237,142         

Transfers Out (1,832,789)         (1,919,961)          (2,068,596)         (1,840,990)       (1,237,142)       

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 490,000             18,224,560         401,500             2,030,000         -                   

Net Change in Fund Balances (6,406,027)$       12,160,636$       357,295$           1,665,595$       (466,753)$        

Debt Service as a Percentage of 11.69% 7.81% 5.76% 5.59% 6.36%

       Noncapital Expenditures

Fiscal Year

101
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 315 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA  
TOTAL CITY TAXABLE SALES

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

TABLE 5

Fiscal Year Total City Total 

Ended Taxable Direct

September 30, Sales Tax Rate

2017 535,529,003$  2.00%

2016 527,991,172    2.00%

2015 547,447,750    2.00%

2014 522,866,921    1.50%

2013 510,892,339    1.50%

2012 504,008,240    1.50%

2011 467,925,125    1.50%

2010 459,698,781    1.50%

2009 448,552,315    1.50%

2008 445,836,912    1.50%

Source:     City of Norfolk Finance Office

102
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 316 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
SALES TAX RATES

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

TABLE 6

Direct Overlapping (1)

Fiscal City of State of Total

Year Norfolk Nebraska Tax Rate

2017 2.00% 5.50% 7.50%

2016 2.00% 5.50% 7.50%

2015 (2) 2.00% 5.50% 7.50%

2014 1.50% 5.50% 7.00%

2013 1.50% 5.50% 7.00%

2012 1.50% 5.50% 7.00%

2011 1.50% 5.50% 7.00%

2010 1.50% 5.50% 7.00%

2009 1.50% 5.50% 7.00%

2008 1.50% 5.50% 7.00%

Note:   (1) Overlapping rates are those of other governments 

                 that apply to consumers within the City of Norfolk.

           (2) April 1, 2015 tax rate in the City of Norfolk

                changed from 1.5% to 2.0% for 3 years to fund 

                Library updates.

103
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 317 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
NET TAXABLE SALES BY BUSINESS CLASSIFICATION

CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO

TABLE 7

2017 2008

Net Percentage Net Percentage

Taxable of Total Net Taxable of Total Net

Business Classifications Sales Rank Taxable Sales Sales Rank Taxable Sales

Retail Trade 324,463,371$    1 54.49% 260,141,315$     1 54.31%

Accommodation & Food Services 70,822,923        2 11.89% 42,550,421         2 8.89%

Other 200,211,812      - 33.62% 176,301,663       - 36.80%

Total 595,498,106$    100.00% 478,993,399$     100.00%

Note:    Amounts shown are net taxable sales, which includes refunds and does not

             include motor vehicle net sales.   The numbers are only available on a calendar

             year basis.   Percentages are not available for Utilities to avoid disclosure of 

             confidential information but are included in the Total.  

Source: Nebraska Dept of Revenue

104
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 318 of 341



City of Norfolk, Nebraska
Assessed and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property (1)

Last Ten Fiscal Years

TABLE 8

 FISCAL TOTAL TOTAL

YEAR ASSESSED DIRECT

(2) VALUE TAX RATE

2017 1,414,978,332$ 51,546,991$             1,466,525,323$  0.6021     

2016 1,336,246,190   47,747,588               1,383,993,778    0.6021     

2015 1,269,843,679   50,035,023               1,319,878,702    0.5967     

2014 1,214,361,524   44,813,004               1,259,174,528    0.5967     

2013 1,160,166,057   42,955,400               1,203,121,457    0.5781     

2012 1,145,320,208   44,351,377               1,189,671,585    0.5806     

2011 1,140,003,464   44,061,854               1,184,065,318    0.5817     

2010 1,135,043,425   48,758,055               1,183,801,480    0.5817     

2009 1,126,872,958   53,235,422               1,180,108,380    0.5466     

2008 1,097,676,042   44,580,420               1,142,256,462    0.4830     

(1) TAXABLE PROPERTY IS ASSESSED AT 100% OF ITS ESTIMATED ACTUAL VALUE.

(2) THE ASSESSED VALUATIONS ARE EFFECTIVE ON SEPTEMBER 1 OF EACH YEAR.

SOURCE: MADISON COUNTY ASSESSOR'S OFFICE

REAL PROPERTY PERSONAL PROPERTY

105
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 319 of 341



City of Norfolk, Nebraska
Property Tax Rates-Direct and Overlapping Governments (1)

Last Ten Fiscal Years

TABLE 9

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

CITY OF NORFOLK

     GENERAL  FUND 0.1880 0.1685 0.1591 0.1549 0.1320 0.1335 0.1341 0.1341 0.1345 0.0689

     DEBT SERVICE 0.0366 0.0529 0.0555 0.0581 0.0609 0.0615 0.0618 0.0618 0.0620 0.0641

     ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND 0.0275 0.0306 0.0321 0.0337 0.0352 0.0356 0.0358 0.0358 0.0000 0.0000

     VEHICLE PARKING FUND(3) 0.3500 0.3500 0.3500 0.3500 0.3500 0.3500 0.3500 0.3500 0.3500 0.3500

TOTAL CITY OF NORFOLK 0.6021 0.6021 0.5967 0.5967 0.5781 0.5806 0.5817 0.5817 0.5466 0.4830

OVERLAPPING RATES (2)

     MADISON COUNTY 0.3267 0.3268 0.3283 0.3557 0.4255 0.4249 0.4211 0.4090 0.3990 0.3872

     SCHOOL DISTRICT NO 2 1.1880 1.2051 1.2098 1.2154 1.2154 1.2589 1.3182 1.3240 1.3062 1.2230

     NORTHEAST COMMUNITY COLLEGE 0.0909 0.0913 0.0953 0.0990 0.0993 0.0983 0.0953 0.0985 0.0935 0.0900

     NORFOLK AIRPORT AUTHORITY 0.0437 0.0318 0.0334 0.0306 0.0310 0.0313 0.0315 0.0330 0.0228 0.0236

     LOWER ELKHORN NRD 0.0233 0.0240 0.0241 0.0251 0.0266 0.0296 0.0340 0.0379 0.0341 0.0339

     AGRICULTURAL SOCIETY MADISON COUNTY 0.0110 0.0110 0.0110 0.0116 0.0131 0.0139 0.0144 0.0145 0.0144 0.0147

     EDUCATIONAL SERVICES UNIT #8 0.0131 0.0126 0.0126 0.0126 0.0150 0.0150 0.0150 0.0149 0.0149 0.0150

     NORFOLK SANITARY DISTRICT 0.0099 0.0100 0.0099 0.0099 0.0100 0.0098 0.0095 0.0091 0.0087 0.0066

     RAILROAD TRANSPORTATION SAFETY DIST. 0.0101 0.0093 0.0079 0.0060 0.0060 0.0050 0.0106 0.0036 0.0039 0.0040

TOTAL OVERLAPPING RATES 1.7167 1.7219 1.7323 1.7659 1.8419 1.8867 1.9496 1.9445 1.8975 1.7980

TOTAL PROPERTY TAXES 2.3188 2.3240 2.3290 2.3626 2.4200 2.4673 2.5313 2.5262 2.4441 2.2810

(1) TAX RATES ARE PER $100 OF ASSESSED VALUATION, AND EFFECTIVE ON SEPTEMBER 1 OF EACH YEAR

(2) OVERLAPPING RATES ARE THOSE OF LOCAL AND COUNTY GOVERNMENTS THAT APPLY TO PROPERTY OWNERS WITHIN THE 

      THE CITY OF NORFOLK NE.

(3) TAX APPLIES TO PROPERTY IN VEHICLE PARKING DISTRICT IN DOWNTOWN NORFOLK NEBRASKA.  DISTRICT ASSESSED VALUATION 

      IS ABOUT 2% OF THE CITY ASSESSED VALUATION.

Fiscal Year

106
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 320 of 341



City of Norfolk, Nebraska
PRINCIPAL PROPERTY TAXPAYERS

CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO

TABLE 10

2017 2008

% OF % OF

TOTAL CITY TOTAL CITY

TAXABLE TAXABLE TAXABLE TAXABLE

ASSESSED ASSESSED ASSESSED ASSESSED

TAXPAYERS TYPE OF BUSINESS VALUE RANK VALUE VALUE RANK VALUE

N S P LLC SHOPPING MALL 12,700,000$   1 0.87% -$                    -      0.00%

FAITH REGIONAL HEALTH SERVICES MEDICAL OFFICES 10,065,637     2 0.69% 9,276,547       4      0.88%

WAL-MART STORES INC RETAIL STORE 9,792,578       3 0.67% 10,180,058     2      0.97%

HEARTLAND PANTRY INC RETAIL STORE 8,908,092       4 0.61% 9,579,200       3      0.91%

HERITAGE OF NORFOLK INC NURSING HOME 6,704,018       5 0.46% 6,298,274       5      0.60%

TIMM VILLAGE GREEN LLC APARTMENTS 6,487,947       6 0.44% -                      -      0.00%

MENARD INC RETAIL STORE 6,256,300       7 0.43% 5,990,081       7      0.57%

UNION PACIFIC RAILROAD CO RAILROAD 5,877,673       8 0.40% -                      -      0.00%

WIS-PAK BOTTLING DISTRIBUTION 5,544,784       9 0.38% 6,156,802       6      0.59%

QWEST CORPORATION TELEPHONE 5,316,873       10 0.36% 4,810,252       10    0.46%

DIAL - SUNSET MALL LLC SHOPPING MALL -                      -     0.00% 13,551,829     1      1.29%

PERKINS DELAWARE MANUFACTURING -                      -     0.00% 5,266,340       8      0.50%

THE MEADOWS INC APARTMENTS -                      -     0.00% 5,057,762       9      0.48%

TOTAL 77,653,902$   5.30% 76,167,145$   7.25%

Source:  MADISON COUNTY ASSESSOR'S OFFICE

107
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 321 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

TABLE 11

Fiscal Taxes Collected within the

Year Levied for Fiscal Year of the Levy Collections

Ended Fiscal Percentage in Subsequent Percentage

Sep 30 Year Amount of Levy Years Amount of Levy

2017 3,573,866$  3,466,463$   96.99% -$         3,466,463$  96.99%

2016 3,340,527    3,268,556     97.85% 71,971         3,340,527    100.00%

2015 3,189,630    3,089,071     96.85% 100,559       3,189,630    100.00%

2014 2,827,106    2,747,980     97.20% 79,126         2,827,106    100.00%

2013 2,825,242    2,736,874     96.87% 88,368         2,825,242    100.00%

2012 2,823,416    2,737,455     96.96% 85,163         2,822,618    99.97%

2011 2,825,657    2,726,631     96.50% 98,614         2,825,245    99.99%

2010 2,404,312    2,317,303     96.38% 83,958         2,401,261    99.87%

2009 1,603,272    1,557,427     97.14% 45,719         1,603,146    99.99%

2008 1,317,224    1,268,047     96.27% 49,177         1,317,224    100.00%

Total Collections to Date

108
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 322 of 341



 

                     CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA TABLE 12

RATIOS OF OUTSTANDING DEBT BY TYPE

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

GENERAL SPECIAL BOND

FISCAL OBLIGATION ASSESSMENT ANTICIPATION NOTES

YEAR BONDS BONDS NOTES PAYABLE

2017 14,606,376$   905,000$           2,250,000$         -$                  

2016 16,912,454     1,105,000          2,250,000           -                    

2015 19,950,000     990,000             2,590,000           -                    

2014 20,100,000     1,195,000          -                  -                    

2013 18,960,000     1,535,000          -                  -                    

2012 20,180,000     1,745,000          -                  23,809                   

2011 21,210,000     1,415,000          525,000               255,359                 

2010 3,480,000       2,060,000          525,000               345,240                 

2009 3,720,000       2,405,000          340,000               130,954                 

2008 3,895,000       935,000             2,335,000           169,644                 

Notes: (1) See Table 16 for income and population data.  2017 population and

                   personal income numbers are unavailable.

109
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 323 of 341



 

TABLE 12 (CONT.)

STATE TOTAL PERCENTAGE

REVENUE REVOLVING PRIMARY DEBT PER OF PERSONAL

BONDS LOAN GOVERNMENT CAPITA (1) INCOME (1)

5,700,000$    -$            23,461,376       N/A N/A

6,595,000      -              26,862,454       1,103.27        1.68

7,440,000      -              30,970,000       1,271.03        1.95

8,305,000      -              29,600,000       1,210.93        1.91

9,160,000      -              29,655,000       1,208.83        1.97

6,065,000      -              28,013,809       1,151.32        2.03

3,550,000      710,008           27,665,367       1,140.93        2.12

6,110,000      827,066           13,347,306       551.31           1.10

6,820,000      940,690           14,356,644       616.91           1.20

7,510,000      1,050,980        15,895,624       692.92           1.35

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
RATIOS OF OUTSTANDING DEBT BY TYPE

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

110
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 324 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
RATIOS OF GENERAL BONDED DEBT OUTSTANDING

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

TABLE 13

GENERAL SPECIAL ASSESSMENT GENERAL LESS: AMOUNTS NET GENERAL NET BONDED VALUATION

FISCAL OBLIGATION BONDS-GENERAL BONDED RESTRICTED FOR BONDED DEBT PER OF TAXABLE

YEAR BONDS OBLIGATION PORTION DEBT DEBT SERVICE DEBT CAPITA (1) REAL PROPERTY

2017 14,606,376$   303,025$                         14,909,401$   2,575,381$              12,334,020      N/A 0.87%

2016 16,912,454     382,930                           17,295,384     2,310,289                14,985,095      615.45             1.12%

2015 19,950,000     339,878                           20,289,878     2,056,725                18,233,153      748.30             1.44%

2014 20,100,000     407,083                           20,507,083     1,718,817                18,788,266      768.62             1.55%

2013 18,960,000     470,340                           19,430,340     1,556,817                17,873,523      728.85             1.54%

2012 20,180,000     532,264                           20,712,264     1,117,646                19,594,618      805.30             1.71%

2011 21,210,000     371,013                           21,581,013     504,468                   21,076,545      869.21             1.85%

2010 3,480,000       618,952                           4,098,952       1,193,594                2,905,358        120.01             0.26%

2009 3,720,000       729,722                           4,449,722       1,218,131                3,231,591        138.86             0.29%

2008 3,895,000       394,928                           4,289,928       1,255,485                3,034,443        132.28             0.29%

Notes: (1) See Table 16 for population data.  2017 population numbers are unavailable.

111
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 325 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES DEBT

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

TABLE 14

ESTIMATED DIRECT AND

DEBT PERCENTAGE OVERLAPPING DEBT

GOVERNMENTAL UNITS OUTSTANDING APPLICABLE (1) TO THE CITY

DIRECT:

       CITY 17,761,376$    100.00% 17,761,376$                 

OVERLAPPING: 

       Norfolk School District #2 17,915,000$    61.09% 10,944,035$                 

Note:  (1)  The percentage of overlapping debt applicable is estimated using taxable assessed property

values.    Applicable percentages were estimated by determining the portion of the governmental unit's

taxable revenue base that is within the City of Norfolk's boundaries and dividing it by the unit's total 

taxable revenue base. 

SOURCE:   NORFOLK PUBLIC SCHOOLS

112
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 326 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
PLEDGED REVENUE COVERAGE

ENTERPRISE BONDS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

TABLE 15

DIRECT NET DEBT SERVICE REQUIRMENTS

GROSS OPERATING AVAILABLE

REVENUE (1) EXPENSES (2) REVENUE PRINCIPAL INTEREST TOTAL COVERAGE

2017 9,463,735$   5,806,596$    3,657,139$   895,000$      163,784$      1,058,784$   3.45

2016 8,622,767     5,353,538      3,269,229     845,000        183,051        1,028,051     3.18

2015 8,109,112     5,234,995      2,874,117     865,000        184,233        1,049,233     2.74

2014 8,510,448     5,307,088      3,203,360     855,000        198,501 1,053,501     3.04

2013 8,344,442     5,524,293      2,820,149     905,000        182,034        1,087,034     2.59

2012 8,677,238     4,965,477      3,711,761     1,120,008     95,519          1,215,527     3.05

2011 7,482,560     4,818,232      2,664,328     852,058        218,512        1,070,570     2.49

2010 7,086,116     4,790,997      2,295,119     823,624        286,972        1,110,596     2.07

2009 6,418,442     4,460,849      1,957,593     800,290 312,397 1,112,687 1.76

2008 6,593,376     4,685,259      1,908,117     772,055        336,859        1,108,914     1.72

                        1)  TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE PLUS INTEREST INCOME

                        2)  TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES EXCLUSIVE OF DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

113
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 327 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

TABLE 16

Personal Per Capita Public

Fiscal Income (2) Personal School Unemployment

Year Population(1) (000's) Income(2) Enrollment(3) Rate(4)

2017 N/A N/A N/A 4,370 2.7%

2016 24,348 1,599,237 45,673      4,325 3.0%

2015 24,366 1,587,171 45,264      4,244 2.6%

2014 24,444 1,550,788 44,089      4,069           2.7%

2013 24,523 1,506,700 42,709      4,148           2.9%

2012 24,332 1,380,610 39,411      4,110           3.2%

2011 24,248 1,305,431 37,372      4,009           3.6%

2010 24,210 1,213,230 34,728      4,023           3.8%

2009 23,272 1,198,153 33,949      3,891           4.2%

2008 22,940 1,176,748 36,103      3,830           3.0%

Sources: (1) These figures are estimates compiled from the most recent data available from

the Bureau of Census and the NE Dept of Labor.  2017 numbers are unavailable.

(2) Bureau of Economic Analysis.  2017 numbers are unavailable.

Numbers are shown for  Madison County.

(3) Norfolk Public Schools PreK-12

(4) State of Nebraska, NE Dept of Labor

114
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 328 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS

CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO

TABLE 17

2017 2008

PERCENTAGE PERCENTAGE

OF TOTAL CITY OF TOTAL CITY

EMPLOYER EMPLOYEES RANK EMPLOYMENT EMPLOYEES RANK EMPLOYMENT

Faith Regional Health Services 1,350       1 5.54% 1,185       1 5.74%

Northeast Community College 704          2 2.89%

Norfolk Public Schools 586          3 2.41% 626          3 3.03%

Cardinal Health 500          4 2.05%

Nucor Steel Division of Nucor Corp 499          5 2.05% 430          5 2.08%

Vulcraft Division of Nurcor Corp 478          6 1.96% 413          7 2.00%

Associated Wholesale Grocers 385          7 1.58%

Veyance Techologies 385          8 1.58% 399          8 1.93%

Walmart 340          9 1.40% 416          6 2.01%

Norfolk Iron & Metal Co 320          10 1.31% 320          9 1.55%

Affilated Foods Midwest 654          2 3.17%

COVIDIEN 500          4 2.42%

Wis-Pak 110          10 0.53%

Total 5,547       22.78% 5,053       24.46%

Source: City of Norfolk Economic Development

115
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 329 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
Full-Time Equivalent City Governmental Employees by Function

Last Ten Fiscal Years

TABLE 18

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

General Government 29.00 29.00 26.88 25.88      25.88 25.88 26.18 25.55 23.55 24.60

Engineering 6.00 6.00 6.00 5.00        5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00

Public Safety

      Police 60.50 60.00 60.00 58.00      58.00 58.00 58.00 58.00 60.00 60.50

      Fire 36.05 36.05 37.00 37.00      37.00 38.00 38.00 38.00 38.00 37.00

      Region 11 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00        1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

      SNARE 0.13 0.13 0.13 0.13        0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50

Streets 22.62 22.62 23.25 23.25      23.25 22.25 22.25 22.00 22.00 21.00

Culture & Recreation

      Parks 19.00 20.00 20.00 22.00      21.00 20.00 20.00 22.00 22.00 18.00

      Recreation 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00        1.67 1.67 1.00 1.00 2.00 2.00

      Auditorium 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.43 2.43 2.43 2.43 2.43 2.43

Library 15.64 15.21 15.38 15.38      15.1 15.1 14.97 14.97 14.97 14.96

Housing 6.00 6.00 5.75 5.75        5.75 5.75 5.75 5.75 5.75 5.63

Community Character

Development  Coalition 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4.25 5.00 4.88

Economic Development

      Operating 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00        2.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Water 11.00 11.00 11.00 11.00      11.00 11.00 11.00 11.00 11.00 11.00

Sewer Maintenance 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00        4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 5.00

Water Pollution Control 8.50 8.50 9.00 9.00        9.00 9.00 9.50 9.50 13.50 13.50

Solid Waste Management 7.38 6.38 5.38 6.38        6.38 6.38 5.88 5.75 5.75 5.75

Total 231.77 230.84 229.77 228.77 228.96 227.96 225.46 230.70 236.45 232.75

Source:     City of Norfolk Finance 

Full-Time Equivalent City Government Employees by Function as of September 30

116
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 330 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

TABLE 19

FUNCTION 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

General Government 

       Purchase Ordered Processed 0 0 0 31 765 1,223 1,393 1,365 1,773 1,887

       Water/Sewer Customers Billed 9,633       9,602 9,551 9,523 9,479 9,419 9,392 9,306 9,276 9,118

Engineering

       Miles of Paving Districts 0.00 0.14 0.33 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.20 0.20 0.51 0.20

       Miles of Street Reconstruction 0.00 0.17 0.32 0.10 0.40 1.10 0.75 0.30 0.35 0.50

     

Public Safety

  Police:

      Criminal Arrests 1,465       1,392 1,394 1,448       1,645 1,809 1,701 1,655 1,932 1,679

      Traffic Arrests 2,129       2,391 3,097 2,388       2,294 2,709 2,804 2,313 2,348 2,514

      Drug/Alcohol Arrests 712          749 696 705 817 897 762 556 715 782

   Fire:

      Rescue Calls 1,960 2,066 2,007 1,912       1,941 1,866 1,861 1,678 1,714 1,744

   Building and Safety

      Building Permits 461 423 411 388 347 356 375 386 382 392

Culture and Recreation

   Library

      Total Circulation 265,698 295,787 309,281 321,954   320,282 299,776 324,042   319,997 338,308 314,489

Water:

       Water Inspections 69            56            51            56            66            47            42            48            39            40            

        Locates 3,565       3,475       3,198       3,272       3,449       3,070       2,521       2,743       2,406       2,589       

Sewer:

   Water Pollution Control

        Billion of Gallons treated 1.054 1.099 1.02 1.02 1.077 1.083 1.189 1.269 1.017 1.105

   Sewer Maintenance

         Sewer Inspections 48 31 35 34 61 34 20 32 22 37

Solid Waste Management

   Average Daily Tonnage 112 109 106 102 104 108 108 113 110 116

   

Souces:  Various City Departments

117
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 331 of 341



CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA
CAPITAL ASSET STATISTICS BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

TABLE 20

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

FUNCTION

General Government

    City Auditorium (1) -               -               1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

    Administrative Offices (2) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 -                -                -                

    City Council Chambers -               -               -               1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Public Safety

   Police Stations 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

   Fire Stations 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

Streets

    Streets (Miles) 145.56 145.09 144.55 144.09 144.08 144.29 144.29 144.29 143.88 142.30

    Streetlights 2,305 2,277 2,279 2,257 2,257 2,258 2,327 2,244        2,236        2,237

Parks

     Parks Acreage 422.20 421.60 421.60 414.00 403.50 403.50 403.50 403.50 396.00 378.00

     Parks  # 13.00 13.00 13.00 13.00 13.00 13.00 13.00 13.00 12.00 12.00

     Swimming Pools 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

     Tennis Courts 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00

Library 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Water

     Water mains (miles) 127.00 126.00 126.00 129.00 123.00 123.00 123.00 122.00 121.00 120.00

     Water treatment plants 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

Sewer

     Sanitary sewer (miles) 137.00 133.00 131.00 128.00 127.00 127.00 127.00 127.00 126.00 125.00

     Sewage treatment plants 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

(1)  Included Administrative offices and Engineering Offices until March 2012 Sold in December 2015

(2)  Administrative and Engineering Offices as of March 2012 and Council Chambers as of January 2013

Sources:  Various City Departments

FISCAL YEAR

118
4/16/2018 Enclosure 43

Page 332 of 341



 !"#$#!"#!%&'(" %)*+,&*#$)*%&)!& !%#*!'-&.)!%*)-&)/#*&0 !'!. '-&
*#$)*% !1&'!"&)!&.)2$- '!.#&'!"&)%3#*&2'%%#*,&4',#"&)!&'!&'(" %&
)0&0 !'!. '-&,%'%#2#!%,&$#*0)*2#"& !&'..)*"'!.#&5 %3&6789:;<9;=&

>?@A=A;6&B=>;@>:@B&

3CDCEFGHI&2IJGIEK&
CL&MNI&.OMP&.CQDROH&
.OMP&CL&!CELCHST&!IGEFKSF&

5I&NFUI&FQVOMIVT&OD&FRRCEVFDRI&WOMN&MNI&FQVOMODX&KMFDVFEVK&XIDIEFHHP&FRRIYMIV&OD&MNI&(DOMIV&
,MFMIK&CL&'JIEORF&FDV&MNI&KMFDVFEVK&FYYHORFGHI&MC&LODFDROFH&FQVOMK&RCDMFODIV&OD&6Z[\]̂_\̂ &̀
>abc̀ĉd&B̀êbe]bf&OKKQIV&GP&MNI&.CJYMECHHIE&1IDIEFH&CL&MNI&(DOMIV&,MFMIKT&MNI&LODFDROFH&
KMFMIJIDMK&CL&MNI&XCUIEDJIDMFH&FRMOUOMOIKT&MNI&GQKODIKKgMPYI&FRMOUOMOIKT&IFRN&JFhCE&LQDVT&FDV&MNI&
FXXEIXFMI&EIJFODODX&LQDV&ODLCEJFMOCD&CL&MNI&.OMP&CL&!CELCHST&!IGEFKSF&iMNI&.OMPj&FK&CL&FDV&LCE&
MNI&PIFE&IDVIV&,IYMIJGIE&klT&mlnoT&FDV&MNI&EIHFMIV&DCMIK&MC&MNI&LODFDROFH&KMFMIJIDMKT&WNORN&
RCHHIRMOUIHP&RCJYEOKI&MNI&.OMP+K&GFKOR&LODFDROFH&KMFMIJIDMKT&FDV&NFUI&OKKQIV&CQE&EIYCEM&MNIEICD&
VFMIV&2FERN&mpT&mlnpq&

rstuvswx&yzstvzx&z{uv&|}sws~}wx&�u�zvt}s�&

 D&YHFDDODX&FDV&YIELCEJODX&CQE&FQVOM&CL&MNI&LODFDROFH&KMFMIJIDMKT&WI&RCDKOVIEIV&MNI&.OMP+K&
ODMIEDFH&RCDMECH&CUIE&LODFDROFH&EIYCEMODX&MC&VIMIEJODI&MNI&FQVOM&YECRIVQEIK&MNFM&FEI&FYYECYEOFMI&OD&
MNI&ROERQJKMFDRIK&LCE&MNI&YQEYCKI&CL&I�YEIKKODX&CQE&CYODOCDK&CD&MNI&LODFDROFH&KMFMIJIDMKT&GQM&DCM&
LCE&MNI&YQEYCKI&CL&I�YEIKKODX&FD&CYODOCD&CD&MNI&ILLIRMOUIDIKK&CL&MNI&.OMP+K&ODMIEDFH&RCDMECH&CUIE&
LODFDROFH&EIYCEMODXq&'RRCEVODXHPT&WI&VC&DCM&I�YEIKK&FD&CYODOCD&CD&MNI&ILLIRMOUIDIKK&CL&MNI&.OMP+K&
ODMIEDFH&RCDMECH&CUIE&LODFDROFH&EIYCEMODXq&

'&b\�c�c\̂��&ĉ&ĉ̀\]̂e�&�Ẑ ]̀Z�&Z[\]&�ĉê�ce�&]\�Z]̀ĉd&I�OKMK&WNID&MNI&VIKOXD&CE&CYIEFMOCD&CL&F&
RCDMECH&VCIK&DCM&FHHCW&JFDFXIJIDM&CE&IJYHCPIIKT&OD&MNI&DCEJFH&RCQEKI&CL&YIELCEJODX&MNIOE&
FKKOXDIV&LQDRMOCDKT&MC&YEIUIDMT&CE&VIMIRM&FDV&RCEEIRMT&JOKKMFMIJIDMK&CD&F&MOJIHP&GFKOKq&'&_è\]ce�&
�\e�̂\ff&OK&F&VILOROIDRPT&CE&F&RCJGODFMOCD&CL&VILOROIDROIKT&OD&ODMIEDFH&RCDMECH&CUIE&LODFDROFH&
EIYCEMODXT&KQRN&MNFM&MNIEI&OK&F&EIFKCDFGHI&YCKKOGOHOMP&MNFM&F&JFMIEOFH&JOKKMFMIJIDM&CL&MNI&IDMOMP+K&
LODFDROFH&KMFMIJIDMK&WOHH&DCM&GI&YEIUIDMIVT&CE&VIMIRMIV&FDV&RCEEIRMIV&CD&F&MOJIHP&GFKOKq&&'&
fcd̂c�c�ê &̀b\�c�c\̂��&OK&F&VILOROIDRPT&CE&F&RCJGODFMOCD&CL&VILOROIDROIKT&OD&ODMIEDFH&RCDMECH&CUIE&
LODFDROFH&EIYCEMODX&MNFM&OK&HIKK&KIUIEI&MNFD&F&JFMIEOFH&WIFSDIKKT&PIM&OJYCEMFDM&IDCQXN&MC&JIEOM&
FMMIDMOCD&GP&MNCKI&RNFEXIV&WOMN&XCUIEDFDRIq&&

�����������������
���������&��� ��&&¡&&¢£¢¤&¥¦&§̈�©&ª�¦«&ª¬���&££&&¡&&®̄ �©�«&¥°&±̈¢¢²&&¡&&³²£́µ§£́²̈ £

®̄  �&¶� ���&&¡&&µ££&����&·����̧ �¹«&ª¬���&²&&¡&&¶�¬ º�»&·»¬¼¼�«&½¾&¤¢¤£µ&&&¡&&³¿¢́µ́¤¤£µ4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 333 of 341



 

! "#$ ! 
 

%&' ()*+,-.'/0,)* )1 ,*0.'*/2 ()*0')2 )3.' 1,*/*(,/2 '.4)'0,*5 6/+ 1)' 07. 2,8,0.- 4&'4)+. 
-.+(',9.- ,* 07. 1,'+0 4/'/5'/47 )1 07,+ +.(0,)* /*- 6/+ *)0 -.+,5*.- 0) ,-.*0,1: /22 -.1,(,.*(,.+ ,* 
,*0.'*/2 ()*0')2 07/0 8,570 9. 8/0.',/2 6./;*.++.+ )'< +,5*,1,(/*0 -.1,(,.*(,.+=  >,3.* 07.+. 
2,8,0/0,)*+< -&',*5 )&' /&-,0 6. -,- *)0 ,-.*0,1: /*: -.1,(,.*(,.+ ,* ,*0.'*/2 ()*0')2 )3.' 1,*/*(,/2 
'.4)'0,*5 07/0 6. ()*+,-.' 0) 9. 8/0.',/2 6./;*.++.+=  ?)6.3.'< 8/0.',/2 6./;*.++.+ 8/: .@,+0 
07/0 7/3. *)0 9..* ,-.*0,1,.-= 
 
ABCDEFGHIJ GHK LMNJO PGMMJOQ 
 
R+ 4/'0 )1 )90/,*,*5 './+)*/92. /++&'/*(. /9)&0 67.07.' 07. S,0:T+ 1,*/*(,/2 +0/0.8.*0+ /'. 1'.. 
1')8 8/0.',/2 8,++0/0.8.*0< 6. 4.'1)'8.- 0.+0+ )1 ,0+ ()842,/*(. 6,07 (.'0/,* 4')3,+,)*+ )1 
2/6+< '.5&2/0,)*+< ()*0'/(0+< /*- 5'/*0 /5'..8.*0+< *)*()842,/*(. 6,07 67,(7 ()&2- 7/3. / 
-,'.(0 /*- 8/0.',/2 .11.(0 )* 07. -.0.'8,*/0,)* )1 1,*/*(,/2 +0/0.8.*0 /8)&*0+= ?)6.3.'< 
4')3,-,*5 /* )4,*,)* )* ()842,/*(. 6,07 07)+. 4')3,+,)*+ 6/+ *)0 /* )9U.(0,3. )1 )&' /&-,0< /*- 
/(()'-,*52:< 6. -) *)0 .@4'.++ +&(7 /* )4,*,)*= V7. '.+&20+ )1 )&' 0.+0+ -,+(2)+.- *) ,*+0/*(.+ )1 
*)*()842,/*(. )' )07.' 8/00.'+ 07/0 /'. '.W&,'.- 0) 9. '.4)'0.- &*-.' XYZ[\]̂[]_ ̀abc_c]d 
e_f]bf\bg= 
 
hiODBQJ Bj MNFQ kJDBOM 
 
V7. 4&'4)+. )1 07,+ '.4)'0 ,+ +)2.2: 0) -.+(',9. 07. +()4. )1 )&' 0.+0,*5 )1 ,*0.'*/2 ()*0')2 )3.' 
1,*/*(,/2 '.4)'0,*5 /*- ()842,/*(. /*- 07. '.+&20+ )1 07/0 0.+0,*5< /*- *)0 0) 4')3,-. /* )4,*,)* 
)* 07. .11.(0,3.*.++ )1 07. .*0,0:T+ ,*0.'*/2 ()*0')2 )3.' 1,*/*(,/2 '.4)'0,*5 )' )* ()842,/*(.= 
V7,+ '.4)'0 ,+ /* ,*0.5'/2 4/'0 )1 /* /&-,0 4.'1)'8.- ,* /(()'-/*(. 6,07 XYZ[\]̂[]_ ̀abc_c]d 
e_f]bf\bg ,* ()*+,-.',*5 07. .*0,0:T+ ,*0.'*/2 ()*0')2 )3.' 1,*/*(,/2 '.4)'0,*5 /*- ()842,/*(.= 
R(()'-,*52:< 07,+ ()88&*,(/0,)* ,+ *)0 +&,0/92. 1)' /*: )07.' 4&'4)+.= 
 
 
 
?/:.+ l R++)(,/0.+< m=m=S= 
%8/7/< n.9'/+;/ 
o/'(7 #p< #$"p 

 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 334 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-(./*.$$
0 123452$67$78'38'90$:'3$;20<6'020$$

7%($"=,$#,.($,>?,?$0,@",A-,($BC+$DCEF$

GEDE$G

8H 04II:;J$67$:438K$;2045K0

LMNONPMOQ$RSOSTUTNSV

K#@,$%&$.W?!"%(/X$(,@%("/$!//W,?Y ZNU[\M]MT\$

8>",(>.)$̂%>"(%)/$%_,($&!>.>̂!.)$(,@%("!>̀Y

a I.",(!.)$b,.*>,//,/$!?,>"!&!,?Y c[de$feghijek

a 0!̀>!&!̂.>"$?,&!̂!,>̂!,/$!?,>"!&!,?Y c[lm$nmopqrms$$

'%>̂%A@)!.>̂,$A.",(!.)$"%$&!>.>̂!.)$/".",A,>"/$>%",?Y$ c[lm$nmopqrms$

88H 78'38'90t78':' 8:5$0K:K2I2'K0

c[NT$uTv[uST\w

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 335 of 341



 !"#$%&$'%(&%)*+$',-(./*.$

0122345$0 678197$:;$<4=:4$318=>$;='8='?0$

;%($"@,$#,.($,AB,B$0,C",D-,($EF+$GFHI$

$
$

J$HGG$J$

==K$ ;='8='?0L;='3' =39$0>3>727'>0$
$

MNOP$QPRNQSPT$
$
$
$

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 336 of 341



March 28, 2018 

To the City Council  
City of Norfolk, Nebraska 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Norfolk 
for the year ended September 30, 2017. Professional standards require that we provide you with 
information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards and, 
Government Auditing Standards as well as, certain information related to the planned scope and 
timing of our audit. We have communicated such information in our letter to you dated August 
25, 2017. Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the following 
information related to our audit. 

Significant Audit Findings 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The 
significant accounting policies used by the City of Norfolk are described in Note 1 to the 
financial statements. As described in Note 1 to the financial statements, the City of Norfolk 
changed accounting policies related to financial reporting by adopting Statement of 
Governmental Accounting Standards (GASB Statement) No. 74 Financial Reporting for 
Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans, No. 77 Tax Abatement Disclosures, 
No. 78 Pensions Provided through Certain Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Plans, No. 80 
Blending Requirements for Certain Component Units-an amendment of GASB Statement No. 14, 
and No. 82 Pension Issues-an amendment of GASB Statement No. 67, No. 68, and No. 73, in the 
year ended September 30, 2017. The adoption of these standards did not have a significant 
impact on the City’s financial statements. We noted no transactions entered into by the City of 
Norfolk during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All 
significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period. 

www.hayes-cpa.com
Westroads Pointe  |  1015 N. 98th St., Suite 200  |  Omaha, NE 68114  |  T 402-390-2480

Omni Center  |  300 West Broadway, Suite 224  |  Council Bluffs, IA 51503   |  T 712-322-55034/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 337 of 341



Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by 
management and are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and 
current events and assumptions about future events.  
Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to 
the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may 
differ significantly from those expected.  

The most sensitive estimates affecting the City of Norfolk’s financial statements were: 

Management’s estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts is based on 100% 
of the receivable from Credit Bureau Services and 20% of the additional 
receivables for the governmental funds. The City has not established an allowance 
for the utility billing receivables related to the combined utility fund. We 
evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for 
doubtful accounts in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial 
statements taken as a whole. 

Management’s estimate of depreciation expense is based on the straight line 
method over the useful lives disclosed in Note 1. We evaluated the key factors and 
assumptions used to develop the depreciation expense in determining that it is 
reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Management’s estimate of the net pension liability is based on an actuary report 
compiled by Ameritas. Their actuary report makes numerous assumptions, which 
if not realized could cause significant differences between actual and projected 
pension liabilities as described in Note 9. We evaluated the key factors and 
assumptions used to develop the net pension liability in determining that it is 
reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Management’s estimate of accrued compensated absences is based on the City’s 
policy for vacation and sick leave accrual and the payout schedule contained in the 
City’s personnel manual and each employees hourly rate. We evaluated the key 
factors and assumptions used to develop the accrued compensated absence 
liability, including the current portion, in determining that it is reasonable in 
relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to 
financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements were: 

The disclosure of Subsequent events in Note 15 to the financial statements 
discloses the authorized issuance of 9,220,000 of Combined Utility Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds to refund the Series 2011B and Series 2012 Utility Revenue 
Bonds. The new bonds have a maturity date of December 15, 2037 and will reduce 
debt service payments by $591,188 over the next 15 years. The City also obtains 
an economic gain of $456,154. 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 338 of 341



 

 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and 
completing our audit. 
 
Corrected Misstatements 
 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified 
during the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the 
appropriate level of management. Management has corrected all such misstatements. In addition, 
none of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by management 
were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to each opinion unit’s financial statements 
taken as a whole. 

 
Disagreements with Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, 
or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the 
financial statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements 
arose during the course of our audit. 
 
Management Representations 
 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the 
management representation letter dated March 28, 2018. 
 
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a 
consultation involves application of an accounting principle to the governmental unit’s financial 
statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those 
statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to 
determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such 
consultations with other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 
 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the governmental unit’s 
auditors. However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional 
relationship and our responses were not a condition to our retention. 
 
 
 
 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 339 of 341



 

 

Other Matters 
 
With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, we made 
certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the 
information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the 
prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the 
financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the 
underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial 
statements themselves. 
 
This information is intended solely for the use of the City Council and management of the City 
of Norfolk, Nebraska, and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than 
these specified parties. 
 
Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
Hayes & Associates, L.L.C. 
Omaha, Nebraska 

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 340 of 341



3/27/2018
9:58 AM

Client: 02203 - City of Norfolk
Engagement: AU2017 - City of Norfolk
Period Ending: 9/30/2017
Trial Balance: 0400 - TB
Workpaper: 0422 - Reclassifying Journal Entries Report (H&A Proposed)

Account Description W/P Ref Debit Credit

Reclassifying Journal Entries JE # 2001 6502

701-000-585.100HA General Govt Exp-ISF Fund Adjustment 2,000.00
701-000-221.100HA Accounts Payable - ISF Fund Adjustment  2,000.00
Total 2,000.00 2,000.00

Reclassifying Journal Entries JE # 2003 1503.22

602-000-151.004 UTILITY PLANT 41,783.00
602-000-151.005 FURNITURE & EQUIPMENT  41,783.00

Total 41,783.00 41,783.00

Reclassifying Journal Entries JE # 2004 0450

112-000-385.100HA Interest Income-Region 11 Fund Adjustments 20,224.00
112-000-341.100HA Intergovernmental Rev-Region 11 Fund Adjustments  20,224.00
Total 20,224.00 20,224.00

To adjust PBC accrual JE #112 for the estimated claims at yearend.

To correct client entry and record asset addition to plant instead of equipment

Entry to reclassify revenues that were originally recorded as interest income, when it 
should have been recorded as intergovernmental revenue.

1 of 1

4/16/2018 Enclosure 43
Page 341 of 341


	Cover Page
	Public Notice
	Agenda
	Staff Memo
	Enclosure 7
	Enclosure 8
	Enclosure 9
	Enclosure 10
	Enclosure 11
	Enclosure 12
	Enclosure 13
	Enclosure 14
	Enclosure 15
	Enclosure 16
	Enclosure 17
	Enclosure 18
	Enclosure 19
	Enclosure 20
	Enclosure 21
	Enclosure 22
	Enclosure 23
	Enclosure 24
	Enclosure 25
	Enclosure 26
	Enclosure 28
	Enclosure 29
	Enclosure 30
	Enclosure 31
	Enclosure 32
	Enclosure 33
	Enclosure 34
	Enclosure 35
	Enclosure 36
	Enclosure 37
	Enclosure 38
	Enclosure 39
	Enclosure 40
	Enclosure 41
	Enclosure 42
	Enclosure 43



